Castle Hill Enhanced Floating Rate Opportunities Limited

(a private company with limited liability incorporated under the laws of Ireland, under company
number 464395)

Up to £2,000,000,000 Senior Secured Deferrable Floating Rate Notes

Castle Hill Enhanced Floating Rate Opportunities Limited (the "Issuer") may from time to time issue
Senior Secured Deferrable Floating Rate Notes with an aggregate principal amount of up to
£2,000,000,000 (or such other amount as the Noteholders acting by Ordinary Resolution agree) with
the terms and conditions set out herein (the "Notes").

It is anticipated that a majority of the assets securing the Notes will be Senior Secured Obligations and
other Investments in respect of which Castle Hill Asset Management LLP and Castle Hill Asset
Management LLC (the "Investment Managers) shall act as joint Investment Managers.

The issue price of each Note will be set out in the relevant Final Terms.

The Notes will be issued and secured pursuant to a supplemental trust deed, which is supplemental to
the trust deed dated 1 May 2009 as supplemented and novated on 23 October 2012, as supplemented
and amended on 1 July 2013, as supplemented and amended on 31 July 2013 and as supplemented on
10 October 2013 (the "Initial Trust Deed") made between (amongst others) the Issuer and BNY
Mellon Corporate Trustee Services Limited, in its capacity as trustee (the "Trustee") (such
supplemental trust deed together with the Initial Trust Deed, each as supplemented, novated, amended
and/or restated from time to time, the "Trust Deed").

Scheduled Interest on the Notes shall accrue from the relevant Interest Accrual Start Date of such
Notes and payments of interest will be made quarterly in arrears on the Payment Dates in each year,
and ending on the Maturity Date (as defined below).

The Notes will be subject to optional redemption as described herein. See Condition 7 (Redemption
and Purchase).

The Notes will not be rated by any rating agency.

See "Risk Factors" beginning on page 10 for a discussion of certain factors to be considered in
connection with an investment in the Notes.

This Base Prospectus constitutes the Base Prospectus (the "Base Prospectus") for the purposes of the
Prospectus Directive. The expression "Prospectus Directive" means Directive 2003/71/EC (and
amendments thereto, including the 2010 PD Amending Directive, to the extent implemented in a
Member State of the European Economic Area (each a "Relevant Member State")) and includes any
relevant implementing measure in the Relevant Member State and the expression "2010 PD Amending
Directive" means Directive 2010/73/EU.

This Base Prospectus has been approved by the Central Bank of Ireland, as competent authority under
the Prospectus Directive. The Central Bank of Ireland only approves this Base Prospectus as meeting
the requirements imposed under Irish and EU law pursuant to the Prospectus Directive. Such approval
relates only to the Additional Notes which are to be admitted to trading on a regulated market for the
purposes of Directive 2004/39/EC and/or which are to be offered to the public in any Member State of
the European Economic Area.

Application has been made to the Irish Stock Exchange for Additional Notes to be admitted to the
Official List and trading on its regulated market. There can be no assurance that such listing and
admission to trading will be granted or if granted, will be granted by the relevant Issue Date. The
applicable Final Terms will specify whether or not the Additional Notes are to be listed on the Official
List of the Irish Stock Exchange and traded on the regulated market and/or any other stock exchanges.
The Issuer may also issue unlisted Notes and/or Notes not admitted to trading on any market.



The Notes are limited recourse obligations of the Issuer that are payable solely out of amounts received
by or on behalf of the Issuer in respect of the Collateral (as defined herein). The net proceeds of the
realisation of the security over the Collateral following an Event of Default (as defined herein) may be
insufficient to pay all amounts due to the Noteholders (as defined herein) after making payments to
other creditors of the Issuer ranking prior thereto or pari passu therewith. In the event of a shortfall in
such proceeds, the Issuer will not be obliged to pay, and the other assets (including the rights of the
Issuer under the Corporate Services Agreement (as defined herein)) of the Issuer will not be available
for payment of, such shortfall, all claims in respect of which shall be extinguished. See Condition 4
(Security).

The Notes have not been and will not be registered under the United States Securities Act of 1933, as
amended (the "Securities Act") or the securities laws of any state of the United States or any other
jurisdiction. The Notes will be offered outside the United States to persons who are not U.S. Persons
(as defined in Regulation S, a "U.S. Person") in offshore transactions in compliance with Regulation S
("Regulation S") under the Securities Act. Neither the Issuer nor the pool of underlying assets will be
registered under the Investment Company Act. Each purchaser of Notes offered hereby in making its
purchase will be deemed to have made, and in some cases, shall be required to affirmatively make,
certain acknowledgements, representations and agreements as set out herein under "Note Purchase and
Sale" and "Transfer Restrictions". The Notes may not be offered or sold within the United States or to,
or for the account or benefit of, U.S. Persons except pursuant to an exemption from, or in a transaction
not subject to, the registration requirements of the Securities Act. Interests in the Notes will be subject
to certain restrictions on transfer. See "Note Purchase and Sale" and "Transfer Restrictions".

The Notes are being offered by the Issuer outside the United States to non-U.S. Persons in offshore
transactions in reliance on Regulation S. It is expected that delivery of the Notes will be made on or
about the relevant Issue Date thereof.

The date of this Base Prospectus is 19 January 2015.



The Issuer accepts responsibility for the information contained in this document and, to the best of the
knowledge and belief of the Issuer (which has taken all reasonable care to ensure that such is the
case), such information is in accordance with the facts and does not omit anything likely to affect the
import of such information. The delivery of this Base Prospectus at any time does not imply that the
information herein is correct at any time subsequent to the date of this Base Prospectus. The
Investment Managers accept responsibility for the information contained in the section of this
document headed "The Investment Managers". To the best of the knowledge and belief of the
Investment Managers (which have taken all reasonable care to ensure that such is the case), such
information is in accordance with the facts and does not omit anything likely to affect the import of
such information. The Collateral Administrator and the Calculation Agent accept responsibility for the
information contained in the section of this document headed "Description of the Collateral
Administrator and the Calculation Agent” in so far as such information relates to them. To the best of
the knowledge and belief of the Collateral Administrator and the Calculation Agent (which have taken
all reasonable care to ensure that such is the case), such information is in accordance with the facts
and does not omit anything likely to affect the import of such information. Except for the sections of
this document headed "The Investment Managers", in the case of the Investment Managers and
"Description of the Collateral Administrator and the Calculation Agent", in the case of the Collateral
Administrator and the Calculation Agent, the Investment Managers, the Collateral Administrator and
the Calculation Agent, do not accept any responsibility for the accuracy and completeness of any
information contained in this Base Prospectus.

None of the Trustee, the Investment Managers (save in respect of the section headed "The Investment
Managers"), the Collateral Administrator (save in respect of the section headed "Description of the
Collateral Administrator and the Calculation Agent"), the Calculation Agent (save in respect of the
section headed "Description of the Collateral Administrator and the Calculation Agent", any Agent
other than the Collateral Administrator and the Calculation Agent, any Eligible Counterparty or any
other party has separately verified the information contained in this Base Prospectus and, accordingly,
none of, the Trustee, the Investment Managers (save as specified above), the Collateral Administrator
(save as specified above), the Calculation Agent (save as specified above), any Agent other than the
Collateral Administrator and the Calculation Agent, any Eligible Counterparty (save as specified
above) or any other party (save for the Issuer as specified above) makes any representation,
recommendation or warranty, express or implied, regarding the accuracy, adequacy, reasonableness
or completeness of the information contained in this Base Prospectus or in any further notice or other
document which may at any time be supplied in connection with the Notes or their distribution or
accepts any responsibility or liability therefor. None of the Trustee, the Investment Managers, the
Collateral Administrator, the Calculation Agent, any other Agent, any Eligible Counterparty or any
other party undertakes to review the financial condition or affairs of the Issuer during the life of the
arrangements contemplated by this Base Prospectus nor to advise any investor or potential investor in
the Notes of any information coming to the attention of any of the aforementioned parties which is not
included in this Base Prospectus. The Trustee accepts no responsibility for the accuracy or
completeness of any information contained in this Base Prospectus.

This Base Prospectus does not constitute an offer of, or an invitation by or on behalf of, the Issuer, the
Investment Managers, the Trustee, the Collateral Administrator, or any other person to subscribe for
or purchase any of the Notes. The distribution of this Base Prospectus and the offering of the Notes in
certain jurisdictions may be restricted by law. Persons into whose possession this Base Prospectus
comes are required by the Issuer to inform themselves about and to observe any such restrictions. In
particular, the communication constituted by this Base Prospectus is directed only at persons who (i)
are outside Ireland and the United Kingdom and are offered and accept this Base Prospectus in
compliance with such restrictions or (ii) are persons falling within Article 49(2)(a) to (d) (High net
worth companies, unincorporated associations etc.) of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000
(Financial Promotion) Order 2005 or who otherwise fall within an exemption set forth in such Order
so that Section 21(1) of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 does not apply to the Issuer (all
such persons together being referred to as "relevant persons"). This communication must not be
distributed to, acted on or relied on by persons who are not relevant persons. Any investment or
investment activity to which this communication relates is available only to relevant persons and will
be engaged in only with relevant persons. For a description of certain further restrictions on offers and
sales of Notes and distribution of this Base Prospectus, see "Note Purchase and Sale" and "Transfer
Restrictions" herein.



In connection with the issue and sale of the Notes, no person is authorised to give any information or to
make any representation not contained in this Base Prospectus and, if given or made, such information
or representation must not be relied upon as having been authorised by or on behalf of the Issuer, the
Trustee, the Investment Managers or the Collateral Administrator. The delivery of this Base Prospectus
at any time does not imply that the information contained in it is correct as at any time subsequent to
its date.

For the avoidance of doubt, this Base Prospectus is not intended to be used in connection with or in
relation to any sale of Notes in the secondary market and none of the Issuer, the Investment Managers,
the Trustee, the Collateral Administrator or anyone else takes any responsibility for the use of this
Base Prospectus in connection with or in relation to, any sale of the Notes in the secondary market.

Purchasers of Notes should conduct such independent investigation and analysis regarding the Issuer,
the security arrangements, the Portfolio and the Notes as they deem appropriate to evaluate the merits
and risks of an investment in the Notes. Purchasers of Notes should have sufficient knowledge and
experience in financial and business matters, and access to, and knowledge of, appropriate analytical
resources, to evaluate the information contained in this Base Prospectus and the merits and risks of
investing in the Notes in the context of their financial position and circumstances. The risk factors
identified in this Base Prospectus are provided as general information only and the Issuer, the
Investment Managers, the Trustee and the Collateral Administrator disclaim any responsibility to
advise purchasers of Notes of the risks and investment considerations associated therewith as they may
exist at the date hereof or as they may from time to time alter.

The Issuer is not, and will not be, regulated by the Central Bank of Ireland by virtue of the issue of the
Notes. Any investment in the Notes does not have the status of a bank deposit and is not subject to the
deposit protection scheme operated by the Central Bank.

In this Base Prospectus, unless otherwise specified or the context otherwise requires, all references to
"euro", "EUR", "Euro", and "€" are to the single currency introduced at the start of the third stage of
European economic and monetary union pursuant to the Treaty establishing the European Community,
and all references to "GBP" and "£" are to the lawful currency of the United Kingdom.
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THE NOTES HAVE NOT BEEN AND WILL NOT BE REGISTERED UNDER THE UNITED
STATES SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED (THE "SECURITIES ACT") OR THE
SECURITIES LAWS OF ANY STATE OF THE UNITED STATES OR ANY OTHER
JURISDICTION. THE NOTES WILL BE OFFERED OUTSIDE THE UNITED STATES TO NON-
U.S. PERSONS IN OFFSHORE TRANSACTIONS IN COMPLIANCE WITH REGULATION S
("REGULATION S") UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT. THE NOTES MAY NOT BE OFFERED
OR SOLD WITHIN THE UNITED STATES OR TO, OR FOR THE ACCOUNT OR BENEFIT OF,
U.S. PERSONS EXCEPT PURSUANT TO AN EXEMPTION FROM, OR IN A TRANSACTION
NOT SUBJECT TO, THE REGISTRATION REQUIREMENTS OF THE SECURITIES ACT.
NEITHER THE ISSUER NOR THE POOL OF UNDERLYING ASSETS WILL BE REGISTERED
UNDER THE INVESTMENT COMPANY ACT. INTERESTS IN THE NOTES WILL BE SUBJECT
TO CERTAIN RESTRICTIONS ON TRANSFER. SEE "NOTE PURCHASE AND SALE" AND
"TRANSFER RESTRICTIONS". EACH PURCHASER OF NOTES OFFERED HEREBY IN
MAKING ITS PURCHASE WILL BE DEEMED TO HAVE MADE AND IN SOME CASES WILL
BE REQUIRED TO MAKE CERTAIN ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS, REPRESENTATIONS AND
AGREEMENTS AS SET OUT HEREIN UNDER "NOTE PURCHASE AND SALE" AND
"TRANSFER RESTRICTIONS".

Information as to placement within the United States

The Notes will be represented on issue by beneficial interests in one or more permanent global
certificates (each, a "Global Certificate" and together, the "Global Certificates") in fully registered
form, without interest coupons or principal receipts, which will be deposited on the relevant Issue Date
with, and registered in the name of, The Bank of New York Depository (Nominees) Limited as
nominee of The Bank of New York as common depositary for Euroclear Bank S.A./N.V. as operator of
the Euroclear System ("Euroclear") and Clearstream Banking, société anonyme ("Clearstream,
Luxembourg"). Ownership interests in the Global Certificates will be shown on, and transfers thereof
will only be effected through, records maintained by Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg and their
respective participants. In each case, purchasers and transferees of Notes will be deemed to have made
and in some cases will be required to affirmative make certain representations and agreements. See
"Form of the Notes", "Book-Entry Clearance Procedures" and "Transfer Restrictions" herein.

Except in the limited circumstances described under "Form of the Notes — Exchange of Global
Certificates for Definitive Certificates", Notes in definitive fully registered form (each, a "Definitive
Certificate") will not be issued in exchange for beneficial interests in the Global Certificates.

Neither the Issuer nor the pool of Collateral has been nor will be registered under the Investment
Company Act.

Each purchaser of Notes (or any interest therein) offered hereby in making its purchase will be deemed
to have made certain acknowledgements, representations and agreements as set out herein under "Nofe
Purchase and Sale" and "Transfer Restrictions". The Notes may not be offered or sold within the
United States or to, or for the account or benefit of, U.S. Persons except pursuant to an exemption
from, or in a transaction not subject to, the registration requirements of the Securities Act. Interests in
the Notes will be subject to certain transfer restrictions set out in the legend of such Note or certificate,
as the case may be, and the Trust Deed. See "Transfer Restrictions".

This Base Prospectus has been prepared by the Issuer solely for use in connection with the offering of
the Notes described herein. The Issuer reserves the right to reject any offer to purchase the Notes in
whole or in part for any reason, or to sell less than the stated initial principal amount of any Notes
offered hereby. This Base Prospectus is personal to each offeree to whom it has been delivered by the
Issuer and does not constitute an offer to any other person or to the public generally to subscribe for or
otherwise acquire the Notes. Distribution of this Base Prospectus to any persons other than the offeree
and those persons, if any, retained to advise such offeree with respect thereto is unauthorised and any
disclosure of any of its contents, without the prior written consent of the Issuer, is prohibited.

Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, each offeree (and each employee, representative, or
other agent of such offeree) may disclose to any and all other persons, without limitation of any kind,
the tax treatment and tax structure of the transactions described herein (including the ownership and
disposition of the Notes) and all materials of any kind (including opinions or other tax analyses) that
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are provided to the offeree relating to such tax treatment and tax structure. However, any such
information relating to the tax treatment or tax structure is required to be kept confidential to the extent
reasonably necessary to comply with applicable federal or state laws. For the purposes of this
paragraph, the terms "tax treatment” and "tax structure" have the meaning given to such terms under
United States Treasury Regulation Section 1.6011-4(c) and applicable state and local law.

NOTICE TO RESIDENTS OF THE UNITED STATES

THE NOTES ARE SUBJECT TO RESTRICTIONS ON TRANSFERABILITY AND RESALE AND
MAY NOT BE TRANSFERRED OR RESOLD EXCEPT AS PERMITTED UNDER APPLICABLE
UNITED STATES FEDERAL AND STATE SECURITIES LAWS.

GENERAL NOTICE

EACH PURCHASER OF THE NOTES MUST COMPLY WITH ALL APPLICABLE LAWS AND
REGULATIONS IN FORCE IN EACH JURISDICTION IN WHICH IT PURCHASES, OFFERS OR
SELLS SUCH NOTES OR POSSESSES OR DISTRIBUTES THIS BASE PROSPECTUS AND
MUST OBTAIN ANY CONSENT, APPROVAL OR PERMISSION REQUIRED FOR THE
PURCHASE, OFFER OR SALE BY IT OF SUCH NOTES UNDER THE LAWS AND
REGULATIONS IN FORCE IN ANY JURISDICTIONS TO WHICH IT IS SUBJECT OR IN
WHICH IT MAKES SUCH PURCHASES, OFFERS OR SALES, AND NONE OF THE ISSUER,
THE INVESTMENT MANAGERS (OR ANY OF ITS AFFILIATES), THE TRUSTEE, ANY
AGENT OR THE COLLATERAL ADMINISTRATOR SPECIFIED HEREIN SHALL HAVE ANY
RESPONSIBILITY THEREFOR.

THE NOTES ARE SUBJECT TO RESTRICTIONS ON TRANSFERABILITY AND RESALE AND
MAY NOT BE TRANSFERRED OR RESOLD EXCEPT AS PERMITTED UNDER APPLICABLE
UNITED STATES FEDERAL AND STATE SECURITIES LAWS. INVESTORS SHOULD BE
AWARE THAT THEY MAY BE REQUIRED TO BEAR THE FINANCIAL RISKS OF THIS
INVESTMENT FOR AN INDEFINITE PERIOD OF TIME.
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OVERVIEW

The following overview does not purport to be complete and is qualified in its entirety by reference to
the detailed information appearing elsewhere in this Base Prospectus and related documents referred
to herein. Capitalised terms not specifically defined in this overview have the meanings set out in
Condition 1 (Definitions) under "Terms and Conditions of the Notes" below or are defined elsewhere in
this Base Prospectus. An index of defined terms appears at the back of this Base Prospectus.
References to a "Condition" are to the specified Condition in the "Terms and Conditions of the Notes"
below. For a discussion of certain risk factors to be considered in connection with an investment in the

Notes, see "Risk Factors".
Issuer

Investment Managers

Trustee

Collateral Administrator

Additional Notes

Castle Hill Enhanced Floating Rate Opportunities Limited

The Issuer initially appointed Axial Investment
Management Limited (the "Original Investment
Manager") to carry out certain investment management
functions including (but not limited to) selecting, acquiring,
monitoring, managing and disposing of a Portfolio of
Investments, pursuant to the Investment Management
Agreement and including (but not limited to) the
management of cash held by the Issuer and the hedging
strategies to be entered into by the Issuer, as described in
greater detail under "The Portfolio" and "Description of the
Investment Management Agreement" below. Pursuant to a
novation agreement dated 22 July 2010, the Original
Investment Manager transferred by way of novation its
rights and obligations under the Investment Management
Agreement to Ignis Investment Services Limited (the
"Successor Investment Manager"). Pursuant to a novation
and amendment and restatement deed dated 23 October
2012, the Successor Investment Manager transferred by
way of novation its rights and obligations under the
Investment Management Agreement to Castle Hill Asset
Management LLP and Castle Hill Asset Management LLC,
as new joint Investment Managers therein.

BNY Mellon Corporate Trustee Services Limited acting
through its office at One Canada Square, London E14 SAL.

The Bank of New York Mellon acting through its office at
One Canada Square, London E14 5AL.

The Issuer may from time to time issue Additional Notes
subject to certain conditions being met. In the event of any
issuance of Additional Notes on any date the Conditions
and the provisions of any other applicable Transaction
Documents shall be amended to the extent required, if any,
as determined by the Investment Managers in their absolute
discretion, but subject to the prior consent of the
Noteholders acting by an Ordinary Resolution in order to
ensure that all Noteholders are treated equally following the
issuance of such Additional Notes. See Condition 14(f)
(Further Issue Amendments).

Subject to the above and Condition 17 (Additional
Issuances), the Issuer may issue Additional Notes of a new
series whether or not having the same terms and conditions
as existing Notes of any series. The terms of such
Additional Notes may be identical to the terms of the
existing Notes of the relevant series, other than the date of
issuance, the issue price, the date from which interest will

1



Minimum Denominations

Distributions on the Notes

Payment Dates

Scheduled Interest

Deferral of Interest

Additional Interest

Failure to Pay Interest for tax reasons

Redemption of the Notes

accrue, the amount of the first payment of interest, the first
Payment Date and/or the Redemption Price thereof. Such
Notes will be offered at a price not less than the
proportionate share of the Net Asset Value of the Portfolio
at such time of each existing Note of the relevant series. See
Condition 17 (Additional Issuances).

The Additional Notes will be issued in the minimum
denomination of £100,000 and integral multiples of £1 in
excess thereof.

8th July, 8th October, 8th January and 8th April in each
year, commencing on the date specified as the first Payment
Date in the relevant Final Terms (in respect of any
Additional Notes) and ending on the Maturity Date (in each
case, subject to adjustment for non-Business Days in
accordance with Condition 6(a) (Payment Dates).

The Scheduled Interest Amounts payable in respect of each
Accrual Period shall be calculated by applying GBP LIBOR
flat payable quarterly in arrears on each Payment Date and
calculated on an Actual/365 day basis. Interest shall accrue
on the Principal Amount Outstanding of the Notes as at the
Interest Determination Date at the start of the related
Accrual Period. See Condition 6(b) (Interest Accrual) and
Condition 6(f) (Floating Rate of Interest).

In the event that (i) there are insufficient amounts standing
to the credit of the Collection Account to pay any
Scheduled Interest Amounts or (ii) the Investment
Managers acting on behalf of the Issuer elect in their sole
discretion to defer the payment of Scheduled Interest
Amounts or any part thereof (such amounts, "Deferred
Interest"), such Deferred Interest will not be due and
payable on such Payment Date, but will be deferred and
will itself accrue interest at the rate of interest applicable to
the Notes from such Payment Date and the failure to pay
such Deferred Interest to the holders of the Notes will not
be an Event of Default unless such failure continues for the
next 18 months and such Deferred Interest is not paid on
the Payment Date falling 18 months after the applicable
Payment Date on which such interest was initially deferred.
See Condition 6(c) (Deferral of Interest).

Additional Interest may be distributed in respect of the
Notes on each Payment Date at the discretion of the
Investment Managers acting on behalf of the Issuer. See
Condition 6(e) (Additional Interest).

Failure on the part of the Issuer to pay Scheduled Interest
Amounts due and payable on the Notes pursuant to
Condition 6 (Interest) shall not be an Event of Default if
such failure to pay is as a result of any deduction therefrom
or the imposition of any withholding tax thereon as set out
in Condition 9 (Taxation).

Principal payments on the Notes will be made in the
following circumstances:



Redemption Prices

Maturity Date

Maturity Date Extension

Investment Management Fees

Management Fee

(a) on the Maturity Date (subject always to the Issuer's
option to extend the Maturity Date pursuant to
Condition 7(a) (Final Redemption), subject to
consent of the Noteholders acting by Ordinary
Resolution).

(b) in whole or in part on any Payment Date, at the
option of the Issuer subject to 10 Business Days'
prior written notice and certain other specified
conditions (See Condition 7(b) (Optional
Redemption by the Issuer));

(© on any Payment Date, at the option of the
Noteholders acting by way of Extraordinary
Resolution, following the occurrence of a Note
Tax Event, subject to (i) the Issuer having failed to
change the territory in which it is resident for tax
purposes and (ii) certain minimum time periods
(See Condition 7(c) (Redemption Following Note
Tax Event));

(d) in whole or in part on any Payment Date, at the
discretion of the Issuer following the request of
any Noteholder, subject to 30 days' prior written
notice and subject to the limits and certain other
specified conditions in Condition 7(d) (Optional
Redemption by the Noteholders);

(e) upon acceleration of the Notes following an Event
of Default which occurs and is continuing (See
Condition 10 (Events of Defaulf)).

The Redemption Price of the Notes will be each Note's
proportionate share of the Net Asset Value of the Portfolio
as determined by the Collateral Administrator on the
Determination Date applicable to such Redemption Date,
together with, in each case, Scheduled Interest and Deferred
Interest (if any) accrued but unpaid on such Notes.

In respect of the Additional Notes, the date specified as
such in the relevant Final Terms, or such other date
thereafter to which the relevant Maturity Date is extended
pursuant to Condition 7 (Redemption and Purchase).

The Issuer or the Investment Managers on its behalf, may
from time to time extend the Maturity Date to a date that
would constitute a Payment Date if the Maturity Date were
so extended, subject to consent of the Noteholders acting by
Ordinary Resolution (See Condition 7(a) (Final
Redemption)).

The Investment Managers will be paid a Management Fee
and a Performance Fee (together the '"Investment
Management Fees"). The Investment Management Fees
will be calculated in accordance with the terms of the
Investment Management Agreement.

0.65 per cent. per annum (calculated on the basis of the
actual number of days elapsed and a year of 365 days) of
the Gross Asset Value (determined prior to the deduction of
such Management Fee or any other amounts payable by the
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Performance Fee

Deferred  Investment
Fees

Security for the Notes

General

The Portfolio

Portfolio Assets

Investments

Eligibility Criteria

Management

Issuer on the same date as the Management Fee) payable
quarterly in arrear by the Issuer to Castle Hill Asset
Management LLC (the "LLC") (unless otherwise instructed
by the LLC) on each Payment Date, together with, in each
case, any value added tax in respect thereof (whether
payable to the Investment Managers or directly to the
relevant taxing authority).

An amount payable quarterly in arrear on each Payment
Date (together with, in each case, any value added tax in
respect thereof (whether payable to the LLC or directly to
the relevant taxing authority)) which shall be equal to the
product of (1) the Excess Return for the applicable Due
Period, multiplied by (2) the performance fee rate of 20%,
provided that no Performance Fee shall be payable if the
High Water Mark determined in accordance with the
Investment Management Agreement is not satisfied for the
purposes of such Payment Date.

The Investment Managers may at their discretion defer
payment of any Investment Management Fees payable on
any Payment Date in whole or in part and determine that
such Investment Management Fees shall be paid instead, in
whole or in part, on a later Payment Date. Any Investment
Management Fees not paid in full on the originally
scheduled Payment Date, whether as a result of deferral
thereof by the Investment Managers or as a result of there
being insufficient proceeds available pursuant to the Pre-
Acceleration Priority of Payments, shall not bear interest.

The Notes will be secured in favour of the Trustee for the
benefit of the Secured Parties by the granting of security
over the Portfolio. The Notes will also be secured by an
assignment by way of security of various of the Issuer's
other rights, including its rights under certain of the
agreements described herein. See Condition 4 (Security).

Investments and Eligible Investments held by or on behalf
of the Issuer.

The Issuer entered into binding contracts to acquire a
Portfolio of Investments with an aggregate principal
amount (converted where applicable into Euro at the
prevailing spot rate of exchange) equal to €130,000,000 as
at the Initial Issue Date. It is anticipated that the Issuer will
acquire further Investments with the proceeds of the
Additional Notes.

It is anticipated that the majority of the Investments in the
Portfolio as at the date of this Base Prospectus will be
governed by English law and/or the laws of the United
States and/or any Qualifying Country and that the stated
maturity of the majority of the Investments in the Portfolio
as at the date of this Base Prospectus will be on or prior to
the Maturity Date of the Notes.

In order to qualify as an Investment, an obligation must
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Qualifying Currencies

Qualifying Countries

Non-GBP Obligations

Ratings

Eligible Investments

satisfy certain specified Eligibility Criteria on the date that
a binding commitment to acquire such obligation is entered
into. See "The Portfolio - Eligibility Criteria".

Each Investment must be denominated in a currency which
is Euro or the currency of a Qualifying Country.

Each of Austria, Belgium, Bermuda, Canada, Denmark,
Finland, France, Germany, Greece, Ireland, Italy,
Liechtenstein, Luxembourg, The Netherlands, Norway,
Portugal, Spain, Sweden, Switzerland, the United States,
the United Kingdom or the Channel Islands or any other
country having a foreign currency issuer credit rating, at the
time of commitment to acquire or enter into the relevant
Portfolio Asset, of at least "AA" or its equivalent by two or
more Rating Agencies.

On or after the Effective Date the Investment Managers
(acting on behalf of the Issuer) may in their sole discretion
enter into such hedging transactions as they may deem
appropriate which have the economic effect of converting
non-Euro cash flows into Euro amounts. On or after the
Amendment Date, the Investment Managers (acting on
behalf of the Issuer) may in their sole discretion enter into
such hedging transactions as they may deem appropriate
which have the economic effect of converting non-GBP
cash flows into GBP amounts, provided, however, the
Investment Managers shall use reasonable efforts to ensure
that no less than 90 per cent. and no more than 110 per cent.
of the market value of Non-GBP Obligations is the subject
of such hedging transactions.

The Investments may have a public rating or a confidential
credit estimate assigned to them by a Rating Agency but
there is no requirement for such a rating or estimate to have
been assigned or to be obtained in respect of any
Investment held by or acquired by the Issuer.

Credit rating and outlooks may be adjusted over time.

The list of credit rating agencies registered under the CRA
Regulation (as updated from time to time) is published on
the website of the FEuropean Securities and Market
Authority (www.esma.europa.eu/page/List-registered-and-
certified-CRAsS).

In general, European regulated investors are restricted from
using a rating for regulatory purposes if such rating is not
issued by a credit rating agency established in the European
Union and registered under Regulation (EU) No. 1060/2009
(as amended by Regulation (EU) No. 513/2011 the "CRA
Regulation") unless the rating is provided by a credit rating
agency operating in the European Union before 7 June 2010
which has submitted an application for registration in
accordance with the CRA Regulation and such registration
is not refused.

Such investments as the Investment Managers acting on
behalf of the Issuer determine are the most appropriate for
the investment of cash held by the Issuer, taking into
account the timing of forthcoming payment obligations of
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Investment Restrictions

the Issuer, the ability to liquidate such investment without
penalty, the return receivable in respect of such investment
and the risk profile thereof at the time.

The Collateral Administrator will measure the Investment
Restrictions on the Effective Date and as at the date to
which each Monthly Report is prepared. The Investment
Restrictions will only apply on and after the Effective Date.
It is anticipated that the Investment Restrictions will be
satisfied as at the Effective Date but no assurance can be
given that this will be the case.

The Investment Managers will endeavour to dynamically
manage compliance with the Investment Restrictions upon
the purchase and sale of each Investment. In the event that
the Investment Restrictions are not in compliance as at any
Measurement Date, the Investment Managers, acting on
behalf of the Issuer, will use commercially reasonable
efforts to bring the Investment Restrictions back into
compliance. However no assurance can be given that such
compliance will be achieved, or achieved within a specific
timescale.

The Investment Restrictions may be amended from time to
time by the Issuer, with the consent of the Investment
Managers and the Trustee, provided that not more than 50
per cent. of the Noteholders object to such amendment
within 60 days following notice thereof having been given
in accordance with Condition 16 (Notices).

The percentage requirements applicable to different types
of Investments specified in the Investment Restrictions
below shall be determined by reference to the Aggregate
Market Value of the Investments specified as a percentage
of the Net Asset Value.

Secured subordinated
Investments (including
Mezzanine Obligations and
Second Lien Obligations)

Not more than 20 per cent. of the Adjusted Net Asset Value.

Unsecured Obligations

Not more than 10 per cent. of the Adjusted Net Asset Value.

Single Obligor

Not more than 6 per cent. (excluding specified derivative
instrument exposure) of the Adjusted Net Asset Value.

Credit Short Obligations

Aggregate notional amount of all Credit Short Obligations not to
exceed 100 per cent. of the Adjusted Net Asset Value (subject to
haircuts in respect of Credit Short Obligations linked to baskets
and/or indices)

Eligible Investments

Up to 100 per cent. of the Portfolio may comprise Eligible
Investments.

Concentration of Investments

The Aggregate Market Value of:

a) the five largest Investments may not exceed 25 per cent. of the
Adjusted Net Asset Value; and

b) the ten largest Investments may not exceed 42.5 per cent. of
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the Adjusted Net Asset Value.

Not more than:

c) 22.5 per

cent. of the Adjusted Net Asset Value may be

invested in a single Industry Category (by Aggregate Market

Value); an

d

d) 50 per cent. of the Adjusted Net Asset Value may be invested
in the top three Industry Categories (by Aggregate Market

Value).

Unlisted investments

There will be no requirement that a minimum proportion of

Investments he

1d by the Issuer are listed.

Leverage Ratio

Leverage Ratio will be satisfied if the Net Asset Value as at any
date of determination is greater than or equal to the Leverage

Amount divide

d by 3.

If the Issuer or the Investment Managers on behalf of the Issuer have purchased credit protection by
entering into a Derivative Instrument which is a credit default swap or similar instrument in respect of
an Investment then for the purposes of the calculation of the Investment Restrictions related to secured
subordinated Investments, Unsecured Obligations, single Obligor exposure and concentration of
Investments, as described above, the Net Asset Value of the Investment shall be included only to the
extent that the Net Asset Value of such Investment exceeds the notional amount of the Derivative
Instrument for which the Issuer or the Investment Managers on behalf of the Issuer have purchased

credit protection.

Derivative Instruments

The Investment Managers on behalf of the Issuer may enter

into or a

cquire one or more Derivative Instruments including

without limitation:

(a)
(b)

(c)
(d

(e)
(H
(2

(h)

interest rate swap or hedge transactions;

forward foreign exchange transactions and currency
swap or hedge transactions, including options;

swaptions and options;

funded or unfunded credit default transactions
pursuant to which the Issuer sells credit protection
in respect of a specified reference obligation or
reference obligations or reference entity or
reference entities;

Credit Short Obligations;
funded or unfunded total return swaps;

derivatives and options linked to the performance
of indices;

any other instrument which is broadly similar in
economic risk profile to any of those listed above;
and

such other derivative instruments which in the sole
discretion of the Investment Managers do not fall
within the definition of paragraphs (a) to (h)
(inclusive) above but which are determined by the
Investment Managers on behalf of the Issuer as
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Leverage

Leverage Instruments

Governing Law

The Offering

Form, Registration and Transfer of
the Notes

being appropriate for entry into by the Issuer and
which have not been objected to by the holders of
more than 50 per cent of the Principal Amount
Outstanding of Notes within 10 days following
notification thereof by the Issuer to the Noteholders
in accordance with Condition 16 (Notices);,

Each Derivative Instrument entered into by the Issuer must
be with an Eligible Counterparty.

The Investment Managers on behalf of the Issuer may from
time to time enter into Leverage Instruments provided
always that the Leverage Ratio described above is not
exceeded at any time.

Leverage may also be introduced into the Portfolio by the
Issuer entering into certain Derivative Instruments
including, without limitation, total return swaps, unfunded
credit default swaps or unfunded Participations, subject
always to the Issuer complying with the Leverage Ratio.
The Investment Managers, in managing the Portfolio on
behalf of the Issuer shall take into account all contingent
payment obligations of the Issuer under any Leverage
Instrument or other Investment with a view to ensuring that
the Issuer has sufficient cash proceeds available to meet
such obligations as and when they fall due.

Borrowing facilities (or any other instrument which has the
economic effect of borrowing that is not a Derivative
Instrument) entered into with Eligible Counterparties which
may be secured or unsecured. The Leverage Instruments
entered into by the Investment Managers on behalf of the
Issuer from time to time may be secured in priority to the
Notes. In addition Leverage Providers may require the
imposition of additional restrictions on the Investment
Managers' management of the Portfolio or additional test
requirements in respect of the Portfolio.

The Notes, the Trust Deed, the Investment Management
Agreement, the Agency Agreement and all other
Transaction Documents (save for the Corporate Services
Agreement and the Declaration of Trust) shall be governed
by English law. The Corporate Services Agreement and the
Declaration of Trust shall each be governed by Irish law.

The Notes will be offered outside of the United States to
non-U.S. Persons in "offshore transactions" in reliance on
Regulation S.

The Notes will be sold outside the United States to non-U.S.
Persons in reliance on Regulation S under the Securities Act
and will each be represented on issue by beneficial interests
in one or more permanent global certificates in fully
registered form, without interest coupons or principal
receipts (each, a "Global Certificate" and together, the
"Global Certificates") and will be deposited on the relevant
Issue Date with Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg.
See "Form of the Notes", "Book-Entry Clearance
Procedures" and "Transfer Restrictions".



Listing

Tax Status

Withholding Tax

The Global Certificates will bear a legend, and such Global
Certificates or any interest therein may not be transferred
except in compliance with the transfer restrictions set out in
such legend. See "Transfer Restrictions".

Except in the limited circumstances described herein, Notes
in definitive, certificated, fully registered form ("Definitive
Certificates") will not be issued in exchange for beneficial
interests in the Global Certificates. See "Form of the Notes
— Exchange of Global Certificates for Definitive
Certificates".

Unless otherwise specified in the relevant Final Terms,
application will be made to the Irish Stock Exchange for the
Notes to be admitted to the Official List and trading on its
regulated market. There can be no assurance that such listing
and admission to trading will be granted or if granted, will
be granted by the relevant Issue Date. See "General
Information".

See "Tax Considerations".

The Issuer is not and shall not be under any obligation to
gross-up in respect of any payments to the Noteholders. See
Condition 9 (Taxation).

The Notes are subject to redemption at the option of the
Noteholders, acting by Extraordinary Resolution, following
the occurrence of a Note Tax Event, subject to (i) the Issuer
having failed to change the territory in which it is resident
for tax purposes and (ii) certain minimum time periods. See
Condition 7(c) (Redemption following Note Tax Event).



RISK FACTORS

An investment in the Notes involves certain risks, including risks relating to the Collateral securing the
Notes and risks relating to the structure and rights of the Notes and the related arrangements.
Prospective investors should carefully consider the following factors, in addition to the matters set
forth elsewhere in this document, prior to investing in the Notes.

1.

1.1

1.2

1.3

1.4

1.5

GENERAL
General

It is intended that the Issuer will invest in primarily Senior Secured Obligations and other
financial assets with certain risk characteristics as described below and subject to the
Investment Restrictions described in "The Portfolio" below. There can be no assurance that the
Issuer's investments will be successful, that its investment objective will be achieved, that the
holders of Notes will receive the full amounts payable by the Issuer under the Notes or that
they will receive any return on their investment in the Notes. Prospective investors are
therefore advised to review this entire Prospectus carefully and should consider, among other
things, the factors set out below before deciding whether to invest in the Notes.

The Trustee does not undertake to review the financial condition or affairs of the Issuer or the
Investment Managers during the life of the arrangements contemplated by this Base
Prospectus nor to advise any investor or potential investor in the Notes of any information
coming to the attention of the Trustee which is not included in this Base Prospectus.

Suitability

Prospective purchasers of the Notes should ensure that they understand the nature of the Notes
and the extent of their exposure to risk, that they have sufficient knowledge, experience and
access to professional advisers to make their own legal, tax, accounting, regulatory and
financial evaluation of the merits and risks of investment in the Notes and that they consider
the suitability of the Notes as an investment in the light of their own circumstances and
financial condition.

Limited Sources of Funds to Pay Expenses of the Issuer

The funds available to the Issuer to pay its expenses on any Payment Date are limited as
provided in the Priorities of Payment. In the event that such funds are not sufficient to pay the
expenses incurred by the Issuer, the ability of the Issuer to operate effectively may be
impaired, and it may not be able to defend or prosecute legal proceedings brought against it or
which it might otherwise bring to protect its interests or be able to pay the expenses of legal
proceedings against persons it has indemnified.

Net Proceeds Less than Aggregate Amount of the Notes

It is anticipated that the net proceeds received by the Issuer on the Issue Date from the
issuance of the Notes will be less than the aggregate principal amount outstanding of the Notes
due to fees, expenses and other amounts payable by the Issuer on such date. Consequently, it
is anticipated that on the Issue Date the Collateral would be insufficient to redeem the Notes
upon the occurrence of an Event of Default on or about that date.

In addition, there can be no assurances that upon the maturity of the Notes that the value of the
Collateral securing the Notes will be sufficient to redeem the Notes in full. To the extent such
amounts are insufficient to redeem the Notes in full, there will be no other assets of the Issuer
available to repay the Notes.

Recent Events in the Credit Markets and Leveraged Finance Markets

European financial markets have experienced volatility and have been adversely affected by
concerns over economic contraction in certain Member States, rising government debt levels,
credit rating downgrades and risk of default or restructuring of government debt. These events
could cause bond yields and credit spreads to increase.
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1.6

Many European economies continue to suffer from high rates of unemployment. This
economic climate may have an adverse effect on the ability of consumers and businesses to
repay or refinance their existing debt.

As discussed further in 1.8 (Euro and Euro Zone Risk) below, it is possible that countries that
have adopted the Euro could return to a national currency. The effect on a national economy
as a result of its leaving the Euro is impossible to predict. The exit of one or more countries
from the Euro zone could have a destabilising effect on all European economies and possibly
the global economy as well.

There exist significant risks for the Issuer and investors as a result of adverse economic
conditions. These risks include, among others: (i) the likelihood that the Issuer will find it
more difficult to sell any of its assets or to purchase new assets in the secondary market, (ii)
the possibility that, on or after the Issue Date, the price at which assets can be sold by the
Issuer will have deteriorated from their effective purchase price, and (iii) the illiquidity of the
Notes. These additional risks may affect the returns on the Notes to investors and/or the ability
of investors to realise their investment in the Notes prior to their Maturity Date. In addition,
the primary market for a number of financial products including leveraged loans has stalled.
As well as reducing opportunities for the Issuer to purchase assets in the primary market, this
is likely to increase the refinancing risk in respect of maturing assets. Although there have
recently been signs that the primary market for certain financial products is recovering,
particularly in the United States of America, adverse conditions in the primary market may
reduce the ability of the Investment Managers to invest and, ultimately, reduce the returns on
the Notes to investors.

Difficult macro economic conditions may adversely affect the rating, performance and the
realisation value of the Collateral. Default rates on loans and other investments may continue
to fluctuate and accordingly the performance of many types of investment funds may suffer as
a result. It is also possible that the Collateral will experience higher default rates than
anticipated and that performance will suffer.

Many financial institutions including banks continue to suffer from capitalisation issues. The
bankruptcy or insolvency of a major financial institution may have an adverse effect on the
Issuer, particularly if such financial institution is a grantor of a participation in an asset or is a
hedge counterparty to a swap or hedge involving the Issuer, or a counterparty to a buy or sell
trade that has not settled with respect to an asset. The bankruptcy or insolvency of another
financial institution may result in the disruption of payments to the Issuer. In addition, the
bankruptcy or insolvency of one or more additional financial institutions may trigger
additional crises in the global credit markets and overall economy which could have a
significant adverse effect on the Issuer, the Collateral and the Notes.

The result of the above is a significantly more restrictive regulatory environment including the
implementation of new accounting and capital adequacy rules in addition to further regulation
of derivative or securitised instruments. Such additional rules and regulations could, among
other things, adversely affect Noteholders as well as the flexibility of the Investment Managers
in managing and administering the Collateral.

There can be no assurance that the CLO, leveraged finance or structured finance markets will
recover from economic downturn at the same time or to the same degree as such other
recovering sectors.

Force Majeure

The Issuer and the Investments in the Portfolio may be adversely affected by a wide range of
factors and events beyond their control, such as natural disasters, wars, strikes, acts of
terrorism, communications errors or failures, fraud at the underlying investment level, and
other social, economic or political events.
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1.7

1.8

1.9

Business and Regulatory Risks for Vehicles with Investment Strategies such as the
Issuer's

Legal, tax and regulatory changes could occur over the course of the life of the Notes that may
adversely affect the Issuer. The regulatory environment for vehicles of the nature of the Issuer
is evolving, and changes in the regulation of the same may adversely affect the value of
investments held by the Issuer and the ability of the Issuer to obtain the leverage it might
otherwise obtain or to pursue its investment and trading strategies. In addition, the securities
and futures markets are subject to comprehensive statutes, regulations and margin
requirements.  Certain regulators and self-regulatory organisations and exchanges are
authorised to take extraordinary actions in the event of market emergencies. The regulation of
derivatives transactions and vehicles that engage in such transactions is an evolving area of
law and is subject to modification by government and judicial action. The effect of any future
regulatory change on the Issuer could be substantial and adverse.

Euro and Euro zone Risk

The ongoing deterioration of the sovereign debt of several countries, in particular Greece,
together with the risk of contagion to other, more stable, countries, particularly France and
Germany, has exacerbated the global economic crisis. This situation has also raised a number
of uncertainties regarding the stability and overall standing of the European Economic and
Monetary Union and may result in changes to the composition of the Euro zone.

As a result of the credit crisis in Europe, in particular in Cyprus, Greece, Italy, Ireland,
Portugal and Spain, the European Commission created the European Financial Stability
Facility (the "EFSF") and the European Financial Stability Mechanism (the "EFSM") to
provide funding to Euro zone countries in financial difficulties that seek such support. In
March 2011, the European Council agreed on the need for Euro zone countries to establish a
permanent stability mechanism, the European Stability Mechanism (the "ESM"), which will
be activated by mutual agreement, to assume the role of the EFSF and the EFSM in providing
external financial assistance to Euro zone countries after June 2013.

Despite these measures, concerns persist regarding the growing risk that other Euro zone
countries could be subject to an increase in borrowing costs and could face an economic crisis
similar to that of Cyprus, Greece, Italy, Ireland, Spain and Portugal, together with the risk that
some countries could leave the Euro zone (either voluntarily or involuntarily), and that the
impact of these events on Europe and the global financial system could be severe which could
have a negative impact on the Collateral.

Furthermore, concerns that the Euro zone sovereign debt crisis could worsen may lead to the
reintroduction of national currencies in one or more Euro zone countries or, in more extreme
circumstances, the possible dissolution of the Euro entirely. The departure or risk of departure
from the Euro by one or more Euro zone countries and/or the abandonment of the Euro as a
currency could have major negative effects on the Issuer and the Notes. Should the Euro
dissolve entirely, the legal and contractual consequences for holders of Euro-denominated
obligations would be determined by laws in effect at such time. These potential
developments, or market perceptions concerning these and related issues, could adversely
affect the value of the Notes. It is difficult to predict the final outcome of the Euro zone crisis.
Investors should carefully consider how changes to the Euro zone may affect their investment
in the Notes.

Regulatory initiatives

In Europe, the U.S. and elsewhere there is increased political and regulatory scrutiny of the
banks, financial industry and asset-backed securities industry. This has resulted in a raft of
measures for increased regulation which are currently at various stages of implementation and
which may have an adverse impact on the regulatory capital charge to certain investors in
securitisation exposures and/or the incentives for certain investors to hold asset-backed
securities, and may thereby affect the liquidity of such securities. Investors in the Notes are
responsible for analysing their own regulatory position and none of the Issuer, the Investment
Managers, the Trustee nor any of their affiliates makes any representation to any prospective

12



1.10

investor or purchaser of the Notes regarding the regulatory capital treatment of their
investment in the Notes on the Issue Date or at any time in the future.

U.S. Dodd-Frank Act

The Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act (the "Dodd-Frank Act")
was signed into law on 21 July 2010. The Dodd-Frank Act represents the most
comprehensive change to financial regulation in the United States, and affects virtually every
area of the capital markets. The Dodd-Frank Act, in turn, mandates the issuances of a number
of new regulations by the U.S. regulatory agencies. Many of these regulations have been
adopted, but some remain in proposed form or have yet to be proposed. In many cases, there
is only limited guidance as to how these regulations should be interpreted and applied. These
changes could, individually or collectively, significantly alter the manner in which asset-
backed securities, including securities similar to the Notes, are issued and structured and
increase the reporting obligations of the issuers of such securities. Given the broad scope and
sweeping nature of these changes and the fact that in some instances final implementing rules
and regulations have not yet been adopted, the potential impact of these actions on the Issuer,
any of the Notes or any Noteholders is not fully known, and no assurance can be made that the
impact of such changes would not have a material adverse effect on the prospects of the Issuer
or the value or marketability of the Notes. In particular, to the extent any new changes affect
pre-existing transactions, the costs of compliance with such rules and regulations could have a
material adverse effect on the Issuer and Noteholders. If the Issuer were unable to comply
with such rules and regulations (because of excessive cost, unavailability of information or
otherwise), an Event of Default could result. Liquidation of the Assets as a result of an Event
of Default could have a material adverse effect on Noteholders. In addition, recently finalized
rules regarding risk retention by sponsors of asset-backed securities could potentially limit the
ability of the Issuer to issue additional Notes or undertake any refinancing.

Furthermore, the SEC had proposed changes to Regulation AB under the Securities Act which
would have had the potential to impose new disclosure requirements on securities offerings
pursuant to Rule 144A under the Securities Act or pursuant to other SEC regulatory
exemptions from registration. Such rules, if adopted, could have restricted the use of this Base
Prospectus or required the publication of a new prospectus in connection with the issuance and
sale of any additional Securities or any refinancing. While on August 27, 2014, the SEC
adopted final rules amending Regulation AB that did not implement these proposals, the SEC
has indicated that it is continuing to consider amendments that were proposed with respect to
Regulation AB but not adopted, and that further amendments may be forthcoming in the
future. The potential impact of any further changes to Regulation AB on the Issuer, the
Investment Managers, any of the Notes or any Noteholders is unknown, and no assurance can
be given that the impact of such changes would not have a material adverse effect on the
prospects of the Issuer or the value or marketability of the Notes.

No assurance can be made that the United States federal government or any U.S. regulatory
body (or other authority or regulatory body) will not continue to take further legislative or
regulatory action in response to the economic crisis or otherwise, and the effect of such
actions, if any, cannot be known or predicted.

Commodity Pool Regulation

The Issuer's ability to enter into hedge transactions may cause the Issuer to be a "commodity
pool" as defined in the United States Commodity Exchange Act of 1936, as amended ("CEA")
and the Investment Managers to be a "commodity pool operator" ("CPO") as defined in the
CEA in respect of the Issuer. The CEA, as amended by the Dodd-Frank Act, defines a
"commodity pool" to include certain investment vehicles operated for the purpose of trading in
"commodity interests" which includes swaps. CPOs are subject to regulation by the
Commodity Futures Trading Commission (the "CFTC") and must register with the CFTC
unless an exemption from registration is available. Based on recent CFTC interpretive
guidance, the Issuer is not expected to be treated as a commodity pool and as such, the Issuer
(or the Investment Managers on the Issuer's behalf) may enter into hedge agreements (or any
other agreement that would fall within the definition of "swap" as set out in the CEA).
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1.13

Notwithstanding the above, in the event that the recent CFTC guidance referred to above
changes, or the Issuer engages in one or more activities that might cause it to be treated as a
commodity pool, or if U.S. Persons propose to acquire any Notes, the Investment Managers
will attempt to file for any available exemption from CPO registration then available, such as
the exemption provided by Rule 4.13(a)(iii) under the CEA. The costs of obtaining and
maintaining such exemption will be passed on to the Issuer, but are not expected to be
material. In addition, in the event an exemption from registration were available and the
Investment Managers elected to file for an exemption, the Investment Managers would not be
required to deliver certain CFTC mandated disclosure documents or a certified annual report
to investors or satisfy on-going compliance requirements under Part 4 of the CFTC
Regulations, as would be the case for a registered CPO. Further, the conditions of such
exemption may constrain the extent to which the Issuer may be able to enter into swap
transactions. If no such exemption from registration is available, registration of the
Investment Managers as a CPO may be required before the Issuer (or the Investment
Managers on the Issuer's behalf) may enter into any hedge agreement. Registration of the
Investment Managers as a CPO could cause the Investment Managers to be subject to
extensive compliance and reporting requirements that would involve material costs which
would be passed on to the Issuer. The scope of such compliance costs is uncertain but could
adversely affect the amount of funds available to make payments on the Notes.

Volcker Rule

Section 619 of the Dodd-Frank Act (the "Volcker Rule") prevents "banking entities as defined
under the Volcker Rule (which would include certain non-U.S. affiliates of U.S. banking
entities) from (i) conducting proprietary trading activities in a wide variety of financial
instruments unless the transaction is excluded from the scope of the rule (e.g. if conducted for
hedging purposes) and, (ii) acquiring or retaining any equity, partnership, or other ownership
interest in, or in sponsoring, any "hedge fund" or "private equity fund", together "covered
funds", each as defined in the rule.

An "ownership interest" is defined widely and may arise through a holder's exposure to the
profit and losses of the covered fund, as well as through any right of the holder to participate
in the selection of an investment advisor, manager, or board of directors of the covered fund.

A "hedge fund" and a "private equity fund" are defined widely, and include any issuer which
would be an investment company under the Investment Company Act 1940 (the "ICA") but is
exempt from registration under section 3(c)(1) or 3(c)(7) of that Act. As the Issuer is expected
to be exempt from registration under section 3(c)(7) of the ICA, it is expected that the Issuer
would be considered to be a covered fund.

It should be noted that a commodity pool as defined in the CEA (see Commodity Pool
Regulation, above) will also fall within the definition of a covered fund as described above.

If the Issuer is deemed to be a covered fund, then in the absence of regulatory relief, the
provisions of the Volcker Rule and its related regulatory provisions, will severely limit the
ability of "banking entities" to hold an ownership interest in the Issuer or enter financial
transactions with the Issuer. Any entity that is a "banking entity" as defined under the Volcker
Rule and is considering an investment in ownership interests of the Issuer should consult its
own legal advisors and consider the potential impact of the Volcker Rule in respect of such
investment. If investment by banking entities in the Notes of any Class is prohibited or
restricted by the Volcker Rule, this could impair the marketability and liquidity of such Notes.

Flip Clauses

The validity and enforceability of certain provisions in contractual priorities of payments
which purport to alter the priority in which a particular secured creditor is paid as a result of
the occurrence of one or more specified trigger events, including the insolvency of such
creditor ("flip clauses"), have been challenged recently in the English and U.S. courts on the
basis that the operation of a flip clause as a result of such creditor's insolvency breaches the
"anti-deprivation" principles of English and U.S. insolvency law. This principle prevents a
party from agreeing to a provision that deprives its creditors of an asset upon its insolvency.
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The English Supreme Court has, in Belmont Park Investments Pty Limited v BNY Corporate
Trustee Services Limited and Lehman Brothers Special Financing Inc. [2011] UKSC 38,
upheld the validity of a flip clause contained in an English-law governed security document,
stating that the anti-deprivation principle was not breached by such provisions.

In the U.S. courts, the U.S. Bankruptcy Court for the Southern District of New York in
Lehman Brothers Special Financing Inc. v. BNY Corporate Trustee Services Limited. (In re
Lehman Brothers Holdings Inc.), Adv. Pro. No. 09-1242-JMP (Bankr. S.D.N.Y. May 20,
2009) examined a flip clause and held that such a provision, which seeks to modify one
creditor's position in a priority of payments when that creditor files for bankruptcy, is
unenforceable under the U.S. Bankruptcy Code. Judge Peck acknowledged that this has
resulted in the U.S. courts coming to a decision "directly at odds with the judgement of the
English Courts". While BNY Corporate Trustee Services Ltd filed a motion for and was
granted leave to appeal with the U.S. Bankruptcy Court, the case was settled before the appeal
was heard. In 2012, a new suit was filed in the U.S. Bankruptcy Court by claimants in the
Belmont case asking, among other things, for the U.S. Bankruptcy Court to recognise and
enforce the decision of the English Supreme Court and to declare that flip clauses are
enforceable under U.S. bankruptcy law notwithstanding that court's earlier decision. Plaintiffs
in that suit have also filed a companion motion alleging that the issues in their complaint are
tangential to the bankruptcy before the U.S. Bankruptcy Court and that, therefore, the suit
should be removed to a U.S. district court. Given the current state of U.S. and English law,
this is likely to be an area of continued judicial focus particularly in respect of multi-
jurisdictional insolvencies.

The flip clause examined in the Belmont case is similar in substance to the relevant provisions
in the Priorities of Payments, however the context and manner of subordination which may be
applied to a Eligible Counterparty in accordance with such provisions will not be identical;
and the judgments in Belmont and subsequent litigation in which the same rule has been
applied have noted that English law questions relating to the anti-deprivation principle will be
determined on the basis of the particular terms at hand and their commercial context. As such,
it is not necessarily settled that the particular flip clauses contained in the Priorities of
Payment would certainly be enforceable as a matter of English law, in the case of insolvency
of a Eligible Counterparty.

Moreover, if the Priorities of Payments are the subject of litigation in any jurisdiction outside
England and Wales, in particular in the United States of America, and such litigation results in
a conflicting judgment in respect of the binding nature of the Priorities of Payments, it is
possible that termination payments due to the Eligible Counterparties would not be
subordinated as envisaged by the Priorities of Payments and as a result, the Issuer's ability to
repay the Noteholders in full may be adversely affected. There is a particular risk of such
conflicting judgments where a Eligible Counterparty is the subject of bankruptcy or
insolvency proceedings outside England and Wales.
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1.14

LIBOR and EURIBOR Reform

The London Inter-Bank Offered Rate ("LIBOR") is currently being reformed, including (i) the
replacement of the BBA as LIBOR administrator, (ii) a reduction in the number of currencies
and tenors for which LIBOR is calculated, and (iii) changes in the way that LIBOR is
calculated, by compelling more banks to provide LIBOR submissions and basing these
submissions on actual transaction data. Investors should be aware that:

e any of these changes or any other changes to LIBOR could affect the level of the
published rate, including to cause it to be lower and/or more volatile than it would
otherwise be;

e if the applicable rate of interest on any Investment is calculated with reference to a
currency or tenor which is discontinued:

1) such rate of interest will then be determined by the provisions of the affected Investment,
which may include determination by the relevant calculation agent in its discretion; and

ii) there may be a mismatch between the replacement rate of interest applicable to the affected
Investment and the replacement rate of interest the Issuer must pay to the Derivative
Counterparty under any applicable hedge agreement. This could lead to the Issuer receiving
amounts from affected Investments which are insufficient to make the due payment under the
hedge agreement, and potential termination of the hedge agreement; and

e the administrator of LIBOR will not have any involvement in the Investments or the
Notes and may take any actions in respect of LIBOR without regard to the effect of
such actions on the Investments or the Notes.

Any of the above or any other significant change to the setting of LIBOR could have a
material adverse effect on the value of, and the amount payable under, (i) any Investments
which pay interest linked to a LIBOR rate and (ii) the Notes.

Proposals to Reform EURIBOR and other Benchmark Indices

The Euro Interbank Offered Rate ("EURIBOR") and other so-called "benchmarks" are the
subject of proposals for reform by a number of international authorities and other bodies. In
September 2013, the European Commission published a proposed regulation (the "Proposed
Benchmark Regulation") on indices used as benchmarks in financial instruments and financial
contracts.

The Proposed Benchmark Regulation will, if enacted, make significant changes to the way in
which EURIBOR is calculated, including detailed codes of conduct for contributors and
transparency requirements applying to contributions of data. Benchmarks such as EURIBOR
may be discontinued if they do not comply with these requirements, or if the administrator of
the benchmark either fails to apply for authorisation or is refused authorisation by its home
regulator.

Investors should be aware that:

e any of these changes or any other changes to EURIBOR could affect the level of the
published rate, including to cause it to be lower and/or more volatile than it would
otherwise be;

o if the applicable rate of interest on any Investment is calculated with reference to a
EURIBOR currency or tenor which is discontinued, such rate of interest will then be
determined by the provisions of the affected Investment, which may include
determination by the relevant calculation agent in its discretion; and

e the administrator of EURIBOR will not have any involvement in the Investment or

the Notes and may take any actions in respect of EURIBOR without regard to the
effect of such actions on the Investments or the Notes.
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Any of the above or any other significant changes to EURIBOR or any other benchmark could
have a material adverse effect on the value of, and the amount payable under (i) any
Investments which pay interest linked to a EURIBOR rate or other benchmark (as applicable),
and (ii) the Notes.

Adverse Effect of Determination of U.S. Trade or Business

It is intended that the Issuer will not operate so as to be engaged in a trade or business in the
United States for U.S. federal income tax purposes and, accordingly, will not be subject to
U.S. federal income taxes on its net income. Although there is no direct authority addressing
transactions similar to those contemplated herein, under current law and assuming compliance
with the Issuer's organisational documents and with the Transaction Documents, and assuming
the Issuer conducts its affairs in accordance with certain assumptions and representations as to
the Issuer's contemplated activities, the Issuer believes its contemplated activities will not
cause it to be engaged in a trade or business in the United States. However, if the IRS were to
successfully assert that the Issuer is engaged in a U.S. trade or business, there could be
material adverse financial consequences to the Issuer and to persons who hold the Notes.
There can be no assurance, that the Issuer's net income will not become subject to U.S. federal
net income tax as a result of unanticipated activities by the Issuer, changes in law, contrary
conclusions by U.S. tax authorities or other causes. In such a case, the Issuer would be
potentially subject to substantial U.S. federal income tax and, in certain circumstances interest
payments by the Issuer under the Notes could be subject to U.S. withholding tax. The
imposition of any of the foregoing taxes would materially affect the Issuer's ability to pay
principal, interest, and other amounts owing in respect of the Notes.

FATCA

Tax provisions commonly known as the Foreign Account Tax Compliance Act ("FATCA")
may impose a 30 per cent. withholding tax on payments of U.S. source interest and dividends
and on certain other payments made on or after 1 January 2017 to a foreign financial
institution (or "FFI") (such as the Issuer) that, unless exempted or deemed compliant, does not
enter into, and comply with, an agreement with the U.S. Internal Revenue Service ("IRS") to
provide certain information on its U.S. accountholders. Further, FATCA may impose a
withholding tax of up to 30 per cent. on gross payments due under derivatives in certain
circumstances.

In order to avoid FATCA-related withholding tax, an FFI such as the Issuer (or an
intermediary financial institution broker or agent (each an "Intermediary") through which a
beneficial owner holds its interest in a Note) may enter into an agreement with the IRS (an
"IRS Agreement"). Unless exempted or deemed compliant, an FFI that does not enter into
such agreement or whose agreement is voided by the IRS will be treated as a "non-
Participating FFI". Very generally, an IRS Agreement will require the Issuer or an
Intermediary to agree to (i) obtain certain identifying information regarding the holder of such
Note to determine whether the holder is a U.S. person or U.S. owned foreign entity and to
periodically provide identifying information about the holder to the IRS and (ii) comply with
withholding and other requirements. To the extent any payments in respect of the Notes are
made to a Noteholder by an Intermediary, such Noteholder may be required to comply with
the Intermediary's requests for identifying information that would permit the Intermediary to
comply with its own IRS Agreement. Any Noteholder that fails to properly comply with the
Issuer's or an Intermediary's requests for certifications and identifying information or, if
applicable, a waiver of non-U.S. law prohibiting the release of such information to a taxing
authority, will be treated as a "Recalcitrant Holder".

The Issuer or an Intermediary may be required to deduct a withholding tax of up to 30 per
cent. on payments (including gross proceeds and redemptions) made on or after 1 January
2017 to a Recalcitrant Holder or a Noteholder that itself is an FFI and, unless exempted or
otherwise deemed to be compliant, does not have in place an effective IRS Agreement (i.c.,
the Noteholder is a non- Participating FFI). Neither the Issuer nor an Intermediary will make
any additional payments to compensate a Noteholder or beneficial owner for any amounts
deducted pursuant to FATCA. It is also possible that the Issuer may be required to cause the
disposition or transfer of Notes held by a Recalcitrant Holder or a non-Participating FFI and
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the proceeds from any such disposition or transfer may be an amount less than the then current
fair market value of the Notes transferred.

In general, U.S. source obligations that are treated as indebtedness with a definitive term for
U.S. tax purposes that were outstanding as of 30 June 2014 and non-U.S. source obligations
that are treated as indebtedness with a definitive term for U.S. tax purposes that are
outstanding on the date that is six months after the adoption of final U.S. Treasury regulations
addressing withholding on "foreign passthru payments" and, in each case, that are not
modified and treated as reissued, for U.S. federal income tax purposes, after the relevant date
(such obligations, "Grandfathered Obligations") will not be subject to withholding.
Accordingly, some of the Collateral may be granfathered. However, obligations that are
treated as equity for U.S. federal income tax purposes and certain debt obligations lacking a
definitive term are not eligible for grandfathering. Because the Notes are expected to be
treated as equity for U.S. tax purposes, the Notes will not qualify for the grandfathering
exemption.

Subject to the discussion below regarding intergovernmental agreements, if the Issuer decides
not to enter into an IRS Agreement (or is deemed to be non-compliant with the relevant
intergovernmental agreement and/or any implementing rules under Irish law), the Issuer may
be subject to a 30 per cent. withholding tax on certain payments to it. Further, the Issuer's
failure to enter into an IRS Agreement may preclude certain of its affiliates from themselves
complying with FATCA. In addition, if an FFI affiliate of the Issuer is not FATCA compliant
(i.e., it fails to comply with, and is not exempted from complying with, FATCA), the Issuer
itself may be prevented from complying with FATCA. For this purpose an FFI affiliate
generally is an FFI that is deemed to be part of an affiliated group that includes the Issuer
(where, in general, such affiliates and the Issuer are deemed related through more than 50 per
cent. ownership). For example, if an FFI owns (for US federal income tax purposes) more than
50 per cent. of the Issuer's equity and such FFI equity owner is not FATCA compliant, the
Issuer may be prevented from complying with FATCA. Furthermore, if an entity is deemed
(for US federal income tax purposes) to own more than 50 per cent. of the equity of both (i)
the Issuer and (ii) another FFI, such other FFI may be treated as an FFI affiliate of the Issuer
for this purpose and, thus, if such other FFI is not FATCA compliant, the Issuer may be
prevented from complying with FATCA. For these purposes, ownership of the majority of the
Notes of the Issuer is likely to constitute the requisite ownership. Similarly ownership by a
person of a majority of the ordinary share capital of another FFI or, in the case of another FFI
which is a special purpose entity similar to the Issuer, of the most junior class and any other
class treated as equity for U.S. federal tax purposes of such other FFI, is likely to constitute
the requisite ownership by that person of such other FFL. Although the Issuer will not prohibit
any person from holding more than 50 per cent. of the Issuer's equity (for US federal income
tax purposes), it may force the sale of all or a portion of the equity (for US federal income tax
purposes) held by such a person if such holder is an FFI affiliate of the Issuer that is
preventing the Issuer from complying with FATCA. For these purposes, the Issuer shall have
the right to sell a beneficial owner's interest in a Note in its entirety notwithstanding that the
sale of a portion of such an interest would result in the Issuer complying with FATCA.

The United States has concluded intergovernmental agreements ("IGAs") with many other
jurisdictions, including the Republic of Ireland, in respect of FATCA. Under the Irish IGA,
the Issuer will not be required to enter into an agreement with the IRS provided that it
complies with legislation enacted by Ireland that generally requires similar information to be
collected and reported to the Irish Revenue Commissioner.

There can be no assurance that payments to the Issuer in respect of its assets, including on an
Investment, will not be subject to withholding under FATCA. If payments to the Issuer in
respect of its assets, including the Collateral are subject to withholding, this will result in the
occurrence of a Note Tax Event pursuant to which the Notes may be subject to early
redemption in the manner described in Condition 7(d) (Optional Redemption). In addition,
even if a beneficial owner of a payment complies with requests for identifying information,
the ultimate payment to such beneficial owner could be subject to withholding if an
Intermediary is subject to withholding for its failure to comply with FATCA. Accordingly, a
holder should consult its own tax advisors as to the potential implication of the U.S.
withholding taxes on the Notes before investing.
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RELATING TO THE NOTES
Limited Liquidity and Restrictions on Transfer

Although there is a limited market for notes backed by financial instruments such as leveraged
loans and investment grade securities, there can be no assurance that any secondary market for
the Notes will develop or, if a secondary market does develop, that it will provide the
Noteholders with liquidity of investment or continue for the life of such Notes. Furthermore,
the Notes will not be registered under the Securities Act or any U.S. state securities laws, and
the Issuer has no plans, and is under no obligation, to register the Notes under the Securities
Act. The Notes are subject to certain transfer restrictions and can be transferred only to certain
transferees. See "Note Purchase and Sale" and "Transfer Restrictions". Such restrictions on
the transfer of the Notes may further limit their liquidity. Consequently, a purchaser must be
prepared to hold such Notes for an indefinite period of time or until the Maturity Date.

Limited Recourse Obligations

The Notes are limited recourse obligations of the Issuer and are payable solely from amounts
received in respect of the Investments and other Collateral securing the Notes. Payments on
the Notes both prior to and following enforcement of the security over the Collateral are
subordinated to the prior payment of certain fees and expenses of, or payable by, the Issuer.

None of the Trustee, the Investment Managers, the Collateral Administrator, the Share
Trustee, the Corporate Service Provider, the Directors or any of their Affiliates or any other
person or entity (other than the Issuer) will be obligated to make payments on the Notes.
Consequently, the Noteholders must rely solely on distributions on the Portfolio Assets and
amounts received under the other Collateral securing the Notes for the payment of principal
and interest. There can be no assurance that the distributions on the Portfolio Assets and
amounts received under the other Collateral securing the Notes will be sufficient to make
payments on the Notes after making payments to other creditors ranking senior to or pari
passu with the payment in Notes pursuant to the Priorities of Payment. If distributions on such
Portfolio Assets and other Collateral are insufficient to make payments on the Notes, no other
assets will be available for payment of the deficiency and, following realisation of the security
over the Collateral and the application of the proceeds thereof in accordance with the Priorities
of Payment, the obligations of the Issuer to pay such shortfall shall be extinguished.

In addition, at any time while the Notes are Outstanding, none of the Noteholders, the Trustee
nor any other Secured Party (nor any other person acting on behalf of any of them) shall be
entitled at any time to institute against the Issuer, or join in any institution against the Issuer
of, any bankruptcy, reorganisation, arrangement, insolvency, winding-up or liquidation
proceedings or any proceedings for the appointment of a liquidator or administrator or a
similar official, or other proceedings under any applicable bankruptcy or similar law in
connection with any obligations of the Issuer relating to the Notes, the Trust Deed or
otherwise owed to the Noteholders, save for lodging a claim in the liquidation of the Issuer
which is initiated by another party or taking proceedings to obtain a declaration or judgment as
to the obligations of the Issuer nor shall any of them have a claim arising in respect of the
share capital of the Issuer.

Defined Net Asset Value Subordination

All of the Issuer's net assets, save its shareholders' equity, are attributable to investors pursuant
to the conditions of the Notes. Those net assets are recorded in the Issuer's Net Asset Value
which ensures that investors are entitled to the Issuer's net assets, thereby creating an
arrangement whereby investors are contractually subordinated to other counterparties of the
Issuer (including swap, repurchase and securities lending counterparties and other service
providers).

Amount and Timing of Payments

Payments of interest and principal on the Notes (including Scheduled Interest) will only be
made to the extent that there are Collections available for such purpose in accordance with the
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Priorities of Payment on any applicable Payment Date. No interest or principal may therefore
be payable on the Notes for an unlimited period of time, to maturity or at all.

Investment in the Notes involves a degree of risk arising from fluctuations in the amount and
timing of receipt of the principal and interest on the Portfolio Assets by or on behalf of the
Issuer and the amounts of the claims of creditors of the Issuer ranking in priority to the holders
of the Notes. In particular, prospective purchasers of such Notes should be aware that the
amount and timing of payments of the principal and interest on the Portfolio Assets will
depend upon the detailed terms of the documentation relating to each of the Portfolio Assets
and on whether or not any obligor thereunder defaults in its obligations.

In the event that (i) there are insufficient amounts standing to the credit of the Collection
Account to pay any Scheduled Interest Amounts or (ii) the Investment Managers acting on
behalf of the Issuer elect in their sole discretion to defer the payment of Scheduled Interest
Amounts or any part thereof (such amounts "Deferred Interest"), such Deferred Interest will
not be due and payable on such Payment Date, but will be deferred.

Notwithstanding that Scheduled Interest is payable on the Notes on each Payment Date, no
Event of Default will arise as a result of non-payment thereof unless such non-payment
continues for 18 months and such Scheduled Interest is not paid in full on the Payment Date
falling 18 months after the Payment Date on which such Scheduled Interest was originally
deferred. Any Scheduled Interest not paid in full on any Payment Date will be deferred in
accordance with the provisions of Condition 6(c) (Deferral of Interest).

Payments of Additional Interest and Early Redemption of the Notes out of Available
Proceeds

To the extent that there are any Available Proceeds remaining following payments of amounts
required in accordance with the Priorities of Payment, whether any such amounts are paid out
to the Noteholders by way of Additional Interest or in redemption of the Notes on any
Payment Date in accordance with the Conditions of the Notes will be purely at the discretion
of the Investment Managers, acting on behalf of the Issuer. No assumption should be made
that any such payments will be made at any time prior to the Maturity Date or, if earlier, the
date on which the Notes are redeemed in full.

Optional Redemption

A form of liquidity for the Notes is the optional redemption provision set out in Condition 7(d)
(Optional Redemption by the Noteholders). The exercise of such right of optional redemption
is, however, subject to certain conditions including there being sufficient amounts in cash
and/or Eligible Investments that can be liquidated without penalty by the Business Day prior
to the scheduled Redemption Date standing to the credit of the Collection Account and to the
condition that any individual Noteholder may not redeem any more than 25 per cent. of the
aggregate Principal Amount Outstanding of Notes held by such Noteholder or, if lower, an
amount of such Notes equal to the Minimum Denomination on any specified Payment Date.
There can therefore be no assurance that such optional redemption provision will be capable of
exercise on any specific Payment Date and in any amount by a Noteholder.

No Pre-emption Rights to the existing Noteholders

The Issuer may from time to time and subject to the satisfaction of certain requirements with
the consent of the Trustee but without the consent of the Noteholders (or any requirement for
the Trustee to obtain their consent), issue Additional Notes having the same terms and
conditions as the existing Notes.

The existing Noteholders do not have any right to purchase the Additional Notes issued by the
Issuer from time to time. The issuance of any Additional Notes may dilute the percentage of
the Principal Amount Outstanding of Notes held by the Noteholders immediately prior to such
additional issuance. See Condition 17 (Additional Issuance).
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Withholding Tax on the Notes

Although no withholding tax is currently imposed on payments of interest on the Notes, there
can be no assurance that as a result of any change in any applicable law, treaty, rule,
regulation, or interpretation thereof, the payments on the Notes would not in the future become
subject to withholding taxes.

In the event that any withholding tax or deduction for tax is imposed on payments of interest
on the Note, the holders of the Notes will not be entitled to receive grossed-up amounts to
compensate for such withholding tax and no Event of Default shall occur as a result of any
such withholding or deduction.

In the event of the occurrence of a Note Tax Event pursuant to which any payment on the
Notes becomes properly subject to any withholding tax or deduction on account of tax, the
Notes may be redeemed in whole but not in part at the direction of the holders of the Notes,
acting by Extraordinary Resolution — see Condition 7(c) (Redemption following Note Tax
Event) under "Terms and Conditions of the Notes".

Security

Clearing Systems: Portfolio Assets or other assets forming part of the Collateral which are in
the form of securities (if any) will be held by the Custodian on behalf of the Issuer. The
Custodian will hold such assets through its accounts with a recognised clearing system or
through its sub-custodians who will in turn hold such assets which are securities both directly
and through any appropriate clearing system. Those assets held in clearing systems will not be
held in special purpose accounts and will be fungible with other securities from the same issue
held in the same accounts on behalf of the other customers of the Custodian or its sub-
custodian, as the case may be. A first fixed charge over the Portfolio will be created under
English law pursuant to the Trust Deed on the Issue Date and will take effect as a security
interest over the right of the Issuer to require delivery of equivalent securities from the
Custodian in accordance with the terms of the Agency Agreement (as defined in the
Conditions) which may expose the Secured Parties to the insolvency of the Custodian or its
sub-custodian.

In any event, the charge created pursuant to the Trust Deed may be insufficient or ineffective
to grant security over the Investments which are securities for the benefit of Noteholders,
particularly in the event of any insolvency or liquidation of the Custodian or any sub-
custodian that has priority over the right of the Issuer to require delivery of such assets from
the Custodian in accordance with the terms of the Agency Agreement. In addition, custody
and clearance risks may be associated with Portfolio Assets for the Portfolio Assets which are
securities. There is a risk, for example, that such securities could be counterfeit, or subject to a
defect in title or claims to ownership by other parties.

Any risk of loss arising from any insufficiency or ineffectiveness of the security for the Notes
or the custody and clearance risks which may be associated with assets comprising the
Portfolio will be borne by the Noteholders without recourse to the Issuer, the Trustee, the
Investment Managers, the Collateral Administrator, the Share Trustee, the Corporate Service
Provider, the Custodian, any Eligible Counterparties, the Directors or any other party.

Fixed Security: Although the security constituted by the Trust Deed over the Collateral held
from time to time, including the security over the Collection Account, is expressed to take
effect as a fixed charge, it may (as a result of, among other things, the substitutions of
Investments or Eligible Investments contemplated by the Investment Management Agreement
and the payments to be made from the Collection Account in accordance with the Conditions
and the Trust Deed) take effect as a floating charge which, in particular, would rank after a
subsequently created fixed charge. However, the Issuer has covenanted in the Trust Deed not
to create any such subsequent security interests (other than those permitted under the Trust
Deed) without the consent of the Trustee.
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Examiners, Preferred Creditors under Irish law and Floating charges

The Issuer has its registered office in Ireland. As a result there is a rebuttable presumption that
its centre of main interest ("COMI") is in Ireland and consequently that any main insolvency
proceedings applicable to it would be governed by Irish law. In the decision by the European
Court of Justice ("ECJ") in relation to Eurofood IFSC Limited, the ECJ restated the
presumption in Council Regulation (EC) No. 1346/200 of 29 May, 2000 on Insolvency
Proceedings that the place of a company’s registered office is presumed to be the company’s
COMI and stated that the presumption can only be rebutted if "factors which are both
objective and ascertainable by third parties enable it to be established that an actual situation
exists which is different from that which locating it at the registered office is deemed to
reflect". As the Issuer has its registered office in Ireland, has Irish directors, is registered for
tax in Ireland and has an Irish corporate services provider, the Issuer does not believe that
factors exist that would rebut this presumption, although this would ultimately be a matter for
the relevant court to decide, based on the circumstances existing at the time when it was asked
to make that decision.

An examiner may be appointed to an Irish company in circumstances where it is unable, or
likely to be unable, to pay its debts. One of the effects of such an appointment is that during
the period of appointment, there is a prohibition on the taking of enforcement action by any
creditors of the company. Given that the Issuer is a special purpose entity with no employees,
the limited recourse nature of the Issuer’s liabilities and the structure of the transaction, it is
unlikely that an examiner would be appointed to the Issuer.

In an insolvency of the Issuer, the claims of certain preferential creditors (including the Irish
Revenue Commissioners for certain unpaid taxes) will rank in priority to claims of unsecured
creditors and claims of creditors holding floating charges. In addition, the claims of creditors
holding fixed charges may rank behind other "super" preferential creditors (including
expenses of any examiner appointed and certain capital gains tax liabilities) and, in the case of
fixed charges over book debts, may rank behind claims of the Irish Revenue Commissioners.

In certain circumstances, a charge which purports to be taken as a fixed charge may take effect
as a floating charge. Under Irish law, for a charge to be characterised as a fixed charge, the
charge holder is required to exercise the requisite level of control over the assets purported to
be charged and the proceeds of such assets including any bank account into which such
proceeds are paid.

If the Issuer becomes subject to an insolvency proceeding and the Issuer has obligations to
creditors that are treated under Irish law as creditors that are senior relative to the Noteholders,
the Noteholders may suffer losses as a result of their subordinated status during such
insolvency proceeding.

Resolutions, Amendments and Waivers

Decisions may be taken by Noteholders by way of Ordinary Resolution or Extraordinary
Resolution. Such Resolutions can be effected either at a duly convened meeting of the
applicable Noteholders or by the applicable Noteholders resolving in writing. Meetings of the
Noteholders may be convened by the Issuer, the Trustee or by one or more Noteholders
holding not less than ten per cent. in aggregate of the Principal Amount Outstanding of the
Notes, subject to certain conditions including minimum notice periods.

In the event that a meeting of Noteholders is called to consider a Resolution, determination as
to whether the requisite number of Notes has been voted in favour of such Resolution will be
determined by reference to the percentage which the Notes voted in favour represent of the
total amount of Notes held or represented by any person or persons entitled to vote which are
present at such meeting and not by the aggregate original principal amount or Principal
Amount Outstanding of Notes of all such Notes which are entitled to be voted in respect of
such Resolution. This means that a lower percentage of Noteholders may pass a Resolution
which is put to a meeting of Noteholders than would be required for a Written Resolution in
respect of the same matter. There are however quorum provisions which provide that
Noteholders representing a minimum amount of the aggregate Principal Amount Outstanding
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of the Notes be present at any meeting to consider an Extraordinary Resolution or Ordinary
Resolution. In the case of an Extraordinary Resolution, this is one or more persons holding or
representing not less than 50 per cent. of the aggregate Principal Amount Outstanding of
Notes and in the case of an Ordinary Resolution this is one or more persons holding or
representing not less than ten per cent. of the Principal Amount Outstanding of the Notes.
Such quorum provisions still, however, require considerably lower thresholds than would be
required for a Written Resolution. In addition, in the event that a quorum requirement is not
satisfied at any meeting, lower quorum thresholds will apply at any meeting previously
adjourned for want of quorum as set out in Condition 14(b) (Decisions and Meetings of
Noteholders) and in the Trust Deed.

Certain entrenched rights relating to the Terms and Conditions of the Notes including the
currency thereof, Payment Dates applicable thereto, the Priorities of Payment, the provisions
relating to quorums and the percentages of votes required for the passing of an Extraordinary
Resolution, cannot be amended or waived by Ordinary Resolution but require an
Extraordinary Resolution. It should however be noted that amendments may still be effected
and waivers may still be granted in respect of such provisions in circumstances where not all
Noteholders agree with the terms thereof and any amendments or waivers once passed in
accordance with the provisions of the Terms and Conditions of the Notes and the provisions of
the Trust Deed will be binding on all such dissenting Noteholders. In addition to the Trustee's
right to agree to changes to the Transaction Documents to correct a manifest error, or to
changes which, in its opinion, are not materially prejudicial to the interests of the Noteholders
without the consent of the Noteholders, modifications may also be made and waivers granted
in respect of certain other matters, subject to the prior consent of the Trustee but without the
consent of the Noteholders as set out in Condition 14(c) (Modification and Waiver).

Investor Tax Information

Investors should be aware that certain fiscal authorities may provide a better tax treatment if
certain information reporting is provided to Noteholders by the Issuer. Unless expressly
agreed in writing with the Issuer or the Investment Managers or unless set out in the section
entitled "Taxation" and "Tax Considerations" the Issuer cannot guarantee to provide tax
reporting to Noteholders and accepts no liability as a respect of such a failure. No assurance
can be given that even if tax reporting is provided it will be accurate in all respects or that it
will be provided by the date a Noteholder is due to report to its fiscal authorities or that it will
be provided by the statutory due date.

RELATING TO THE COLLATERAL
General

The Collateral on which the Notes and the claims of the other Secured Parties are secured will
be subject to credit, liquidity, interest rate and exchange rate risks, general economic
conditions, operational risks, structural risks, the condition of financial markets, political
events, developments or trends in any particular industry, changes in prevailing interest rates
and periods of adverse performance.

Characteristics of the Investments

The Investments may comprise a wide variety of assets acquired by the Investment Managers
on behalf of the Issuer which satisfy the Eligibility Criteria including, as stated in the
Eligibility Criteria, Senior Secured Obligations, Unsecured Obligations, Mezzanine
Obligations, Second Lien Obligations, Derivative Instruments, Equity Securities or other
investments (which the Investment Managers consider to be appropriate Investments for the
Issuer) acquired or entered into by the Issuer or the Investment Managers on its behalf in
accordance with the Investment Management Agreement. It is anticipated that the
Investments will comprise primarily Senior Secured Obligations although no assurance can be
given as to this fact and the Investment Restrictions applicable to the Portfolio are limited in
terms of the parameters they impose see "Limited Parameters for Investment".
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These Risk Factors include a description of the risks inherent in investments in leverage loans
which encompass Senior Secured Obligations, Unsecured Obligations, Mezzanine Obligations
(including Second Lien Obligations) and other Investments, as well as certain of the risks
inherent in Derivative Instruments. It is possible that the Issuer or the Investment Managers
on its behalf may from time to time acquire Investments which satisfy the Eligibility Criteria
but which are not referred to above and which are not specifically discussed in detail in these
Risk Factors. Each type of Investment will have its own specific attendant risks as well as
risks that are common to a number of the Investments which may be acquired. Potential
investors in the Notes should ensure that they are comfortable that the Investment Managers
have broad discretion to acquire a wide range of Investments on behalf of the Issuer, the risks
inherent to which may be discussed here but which may also involve other risks which are not
discussed in detail in these Risk Factors. No investor should acquire an interest in the Notes
unless they are comfortable that the level of discretion given to the Investment Managers and
the limited parameters it is subject to in making investment decisions on behalf of the Issuer
are acceptable to it.

Information about the Investments

Purchasers of any of the Notes will not have an opportunity to evaluate for themselves the
relevant economic, financial and other information regarding the investments to be made by
the Investment Managers, acting on behalf of the Issuer and, accordingly, will be dependent
upon the judgment and ability of the Investment Managers in acquiring Investments for
purchase on behalf of the Issuer over time. No assurance can be given that the Investment
Managers, acting on behalf of the Issuer, will be successful in obtaining suitable Investments
or that, if such Investments are acquired, the investment objective of the Issuer will be
achieved.

None of the Investment Managers or any other transaction party will be required to provide
periodic pricing or valuation information to investors. Investors will receive limited
information with regard to the Investments and none of the transaction parties (including the
Issuer, Trustee, or Investment Managers) will be required to provide any information other
than what is required in the Trust Deed, the Agency Agreement or the Investment
Management Agreement. Furthermore, if any information is provided to the Noteholders
(including required reports under the Trust Deed and/or the Agency Agreement), such
information may not be audited.

Finally, the Investment Managers may be in possession of material, non-public information
with regard to the Investments and will not be required to disclose such information to the
Noteholders.

Limited Parameters for Investments

Each Investment entered into by the Issuer or the Investment Managers on its behalf is
required to satisfy the Eligibility Criteria at the time of entry into a binding commitment to
acquire such Investment:

In addition, it is anticipated that the Investment Restrictions described under "The Portfolio —
Investment Restrictions" will be satisfied as at the Effective Date although no assurance can be
given as to such compliance. The Investment Managers will endeavour to dynamically
manage compliance with the Investment Restrictions upon the purchase and sale of each
Investment. In calculating the Investment Restrictions if the Issuer or the Investment
Managers on behalf of the Issuer has purchased credit protection by entering into a Derivative
Instrument which is a credit default swap or similar instrument in respect of an Investment
then for the purposes of calculation of Investment Restrictions related to secured subordinated
Investments, Unsecured Obligations and single Obligor, the Net Asset Value of the
Investment shall be included only to the extent that the Net Asset Value of such Investment
exceeds the notional amount of the Derivative Instrument for which the Issuer or the
Investment Managers on behalf of the Issuer has purchased credit protection. In the event that
the Investment Restrictions are not in compliance as at any Measurement Date, the Investment
Managers, acting on behalf of the Issuer, will use commercially reasonable efforts to bring the
Investment Restrictions back into compliance although again no assurance can be given as to
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such compliance being achieved within a specified timescale or at all. The parameters by
reference to which the Issuer or the Investment Managers on its behalf will enter into
Investments are therefore fairly wide and such Investments may be selected by the Investment
Managers at its discretion acting on behalf of the Issuer. The Investment Restrictions are also
not absolute restrictions and there is no requirement for any action to be taken in the event that
they are breached, save to the extent described above. In addition, the Investments that form
the Issuer's Portfolio will change from time to time at the discretion of the Investment
Managers within the parameters of the Investment Restrictions and as a result, investors must
rely on the ability of the Investment Managers to make appropriate Investments and to manage
and dispose of such Investments at its discretion on behalf of the Issuer. While the Investment
Managers intend to make only carefully selected Investments that meet the criteria described
above, the Investment Managers have complete discretion with respect to the selection of such
Investments.

No disclosure of the individual Investments entered into will be included in the Monthly
Reports to be made available to Noteholders.

Value of the Investments

The Issuer has not made and will not make any investigation into the obligors under individual
Investments. The value of the Portfolio may fluctuate from time to time (as a result of
substitution or otherwise) and none of the Issuer, the Trustee, the Custodian, the Investment
Managers, the Collateral Administrator, or any Eligible Counterparty with whom the Issuer
has entered into a Derivative Instrument (the "Transaction Parties") or any of their Affiliates
are under any obligation to maintain the value of the Investments at any particular level. None
of the Transaction Parties or any of their Affiliates has any liability to the Noteholders as to
the amount or value of, or any decrease in the value of, the Investments from time to time.

Timing of Payment Risk

Investment in the Notes involves a degree of risk arising from fluctuations in the amount and
timing of receipt of the principal, interest and the amounts of the claims of creditors of the
Issuer ranking in priority to the holders of the Notes. In particular, prospective purchasers of
the Notes should be aware that the amount and timing of payment of the principal, interest and
other amounts in respect of the Investments will depend upon the detailed terms of the
documentation relating to each of the Investments and on whether or not any obligor
thereunder defaults in its obligations.

Default and Concentration Risk

The Investment Restrictions provide that not more than six per cent. of the Net Asset Value
may comprise the obligations of any single obligor provided that any Derivative Instrument
which references an index or basket or does not reference an underlying Cash Asset or Cash
Assets or Obligor thereunder shall be excluded.

The Investment Restrictions further provide that:

a) the Aggregate Market Value of the five largest Investments may not exceed 25
per cent. of the Adjusted Net Asset Value;

b) the Aggregate Market Value of the ten largest Investments may not exceed 42.5
per cent. of the Adjusted Net Asset Value;

c) not more than 22.5 per cent. of the Adjusted Net Asset Value may be invested in
a single Industry Category (by Aggregate Market Value); and

d) not more than 50 per cent. of the Adjusted Net Asset Value may be invested in
the top three Industry Categories (by Aggregate Market Value).

No other specific limits will be included in respect of the exposure to industry and country
concentration to which the Issuer is exposed pursuant to the Investments held by it.
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The risk that payments on the Notes could be adversely affected by defaults on the
Investments held by the Issuer will increase to the extent that the Portfolio of Investments is
concentrated in any one obligor, industry, region or country as a result of the increased
potential for correlated defaults in respect of a single obligor or within a single industry,
region or country as a result of downturns relating generally to such industry, region or
country.

In addition as referred to above under "Limited Parameters for Investments" the Investment
Restrictions do not operate as absolute limits on the type of assets that may be acquired by or
on behalf of the Issuer or require that action be taken in order to bring such Investment
Restrictions back into compliance.

Acquisition and Disposal Risk

The financial markets may experience substantial fluctuations in the prices of Investments
acquired by or on behalf of the Issuer and limited liquidity for such obligations. The Issuer's
ability to continue to source suitable Investments is dependent on the continued issuance
and/or availability of such Investments (which may in turn be dependent on prevailing tax,
regulatory, legal and market conditions and the Issuer) and that the Issuer will compete with
other potential investors to acquire interests in appropriate Investments. No assurance can be
given that the conditions giving rise to such price fluctuations and limited liquidity will not
occur, subsist or become more acute following the relevant Issue Date. During periods of
limited liquidity and higher price volatility, the Issuer's ability to acquire or dispose of
Investments at a price and time that the Issuer deems, or the Investment Managers on its
behalf deem advantageous may be impaired. As a result, in periods of rising market prices, the
Issuer may be unable to participate in price increases fully in the event that it is either unable
to dispose of Investments whose prices have risen or to acquire Investments whose prices are
increasing; the Issuer's inability to dispose fully and promptly of Investments in declining
markets will conversely cause the net asset value of the Portfolio to decline. A decrease in the
market value of the Investments would also adversely affect the proceeds of sale that could be
obtained upon the sale of the Investments and could ultimately affect the ability of the Issuer
to pay in full or redeem the Notes. Accordingly, no assurance can be given as to the amount of
proceeds of any sale or disposition of such Investments at any time, or that the proceeds of any
such sale or disposition would be sufficient to repay a corresponding par amount of principal
of and interest on the Notes after, in each case, paying all amounts payable prior thereto
pursuant to the Priorities of Payment. Moreover, there can be no assurance as to the timing of
any recoveries received in respect of defaulted Investments.

Reinvestment Risk; Uninvested Cash Balances

To the extent the Investment Managers maintain cash balances invested in short-term Eligible
Investments instead of higher yielding Investments, Portfolio income will be reduced which
will result in reduced amounts available for payment on the Notes. In general, the larger the
amount and the longer the time period during which cash and Eligible Investments remain
uninvested in Investments the greater the adverse impact on Portfolio income which will
reduce amounts available for payment on the Notes. The extent to which cash and Eligible
Investments remain uninvested will be subject to a variety of factors, including future market
conditions and is difficult to predict.

Default risks — restructuring costs and voting risks

Debt obligations may become non-performing for a variety of reasons and may require
substantial workout negotiations or restructuring that may entail, among other things, a
substantial reduction in the interest rate, a substantial write-down of the principal of the loan
or security, as applicable, the deferral of payments and/or further borrowings by the
underlying obligor. In addition, additional expenses may be incurred to the extent it is
necessary to seek recovery upon a default on a debt obligation or participate in the
restructuring of such obligation. Debt obligations which are loans are often syndicated
facilities and there is no assurance that the Issuer will hold an interest in such a debt obligation
that is sufficient to control creditor decisions. The same issue will arise in the event that the
Issuer is holding a debt security representing only part of the total issue amount thereof.
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Therefore, although the Issuer may recommend the exercise of voting rights with respect to an
individual debt obligation, there can be no certainty that the Issuer will be able to exercise
votes in respect of a sufficient percentage of voting rights with respect to such debt obligation
to determine the outcome of such vote.

In addition, the Investment Managers, who, pursuant to the Investment Management
Agreement, are responsible for managing the Issuer's Investments, will be required from time
to time to resolve conflicts of interest that occur as a result of the Issuer (or any entity or other
investment vehicle for which the Investment Managers acts) holding debt obligations at
different levels of priority in an obligor or an obligor group's financial structure. This conflict
of interest is likely to be magnified in a workout situation and, while the Investment Managers
will seek to ensure that such conflicts of interest are fairly resolved, there can be no assurance
that such a conflict of interest will not exist and/or cause material prejudice to the Issuer's
ability to make appropriate returns on the Notes. (See also "Certain Conflicts of Interest"
below).

Litigation Risk

The Issuer may participate in restructuring activities relating to its holdings of Investments and
accordingly become involved in litigation. The decision whether to become involved in
litigation or not will be at the absolute discretion of the Investment Managers on behalf of the
Issuer. Any government, legal or arbitration proceedings arising from such litigation may have
a significant adverse impact on the Issuer's financial position if, for example, the Issuer has to
bear the cost of any litigation. Investors should also note that the likely complexity and
duration of any legal proceeding, would necessitate the substantial involvement of the
Investment Managers and may impair its ability to manage the Investments.

Should increases in default rates occur with respect to the types of debt obligation in which the
Issuer invests, the actual default rates of the debt obligations in the portfolio may exceed the
hypothetical default rates assumed by investors in determining whether to purchase any of the
Notes.

True Sale

Generally, certain types of transactions may be set aside by an insolvency court if, for
example, (i) the transferor of an asset was insolvent at the time of the transfer; (ii) as a result
of the transfer the transferor has become insolvent; or (iii) if a transferor has not secured
valuable consideration for the transfer of the assets. If the Investments which the Issuer has
made are set aside by an insolvency court or similar body there may be insufficient funds for
the Issuer to satisfy its obligations under the Notes.

LMA/LSTA Representations and Warranties

Certain Investments acquired by the Issuer, including those acquired pursuant to the Note
Purchase and Asset Acquisition Agreement, may be transferred to the Issuer without
LMA/LSTA representations and warranties being given by the transferor in respect of such
Investments. As a result, if the Issuer subsequently sells any such Investment and provides
representations and warranties on LMA/LSTA standard terms, the Issuer could face a claim by
the purchaser of such Investment without the benefit of a back-to-back claim against the initial
transferor.

Purchase of Investments on or following the Issue Date

It is anticipated that the proceeds received by the Issuer on the Issue Date from the issuance of
the Notes, net of certain fees and expenses will be used for the acquisition of Investments.
The prices paid for such Investments will be the market value thereof. Events occurring
between the date of entry into a binding commitment and the settlement date will be for the
benefit or the detriment (as the case may be) of the holders of the Notes. Such events include
changes in prevailing interest rates, prepayments of principal, developments or trends in any
particular industry, changes in the financial condition of the obligors under Investments and a
number of other factors beyond the Issuer's control, including the condition of certain financial
markets, general economic conditions and international political events, could adversely affect
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the market value of the Investments acquired on or after the Issue Date. To the extent that any
losses are suffered on the Investments acquired by the Issuer, such losses will be shared by
both the holders of the Initial Notes and the holders of the Notes.

For reasons not necessarily attributable to any of the risks set forth herein (for example,
supply/demand imbalances or other market forces), the prices of the Investments in which the
Issuer invests may decline substantially. In particular, purchasing assets at what may appear to
be "undervalued" levels is no guarantee that these assets will not be trading at even lower
levels at a time of valuation or at the time of sale. It may not be possible to predict, or to hedge
against, such risk.

Leverage

The Issuer may utilise leverage in the Investments acquired by it or on its behalf by the
Investment Managers and by drawing amounts down under Leverage Instruments in order to
increase the investment capacity of the Investment Managers. Utilisation of such leverage
techniques will be subject to the Leverage Ratio Investment Restriction which it is anticipated
will be satisfied on the Initial Issue Date (although no assurance to this fact can be given) and
which the Investment Managers will use commercially reasonable efforts to bring back into
compliance in the event that it is not satisfied which provides that the Leverage Ratio will be
satisfied as at any date of determination if the Net Asset Value is greater than or equal to the
Leverage Amount divided by three. Leverage creates opportunities for greater total returns for
the Notes but simultaneously creates special risk considerations. The use of leverage is a
speculative investment technique which increases the risk to the holders of the Notes. It may
exaggerate changes in the total value of the net assets of the Issuer and in the yield in the
Investments and subsequently the yield on the Notes.

The Eligible Counterparties with whom Derivative Instruments are entered into and Leverage
Providers may impose additional restrictions on the Issuer including requiring certain limits to
be met in respect of the Portfolio or tests to be satisfied or covenants to be complied with,
including covenants requiring the value of investments provided as security to remain above a
certain level and may also require their consent to certain actions being taken by the Issuer or
the Investment Managers on its behalf, including actions in respect of the Investments to be
purchased and sold in accordance with the Investment Management Agreement and any
modifications required to the Transaction Documents. In order to maintain compliance with
any such covenants the Issuer may be required to dispose of Investments at times which will
not necessarily be advantageous to it or to the Noteholders. The interests of any Eligible
Counterparty with whom the Issuer has entered into a Derivative Instrument or Leverage
Provider may conflict with the interests of the Noteholders in such regard.

In addition the Issuer may be required to grant security over the Portfolio or specific
Investments or to transfer specific Investments outright to an Eligible Counterparty in
connection with any Derivative Instrument or Leverage Instrument entered into in order to
provide leverage to the Issuer. Where the Issuer has been required to make an outright transfer
of Investments to an Eligible Counterparty as security for its obligations under a Derivative
Instrument or Leverage Instrument, the Issuer will be subject to the additional risk that the
Eligible Counterparty may become insolvent or otherwise default in its obligation to return
such Investment to the Issuer. In addition any security granted to an Eligible Counterparty in
connection with a Derivative Instrument or Leverage Instrument may rank in priority to the
security granted in respect of the Issuer's obligations under the Notes which means that, to the
extent of such security, the holders of the Notes would only be paid out after any such Eligible
Counterparty had been paid out in full out of the proceeds of any security which is enforced
following a default or insolvency of the Issuer.

Hedging Arrangements

The Investment Managers acting on behalf of the Issuer may from time to time enter into
hedging arrangements through the derivative market or otherwise. Such hedging will not cover
all the risks to which the Issuer is exposed by virtue of its acquisition of the Portfolio Assets
and its liabilities under the Notes. In addition, there can be no assurance any hedging
arrangements entered into will cover all risks which they are intended to address and some
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residual risks may remain as a result of imperfections and inconsistencies in the market caused
by, for example, timing differences between the purchase and sale of an Investment and the
implementation/unwinding of any market hedge.

Furthermore, default by any Eligible Counterparty in the performance of its obligations under
any hedging arrangements could expose the Issuer to additional credit and market risk. Failure
to hedge any market risk associated with entry into the Investments and/or the default of an
Eligible Counterparty in the performance of obligations under any hedging arrangements may
have a negative effect on the yield on the Notes and the amounts ultimately repaid to the
Noteholders.

Interest Rate Risk

The Notes bear interest at a floating rate of GBP LIBOR. The Investments acquired and held
by the Issuer from time to time may bear interest at a fixed rate or a floating rate which is
determined differently to the GBP LIBOR used for the calculation of Scheduled Interest on the
Notes.

As a result of this, it is expected that there will be a fixed/floating rate mismatch and/or a
floating rate basis mismatch between the Notes and the Investments held by the Issuer. Such
mismatch may be material and may change as the composition of the related Investments
change and as the Notes are repaid. Such mismatches could adversely affect the ability to
make payments on the Notes.

In addition there could be timing mismatches between the payment of Scheduled Interest on
the Notes and the dates on which interest on Investments is payable to the Issuer which could
result in the Issuer being unable to pay Scheduled Interest due on any Payment Date in full.

The Conditions of the Notes provide that no Event of Default will occur under the Notes in the
event of any non-payment in full by the Issuer of Scheduled Interest due on any Payment Date
until such non-payment has subsisted for 18 months.

The Investment Managers on behalf of the Issuer may enter into Derivative Instruments that
are interest rate hedging arrangements to reduce the effect of any such interest rate
mismatches. There can be no assurance however that the interest rate hedging entered into by
the Issuer will achieve the intended result or that the Investments securing the Notes will in all
circumstances generate sufficient proceeds to make timely payments of interest on the Notes
or that any particular levels of return will be generated on the Notes.

The Issuer will be dependent upon its ability to identify one or more suitable Eligible
Counterparties and upon each Eligible Counterparty performing its obligations under any
Derivative Instrument representing interest rate hedging arrangements. If such an Eligible
Counterparty defaults or becomes unable to perform due to insolvency or otherwise, the Issuer
may not receive payments it would otherwise be entitled to from the Eligible Counterparty to
cover its interest rate exposure.

The Issuer may be required to make payments to an Eligible Counterparty upon termination or
any reduction of the notional amount of any interest rate hedging arrangements entered into.

The payments associated with such hedging arrangements generally rank senior to payments
on the Notes.

Currency Risk

The Notes are denominated in GBP but there is no requirement that the Issuer or the
Investment Managers on its behalf acquire Investments that are denominated in GBP provided
that they are denominated in Euro or a Qualifying Currency. Such mismatch exposes the
Issuer to foreign exchange rate risk to the extent that it needs to convert amounts received in
respect of non-GBP-denominated Investments to meet its payment obligations under the GBP
denominated Notes or in the event that it converts the proceeds received in respect of one non-
GBP-denominated Investment in order to acquire or make payments in respect of another non-
GBP-denominated Investment that is denominated in a different Qualifying Currency.
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In order to address such mismatch, the Investment Managers (acting on behalf of the Issuer)
may in its sole discretion enter into such hedging transactions as it may deem appropriate
which have the economic effect of converting non-GBP cash flows into GBP amounts
provided, however, the Investment Managers shall use reasonable efforts to ensure that, on or
after the Amendment Date, no less than 90 per cent. and no more than 110 per cent. of the
market value of Non-GBP Obligations is the subject of such hedging transactions.

It is likely however that such currency hedging arrangements will not cover all of the currency
exposure of the Issuer and there can be no assurance that such currency hedging arrangements
will achieve the intended result or that the Investments securing the Notes will in all
circumstances generate sufficient proceeds to make timely payments of interest on the Notes
or that any particular levels of return will be generated on the Notes.

The Issuer will be dependent upon its ability to identify one or more suitable Eligible
Counterparties and upon each Eligible Counterparty performing its obligations under any
Derivative Instrument representing currency hedging arrangements. If such an Eligible
Counterparty defaults or becomes unable to perform due to insolvency or otherwise, the Issuer
may not receive payments it would otherwise be entitled to from the Eligible Counterparty to
cover its foreign currency exposure and may expose the Issuer to further foreign currency
exposure in the event that the Issuer does not have amounts available in the currency in which
such payments are due in order to make such payments. The Issuer's ongoing payment
obligations under any currency hedging arrangements may be significant. The Issuer may be
required to make payments to an Eligible Counterparty upon termination or any reduction of
the notional amount of any currency hedging arrangements entered into.

The payments associated with such hedging arrangements generally rank senior to payments
on the Notes.

Insolvency of Obligors under Investments

The Investments may be subject to various laws enacted for the protection of creditors in the
jurisdictions of incorporation of the obligors thereunder and, if different, the jurisdictions from
which the obligors conduct their business and in which they hold their assets, which may
adversely affect the ability of the Issuer to receive payment from such obligors on a full or
timely basis. These insolvency considerations will differ depending on the country in which
each obligor or its assets is located and may differ depending on the legal status of the obligor.
In particular, it should be noted that a number of continental European and emerging market
jurisdictions operate "debtor-friendly" insolvency regimes which could result in delays in
payments under Investments where obligations thereunder are subject to such regimes in the
event of their insolvency.

The different insolvency regimes applicable in the different jurisdictions is likely to result in a
corresponding variability of recovery rates for obligations owed by obligors in such
jurisdictions. No reliable historical data for such recovery rates is available.

Tax Risk Associated with Investments

An Investment will be eligible for purchase by the Issuer irrespective of whether the payments
thereon are subject to withholding tax or the obligor thereof (and the guarantor, if any) is
required to make "gross-up" payments that cover the full amount of any such withholding
taxes. There can be no assurance that, either now or as a result of any change in any applicable
law, treaty, rule, regulation or interpretation thereof, payments on an Investment are not or will
not be subject to withholding taxes. If the obligors under any such Investment are not required
to make "gross-up" payments that cover the full amount of any such withholding taxes, the
amounts available to make payments on the Notes would accordingly be reduced.

Counterparty Risk

Participations and Derivative Instruments involve the Issuer entering into contracts with
counterparties. Pursuant to such contracts, the counterparties agree to make payments to the
Issuer under certain circumstances as described therein. The Issuer will be exposed to the
credit risk of the counterparty with respect of any such payments.
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Similarly, the Issuer will be exposed to the credit risk of the Account Bank and the Custodian
to the extent of, respectively, all cash of the Issuer held in the accounts and all securities of the
Issuer held by the Custodian.

RISKS RELATING TO SPECIFIC INVESTMENTS
Investments Which are Loans

Characteristics of Senior Secured Obligations, Second Lien Obligations, Mezzanine
Obligations and Unsecured Obligation

Senior Secured Obligations and Mezzanine Obligations (including Second Lien Obligations)
are of a type generally incurred by the obligors thereunder in connection with highly leveraged
transactions, often (although not exclusively) to finance internal growth, acquisitions, mergers
and/or stock purchases. As a result of, among other things, the additional debt incurred by the
obligor in the course of such a transaction, the obligor's creditworthiness is often judged by the
rating agencies to be below investment grade. Senior Secured Obligations are typically at the
most senior level of the capital structure with Second Lien Obligations and Mezzanine
Obligations being subordinated thereto. Senior Secured Obligations are generally secured on
shares in certain group companies and may also be secured by specific collateral or
guarantees, including but not limited to, trademarks, patents, accounts receivable, inventory,
equipment, buildings, real estate, franchises and common and preferred stock of the obligor
and its subsidiaries although the security granted in respect of some Senior Secured
Obligations may be limited to share security over the obligor group and some Senior Secured
Obligations may also be unsecured. In continental Europe security is often limited to shares in
certain group companies, accounts receivable, bank account balances and intellectual property
rights. This security may well not be perfected. Mezzanine Obligations often have the benefit
of a second (or, if Second Lien Obligations feature in the capital structure, third) charge over
the assets on which more senior ranking obligations are secured. Senior Secured Obligations
usually have shorter terms than more junior obligations and often require mandatory
prepayments from excess cash flow, asset dispositions and offerings of debt and/or equity
securities on a priority basis.

Mezzanine Obligations and Second Lien Obligations generally take the form of medium-term
loans repayable shortly (perhaps six months or one year) after the senior debt of the obligor
thereunder. Because Mezzanine Obligations and Second Lien Obligations are only repayable
after the senior debt of an obligor (and interest payments may be blocked to protect the
position of senior debt interest in certain circumstances), they may carry higher rates of
interest to reflect the greater risk of their not being repaid. Due to the greater risk associated
with Mezzanine Obligations and other secured subordinated Investments as a result of their
subordination below senior debt of an obligor, mezzanine or subordinated lenders may be
granted share options, warrants in or higher cash paying instruments or payments in kind by
the obligor which can be exercised in certain circumstances, principally being immediately
prior to the obligor's shares being sold or floated in an initial public offering.

Investments which are loans or debt securities are subject to the risk of default. Default in the
payment of interest or principal in respect of any such Investment will result in a reduction of
income for the Issuer and a reduction in the value of such Investment and therefore ultimately
a risk of non-payment of interest and principal on the Notes.

Risks Associated with Senior Secured Obligations and Mezzanine Obligations (including
Second Lien Obligations)

In addition to the limited liquidity and restrictions on transfer of the Notes, there are limited
liquidity risks associated with Senior Secured Obligations and Mezzanine Obligations
including Second Lien Obligations. As referred to above, the obligor under a leveraged loan
often provides the lenders thereunder with extensive information about its business which is
not generally available to the public. Because of the provision of such confidential
information, the unique and customised nature of a loan agreement, and the private
syndication of the loan, leveraged loans are generally not as easily purchased or sold as
publicly traded securities and negotiating a secondary market purchase or sale may involve a
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degree of complexity which may not exist, for example, in the bond market. Historically, the
trading volume in the loan markets has been small relative to, for example, the high yield bond
market.

Historically, investors in or lenders under Senior Secured Obligations and Mezzanine
Obligations have been predominantly commercial banks and investment banks. The range of
investors for such loans has broadened to include money managers, insurance companies,
arbitrageurs, hedge funds, distressed investors and mutual funds seeking increased potential
total returns and portfolio managers of trusts or special purchase companies issuing
collateralised bond and loan obligations. As secondary market trading volumes increase, new
loans are frequently adopting more standardised documentation to facilitate loan trading which
may improve market liquidity. There can be no assurance, however, that future levels of
supply and demand in loan trading will provide the degree of liquidity which currently exists
in the market. This means that such assets will be subject to greater disposal risk in the event
that such assets are sold following enforcement of the security over the Collateral or
otherwise.

Increased Risks for Mezzanine Obligations and other Secured Subordinated Investments

The market for Mezzanine Obligations and other secured subordinated Investments are
generally less liquid than that for Senior Secured Obligations, resulting in increased disposal
risk for such.

The fact that Mezzanine Obligations are generally subordinated to any Senior Loan and
potentially other indebtedness of the relevant obligor thereunder, may have a longer maturity
than such other indebtedness and will generally only have a second (or third) ranking security
interest over any security granted in respect thereof, increases the risk of non-payment of such
obligations in an enforcement situation.

Mezzanine Obligations and secured subordinated Investments are often entered into in
connection with leveraged acquisitions or recapitalisations in which the obligors thereunder
incur a substantially higher amount of indebtedness than the level at which they previously
operated and, as referred to above, sit at a subordinated level in the capital structure of such
companies. Such obligations may also provide that all or part of the interest accruing thereon
will not be paid on a current basis but will be deferred.

Risks Associated with Unsecured Obligations

Unsecured Obligations will ordinarily be subject to the same risks as those described in
respect of Senior Secured Obligations but such risks will be increased by the lack of security
over the assets of the Obligor or Obligor group. The unsecured nature of the claim will, in
circumstances of the insolvency and liquidation of the relevant Obligor, mean that the
entitlement of the Issuer to have its claims satisfied out of the assets and revenues of the
obligor will be subordinated to the claims of any secured creditor to the extent of the security
over the assets and revenues of the Obligor and that it will rank alongside all other unsecured
creditors. In addition, the Issuer may incur additional expenses to the extent that it is required
to seek recovery upon a default in respect of the Unsecured Obligation or participate in the
restructuring of such an obligation.

Bespoke Terms of Leverage Investments

Although any particular Senior Loan, Mezzanine Obligation, Secured Lien Loan or secured
subordinated Investment often will share many similar features with other loans and
obligations of its type, the actual terms of any particular Senior Loan, Mezzanine Obligation,
Second Lien Obligation or secured subordinated Investment will have been a matter of
negotiation and will thus be unique. Any particular loan or obligation may contain terms that
are not standard and that provide less protection to creditors than might be expected, including
in respect of covenants, events of default, security or guarantees. The leveraged credit markets
are constantly evolving. In the years immediately preceding the credit crunch in the summer of
2007, there was an increasing trend of less protection for creditors in terms of covenants and
other terms than had historically been the case. The Investment Managers may select
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Investments for acquisition by the Issuer in the secondary market that provide less protection
for creditors in the event of a default than was customary or current in the market today.

Defaults and Recoveries

There is limited historical data available as to the levels of defaults and/or recoveries that may
be experienced on Senior Secured Obligations, Mezzanine Obligations or Second Lien
Obligations and no assurance can be given as to the levels of default and/or recoveries that
may apply to any such Investments purchased by the Issuer. As referred to above, although
any particular Senior Loan, Mezzanine Obligation, Second Lien Obligation or secured
subordinated Investment will often share many similar features with other loans and
obligations of its type, the actual terms of any particular such obligation will have been a
matter of negotiation and will thus be unique. The level of protection afforded to creditors will
therefore vary from Investment to Investment. Recoveries on Senior Secured Obligations,
Mezzanine Obligations, Second Lien Obligations and secured subordinated Investments may
also be affected by the different bankruptcy regimes applicable in different jurisdictions and
the enforceability of claims against the obligors thereunder. See "Insolvency of Obligors under
Investments" above.

The holders of Senior Secured Obligations, Mezzanine Obligations, and other secured
subordinated Investments are more diverse than ever before, including not only banks and
specialist finance providers but also potentially alternative investment managers, specialist
debt and distressed debt investors and other financial institutions. The increasing
diversification of the investor base has also been accompanied by an increase in the use of
hedges, swaps and other derivative instruments to protect against or spread the economic risk
of defaults. All of these developments may further increase the risk that historical recovery
levels will not be realised. The returns on such Investments may not adequately reflect the risk
of future defaults and the ultimate recovery rates.

A non-investment grade loan or debt obligation or an interest in a non-investment grade loan
is generally considered speculative in nature and may default for a variety of reasons. Upon
default an Investment may become subject to either workout negotiations or restructuring,
which may entail, among other things, a substantial reduction in the interest rate, a substantial
write-down of principal and/or material charges to the terms, conditions and covenants
applicable to such Investment. In addition, such negotiations or restructuring may be quite
extensive and protracted over time, and therefore may result in uncertainty with respect to
ultimate recovery on such Investment. The liquidity for defaulted Investments may be limited,
and to the extent that defaulted Investments are sold, it is highly unlikely that the proceeds
from such sale will be equal to the amount of unpaid principal and interest thereon.

Prepayment Risk

Loans are generally prepayable in whole or in part at any time at the option of the obligor
thereof at par plus accrued and unpaid interest thereon. Prepayments on loans may be caused
by a variety of factors, which are difficult to predict. Accordingly, there exists a risk that loans
purchased at a price greater than par may experience a capital loss as a result of such a
prepayment. In addition, amounts received upon such a prepayment are subject to
reinvestment risk. Any inability of the Issuer to reinvest such amounts received upon
prepayment of any Investment in permitted Investments with comparable yields may
adversely affect the timing and amount of payments and distributions received by the
Noteholders and the yield to maturity of the Notes.

Credit Risk

Risks applicable to Senior Secured Obligations, Mezzanine Obligations and other secured
subordinated Investments also include the possibility that earnings of the obligor may be
insufficient to meet its debt service obligations thereunder and the declining creditworthiness
and potential for insolvency of the obligor of such loans during periods of rising interest rates
and economic downturn such as that which is currently being experienced. An economic
downturn could severely disrupt the market for leveraged loans and adversely affect the value
thereof and the ability of the obligor thereunder to repay principal and interest.
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Lender Liability Considerations; Equitable Subordination

In recent years, a number of judicial decisions in the United States and other jurisdictions have
upheld the right of borrowers to sue lenders or bondholders on the basis of various evolving
legal theories (collectively, termed "lender liability"). Generally, lender liability is founded
upon the premise that an institutional lender or bondholder has violated a duty (whether
implied or contractual) of good faith and fair dealing owed to the borrower or issuer or has
assumed a degree of control over the borrower or issuer resulting in the creation of a fiduciary
duty owed to the borrower or issuer or its other creditors or shareholders. Although it would
be a novel application of the lender liability theories, the Issuer may be subject to allegations
of lender liability. However, the Issuer does not intend to engage in, and the Investment
Managers do not intend to advise the Issuer with respect to any, conduct that would form the
basis for a successful cause of action based upon lender liability.

In addition, under common law principles that in some cases form the basis for lender liability
claims, if a lender or bondholder (a) intentionally takes an action that results in the under-
capitalisation of a borrower to the detriment of other creditors of such borrower, (b) engages in
other inequitable conduct to the detriment of such other creditors, (c) engages in fraud with
respect to, or makes misrepresentations to, such other creditors or (d) uses its influence as a
stockholder to dominate or control a borrower to the detriment of other creditors of such
borrower, a court may elect to subordinate the claim of the offending lender or bondholder to
the claims of the disadvantaged creditor or creditors, a remedy called "equitable
subordination". Because of the nature of the Investments the Issuer may be subject to claims
from creditors of an obligor that Investments issued by such obligor that are held by the Issuer
should be equitably subordinated. However, neither the Issuer nor the Investment Managers
intend to engage in any conduct that would form the basis for a successful cause of action
based upon the equitable subordination doctrine described above.

The preceding discussion is based upon principles of United States federal and state laws.
Insofar as Investments that are obligations of non-United States obligors are concerned, the
laws of certain foreign jurisdictions may impose liability upon lenders or bondholders under
factual circumstances similar to those described above, with consequences that may or may
not be analogous to those described above under United States federal and state laws

Participations

The Issuer may acquire interests in Investments which are loans either directly (by way of
novation or assignment) or indirectly (by way of participation or sub-participation (each a
"Participation").

The purchaser of a loan by way of novation or assignment typically succeeds to all the rights
of the assigning Selling Institution and becomes entitled to the benefit of the loans and the
other rights of the lender under the loan agreement. The Issuer as an assignee will generally
have the right to receive directly from the obligor all payments of principal and interest to
which it is entitled, provided that notice of such Assignment has been given to the obligor.

A Participation entered into by the Issuer with a selling institution (a "Selling Institution")
typically results in a contractual relationship only with such Selling Institution and not with
the borrower under such loan. The Issuer would, in such case, have the right to receive
payments of principal and interest to which it is entitled only upon receipt by the Selling
Institution of such payments from the obligor. In purchasing Participations, the Issuer
generally will have no right to enforce compliance by the obligor with the terms of the
applicable loan agreement, nor any rights of set-off against the borrower under the Loan and
the Issuer may not directly benefit from the collateral supporting the loan in respect of which it
has purchased a Participation. As a result, the Issuer will assume the credit risk of both the
obligor and the Selling Institution selling the Participation. In the event of the insolvency of
the Selling Institution selling a Participation, the Issuer may experience delays in receiving
payments made to the Selling Institution by the borrower and may be treated as a general
creditor of the Selling Institution and may not benefit from any set-off between the Selling
Institution and the obligor and the Issuer may suffer a loss to the extent that the obligor may
set-off claims against the Selling Institution. If the Issuer is treated as a general creditor of the

34



4.2

43

Selling Institution, it may not have any exclusive or senior claim with respect to the Selling
Institution's interest in, or to the collateral securing, the loan in question. The Issuer may
purchase a Participation from a Selling Institution that does not itself retain any economic
interest in the loan, and therefore, may have limited interest in monitoring the terms of the
loan agreement and the continuing creditworthiness of the borrower. When the Issuer holds a
Participation in a loan it generally will not have the right to vote to waive enforcement of any
covenants breached by an obligor. However, most participation agreements provide that the
Selling Institution may not vote in favour of any amendment, modification or waiver that
forgives principal or interest, reduces principal or interest that is payable, postpones any
payment of principal (other than a mandatory pre-payment) or interest or release substantially
all of the collateral without the consent of the participant at least to the extent the participant
would be affected by any such amendment, modification or waiver. A Selling Institution
voting in connection with a potential waiver of a restrictive covenant may have interests which
are different from those of the Issuer and such Selling Institutions are not required to consider
the interest of the Issuer in connection with the exercise of its votes. Assignments and
Participations are sold strictly without recourse to the Selling Institutions and the Selling
Institution will generally make no representations or warranties about the underlying loan, the
borrowers thereunder, the documentation or any collateral securing the loans. In addition, the
Issuer will be bound by provisions of the underlying loan agreements, if any, that require the
preservation of the confidentiality of information provided by the borrower.

Additional risks are therefore associated with the purchase of Participations by the Issuer.
Risks Relating to Investment Grade Securities

The Issuer or the Investment Managers on its behalf may acquire Investments that are
investment grade, as determined by the Investment Managers on behalf of the Issuer. Such
Investments may be publicly rated investment grade or the Issuer may have received
confidential credit estimates in respect thereof which are investment grade or the Investment
Managers may have determined that in their opinion such Investments are investment grade
without obtaining any such rating on the basis that in their opinion, acting reasonably, it would
be uneconomic for it to do so. A credit rating is not a guarantee that any such Investment will
not suffer default and it is possible that the ratings of Investments held by the Issuer may be
downgraded or withdrawn at any time after the date of acquisition thereof by the Issuer.

Risks relating to Collateralised Debt Obligations

It is possible that the Investment Managers may acquire collateralised debt obligations
("CDOs") and collateralised loan obligations on behalf of the Issuer from time to time. CDOs
generally are limited-recourse obligations of the issuer thereof payable solely from the
underlying amounts received in respect of assets owned by the issuer thereof. The underlying
assets of the CDO may consist of corporate debt securities, asset-backed securities, high yield
debt securities, loans, structured finance securities, emerging market debt securities, synthetic
securities and other debt and derivative instruments, which may be rated below investment
grade (or of equivalent credit quality). Consequently, the ability of an issuer of a CDO to make
payments in respect of those securities will depend on the distributions on, and proceeds of,
the underlying assets. Each of these underlying assets has its own risks. If distributions or
proceeds on these underlying assets are insufficient, no other assets will be available to pay the
deficiency and following realisation of the underlying securities and, the obligations of such
issuer to pay such deficiency will be extinguished. Any such non-payment may have an
adverse effect on the ability of the Issuer to meet its payment obligations under the Notes. In
addition, the performance of a CDO will be affected by a variety of factors, including its
priority in the capital structure of the issuer thereof, the availability of any credit enhancement,
and the level and timing of payments under such CDO.

A decrease in the market value of a CDO following any default thereunder would adversely
affect the Net Asset Value of the Portfolio and may ultimately affect the ability of the Issuer to
make payments of interest and principal on the Notes.
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Zero Coupon and Deferred Interest Bonds

The Issuer may invest in zero coupon bonds and deferred interest bonds which are debt
obligations issued at a significant discount from face value. The original discount
approximates the total amount of interest the bonds will accrue and compound over the period
until maturity or the first interest accrual date at a rate of interest reflecting the market rate of
the security at the time of issuance. While zero coupon bonds do not require the periodic
payment of interest, deferred interest bonds generally provide for a period of delay before the
regular payment of interest begins. Such investments experience greater volatility in the
market value due to changes in interest rates in comparison to debt obligations which provide
for regular payments of interest.

Event Orientated Trading and Special Situation Investments

The Investment Managers may cause the Issuer to engage in event-orientated trading and
investment in special situation investments, which often involve the purchase of a company's
securities and other debt after the company's announcement of a significant event.

The Issuer may invest and trade in securities of companies that it believes are undervalued
because, although such companies are not the subject of an announced tender offer, merger or
acquisition transaction, in the Investment Managers' view such companies are likely
candidates for such a transaction or that the debt of such a company is undervalued at the date
of acquisition thereof and that the realisation values achievable in respect thereof will be
higher than the acquisition cost thereof. In such a case, if the anticipated transaction does not
in fact occur, the Issuer may sell the securities or such other debt at a loss.

The Issuer may invest in securities and other debt of entities in a weak financial condition,
experiencing poor operating results, having substantial capital or liquidity needs or negative
net worth, facing special competitive or product obsolescence problems, or that are involved
in bankruptcy or reorganisation proceedings. Investments of this type may involve financial
and business risks that can result in losses. Among the risks inherent in investments in
troubled entities is the inability to obtain information as to the true condition of such entities.
Such investments may also be affected adversely by laws relating to, among other things,
fraudulent transfers and other voidable transfers or payments, lender liability and the courts'
power to disallow, reduce, subordinate or disenfranchise particular claims. The market prices
of such debt instruments are also subject to abrupt and erratic market movements and above
average price volatility, and the spread between the bid and asked prices of such debt
instruments may be greater than normally expected with respect to non-troubled obligors. It
may take a number of years for the market price of such debt instruments to reflect their
intrinsic value.

The debt instruments of financially troubled companies require active monitoring and may, at
times, require participation in bankruptcy or reorganisation proceedings by the Investment
Managers. To the extent that the Investment Managers become involved in such proceedings,
the Issuer may have a more active participation in the affairs of the obligor under such
instrument than that assumed generally by an investor.

In liquidation (both in and out of bankruptcy) and other forms of corporate reorganisation,
there exists the risk that the reorganisation either will be unsuccessful (due to, for example,
failure to obtain requisite approvals), will be delayed (for example, until various liabilities,
actual or contingent, have been satisfied) or will result in a distribution of cash or a new
security the value of which will be less than the purchase price to the Issuer of the security in
respect of which such distribution was made.

In certain transactions the Issuer may not be hedged against the risk of market fluctuations or,
in liquidation situations, the Investment Managers on behalf of the Issuer may not assess
accurately the value of the assets of the company being liquidated. This can result in losses,
even if the proposed transaction is consummated.

36



4.6

4.7

4.8

The Investment Managers attempt to assess all of the foregoing risk factors, and others, in
determining the extent of the position the Issuer will take in the debt instruments and the price
it is willing to pay therefor. However, such risks cannot be eliminated.

Risks Associated with Equity Securities

The Investment Restrictions does not provide any restriction of acquisition of Equity
Securities. No assurance can be given that the value of any Equity Securities received will
equal the acquisition cost of the Investments converted or that the Investment Managers,
acting on behalf of the Issuer, will be able to sell such Equity Securities at any particular price,
within the required time limit or at all.

Risks Related to Synthetic Securities
Exposure to counterparty and no underlying rights

In the event that Investments acquired by or on behalf of the Issuer from time to time are
credit default swaps, the Issuer will be subject to the credit risk of the applicable Eligible
Counterparty. The Issuer will have a contractual relationship with the relevant Eligible
Counterparty only and not with any reference entity to which such credit default swap may be
linked. The Issuer generally will have no right directly to enforce compliance by any such
reference entity with the terms of the underlying reference obligation nor any rights of set-off
against such reference entity, nor have any voting rights with respect to such reference
obligation. The Issuer will not directly benefit from any collateral supporting such reference
obligation and will not have the benefit of the remedies that would normally be available to a
holder of such reference obligation.

Unsecured creditor of counterparty

In addition to the risks described above, in the event of the insolvency of any Eligible
Counterparty, the Issuer will be treated as a general unsecured creditor of such Eligible
Counterparty, and will not have any claim with respect to any underlying reference entity or
obligation. Consequently, the Issuer will be subject to the credit risk of the Eligible
Counterparty as well as that of any reference entity or obligor or index underlying the credit
default swap.

Single counterparty risk

Furthermore, concentrations of Derivative Instruments in any one Eligible Counterparty
subject the Notes to an additional degree of risk with respect to defaults by such Eligible
Counterparty as well as by the credit risk to which such credit default swap is linked. The
Investment Restrictions provide that not more than six per cent. of the Net Asset Value may
comprise the obligations of a single obligor.

In the event that the Issuer is a credit protection buyer under a Derivative Instrument that is a
credit default swap there is no guarantee that where such credit default swap is to be cash
settled, there is no guarantee that the amount paid to the Issuer upon any default of the
reference entity or obligation thereunder will fully cover the actual loss suffered by the Issuer.

Risks Associated with Derivative Instruments
General

There is a general risk attendant to Investments that the value of a particular Investment will
change in a way detrimental to the Issuer's interest. While the prudent use of derivatives can
be beneficial, derivatives also involve risks different from, and, in certain cases, greater than,
the risks presented by investment in Cash Assets. The following is a general discussion of the
important risk factors and issues concerning the use of derivatives which investors should
understand before investing in the Notes.
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Liquidity and Counterparty Credit Risk

If a derivative transaction is particularly large or if the relevant market is illiquid (as may be
the case with many privately negotiated derivatives), it may not be possible to initiate a
transaction or liquidate a position at an advantageous price.

The derivative market has grown substantially in recent years with a large number of banks
and investment banking firms acting both as principals and as agents utilising standardised
swap documentation. As a result, the derivative market has become liquid but there can be no
assurance that a liquid secondary market will exist at any specified time for any particular
derivative transaction.

The Issuer may enter transactions in over-the-counter markets which will expose it to the
credit of its counterparties and their ability to satisfy the terms of such contracts. For example,
the Issuer may enter into forward contracts, options and credit default swaps and other swap
arrangements and derivative techniques, each of which expose the Issuer to the risk that the
counterparty may default on its obligations to perform under the relevant contract. In the event
of a bankruptcy or insolvency of a counterparty, the Issuer could experience delays in
liquidating the position and significant losses. There is also a possibility that ongoing
derivative transactions are terminated due, for instance, to bankruptcy, supervening illegality
or change in the tax or accounting laws relative to those transactions at the time the agreement
was originated. In accordance with standard industry practice, it is the Issuer's policy to net
exposures against its counterparties.

The stability and liquidity of swap and related transactions depend in large part on the
creditworthiness of the parties to the transactions. The creditworthiness of counterparties with
which the Issuer enters into swaps, other derivatives and repurchase and/or securities lending
agreements will be monitored by the Investment Managers on an ongoing basis.

The Issuer, or the Investment Managers on its behalf, may only enter into Derivative
Instruments with Eligible Counterparties. These are counterparties which have been and
remain approved by the Investment Managers pursuant to its internal procedures as a
counterparty with which it can enter into derivative arrangements for its own account. In the
event that a counterparty to any Derivative Instrument ceases to be an Eligible Counterparty at
any time, the Investment Managers, acting on behalf of the Issuer, shall use commercially
reasonable efforts to replace such counterparty with a different Eligible Counterparty.

If there is a default by any Eligible Counterparty under a Derivative Instrument it has entered
into with the Issuer there will be contractual remedies available under such Derivative
Instrument. However, exercising such contractual rights may involve delays or costs which
could have an adverse effect on the economic return on the Notes.

Leverage Risk

Since many Derivative Instruments have a leverage component, adverse changes in the value
or level of the underlying asset, rate or index can result in a loss substantially greater than the
amount invested in the derivative itself. Certain derivatives have the potential for unlimited
loss regardless of the size of the initial investment.

Tax Risk

In addition to the tax risks described elsewhere in this Base Prospectus, the Issuer may be
required to make additional payments to Eligible Counterparties under Derivative Instruments
in respect of certain taxes incurred by such Eligible Counterparties. Changes in tax law and
practice may accordingly impact the amounts available to make payment on the Notes.

Risks of Using Futures for Hedging Purposes

There are several risks associated with the use of futures for hedging purposes. There can be
no assurance that a liquid market will exist at a time when the Issuer seeks to close out a
futures contract.
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Most futures exchanges and boards of trade limit the amount of fluctuation permitted in
futures contract prices during a single day, once the daily limit has been reached on a
particular contract, so that no trades may be made that day at a price beyond the limit. In
addition, certain of these instruments are relatively new and without a significant trading
history. As a result, there is no assurance that an active secondary market will develop or
continue to exist. Lack of a liquid market for any reason may prevent the Issuer from
liquidating an unfavourable position and the Issuer would remain obliged to meet margin
requirements until the position is closed.

There can be no guarantee that there will be a correlation between price movements in the
hedging transaction and in the related Investments being hedged. An unexpected variation
could result in a loss on both the hedged Investments and the hedging transaction so that the
related return on the Portfolio might have been greater had hedging not been attempted.

Risks of Using Credit Default Swaps

Credit default swaps involve certain risks as they are difficult to value, are highly susceptible
to liquidity and credit risk and generally only generate income for the party who has paid the
premium in the event of an actual default by or insolvency of the obligor of the underlying
obligation (as opposed to a credit downgrade or other indication of financial difficulty).
Further risks for a credit protection buyer exist where the asset to which the credit default
swap relates is restructured and the credit default swap is effectively "orphaned" by updated
documentation or the contract as a result in which case the credit default swap along with
periodic payments under it will continue for its original term but in respect of an obligation
that may no longer exist and may not be replaced. If the Issuer is acting as a credit protection
seller in a credit default swap, the Issuer bears the risk of default by the obligor of the
underlying obligation.

Whereas the credit default derivative markets for bonds and related indexes are well
established, the Issuer may also execute credit default swaps in relation to loans and loan
indices. The loan credit default swap (or LCDS) market is new and may expose the Issuer to
additional risks, which may in turn affect the yield on the Notes.

Other Risks Relating to Derivative Transactions

Other risks in using derivatives include the risk of differing valuations of derivatives arising
out of different permitted valuation methods and the inability of derivatives to correlate
perfectly with underlying securities, rates and indices. Many derivatives, in particular over-
the-counter derivatives, are complex and often valued subjectively and the valuation can only
be provided by a limited number of market professionals which often are acting as
counterparties to the transaction to be valued. Inaccurate valuations can result in increased
cash payment requirements to counterparties or a loss of value to the Notes. Derivatives do not
always perfectly track or even highly correlate to the value of the securities, rates or indices
they are designed to track. Consequently, the Issuer's use of derivative techniques may not
always be an effective means of, and sometimes could be counter-productive to, the Issuer's
investment objective.

An adverse price movement in a derivative position may require cash payments of variation
margin by the Issuer which might in turn require, if there is insufficient cash available in the
portfolio, the sale of Investments under disadvantageous conditions. There is also the risk of
loss of margin deposits in the event of bankruptcy of a broker with whom the Investment
Managers on behalf of the Issuer have an open position in a futures contract.

The Issuer may enter into collateral arrangements with respect to hedging and related
transactions, repurchase and/or securities lending agreements, reverse repurchase agreements,
cross-currency swaps, interest rate swaps and credit derivatives transactions. The obligations
of the Issuer under hedging and related transactions, repurchase and securities lending
agreements, reverse repurchase agreements and credit derivatives transactions may be secured
and/or subject to certain financial covenants and/or termination events. If the Issuer were to
breach any such covenants or otherwise terminate (or be required to terminate) swap positions,
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it (and Noteholders in turn) may suffer loss, particularly if the Issuer is unable to find
appropriate replacement swap lines.

Whereas the market risk associated with any swap that relates to any given series of Notes will
remain with those Notes, the credit risk associated with any such swap will remain with the
Issuer as a whole and any losses caused by counterparty credit failure will be borne by the
investors as a whole.

New financial products continue to be developed and the Issuer's assets may be invested in
any such products to the extent consistent with the Issuer's investment objective and applicable
restrictions and applicable regulatory requirements.

Operational Risk

Operational risks exist in the management of the Investments. However, the Investment
Managers have purchased and implemented a sophisticated treasury and risk management
system to support and manage the Investments.

Control and Monitoring

The products in which the Issuer will deal are highly specialised instruments that require
sophisticated investment techniques and risk analysis. In particular, the use of derivative
techniques requires an understanding not only of the underlying asset but also of the derivative
itself, without the benefit of observing the performance of the derivative under all possible
market conditions. The use and complexity of derivatives require the maintenance of adequate
controls to monitor the transactions entered into, the ability to assess the risk that a derivative
adds to the derivative counterparty and the ability to forecast the relative price, interest rate or
currency rate movements correctly. Although the Investment Managers have extensive
expertise in this area, the risk exists that, due to unforeseen changes in the personnel and
organisation of the Investment Managers, the expertise required to control and monitor these
risks may not be available.

In addition these types of products have come under stricter scrutiny since the onset of the
credit crisis. It is likely that these instruments will be subject to increased regulation and
monitoring. It is uncertain what effect a regulatory change could have on these types of
products.

Custodial and Payment Risks

As the Issuer may invest in markets where custodian and/or settlement systems are not fully
developed, the assets of the Issuer which are traded in such markets and which have been
entrusted to sub-custodians, in circumstances where the use of such sub-custodians is
necessary, may be exposed to risk in circumstances where the Custodian and/or prime broker
will have no liability. The risks associated with the sale and purchase of bonds and other
similar securities will usually be limited because such trades typically take place on a delivery
against payment basis in a reputable clearing system.

As the transfer of loans, however, does not ordinarily involve a delivery against payment
basis, there are transfer risks involved in loan trading primarily of counterparty default prior to
settlement of a trade. The Issuer believes that these loan trading risks are minimised by the
fact that the loan market is characterised by the strong credit standing of the arranging and
trading entities (or their parent groups) operating in the loan market.

Similarly, derivative trades will only be entered into with Eligible Counterparties. See "Risk
Associated with Derivative Instruments" above.

All other payments (such as professional fees and expenses and other payments unrelated to
the investment management of the programme) will only be executed by or on the instructions
of the Custodian or the prime broker.

Payments in relation to Derivative Instruments are typically "free" and if there is a default by
the other party to such transaction, there will be contractual remedies pursuant to the
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agreements related to the transaction; however, exercising such contractual rights may involve
delays or costs which could result in the value of the total assets of the related portfolio being
less than if the transaction had not been entered into. The Issuer has procedures in place to
minimise payment risk in respect of Derivative Instruments.

The Issuer intends that operational risk in connection with payments be minimised and to that
end the Investment Managers are not authorised to hold any money for or make any payments
on behalf of the Issuer.

INVESTMENT MANAGERS
Dependence on the Investment Managers and its Key Personnel

Since the Investments will vary over time, the performance of the Issuer depends heavily on
the skills of the Investment Managers in analysing, selecting and managing the Investments.
Consequently, the Issuer will be highly dependent on the financial and managerial experience
of certain individuals associated with the Investment Managers. The loss of one or more of
these individuals could have a material adverse effect on the performance of the Issuer.

Due diligence by the Investment Managers

The Investment Managers are given authority in the Investment Management Agreement to
manage the Portfolio and act as agent of the Issuer pursuant to and in accordance with the
parameters and criteria set out in the Investment Management Agreement. See "The Portfolio"
and "Description of the Investment Management Agreement". Any analysis by the Investment
Managers (on behalf of the Issuer) of obligors under Investments which it is intending to
purchase or which are held in the Portfolio will be limited to a review of readily available
public information and will not include due diligence of the kind generally undertaken in a
primary securities offering or loan origination together with, in respect of any non-public
information made available to the Investment Managers, in respect of Investments which are
leverage loans, due diligence of the kind generally carried out in relation to senior and
mezzanine loans of such kind.

Past Performance not Indicative of Future Performance

The past performance of other investments or portfolios managed by the Investment Managers
or its principals or its Affiliates may not be indicative of the results that the Investment
Managers may be able to achieve with the Investments. Similarly, the past performance of the
Investment Managers or its principals over a particular period may not necessarily be
indicative of the results that may be expected in future periods. Furthermore, the nature of,
risks associated with, and strategies guiding the Issuer's investments may differ substantially
from those investments and strategies undertaken historically by the Investment Managers or
its principals. There can be no assurance that the Issuer's Investments will perform as well as
past investments of the principals or Affiliates of the Investment Managers, that the Issuer will
be able to avoid losses, that the Issuer will be able to make investments similar to the past
investments of the Investment Managers or its principals or any other Person described herein.
In addition, such past investments may have been made utilising a leveraged capital structure,
an asset mix and fee arrangements that are different from the anticipated capital structure,
asset mix and fee arrangements of the Issuer. Moreover, because the investment criteria that
govern investments in the Issuer's portfolio do not govern the Investment Managers or its
principals' investments and investment strategies generally, such investments conducted in
accordance with such criteria, and the results they yield, are not directly comparable with, and
may differ substantially from other investments undertaken by the Investment Managers or its
principals.

The nature of, and risks associated with, the Investments to be acquired by the Issuer may
differ materially from those investments and strategies undertaken historically by the
Investment Managers, including by reason of the diversity and other parameters required by
the Investment Management Agreement. There can be no assurance that the Issuer's
investments will perform as well as any past investments managed by the Investment
Managers.
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Investment Managers' Liability

The liability of the Investment Managers to the Issuer under the Investment Management
Agreement is limited to damage caused by acts or omissions constituting Investment Manager
Breach.

The Investment Management Agreement is terminable by the Issuer or the Trustee at the
directions of the Noteholders, acting by Extraordinary Resolution for Cause upon 30 days'
prior written notice and an Investment Manager may resign upon 90 days' prior written notice
to the Issuer, the Collateral Administrator and the Trustee, each as more fully described in the
Investment Management Agreement.

Fees of the Investment Managers

The payment of any Performance Fee to the LLC (unless otherwise instructed by the LLC)
based on the performance of the Notes may create an incentive for the Investment Managers to
make Investments that are riskier or more speculative than would be the case if these fees were
not paid. Since the Investment Managers' management and performance fees are calculated by
the Investment Managers on a basis which includes unrealised appreciation of the Issuer's
assets, such fees may be greater than if they were based solely on realised gains. See section
entitled "Fees and Expenses" below.

Dealing with Non-Public Information

The Investment Managers, in connection with its business activities (including its
management of investments for the Issuer), may acquire material non-public confidential
information that may restrict it from purchasing securities or selling securities for itself or its
clients (including the Issuer) or otherwise using such information for the benefit of its clients
or itself. The Investment Managers will, to the extent practicable and consistent with
applicable law and in accordance with the customary policies of the Investment Managers,
adopt appropriate information barriers and other procedures for the purpose of minimising
restrictions on its ability to perform the services to be provided by it under the Investment
Management Agreement as a consequence of the possession by it, by virtue of unrelated
activities, of material non-public information. See also "Conflicts of Interest" below.

CERTAIN CONFLICTS OF INTEREST

With respect to the Notes, conflicts of interest may arise as a result of various factors
involving the Investment Managers, the Collateral Administrator, their Affiliates and others.
The following briefly summarises some of these conflicts, but is not intended to be an
exhaustive list of all such potential conflicts.

The Investment Managers and/or their Affiliates, its clients and other portfolios which they
manage or advise may invest in investments that would be appropriate as Investments for the
Issuer. Such investments may be different from those made on behalf of the Issuer.

The Investment Managers and their Affiliates may also have ongoing relationships with,
render services to or engage in transactions with, companies whose securities or obligations
are pledged to secure the Notes and may own equity securities or debt instruments of obligors
under the Investments held by the Issuer from time to time. As a result, individuals or
Affiliates of the Investment Managers may possess information relating to obligors under
Investments which is not known to the individuals and the Investment Managers responsible
for monitoring the Investments and performing the other obligations under the Investment
Management Agreement. In addition, Affiliates and clients and other portfolios managed or
advised by the Investment Managers may invest in loans and securities that are senior to, or
have interests different from or adverse to, the Investments that are pledged to secure the
Notes. The Investment Managers and/or their Affiliates may at certain times be
simultaneously seeking to purchase or dispose of investments for its or their own account, for
the Issuer, for any similar entity for which it serves as manager or adviser and for its clients or
Affiliates.
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It is intended, however, that all Investments will be purchased and sold by the Issuer on terms
prevailing in the market. Neither the Investment Managers nor any of their Affiliates are under
any obligation to offer investment opportunities of which they have become aware to the
Issuer or to account to the Issuer (or share with the Issuer or inform the Issuer of) any such
transaction or any benefit received by them from any such transaction. Furthermore, the
Investment Managers and/or their Affiliates may make an investment on behalf of any account
that they manage or advise without offering the investment opportunity to or making any
investment on behalf of the Issuer. The Investment Managers and/or their Affiliates have no
affirmative obligation to offer any investments to the Issuer or to inform the Issuer of any
investments before offering any investments to other funds or accounts that the Investment
Managers and/or their Affiliates manage or advise. Furthermore, Affiliates of the Investment
Managers may make an investment on their own behalf without offering the investment
opportunity to, or the Investment Managers making any investment on behalf of, the Issuer.
Affirmative obligations may exist or may arise in the future, whereby Affiliates of the
Investment Managers are obliged to offer certain investments to funds or accounts that such
Affiliates manage or advise before or without the Investment Managers offering those
investments to the Issuer. Affiliates of the Investment Managers have no affirmative
obligation to offer any investments to the Issuer or to inform the Issuer of any investments
before engaging in any investments for themselves.

The Investment Managers will endeavour to resolve conflicts with respect to investment
opportunities in a manner which it deems equitable to the extent possible under the prevailing
facts and circumstances.

Although the professional staff of the Investment Managers will devote as much time to the
Issuer as the Investment Managers deems appropriate to perform its duties in accordance with
the Investment Management Agreement, those staff may have conflicts in allocating their time
and services among the Issuer and the Investment Managers' other accounts.

Each Investment Manager, on behalf of the Issuer, may conduct principal trades with itself and
its Affiliates, subject to applicable law. The Investment Managers may also effect client cross-
transactions where the Investment Managers cause a transaction to be effected between the
Issuer and another account advised by it or any of its Affiliates. Client cross-transactions
enable the Investment Managers to purchase or sell a block of securities for the Issuer at a set
price and possibly avoid an unfavourable price movement that may be created through
entrance into the market with such purchase or sell order. In addition, with the prior
authorisation of the Issuer, which may be revoked at any time, the Investment Managers may
enter into agency cross-transactions where any of its Affiliates acts as broker for the Issuer and
for the other party to the transaction, in which case any such Affiliate will receive
commissions from, and have a potentially conflicting division of loyalties and responsibilities
regarding, both parties to the transaction.

It is possible that the Investment Managers or its Affiliates may have purchased certain of the
Investments, will own equity or other debt of obligors under Investments and will have
provided, advisory, management and other services to obligors under Investments. In addition,
the Investment Managers and/or their Affiliates may have ongoing relationships (including,
without limitation, the provision of and advisory and management services) with such obligors
and may own equity or other securities of obligors to issuers of Investments while also
maintaining ongoing relationships (including, without limitation, the provision of management
and advisory services) with purchasers of the Notes.

From time to time the Issuer may invest in the securities of companies affiliated with the
Investment Managers or its respective Affiliates or companies in which the Investment
Managers or its respective Affiliates have an equity or participation interest. In addition, it is
the purchase, holding and sale of such investments by the Issuer that may enhance the
profitability of the Investment Managers' or its Affiliates' own investments in such companies.

There is no limitation or restriction on the Investment Managers, or any of its Affiliates acting
as Investment Managers or adviser (or in any similar role) to other parties or persons. This and
other future activities of the Investment Managers and their Affiliates may give rise to
additional conflicts of interest.
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7.1

7.2

In certain circumstances the Investment Managers or its Affiliates or both may receive
compensation in connection with the acquisition of or entry into certain Investments from the
managers of such Investments.

There will be no restriction on the ability of the Trustee, the Investment Managers, the
Collateral Administrator, any Eligible Counterparty or any of their respective Affiliates or
employees to purchase Notes (either upon initial issuance or through secondary transfers) and
to exercise any voting rights to which such Notes are entitled. The interests of such holders
may differ from those of other holders.

Upon any resignation or removal of the Investment Managers while any of the Notes are
Outstanding, the Issuer shall appoint an institution as replacement Investment Managers in
accordance with the provisions of the Investment Management Agreement. Any Notes held by
(but not on behalf of) the Investment Managers, one or more of its Affiliates and/or any one or
more directors thereof will have no voting rights with respect to any vote (or written direction
or consent) in connection with the removal of the Investment Managers and will be deemed
not to be Outstanding in connection with any such vote; provided, however, that any Notes
held by the Investment Managers, one or more of its Affiliates and/or one or more directors
thereof will have voting rights (including in respect of written directions and consents) with
respect to all other matters as to which Noteholders are entitled to vote, including, without
limitation, any vote in connection with the appointment of a replacement Investment
Managers which is not Affiliated with the Investment Managers in accordance with the
Investment Management Agreement. See "Description of the Investment Management
Agreement".

Pursuant to the terms of the Investment Management Agreement, the Investment Managers
have discretionary authority in respect of the Portfolio. The Investment Managers may be
subject to certain conflicts of interest in determining whether and to what extent to exercise its
discretionary authority given the Management Fee and Performance Fee payable to it.
However, an Investment Manager's management of the Portfolio is governed by its fiduciary
obligations and its internal policies with respect to the management of accounts as well as by
the requirement that it comply with the investment guidelines and its other obligations set out
in the Investment Management Agreement.

REGULATORY RISK
Issuer not Regulated

The Issuer is not conducting banking or financial services activity requiring licences or
consents from regulators in its jurisdiction of incorporation and seeks to comply with all
applicable laws and regulations applicable to it of which it is aware in all jurisdictions with
which the transaction is connected. The possibility cannot be excluded, however, that either by
reason of a change in law or regulation or their interpretation in any applicable jurisdiction or
by reason of law or regulation of which the Issuer is unaware, certain of its activities or those
of its agents in relation to the issue and offering of the Notes and the acquisition, trading and
management of the Portfolio may constitute the provision of cross-border banking or financial
services which are regulated in other jurisdictions. Should it be determined that the Issuer has
failed to comply with any applicable licence or consent requirements under any applicable
banking or financial services law or regulation in any jurisdiction in relation to the issue and
offering of the Notes and the acquisition, trading and management of the Portfolio, the
regulators in such jurisdiction could, to the extent they have authority to do so, impose
sanctions on certain of the parties involved, including the Issuer, seeking the immediate
cessation of such parties' activities in that jurisdiction, liquidation of the transactions
conducted by it in that jurisdiction or with investors in or from that jurisdiction and even the
imposition of criminal sanctions.

Risk of Tax and Regulatory Changes

The Net Asset Value of the Portfolio may be adversely affected by changes in tax laws,
treaties, regulations and interpretations, international political developments (such as
dissolution of the European Monetary Union), changes in government policies and
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7.3

7.4

regulations, restrictions on foreign investment and currency repatriation, and other
developments in the laws and regulations of the countries in which the Issuer invests.

Not a Bank Deposit

Any investment in the Notes does not have the status of a bank deposit in Ireland and is not
within the scope of the deposit protection scheme operated by the Central Bank of Ireland. The
Issuer is not and will not be regulated by the Central Bank of Ireland by virtue of the issue of
the Notes.

Risk Relating to The Banking Act 2009

On 12 February 2009, the Banking Act 2009 (the "Banking Act") received royal assent. The
Banking Act outlines the special resolution powers and mechanisms to be made available to
the Bank of England, the Treasury and the Prudential Regulation Authority (the "PRA")
(together, the "Authorities") to deal with banks that are, or are likely to fail the threshold
conditions under FSMA to carry on regulated activities. If the appropriate triggers are met,
the Authorities may: (i) transfer shares in, or the property of a bank to a commercial
purchaser; (ii) transfer the property of a bank to a bridge company which is wholly owned by
the Bank of England; or (iii) transfer shares of a bank to a nominee of the Treasury.

Under the Banking Act, the Authorities can order the transfer of any property of a bank
without regard to any requirements for consent to transfer or any contractual or other
restrictions on transfer. If the Issuer has entered into agreements with an affected bank, the
rights of the Issuer under any transferred property may be compromised. Further, if any
property held on trust for the Issuer by the affected bank is transferred, the Authorities may
order the alteration or removal of such trust.

The Banking Act requires the Treasury to produce a code of practice giving guidance on the

exercise of the above powers. However, this has not yet been published and until a code of
practice is established, there is no certainty as to how such powers may be exercised.
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DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

This Base Prospectus should be read and construed in conjunction with the following documents
incorporated by reference into this Base Prospectus:

(a) the terms and conditions on pages 38 to 76 of the base prospectus dated 1 May 2009 relating
to issues of senior secured deferrable floating rate notes by the Issuer (formerly known as
Axial Enhanced Floating Rate Opportunities Limited); and

(b) the terms and conditions on pages 46 to 84 of the base prospectus dated 1 July 2013 relating to
the issues of senior secured deferrable floating rate notes by the Issuer.

For the purposes of Article 28.4 of Commission Regulation (EU) No 809/2004, any non-incorporated
parts of a document referred to herein are either deemed not relevant for an investor or are otherwise
covered elsewhere in this Base Prospectus.

Following publication of this Base Prospectus a supplement may be prepared by the Issuer and
approved by the Central Bank of Ireland in accordance with Article 16 of the Prospectus Directive.
Statements contained in any such supplement (or contained in any document incorporated by reference
therein) shall, to the extent applicable (whether expressly, by implication or otherwise), be deemed to
modify or supersede statements contained in this Base Prospectus or in a document which is
incorporated by reference in this Base Prospectus. Any statement so modified or superseded shall not,
except as so modified or superseded, constitute a part of this Base Prospectus.

Investors in the Notes shall be deemed to have notice of all information contained in the documents
incorporated by reference into this Base Prospectus, as if all such information were included in this
Base Prospectus. Investors who have not previously reviewed such information should do so in
connection with their purchase of Notes.

Copies of all of the documents incorporated by reference into this Base Prospectus will be available on
the Irish Stock Exchange website http://www.ise.ie/Market-Data-Announcements/Debt/Individual-
Debt-Instrument-Data/Dept-Security-Documents/?proglD=661 &FIELDSORT=docld. =~ No websites
that are cited or referred to in this Base Prospectus, shall be deemed to form part of, or to be
incorporated by reference into, this Base Prospectus.
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TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE NOTES

The following are the conditions of the Notes that, subject to completion of the relevant Final Terms,
shall be applicable to the Notes. The full text of these conditions together with the applicable Final
Terms shall be endorsed on such Notes if issued in definitive certificated form, which will be
incorporated by reference into the Global Certificates representing such Notes, subject to the
provisions of such Global Certificates, some of which will modify the effect of these Terms and
Conditions of the Notes. See "Form of the Notes - Amendments to Terms and Conditions".

The issue of up to €2,000,000,000 (amended as at the Amendment Date up to £2,000,000,000) Senior
Secured Deferrable Floating Rate Notes of Castle Hill Enhanced Floating Rate Opportunities Limited
(the "Issuer") was authorised by resolution of the Board of Directors of the Issuer dated 30 April
2009. The €130,000,000 Senior Secured Deferrable Floating Rate Notes due 2019, as at the
Amendment Date, redenominated to £111,410,000 Senior Secured Deferrable Floating Rate Notes due
2019 (the "Initial Notes") together with the £31,465,504 Senior Secured Deferrable Floating Rate
Notes due 2019, the £303,890 Senior Secured Deferrable Floating Rate Notes due 2019 and the
£27,369,510 Senior Secured Deferrable Floating Rate Notes due 2019 and any additional notes issued
by the Issuer from time to time (the "Additional Notes") shall constitute the notes of the Issuer (the
"Notes"). The Initial Notes are constituted by a trust deed (together with any other security document
entered into in respect of the Notes and any deed supplemental thereto, the "Trust Deed'") dated on or
about the Initial Issue Date as amended and novated on 23 October 2012 as supplemented and amended
on 1 July 2013, as supplemented and amended on 31 July 2013, as supplemented on 10 October 2013
and as further amended by the Supplemental Trust Deed (as defined below) and as further
supplemented, novated, amended and/or restated from time to time, between (amongst others) the
Issuer and BNY Mellon Corporate Trustee Services Limited, in its capacity as trustee (the "Trustee",
which expression shall include all persons for the time being the trustee or trustees under the Trust
Deed) for the Noteholders. References herein to the "Notes" shall be to all Notes that are issued and
Outstanding or deemed to be issued and Outstanding from time to time.

The Additional Notes will be constituted by a supplemental trust deed dated on or about the relevant
Issue Date thereof, between, inter alios, the Issuer and the Trustee (the "Supplemental Trust Deed").

These Terms and Conditions (the "Terms and Conditions" or the "Conditions") of the Notes include
summaries of, and are subject to, the detailed provisions of the Trust Deed (which includes the forms of
the certificates representing the Notes). The following agreements have been entered into in relation to
the Notes:

(a) an agency agreement dated on or about the Initial Issue Date as supplemented, novated,
amended and/or restated from time to time (the "Agency Agreement") between, amongst
others, the Issuer, The Bank of New York Mellon (Luxembourg) S.A., as registrar and transfer
agent (respectively, the "Registrar", and the "Transfer Agent", which term shall include any
successor or substitute registrar or transfer agent appointed pursuant to the terms of the
Agency Agreement) and The Bank of New York Mellon acting through its London Branch, as
collateral administrator, principal paying agent, account bank, calculation agent, and custodian
(respectively, "Collateral Administrator", "Principal Paying Agent", the "Account Bank",
"Calculation Agent", and "Custodian", which terms shall include any successor or substitute
principal paying agent, account bank, calculation agent, or custodian, respectively, appointed
pursuant to the terms of the Agency Agreement) and the Trustee;

(b) an investment management agreement dated on or about the Initial Issue Date, as
supplemented, novated, amended and/or restated from time to time (the "Investment
Management Agreement'") between, amongst others, Castle Hill Asset Management LLC
and Castle Hill Asset Management LLP as joint Investment Managers in respect of the
Portfolio (the "Investment Managers", which term shall include any successor investment
manager(s) appointed pursuant to the terms of the Investment Management Agreement), the
Issuer and The Bank of New York Mellon acting through its London Branch, as collateral
administrator (the "Collateral Administrator", which term shall include any successor
Collateral Administrator pursuant to the terms of the Investment Management Agreement);
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(©) a corporate services agreement dated on or about the Initial Issue Date as supplemented,
novated, amended and/or restated from time to time (the "Corporate Services Agreement")
between the Issuer and Maples Fiduciary Services (Ireland) Limited (formerly known as MFD
Limited) (the "Corporate Services Provider").

Copies of the Trust Deed, the Agency Agreement, the Investment Management Agreement, and the
Corporate Services Agreement are available for inspection during usual business hours at the principal
office of the Trustee (presently at One Canada Square, London E14 SAL). The holders of the Notes are
entitled to the benefit of, are bound by and are deemed to have notice of all the provisions of, the Trust
Deed and are deemed to have notice of all the provisions of the Agency Agreement, the Corporate
Services Agreement and the Investment Management Agreement applicable to them.

While the Agency Agreement makes provision for the appointment of a Custodian, a Custodian will
only be appointed if an Investment is made which is required to be held through a custodian.

The Final Terms for the Notes (or the relevant provisions thereof) are endorsed on the Notes and
complete these Terms and Conditions. References herein to the "Final Terms" are to the Final Terms
endorsed on the Note.

1. DEFINITIONS

"Accrual Period" means the period from and including the Interest Accrual Start Date to, but
excluding, the first Payment Date and each successive period from and including each Payment Date
to, but excluding, the following Payment Date.

"Additional Interest" means interest paid or payable on any Payment Date pursuant to Condition 6(e)
(Additional Interest).

"Additional Notes" means all Notes issued pursuant to the Base Prospectus dated 19 January 2015.
"Administrative Expenses" means amounts due and payable by the Issuer:

(a) to the Agents (including the Custodian) pursuant to the Agency Agreement and to the
Collateral Administrator pursuant to the Investment Management Agreement and, if
applicable, any other Transaction Document;

(b) to the Corporate Services Provider pursuant to the Corporate Services Agreement;

(©) to the Investment Managers under the Investment Management Agreement, save for the
Investment Management Fees but including any amounts payable by way of indemnity;

(d) to the independent certified public accountants, auditors, agents and counsel of the Issuer;

(e) to any Rating Agency which may from time to time be requested to assign a rating or
confidential credit estimate to any of the Investments, for fees and expenses (including
surveillance fees) in connection with any such rating or confidential credit estimate including,
in each case, the ongoing monitoring thereof;

® to any other Person in respect of any governmental fee or charge (for the avoidance of doubt
excluding any taxes) or any statutory indemnity;

(2) to any prime broker appointed by or on behalf of the Issuer;

(h) in respect of any costs and expenses associated with the entry into, acquisition, maintenance,
disposal of or exercise of rights under any Portfolio Asset, including, without limitation,
brokerage commissions, bank service fees and clearing fees;

(1) to any legal adviser retained by the Issuer or any other person in connection with the Notes,
any part of the Portfolio or any Leverage Instrument;

)] to any other Person in respect of any other fees, expenses or indemnities contemplated in the
Conditions of the Notes and in the Transaction Documents or any other documents delivered
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pursuant to or in connection with the issue and sale of the Notes or which arise in relation to
the acquisition, disposal, holding or restructuring of any Portfolio Asset;

(k) to the Irish Listing Agent and/or to the Irish Stock Exchange, or such other stock exchange or
exchanges upon which any of the Notes are listed from time to time; and

)] to the payment of any applicable value added tax required to be paid by the Issuer in respect of
any of the foregoing.

"Affiliate" or "Affiliated" means with respect to a Person:

(a) any other Person who, directly or indirectly, is in control of, or controlled by, or is under
common control with, such Person; or

(b) any other Person who is a director, officer or employee:
) of such Person;
(ii)  of any subsidiary or parent company of such Person; or
(iii)  of'any Person described in paragraph (a) above.

For the purposes of this definition, control of a Person shall mean the power, direct or indirect, (A) to
vote more than 50 per cent. of the securities having ordinary voting power for the election of directors
of such Person, or (B) to direct or cause the direction of the management and policies of such Person
whether by contract or otherwise.

"Agent" means each of the Registrar, the Principal Paying Agent, the Calculation Agent, the Transfer
Agent, the Account Bank, the Custodian and each of their permitted successors or assigns appointed as
agents of the Issuer pursuant to the Agency Agreement and "Agents" shall be construed accordingly.

"Aggregate Liabilities" means gross liabilities and/or net liabilities, as appropriate.
"Aggregate Nominal Amount" means the nominal amount of the relevant new series of Notes.

"Amendment Date" means 20 January 2015 (or such other date as may be notified by or on behalf of
the Issuer to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 16 (Notices) and the Irish Stock Exchange).

"Arranger and Placement Agent" means Axial Investment Management Limited as Arranger and
Placement Agent pursuant to the Placement Agency Agreement.

"Asset Acquisition Agreement' means the asset acquisition agreement entered into on or about 1 May
20009.

"Authorised Denomination" means, in respect of any Note, the Minimum Denomination thereof and
any denomination equal to one or more integral multiples of the Authorised Integral Amount in excess
of the Minimum Denomination thereof.

"Authorised Integral Amount" means £1.

"Authorised Officer" means with respect to the Issuer, any Director of the Issuer or person who is
authorised to act for the Issuer in matters relating to, and binding upon, the Issuer.

"Available Proceeds" means, in respect of any Payment Date, amounts standing to the credit of the
Collection Account on the related Determination Date less any amounts required to pay Scheduled
Interest and other amounts due and payable pursuant to paragraphs (i) to (ix) (inclusive) of the Pre-
Acceleration Priorities of Payment and paragraphs (i) to (x) (inclusive) of the Post-Acceleration
Priorities of Payments on such Payment Date.

"Business Day" means (save to the extent otherwise defined) a day:
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(a) for the purposes of the definition of Presentation Date, in relation to any place, on which
commercial banks and foreign exchange markets settle payments in that place.

(b) (other than Saturday or Sunday) on which commercial banks and foreign exchange markets
settle payments and are open for general business (including dealing in foreign exchange and
foreign currency deposits) in London; and

(©) either (1) in relation to any sum payable in a currency other than Euro, on which commercial
banks and foreign exchange markets settle payments and are open for general business
(including dealing in foreign exchange and foreign currency deposits) in the principal financial
centre of the country of the relevant currency; or (2) in relation to any sum payable in Euro,
which is a TARGET Settlement Day.

"Collateral" means the property, assets and rights described in Condition 4(a) (Security) which are
charged and/or assigned to the Trustee and/or held on trust from time to time for the benefit of the
Secured Parties pursuant to the Trust Deed.

"Collection Account" means the interest-bearing account of the Issuer with the Account Bank which
shall comprise sub-accounts denominated in GBP and each other currency in which any Portfolio Asset
is denominated from time to time.

"Collections" means all amounts received in respect of any Portfolio Asset held by or on behalf of the
Issuer from time to time.

"Corporate Services Agreement" means the corporate services agreement relating to the Issuer dated
on or about the Initial Issue Date as supplemented, novated, amended and/or restated from time to time
between the Issuer and Maples Fiduciary Services (Ireland) Limited (formerly known as MFD
Limited).

"Credit Short Obligation" means a Derivative Instrument under which the Issuer buys credit
protection in respect of a specified reference obligation or reference entity(ies).

"Deferred Interest" has the meaning given thereto in Condition 6(c) (Deferral of Interest).

"Deferred Investment Management Fees" has the meaning given thereto in the Investment
Management Agreement.

"Derivative Counterparty” means any financial institution with which the Issuer enters into a
Derivative Instrument.

"Derivative Instrument" means any of the following derivative instruments which are entered into
with an Eligible Counterparty:

(a) interest rate swap or hedge transactions;

(b) forward foreign exchange transactions and currency swap or hedge transactions, including
options;

©) swaptions and options;

(d) funded or unfunded credit default transactions pursuant to which the Issuer sells credit

protection in respect of a specified reference obligation or reference obligations or reference
entity or reference entities;

(e) Credit Short Obligations;

) funded and unfunded total return swaps;

(2) derivatives and options linked to the performance of indices;

(h) any other instrument which is broadly similar in economic risk profile to any of those listed
above; and
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(1) such other derivative instruments which in the sole discretion of the Investment Managers do
not fall within the definition of paragraphs (a) to (h) (inclusive) but which are determined by
the Investment Managers on behalf of the Issuer as being appropriate for entry into by the
Issuer and which have not been objected to by the holders of more than 50 per cent of the
Principal Amount Outstanding of Notes within 10 days following notification thereof by the
Issuer to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 16 (Notices).

"Determination Date" means the last Business Day of each Due Period, or in the event of any
redemption of the Notes, following the occurrence of an Event of Default in accordance with Condition
10 (Events of Default), one Business Day prior to the applicable Redemption Date.

"Directors "means Stephen O'Donnell, Padraic Doherty or such other person(s) who may be appointed
as Director(s) of the Issuer from time to time.

"Due Period" means, with respect to any Payment Date, the period commencing on and including the
first day of the calendar month in which the preceding Payment Date falls (or commencing on the
Initial Issue Date in the case of the Due Period which commences prior to the first Payment Date) and
ending on but excluding the first day of the calendar month in which such Payment Date falls (or, in
the case of the Due Period applicable to the Payment Date which is the Redemption Date on which the
Notes are to be redeemed in full, ending on and including the Business Day preceding such Payment
Date).

"Effective Date" means the later of:

(a) the date designated for such purpose by the Investment Managers by written notice to the
Issuer, Collateral Administrator and the Trustee; and

(b) 30 October 2009.

"Eligible Counterparty" means, with respect to a Derivative Instrument or Leverage Instrument, a
counterparty which has been, and remains, approved by the Investment Managers pursuant to their
respective internal procedures, as a counterparty with which it is permitted to enter into derivative
transactions or borrowing arrangements, as applicable, for its own account.

"Eligible Investment" means an investment which the Investment Managers acting on behalf of the
Issuer determine is the most appropriate for the investment of cash held by the Issuer, taking into
account the timing of forthcoming payment obligations of the Issuer, the ability to liquidate such
investment without penalty, the return receivable in respect of such investment and the risk profile
thereof at the time.

"Eligibility Criteria" means the eligibility criteria specified in the Investment Management
Agreement, which are required to be satisfied in respect of each Investment acquired by the Investment
Managers (on behalf of the Issuer) on the date a binding commitment to acquire such obligation is
entered into.

"Equity Security" means any warrant or equity security.

"Euro" and "€" means the currency introduced at the start of the third stage of European economic and
monetary union pursuant to the Treaty establishing the European Community, as amended from time to
time.

"Event of Default" means each of the events defined as such in Condition 10(a) (Events of Default).
"Extraordinary Resolution" means an Extraordinary Resolution as described in Condition 14
(Meetings of Noteholders, Modification, Waiver and Substitution) and as further described in, and as
defined in, the Trust Deed.

"Floating Rate of Interest" has the meaning given thereto in Condition 6(f) (Floating Rate of
Interest).

"GBP" and "£" means the lawful currency of the United Kingdom.
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"GBP LIBOR" means the rate determined in accordance with Condition 6(f) (Floating Rate of
Interest) as applicable to GBP deposits.

"Initial Issue Date" means 1 May 2009.

"Interest Determination Date" means the first day of each Accrual Period.
"Interest Accrual Start Date" means, in respect of:

(a) the Initial Notes, the Initial Issue Date; or

(b) any Additional Notes, the date specified as such in the relevant Final Terms.

"Investment" means any Senior Secured Obligation, Unsecured Obligation, Mezzanine Obligation,
Second Lien Obligation, Derivative Instrument, Equity Security or other investment (which the
Investment Managers consider an appropriate investment for the Issuer) acquired or entered into (or to
be acquired or entered into) by the Issuer or the Investment Managers on its behalf from time to time
(including any additional amounts advanced by the Issuer in respect of any such investment in
connection with any restructuring thereof) in accordance with the Investment Management Agreement,
each of which the Investment Managers have determined in accordance with the Investment
Management Agreement, satisfies the Eligibility Criteria on the date a binding commitment is entered
into by or on behalf of the Issuer to acquire or enter into it. For the avoidance of doubt, the failure of
any obligation to satisfy the Eligibility Criteria at any time after the later of (a) the Initial Issue Date
and (b) the date on which the Issuer or the Investment Managers on behalf of the Issuer have entered
into a binding agreement to purchase it shall not cause such obligation to cease to constitute an
Investment.

"Investment Liabilities" has the meaning given thereto in the Investment Management Agreement.

"Investment Restrictions" means the investment restrictions specified in the Investment Management
Agreement.

"Investment Management Fees" means each of the Management Fee and the Performance Fee.

"Issue Date" means the Initial Issue Date or, in respect of any Additional Notes, the date on which
such Additional Notes are issued as specified in the Final Terms.

"Issuer Irish Account" means the account in the name of the Issuer with The Governor and Company
of the Bank of Ireland, St. Stephen's Green branch, Dublin 2, Ireland.

"Leverage Instrument" means any borrowing facility (or other instrument with the economic effect of
borrowing that is not a Derivative Instrument) entered into with an Eligible Counterparty, which may
be secured or unsecured;

"Leverage Provider" means an Eligible Counterparty with whom the Issuer enters into a Leverage
Instrument.

"Leverage Ratio" means the leverage ratio as defined in the Investment Management Agreement.
"LLC" means Castle Hill Asset Management LLC.

"London Banking Day" means a day on which commercial banks are open for general business
(including dealings in foreign exchange and foreign currency deposits) in London.

"Management Fee" means the fees of such name specified in the Investment Management Agreement,
payable to the LLC quarterly in arrears pursuant to the Investment Management Agreement.

"Maturity Date" means, in respect of
(a) the Initial Notes, the Payment Date falling on or nearest to May 2019; or

(b) any other Notes, the date specified as such in the relevant Final Terms,
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or such other date thereafter to which the Maturity Date is extended pursuant to Condition 7
(Redemption and Purchase).

"Measurement Date" means the date as of which any Report is prepared.

"Mezzanine Obligation" means a mezzanine loan obligation or other comparable debt obligation,
including: (a) Second Lien Obligations; (b) any such loan obligation with attached warrants or other
options to acquire a share or other equity interest; (c) cash pay or non-cash pay obligations; and (d) any
such obligation which is evidenced by an issue of notes or similar instruments as determined by the
Investment Managers in their reasonable business judgement, or a Participation therein.

"Minimum Denomination" means £100,000.

"Monthly Report" means the monthly report defined as such in the Investment Management
Agreement which is prepared by the Collateral Administrator (in consultation with, and in part based
on certain information provided by, the Investment Managers) on behalf of the Issuer on such dates as
are set forth in the Investment Management Agreement, which is deliverable to the Issuer, the Trustee,
the Investment Managers, any Leverage Provider and the Arranger and Placement Agent (regardless of
whether it is a Noteholder or Secured Party at such time) by posting on a secure website (with a copy
emailed to both Investment Managers) and, upon request therefor in accordance with Condition 4(f)
(Information Regarding the Collateral), to any Noteholder who has provided a written request to the
Collateral Administrator for access to such reports along with evidence that such Noteholder is a
beneficial holder of the Notes and which shall include details of, among other things, the Net Asset
Value and whether or not the Portfolio is satisfying the Investment Restrictions specified in the
Investment Management Agreement, as at the applicable Measurement Date. For the avoidance of
doubt, there will also be a Monthly Report produced in the same month in which a Payment Date
Report is due.

"Net Asset Value" means, as at any date of determination the net asset value determined in accordance
with the Investment Management Agreement.

"Noteholders" means, at any time, the persons in whose name the Notes are registered at such time.

"Note Tax Event" means, at any time, (a) the introduction of a new, or any change in, any home
jurisdiction or foreign tax statute, treaty, regulation, rule, ruling, practice, procedure or judicial decision
or interpretation (whether proposed, temporary or final) which results in (or would on the next Payment
Date result in) any payment of principal or interest on the Notes becoming subject to any withholding
tax or (b) net income, profits or similar tax being imposed upon the Issuer by the state or federal tax
authorities of any jurisdiction which is not the jurisdiction of incorporation of the Issuer, including,
without limitation the United States or the United Kingdom.

"Notes" means the notes comprising, where the context permits, the Notes constituted by the Trust
Deed or the Principal Amount Outstanding thereof for the time being or, as the context may require, a
specific number thereof and includes any replacements for Notes issued pursuant to Condition 13
(Replacement of Notes) of the Notes. References in these Conditions of the Notes to the "Notes"
(unless the context requires otherwise) include any other notes issued pursuant to Condition 17
(Additional Issuances) and if applicable, forming a single series with the Notes.

"Ordinary Resolution" means an Ordinary Resolution as described in Condition 14 (Meetings of
Noteholders, Modification, Waiver and Substitution) and as further described in, and as defined in, the
Trust Deed.

"Qutstanding" means in relation to the Notes as of any date of determination, all of the Notes issued
that have not been redeemed, purchased or cancelled or as further defined in the Trust Deed.

"Participation” means an interest in a Mezzanine Obligation, Second Lien Obligation, Unsecured
Obligation or a Senior Secured Obligation acquired indirectly by the Issuer by way of sub-
participation.

"Payment Date" means the 8th day of July, October, January and April in each year, commencing on
and including 8 October 2009 up to and including the Maturity Date and any Redemption Date,
provided that if any Payment Date would otherwise fall on a day which is not a Business Day, it shall
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be postponed to the next day that is a Business Day (unless it would thereby fall in the following
month, in which case, it shall be brought forward to the immediately preceding Business Day).

"Payment Date Report" means the accounting report defined as such in the Investment Management
Agreement which is prepared by the Collateral Administrator (in consultation with, and based in part
on certain information provided by, the Investment Managers) on behalf of the Issuer and made
available to the Issuer, the Trustee, the Investment Managers, any Leverage Provider, the Arranger and
Placement Agent (regardless of whether it is a Noteholder or a Secured Party at such time) by posting
on a secure website (with a copy emailed to both Investment Managers) and upon request therefor in
accordance with Condition 4(f) (Information regarding the Collateral), to any Noteholder who has
provided a written request to the Collateral Administrator for access to such reports along with
evidence that such Noteholder is a beneficial holder of the Notes not later than the 5th Business Day
preceding the related Payment Date, which sets out details of the amounts to be paid on such Payment
Date.

"Performance Fee" means the fee of such name specified in the Investment Management Agreement,
payable to the LLC on each Payment Date in arrears pursuant to the Investment Management
Agreement.

"Person" means an individual, corporation (including a business trust), partnership, joint venture,
association, joint stock company, trust (including any beneficiary thereof), unincorporated association
or government or any agency or political subdivision thereof.

"Placement Agency Agreement" means the placement agency agreement dated on or about 1 May
2009 in connection with the issuance of the Initial Notes.

"Portfolio" means the portfolio of Portfolio Assets held by or on behalf of the Issuer from time to time.

"Portfolio Asset" means each Investment and Eligible Investment held by or on behalf of the Issuer
from time to time.

"Post-Acceleration Priority of Payments" means the priority of payments set out in Condition 11(c)
(Post-Acceleration Priority of Payments);

"Potential Event of Default" has the meaning given thereto in the Trust Deed.

"Pre-Acceleration Priority of Payments" means the priority of payments set out in Condition 8(c)
(Pre-Acceleration Priority of Payments);

"Presentation Date" means a day which (subject to Condition 12 (Prescription)):
(a) is a Business Day;

(b) is or falls after the relevant due date or, if the due date is not or was not a Business Day in the
place of presentation, is or falls after the next following Business Day which is a Business Day
in the place of presentation; and

() is a Business Day in which the account specified by the payee is open.

"Principal Amount Outstanding" means the aggregate principal amount of Notes of the relevant
Series outstanding at that time, which shall for the avoidance of doubt not include any interest that is
deferred pursuant to Condition 6(c) (Deferral of Interest).

"Priorities of Payment" means,

(a) following acceleration of the Notes following an Event of Default pursuant to Condition 10
(Events of Default) which has not been rescinded and annulled in accordance with Condition
10(c) (Curing of Default) or upon any redemption of the Notes in whole pursuant to Condition
7(c) (Redemption following Note Tax Event) or Condition 7(b) (Optional Redemption by the
Issuer), the Post-Acceleration Priority of Payments;

(b) in any other circumstances, the Pre-Acceleration Priority of Payments.
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"Qualifying Country" means each of Austria, Belgium, Bermuda, Canada, Denmark, Finland, France,
Germany, Greece, Ireland, Italy, Liechtenstein, Luxembourg, The Netherlands, Norway, Portugal,
Spain, Sweden, Switzerland, the United States, the United Kingdom or the Channel Islands or any
other country having a foreign currency issuer credit rating, at the time of commitment to acquire or
enter into the relevant Portfolio Asset, of at least "AA" or its equivalent by two or more Rating
Agencies.

"Qualifying Currency" means, at any time, the lawful currency of any Qualifying Country.
"Rating Agency" means any internationally recognised credit rating agency.

"Record Date" means the fifteenth day before the relevant due date for payment of principal and
interest in respect of a Note.

"Redemption Date" means each date specified for a redemption of the Notes pursuant to Condition 7
(Redemption and Purchase) or the date on which the Notes are accelerated pursuant to Condition 10
(Events of Defaulf), or in each case, if such day is not a Business Day, the next following Business
Day.

"Redemption Price" means, in respect of the Notes, the Net Asset Value of the Portfolio as determined
by the Collateral Administrator on the Determination Date applicable to such Redemption Date, in
respect of each Note to be so redeemed, a percentage of such Net Asset Value equal to the percentage
which the original face amount of such Note represents of the original aggregate principal amount of
all Notes issued on any Issue Date minus the original aggregate principal amount of all Notes
previously redeemed or purchased and cancelled pursuant to Condition 7 (Redemption and Purchase),
together with, in each case, Scheduled Interest and Deferred Interest (if any) accrued but unpaid on
such Notes.

"Reference Banks" has the meaning given thereto in Condition 6(f)(i)(C)(1) (Rate of Interest).

"Register" means the register of holders of the legal title to the Notes kept by the Registrar pursuant to
the terms of the Agency Agreement.

"Report" means each Monthly Report and/or Payment Date Report.
"Resolution" means any Ordinary Resolution or Extraordinary Resolution, as the context may require.

"Scheduled Interest" in respect of the Notes shall have the meaning specified in Condition 6(f)
(Floating Rate of Interest).

"Scheduled Interest Amount" in respect of the Notes shall have the meaning specified in Condition
6(f) (Floating Rate of Interest).

"Second Lien Obligation" means an obligation which constitutes a second ranking obligation, as
determined by the Investment Managers in their reasonable business judgement, or a Participation
therein.

"Secured Parties" means each of the entities to whom any Secured Obligations are owed by the Issuer
and "Secured Party" means any such entity.

"Senior Expenses Cap" means, in respect of each Due Period, £400,000 or such higher amount as
determined by the Investment Managers, acting reasonably, is necessary in order to reflect increased
expenses.

"Senior Secured Obligation" means an obligation which is a senior secured obligation as determined
by the Investment Managers in their reasonable business judgement, or a Participation therein.

"TARGET" means the Trans-European Automated Real-Time Gross Settlement Express Transfer
(TARGET?2) System, or any successor system thereto.

"TARGET Settlement Day" means any day on which TARGET is open for the settlement of
payments in euro.
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"Tranche 1 Notes" means the £111,410,000 Senior Secured Deferrable Floating Rate Notes due 2019
issued on 1 May 2009.

"Tranche 2 Notes" means the £31,465,504 Senior Secured Deferrable Floating Rate Notes due 2019
issued on 11 July 2013.

"Tranche 3 Notes" means the £303,890 Senior Secured Deferrable Floating Rate Notes due 2019
issued on 31 July 2013.

"Tranche 4 Notes" means the £27,369,510 Senior Secured Deferrable Floating Rate Notes due 2019
issued on 10 October 2013.

"Transaction Documents" means the Trust Deed, the Agency Agreement, the Investment
Management Agreement, the Placement Agency Agreement, the Note Purchase and Asset Acquisition
Agreement, any Derivative Instrument, any Leverage Instrument, and the Corporate Services
Agreement.

"Trustee Fees and Expenses" means the fees, expenses, costs, claims, charges, indemnities,
disbursements and liabilities and other amounts payable to the Trustee pursuant to the Trust Deed or
any other Transaction Document from time to time including any applicable value added tax thereon
payable under the Trust Deed or any other Transaction Document.

"Unsecured Obligation" means an Investment that is not secured on the shares and/or assets of one or
more members of the group of which the relevant borrower(s) or obligor(s) form(s) part, provided that
the Investment Managers (in their sole opinion) consider it to be market practice for such investment to
be an Unsecured Obligation, or a Participation therein.

"Upfront Costs" means the out-of-pocket costs and expenses of the Issuer, the Investment Managers,
the Trustee and the Collateral Administrator incurred in connection with the establishment of the
Issuer, the negotiation, preparation, execution and delivery of the Transaction Documents and the
documents and instruments referred to therein in connection with the Initial Issue Date or any
subsequent Issue Date.

"USD" or "$" means the lawful currency of the United States of America.

"Written Resolution" means any Resolution of the Noteholders which is passed in writing, as
described in Condition 14 (Meetings of Noteholders, Modification, Waiver and Substitution) and as
further described in, and as defined in, the Trust Deed.

2. FORM AND DENOMINATION, TITLE AND TRANSFER
(a) Form and Denomination

The Notes are in definitive fully registered form, without interest coupons or principal receipts
attached, in the applicable Authorised Denomination. A Definitive Certificate will be issued to
each Noteholder in respect of its registered holding or holdings of Notes. Each Definitive
Certificate will be numbered serially with an identifying number which will be recorded in the
Register which the Issuer shall procure to be kept by the Registrar. An up-to-date copy of the
Register shall be kept at the registered office of the Issuer.

(b) Title to the Registered Notes

Title to the Notes passes upon registration of transfers in the Register in accordance with the
provisions of the Agency Agreement and the Trust Deed. Notes will be transferable only on
the books of the Issuer and its agents. The registered holder of any Note will (except as
otherwise required by law) be treated as its absolute owner for all purposes (whether or not it
is overdue and regardless of any notice of ownership, trust or any interest in it, any writing on
it, or its theft or loss) and no person will be liable for so treating the holder.

(c) Transfer
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(d)

(e)

&)

(2

(a)

One or more Notes may be transferred in whole or in part in nominal amounts of the
applicable Authorised Denomination only upon the surrender, at the specified office of the
Registrar, of the Definitive Certificate representing such Note(s) to be transferred, with the
form of transfer endorsed on such Definitive Certificate duly completed and executed and
together with such other evidence as the Registrar may reasonably require. In the case of a
transfer of part only of a holding of Notes represented by one Definitive Certificate, a new
Definitive Certificate will be issued to the transferee in respect of the part transferred and a
further new Definitive Certificate in respect of the balance of the holding not transferred will
be issued to the transferor.

Delivery of New Certificates

Each new Definitive Certificate to be issued pursuant to Condition 2(c) (Transfer) will be
available for delivery within 7 Business Days of receipt of such form of transfer or of
surrender of an existing Definitive Certificate upon partial redemption. Delivery of new
Definitive Certificate(s) shall be made at the specified office of the Registrar, as the case may
be, to whom delivery or surrender shall have been made or, at the option of the holder making
such delivery or surrender as aforesaid and as specified in the form of transfer or otherwise in
writing, shall be mailed by pre-paid first class post, at the risk of the holder entitled to the new
Definitive Certificate, to such address as may be (or in any other manner acceptable to the
Registrar, as applicable) so specified. In this Condition 2(d), "Business Day" means a day,
other than a Saturday or Sunday, on which banks are open for business in the place of the
specified offices of the Registrar.

Transfer Free of Charge

Transfer of Notes and Definitive Certificates representing such Notes in accordance with these
Conditions of the Notes on registration or transfer will be effected without charge by or on
behalf of the Issuer, the Registrar, but upon payment (or the giving of such indemnity as the
Registrar may require in respect thereof) of any tax or other governmental charges which may
be imposed in relation to it.

Closed Periods

No Noteholder may require the transfer of a Note to be registered (i) during the period of 15
calendar days ending on the due date for redemption (in full) of that Note or (ii) during the
period of seven calendar days ending on (and including) any Record Date.

Regulations Concerning Transfer and Registration

All transfers of Notes and entries on the Register will be made subject to the detailed
regulations concerning the transfer of Notes scheduled to the Trust Deed, including without
limitation, that a transfer of Notes in breach of certain of such regulations will result in such
transfer being void ab initio. The regulations may be changed by the Issuer in any manner
which is reasonably required by the Issuer (after consultation with the Trustee and the
Registrar) to reflect changes in legal or regulatory requirements or in any other manner which,
in the opinion of the Issuer (after consultation with the Trustee and subject to not less than 60
days' notice of any such change having been given to the Noteholders in accordance with
Condition 16 (Notices), is not prejudicial to the interests of the holders of the Notes. A copy of
the current regulations may be inspected at the office of the Registrar during usual business
hours on any weekday (Saturdays, Sundays and public holidays excepted) for the term of the
Notes and will be sent by the Registrar to any Noteholder who so requests.

STATUS
Status

The Notes constitute direct, general, secured, unconditional obligations of the Issuer, recourse
in respect of which is limited in the manner described in Condition 4(c) (Limited Recourse).
The Notes are secured in the manner described in Condition 4(a) (Security) and shall at all
times rank pari passu and without any preference amongst themselves. The Notes are
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(a)

constituted by the Trust Deed and are secured on the Collateral as further described in the
Trust Deed.

SECURITY

Security

Pursuant to the Trust Deed, the obligations of the Issuer under the Notes, the Trust Deed, each
Leverage Instrument, the Agency Agreement and the Investment Management Agreement
(together with the obligations owed by the Issuer to the other Secured Parties) are secured in
favour of the Trustee for the benefit of the Secured Parties by:

@

(i)

(ii1)

(iv)

)

an assignment by way of security of all the Issuer's present and future rights, title and
interest (and all entitlements or other benefits relating thereto) in respect of all Portfolio
Assets (save to the extent that it would cause the Issuer to be in breach of any
obligations by which it is bound which relate to any such Portfolio Assets) and any
other assets held by the Issuer from time to time (where such rights are contractual
rights, other than contractual rights the assignment of which would require the consent
of a third party or where such contractual rights arise other than under securities),
including, without limitation, moneys received in respect thereof, all dividends and
distributions paid or payable thereon, all property paid, distributed, accruing or offered
at any time on, to or in respect of or in substitution therefor and the proceeds of sale,
repayment and redemption thereof, subject, in each case, to the rights of any Eligible
Counterparty with whom the Issuer has outstanding any Leverage Instrument or
Derivative Instrument and to whom the Issuer has granted a security interest over any
such Portfolio Asset as security for its obligations under such Leverage Instrument or
Derivative Instrument, as applicable;

a first fixed charge and first priority security interest granted over all the Issuer's
present and future rights, title and interest (and all entitlements or other benefits
relating thereto) in respect of all Portfolio Assets and any other assets held by the Issuer
(where such assets are securities or contractual rights not assigned by way of security
pursuant to paragraph (i) above and which are capable of being the subject of a first
fixed charge and first priority security interest), including, without limitation, all
moneys received in respect thereof, all dividends and distributions paid or payable
thereon, all property paid, distributed, accruing or offered at any time on, to or in
respect of or in substitution therefor and the proceeds of sale, repayment and
redemption thereof, subject, in each case, to the rights of any Eligible Counterparty
with whom the Issuer has outstanding any Leverage Instrument or Derivative
Instrument and to whom the Issuer has granted a security interest over any such
Portfolio Asset as security for its obligations under such Leverage Instrument or
Derivative Instrument, as applicable;

a first fixed charge over all present and future rights, title and interest of the Issuer in
respect of the Collection Account (or any other account of the Issuer) and all moneys
from time to time standing to the credit of the Collection Account (or any other account
of the Issuer) and the debts represented thereby and including, without limitation, all
interest accrued and other moneys received in respect thereof and the debts represented
thereby and all of its right, title, interest and benefit (and all its entitlements relating
thereto) therein;

an assignment by way of security of all the Issuer's present and future rights (and all
entitlements or other benefits relating thereto) against the Custodian under the Agency
Agreement;

an assignment by way of security of all the Issuer's present and future rights (and all
entitlements or other benefits relating thereto) under each Derivative Instrument
(including the Issuer's rights under any guarantee or credit support annex entered into
pursuant to any Derivative Instrument, provided that such assignment by way of
security shall not in any way restrict the release of collateral granted thereunder in
whole or in part at any time pursuant to the terms thereof);
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(vi) an assignment by way of security of all the Issuer's present and future rights (and all
entitlements or other benefits relating thereto) under each Leverage Instrument;

(vii) an assignment by way of security of all the Issuer's present and future rights (and all
entitlements or other benefits relating thereto) under the Investment Management
Agreement;

(viii) a first fixed charge over all moneys held from time to time by the Principal Paying
Agent and any other Agent for payment of principal, interest or other amounts on the
Notes (if any);

(ix)  an assignment by way of security of all the Issuer's present and future rights (and all
entitlements or other benefits relating thereto) under the Agency Agreement;

(x)  an assignment by way of security of all the Issuer's present and future rights (and all
entitlements or other benefits relating thereto) under the Note Purchase and Asset
Acquisition Agreement; and

(xi) to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, a floating charge over the whole of the
Issuer's undertaking and all its property, assets and rights, both present and future to the
extent that the same are not subject to any other security created pursuant to the Trust
Deed,;

excluding for the purpose of (i) to (xi) (inclusive) above, (A) the Issuer's rights under the
Corporate Services Agreement; and (B) any and all amounts standing to the credit of the
Issuer Irish Account.

Pursuant to the Trust Deed, if, for any reason, the purported assignment by way of security of,
and/or the grant of first fixed charge over, the property, assets, rights and/or benefits described
in paragraphs (i) to (xi) (inclusive) above is found to be ineffective in respect of any such
property, assets, rights and/or benefits (together, the "Affected Collateral"), the Issuer shall
hold the benefit of the Affected Collateral and any sums received in respect thereof or any
security interest, guarantee or indemnity or undertaking of whatever nature given to secure
such Affected Collateral (together, the "Trust Collateral") on trust (or as fiduciary on a
fiduciary basis) for the Trustee and shall (i) account to the Trustee for or otherwise apply all
sums received in respect of such Trust Collateral as the Trustee may direct (provided that,
subject to these Conditions and the terms of the Investment Management Agreement, if no
Event of Default has occurred and is continuing, the Issuer shall be entitled to apply the
benefit of such Trust Collateral and such sums in respect of such Trust Collateral received by
it and held on trust under this clause without prior direction from the Trustee), (ii) exercise any
rights it may have in respect of the Trust Collateral at the direction of the Trustee and (iii) at
its own cost take such action and execute such documents as the Trustee may in its sole
discretion require.

The Issuer may from time to time grant security by way of a first priority security interest to a
Derivative Counterparty, Leverage Provider, prime broker, to any exchange or any third party
over assets either retained by the Issuer or deposited by the Issuer with such Derivative
Counterparty, Leverage Provider or prime broker, exchange or third party, in each case, as
security for the Issuer's obligations under a Derivative Instrument, Leverage Instrument, prime
brokerage agreement, exchange traded derivative or any other transaction, as applicable.

All deeds, documents, assignments, instruments, bonds, notes, negotiable instruments, papers
and any other instruments comprising, evidencing, representing and/or transferring the
Portfolio will be deposited with or held by or on behalf of the Custodian until the security over
such obligations is irrevocably discharged in accordance with the provisions of the Trust
Deed.

Pursuant to the terms of the Trust Deed, the Trustee is exempted from any liability in respect
of any loss or theft or reduction in value of the Collateral, from any obligation to insure the
Collateral and from any claim arising from the fact that the Collateral is held in a clearing
system or in safe custody by the Custodian, a bank or other custodian. The Trustee has no
responsibility for the adequacy or sufficiency of the security purported to be created over the
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(b)

(©)

(d)

(e)

Collateral, management of the Portfolio by the Investment Managers or to supervise the
administration of the Portfolio by the Collateral Administrator or any other party and is
entitled to rely on the certificates or notices of any relevant party without further enquiry. The
Trust Deed also provides that the Trustee shall accept without investigation, requisition or
objection such right, benefit, title and interest, if any, as the Issuer may have in and to any of
the Collateral and is not bound to make any investigation into the same or into the Collateral
in any respect.

Application of Proceeds upon Acceleration

The Trust Deed provides that the net proceeds of realisation of, or enforcement with respect
to, the security over the Collateral constituted by the Trust Deed shall be applied in accordance
with the Post-Acceleration Priorities of Payment.

Limited Recourse

The obligations of the Issuer to pay amounts due and payable in respect of the Notes and to the
other Secured Parties at any time shall be limited to the proceeds available at such time to
make such payments in accordance with the Terms of the Trust Deed. If the net proceeds of
realisation of the security constituted by the Trust Deed, upon enforcement thereof in
accordance with Condition 11 (Enforcement) and the provisions of the Trust Deed are less
than the aggregate amount payable in such circumstances by the Issuer in respect of the Notes
and to the other Secured Parties (such negative amount being referred to herein as a
"shortfall"), the obligations of the Issuer in respect of the Notes and its obligations to the other
Secured Parties in such circumstances will be limited to such net proceeds, which shall be
applied in accordance with the Terms of the Trust Deed. In such circumstances, the other
assets (including the Issuer Irish Account and its rights under the Corporate Services
Agreement) of the Issuer will not be available for payment of such shortfall which shall be
borne by the Noteholders, the Trustee and the other Secured Parties in accordance with the
Terms of the Trust Deed. The rights of the Secured Parties to receive any further amounts in
respect of such obligations shall be extinguished and none of the Noteholders, the Trustee or
the other Secured Parties may take any further action to recover such amounts. None of the
Noteholders, the Trustee or the other Secured Parties (nor any other person acting on behalf of
any of them) shall be entitled at any time to institute against the Issuer, or join in any
institution against the Issuer of, any bankruptcy, examinership, reorganisation, suspension of
payments, composition with creditors, arrangement, insolvency, winding-up or liquidation
proceedings or other proceedings under any applicable bankruptcy or similar law in
connection with any obligations of the Issuer relating to the Notes, the Trust Deed or
otherwise owed to the Secured Parties, save for lodging a claim in the liquidation of the Issuer
which is initiated by another non-affiliated party or taking proceedings to obtain a declaration
or judgement as to the obligations of the Issuer.

None of the Trustee, the Directors, the Arranger and Placement Agent, the Investment
Managers, the Derivative Counterparties, the Collateral Administrator, the Principal Paying
Agent, the Registrar or the Custodian has any obligation to any Noteholder for payment of any
amount by the Issuer in respect of the Notes.

Acquisition and Sale of Portfolio

The Investment Managers are required to manage the Portfolio and to act in specific
circumstances in relation to the Portfolio on behalf of the Issuer pursuant to the terms of, and
subject to the parameters set out in, the Investment Management Agreement and subject to the
overall supervision and control of the Issuer.

Under the Investment Management Agreement, the holders of the Notes have certain rights in
respect of the removal of the Investment Managers and the appointment of a replacement
Investment Manager(s).

Exercise of Rights in Respect of the Portfolio

Pursuant to the Investment Management Agreement, the Issuer authorises the Investment
Managers, prior to enforcement of the security over the Collateral and subject to the overall
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supervision and control of the Issuer, to exercise all rights and remedies of the Issuer in its
capacity as a holder of, or person beneficially entitled to, the Portfolio. In particular, the
Investment Managers are authorised, subject to any specific direction given by the Issuer, to
attend and vote at any meeting of holders of, or other persons interested or participating in, or
entitled to the rights or benefits (or a part thereof) under, the Portfolio and to give any consent,
waiver, indulgence, time or notification, make any declaration or agree any composition,
compounding or other similar arrangement with respect to any Portfolio forming part of the
obligations.

The Investment Managers owe no fiduciary duties to any of the Issuer, the Trustee, the
Noteholders or any other person. Nothing herein shall be construed in any way to constitute a
waiver or limitation of any rights that the Issuer, the Trustee or Noteholders may have under
U.S. federal or state securities laws.

Information Regarding the Collateral

The Collateral Administrator, acting on behalf of the Issuer, shall procure that a copy of each
Monthly Report and any Payment Date Report is posted in a secure manner on the website of
the Collateral Administrator (with a copy emailed to both Investment Managers) and such
reports are made available to each Noteholder who has provided a written request to the
Collateral Administrator for access to such reports along with evidence that such Noteholder is
a beneficial holder of the Notes. The Issuer authorises each Noteholder to provide copies of
any Reports received by it to any person with an economic exposure to the Notes directly or
indirectly through or from such Noteholder (subject to such Noteholder ensuring that such
person signs a confidentiality agreement in form and substance acceptable to the Investment
Managers (acting on behalf of the Issuer) prior to such Noteholder providing any Reports)
with no additional liability attaching to any of the Issuer, the Trustee, the Investment
Managers or the Collateral Administrator as a result of a Noteholder so providing such copies.

COVENANTS OF AND RESTRICTIONS ON THE ISSUER
Covenants of the Issuer

Unless otherwise provided and as more fully described in the Trust Deed, the Issuer covenants
to the Trustee on behalf of the holders of the Notes that, for so long as any Note remains
Outstanding, the Issuer will:

(1) take such steps as are reasonable to enforce all its rights:
(A)  under the Trust Deed;
(B) inrespect of the Collateral;
(C)  under the Agency Agreement;
(D)  under the Investment Management Agreement;
(E)  the Note Purchase and Asset Acquisition Agreement;
(F)  under the Corporate Services Agreement;
(G) under any Leverage Instruments; and
(H)  under any Derivative Instruments.

(il)  comply with its obligations under the Notes, the Trust Deed, the Agency Agreement,
the Investment Management Agreement and each other Transaction Document to
which it is a party;

(i)  keep proper books of account in accordance with the laws of Ireland (such books to be
maintained at the Issuer's registered office) and allow the Trustee and any Person
appointed by the Trustee, to whom the Issuer shall have no reasonable objection, access

61



(b)

(iv)

)

(vi)
(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

)

(xi)

to the books of account of the Issuer at all reasonable times during normal business
hours and shall send to any such person on request, or if so stipulated, at specific
intervals, copies thereof and other supporting documents relating thereto as such
Person may specify;

at all times maintain its tax residence outside the United Kingdom and the United
States and will not establish a branch, agency (other than the appointment of the
Investment Managers and the Collateral Administrator pursuant to the Investment
Management Agreement and a process agent pursuant to a process agent appointment
letter) or place of business or register as a company in the United Kingdom or the
United States;

pay all amount received as either principal or interest in respect of the underlying
Portfolio of Investments into the Collection Account;

pay its debts generally as they fall due;

do all such things as are necessary to maintain its corporate existence and remain a
"qualifying company" within the meaning of Section 110 of the Taxes Consolidation
Act 1997 ("TCA 1997");

use its best endeavours to obtain and maintain in respect of the outstanding Notes a
listing on the Irish Stock Exchange and an admission to trading on its regulated market.
If, however, it is unable to do so, having used such endeavours, or if the maintenance
of such listing and admission are agreed by the Trustee to be unduly onerous and the
Trustee is satisfied that the interests of the holders of the Outstanding Notes would not
thereby be materially prejudiced, the Issuer will instead use all reasonable endeavours
promptly to obtain and thereafter to maintain a listing for such Notes on such other
stock exchange(s) as it may (with the approval of the Trustee) decide or failing such
decision as the Trustee may reasonably determine;

at all times use all reasonable efforts to minimise taxes and any other costs arising in
connection with its activities;

not cause the Issuer to be engaged in a trade or business in any jurisdiction other than
its jurisdiction of incorporation or otherwise subject the Issuer to tax on income in any
such jurisdiction; and

ensure that its "centre of main interests" (as that term is referred to in article 3(1) of
Council Regulation (EC) No. 1346/2000 on Insolvency Proceedings) and its tax
residence is and remains at all times in Ireland.

Restrictions on the Issuer

As more fully described in the Trust Deed, for so long as any of the Notes remain
Outstanding, save as contemplated in the Transaction Documents, the Issuer covenants to the
holders of such Outstanding Notes that (to the extent applicable) it will not, without the prior
written consent of the Trustee in relation to paragraphs (iii) to (xiv) below:

@

(i)

sell, factor, discount, transfer, assign, lend or otherwise dispose of any of its right, title
or interest in or to the Collateral, other than in accordance with the Investment
Management Agreement, nor will it create or permit to be outstanding any mortgage,
pledge, lien, charge, encumbrance or other security interest over the Collateral except
in accordance with the Trust Deed or pursuant to the Investment Management
Agreement;

engage in any business other than:

(A)  acquiring and holding any property, assets or rights that are Portfolio Assets and
that are capable of being effectively charged in favour of the Trustee or that are
capable of being held on trust by the Issuer in favour of the Trustee under the
Trust Deed;
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(iii)

(iv)

)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)
)

(xi)

(xii)

(xiii)

(B)  issuing and performing its obligations under the Notes;

(C) entering into, exercising its rights and performing its obligations under or
enforcing its rights under the Trust Deed, the Agency Agreement, the
Investment Management Agreement, each Leverage Instrument, each Derivative
Instrument, each prime brokerage agreement, and each other Transaction
Document to which it is a party, as applicable; and/or

(D)  performing any act incidental to or necessary in connection with any of the
above;

amend any term or condition of the Notes (save in accordance with these Conditions
and the Trust Deed);

agree to any amendment to any provision of, or grant any waiver or consent under the
Trust Deed, the Agency Agreement, the Investment Management Agreement, the
Corporate Services Agreement or any other Transaction Document to which it is a

party;
incur any indebtedness for borrowed money, other than in respect of:

(A)  the Notes (including the issuance of Additional Notes pursuant to Condition 17
(Additional Issuances)) or any document entered into in connection with the
Notes or the sale thereof (including the issuance of Additional Notes pursuant to
Condition 17 (Additional Issuances));

(B) Leverage Instruments permitted pursuant to the Investment Management
Agreement; or

(C)  as otherwise permitted pursuant to the Trust Deed;

amend its constitutional documents (except if such amendment is not material to the
Trustee);

have any subsidiaries or establish any offices, branches or other "establishments" (as
that term is used in article 2(h) of Council Regulation (EC) No. 1346/2000 on
Insolvency Proceedings) anywhere in the world;

have any employees (for the avoidance of doubt the Directors of the Issuer do not
constitute employees);

enter into any reconstruction, amalgamation, merger or consolidation;

convey or transfer all or a substantial part of its properties or assets (in one or a series
of transactions) to any person, otherwise than as contemplated in these Conditions and
except for dividends payable to the shareholders;

issue any shares (other than such shares as are in issue as at the Initial Issue Date) nor
redeem or purchase any of its issued share capital;

enter into any material agreement or contract with any Person (other than an agreement
on customary market terms, which terms do not contain the provisions below) unless
such contract or agreement contains "limited recourse" and "non-petition" provisions
similar to those included in the Trust Deed;

otherwise than as contemplated in the Transaction Documents, release from or
terminate the appointment of the Custodian or the Account Bank under the Agency
Agreement, the Investment Managers or the Collateral Administrator under the
Investment Management Agreement or any Leverage Provider under any Leverage
Instrument or any Eligible Counterparty under any Derivative Instrument or the
guarantor under any Derivative Instrument (including, in each case, any transactions
entered into thereunder) or, in each case, from any executory obligation thereunder; or
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(d)
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(xiv) enter into any lease in respect of, or own, premises.
INTEREST
Payment Dates

The Notes bear interest from and including the relevant Interest Accrual Start Date thereof and
such interest will be payable quarterly (or for the relevant period of the initial Accrual Period,)
in arrear on each Payment Date.

Interest Accrual

Each Note will cease to bear interest from the due date for redemption unless, upon due
presentation, payment of principal is improperly withheld or refused. In such event, it shall
continue to bear interest in accordance with this Condition 6 (Interest) (both before and after
judgment) until whichever is the earlier of (i) the day on which all sums due in respect of such
Note up to that day are received by or on behalf of the relevant Noteholder and (ii) the day
falling seven days after the Trustee or Principal Paying Agent notifying the Noteholders in
accordance with Condition 16 (Notices) of receipt of all sums due in respect of all the Notes
up to that seventh day (except to the extent that there is failure in the subsequent payment to
the relevant holders under these Conditions).

Deferral of Interest

In the event that (i) there are insufficient amounts standing to the credit of the Collection
Account to pay any Scheduled Interest Amounts or (ii) the Investment Managers acting on
behalf of the Issuer elect in their sole discretion to defer the payment of Scheduled Interest
Amounts or any part thereof (such amounts, "Deferred Interest"), which would, but for this
Condition 6(c) otherwise be due and payable on the Notes on a Payment Date other than the
Maturity Date or a date on which the Notes are to be redeemed in full in accordance with these
Conditions, such Deferred Interest will not be due and payable on such Payment Date, but will
be deferred and will itself accrue interest at the rate of interest applicable to the Notes from
such Payment Date and the failure to pay such Deferred Interest to the holders of the Notes
will not be an Event of Default unless such failure continues for the next 18 months and such
Deferred Interest is not paid on the Payment Date falling 18 months after the applicable
Payment Date on which such interest was initially deferred pursuant to this Condition 6(c).

Deferred Interest: Notification to the Irish Stock Exchange

For as long as the Notes are listed on the Irish Stock Exchange, amounts of Deferred Interest
shall be notified to the Irish Stock Exchange as described in Condition 6(g) (Publication of
Floating Rates of Interest, Scheduled Interest Amounts and Deferred Interest) below.

Additional Interest

The Investment Managers acting on behalf of the Issuer may from time to time, at their
complete discretion, determine to pay Additional Interest on any Payment Date, out of
Available Proceeds relating to such Payment Date in accordance with the Priorities of
Payment by not later than the Determination Date relating to such Payment Date. Details of
any Additional Interest payable on any Payment Date shall be notified to the Noteholders in
accordance with Condition 16 (Notices).

Floating Rate of Interest
(1) Rate of Interest

The rate of interest in respect of the Notes from time to time (the "Floating Rate of
Interest") will be determined by the Calculation Agent on the following basis:

(A)  On each Interest Determination Date, the Calculation Agent will determine in
respect of the series of Notes denominated in GBP, the offered rate for three-
month deposits in GBP as at 11.00 a.m. (London time) on the Interest
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Determination Date in question. Such offered rate will be that which appears on
the relevant display designated as Reuters Screen LIBORO1 Page (or such other
page or service as may replace them for the purpose of displaying LIBOR rates).
The Floating Rate of Interest applicable to the Notes for such Accrual Period
shall be the applicable rate which so appears, all as calculated and determined
by the Calculation Agent.

(B)  If the offered rate appearing on the relevant Reuters Screen Page is replaced by
the corresponding rates of more than one bank then paragraph (A) above shall
be applied, with any necessary consequential changes, to the arithmetic mean
(rounded, if necessary, to the nearest one hundred-thousandth of a percentage
point (with 0.000005 being rounded upwards)) of the rates (being at least two)
which so appear, as determined by the Calculation Agent.

(C) (1) If for any other reason such offered rate does not so appear, or if the relevant
page is unavailable, the Calculation Agent will request each of four major banks
in the London interbank market acting in each case through its principal London
office (in each case, the "Reference Banks") to provide the Calculation Agent
with its offered quotation to prime banks for three-month deposits for the
Accrual Period in GBP in the London interbank market, at approximately 11.00
a.m. (London time) on the Interest Determination Date in question. The Floating
Rate of Interest applicable to the Notes for the applicable Accrual Period shall
be the arithmetic mean (rounded, if necessary, to the nearest one-hundred-
thousandth of a percentage point (with 0.000005 being rounded upwards)) of
such quotations (or of such of them, being at least two, as are so provided), all
as calculated and determined by the Calculation Agent.

(2) If on the relevant Interest Determination Date one only or none of the
Reference Banks provides such quotation, the Floating Rate of Interest
applicable to the Notes for the next Accrual Period shall be the rate per annum
which the Calculation Agent determines to be either the arithmetic mean
(rounded, if necessary, to the nearest one hundred-thousandth of a percentage
point (with 0.000005 being rounded upwards)) of the rates which three major
banks in the London interbank market selected by the Calculation Agent are
quoting on the relevant Interest Determination Date for loans in GBP for a
period equal to the relevant Accrual Period to leading European banks. If no
such quotations are available, the Floating Rate of Interest shall be as
determined by the Calculation Agent in its sole discretion.

Determination of Floating Rate of Interest and Calculation of Scheduled Interest
Amount

Other than as set out below, the Calculation Agent will, as soon as practicable after the
relevant time on such day as the Calculation Agent may be required to calculate the
Floating Rate of Interest and interest amount payable in respect of the Notes, but in no
event later than the second Business Day after the Interest Determination Date,
determine the Floating Rate of Interest (the "Scheduled Interest") applicable to the
Notes and calculate the interest amount payable in respect of original principal amounts
equal to the Authorised Integral Amount for the relevant Accrual Period.

The amount of interest (the "Scheduled Interest Amount") payable in respect of the
Notes (by reference to each original Authorised Integral Amount thereof) shall be
calculated by applying the Floating Rate of Interest to an amount equal to the aggregate
Principal Amount Outstanding as at the Interest Determination Date at the start of such
Accrual Period and multiplying the product by the actual number of days in the
Accrual Period concerned, divided by 365 and rounding the resultant figure to the
nearest 0.01 (0.005 being rounded upwards) and multiplying the product thereof by a
percentage equal to such original Authorised Integral Amount, as applicable, divided
by the aggregate original principal amount of all the Notes issued on any Issue Date
minus the aggregate original amount of all Notes previously redeemed or purchased
pursuant to Condition 7 (Redemption and Purchase).
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(iii)  Reference Banks and Calculation Agent
The Issuer will procure that, so long as any Note remains Outstanding:

(A) a Calculation Agent shall be appointed and maintained for the purposes of
determining the Floating Rate of Interest and the Scheduled Interest Amount
payable in respect of the Notes; and

(B) in the event that the Floating Rate of Interest applicable to the Notes is to be
calculated by reference to rates quoted by Reference Banks pursuant to
paragraph (C) of Condition 6(f)(i) (Rate of Interest), that the number of
Reference Banks required pursuant to such Condition are appointed.

If the Calculation Agent is unable or unwilling to continue to act as the Calculation
Agent hereunder or fails duly to establish the Floating Rate of Interest applicable to the
Notes for any Accrual Period, or to calculate the Scheduled Interest Amount applicable
to the Notes, the Issuer shall (with the prior approval of the Trustee) appoint some
other leading bank to act as such in its place. The Calculation Agent may not resign its
duties without a successor (approved by the Trustee) having been so appointed.

Notification of Floating Rates of Interest, Scheduled Interest Amounts and Deferred
Interest

The Calculation Agent will cause the Floating Rate of Interest, the Scheduled Interest
Amount, the amount of any Deferred Interest due but not paid applicable to the Notes for each
Accrual Period and Payment Date, any Additional Interest determined to be paid on any
Payment Date and the Principal Amount Outstanding of the Notes as of the applicable
Payment Date to be notified to the Issuer, Registrar, the Trustee, the other Agents, the
Collateral Administrator and the Investment Managers as soon as possible after their
determination but in no event later than the fourth Business Day thereafter, and the Principal
Paying Agent shall cause each such rate, amount and date to be notified to the Noteholders in
accordance with Condition 16 (Notices) as soon as possible following notification to the
Principal Paying Agent but in no event later than the third Business Day after such
notification.

The Scheduled Interest Amounts and Payment Date in respect of the Notes, so notified, may
subsequently be amended (or appropriate alternative arrangements made with the consent of
the Trustee by way of adjustment) without notice in the event of an extension or shortening of
the Accrual Period or a reduction or increase in the amount of collections. If any of the Notes
become due and payable under Condition 10 (Events of Default), interest shall nevertheless
continue to be calculated by the Calculation Agent in accordance with this Condition 6
(Interest) but no notification of the applicable Scheduled Interest Amounts shall be made
unless the Trustee so agrees.

Determination or Calculation by the Trustee

If the Calculation Agent does not at any time for any reason so determine the Floating Rate of
Interest applicable to the Notes or calculate the Scheduled Interest Amounts payable in respect
of the Notes for an Accrual Period, the Trustee (or a person appointed by it for the purpose)
may do so and such determination or calculation shall be deemed to have been made by the
Calculation Agent and shall be binding on the Noteholders. In so doing, the Trustee, or such
person appointed by it, shall apply the foregoing provisions of this Condition 6 (Interest) with
any necessary consequential amendments that, in its opinion and in the circumstances, to the
extent that it can do so, and, in all other respects it shall do so in such manner as it shall deem
fair and reasonable and in reliance on such persons as it has appointed for such purpose. The
Trustee shall have no liability to any person in connection with any determination or
calculation it is required to make pursuant to this Condition 6(h) (Determination or
Calculation by the Trustee).
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Notifications, etc to be Final

All notifications, opinions, determinations, certificates, quotations and decisions given,
expressed, made or obtained for the purposes of the provisions of this Condition 6 (Interest),
whether by the Reference Banks (or any of them), the Calculation Agent or the Trustee, will
(in the absence of manifest error) be binding on the Issuer, the Reference Banks, the
Calculation Agent, the Trustee, the Registrar, the Principal Paying Agent and all Noteholders
and no liability to the Issuer or the Noteholders shall attach to the Reference Banks, the
Calculation Agent or the Trustee in connection with the exercise or non-exercise by them of
their powers, duties and discretions under this Condition 6 (Interest).

REDEMPTION AND PURCHASE
Final Redemption

Save to the extent previously redeemed or purchased and cancelled, the Notes will be
redeemed on the Maturity Date of such Notes at their applicable Redemption Price. Notes may
not be redeemed or purchased other than in accordance with this Condition 7 (Redemption and
Purchase).

The Issuer, acting on the recommendation of the Investment Managers, may from time to time
propose the extension of the Maturity Date to a date that would constitute a Payment Date if
the Maturity Date were so extended subject to the consent of the Noteholders acting by
Ordinary Resolution. For so long as the Notes are listed on the Irish Stock Exchange, any
extension of the Maturity Date shall be notified to the Irish Stock Exchange.

Notwithstanding any other provisions of the Conditions or the Trust Deed, all references
herein and therein to any of the Notes being redeemed in full or at their Principal Amount
Outstanding or their Redemption Price shall be deemed to be amended to the extent required
to ensure that £1 principal amount of the Notes remains Outstanding at all times and any
amounts which are to be applied in redemption of such Notes pursuant hereto which are in
excess of the Principal Amount Outstanding thereof minus £1, shall constitute interest payable
in respect of such Notes and shall not be applied in redemption of the Principal Amount
Outstanding thereof, provided always however that such £1 shall no longer remain outstanding
and the Notes shall be redeemed in full on the date on which all of the Collateral securing the
Notes has been realised and is to be finally distributed to the Noteholders.

Optional Redemption by the Issuer

The Issuer may at its option (acting following advice received from the Investment Managers)
redeem the Notes in whole at the applicable Redemption Price or in part on a pro rata basis on
any Payment Date out of amounts standing to the credit of the Collection Account (following
conversion thereof into GBP, if applicable), to the extent there are sufficient amounts standing
to the credit of the Collection Account to pay all amounts due and payable (including without
limitation Scheduled Interest and Deferred Interest) pursuant to paragraphs (i) to (viii)
(inclusive) of the Pre-Acceleration Priority of Payments on such Payment Date.

The Issuer shall procure that notice of any such redemption shall be given to all Noteholders in
accordance with Condition 16 (Notices) not less than 10 Business Days prior to the applicable
Redemption Date.

Redemption following Note Tax Event

Subject to Condition 9 (Taxation) upon the occurrence of a Note Tax Event, the Issuer shall,
subject to and in accordance with the terms of the Trust Deed, use all reasonable endeavours
to arrange for the substitution of a company incorporated in another jurisdiction approved by
the Trustee as the principal obligor under the Notes, or to change its tax residence to another
jurisdiction approved by the Trustee to remedy/remove the Note Tax Event. Upon the earlier
of:

@) the date upon which the Issuer notifies (or procures the notification of) the Noteholders
that it is not able to effect such change of residence; and
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(ii))  the date which is 90 days from the date upon which the Issuer first becomes aware of
such Note Tax Event (provided that such 90 day period shall be extended by a further
90 days in the event that during the former period the Issuer has notified (or procured
the notification of) the Noteholders that, based on advice received by it, it expects that
it shall have substituted a company incorporated in another jurisdiction for the Issuer as
principal obligor and/or changed its residence by the end of the latter 90 day period),

the Noteholders, acting by Extraordinary Resolution, may elect that the Notes shall redeemed,
in whole but not in part, on any Payment Date thereafter (provided that the Notes may only be
redeemed on such Payment Date if such Note Tax Event would be in effect as at such
Payment Date or would come into effect before the next Payment Date), and the Issuer shall
redeem the Notes on such Payment Date at their respective Redemption Prices.

Optional Redemption by the Noteholders
(1) Optional Redemption at the applicable Redemption Prices

Subject to the provisions of Condition 7(d)(ii) (Terms and Conditions of Optional
Redemption), the Notes held by any Noteholder may be redeemed by the Issuer, in whole or in
part, at the applicable Redemption Prices, on any Payment Date, at the discretion of the Issuer,
following receipt of advice from the Investment Managers in accordance with the Investment
Management Agreement, upon request by such Noteholder not less than 30 days' prior to the
applicable Redemption Date in accordance with the procedures described in Condition
7(d)(iii) (Mechanics of Redemption) below.

The Issuer shall procure that notice of any such redemption shall be given to all the
Noteholders in accordance with Condition 16 (Notices) not less than 10 days prior to the
applicable Redemption Date.

(ii))  Terms and Conditions of Optional Redemption

Redemption at the option of any Noteholder of any Notes held by it pursuant to this Condition
7(d) (Optional Redemption by the Noteholders) shall be subject to:

(A) such Noteholder not exceeding the Optional Redemption Limit applicable
thereto (for the purposes of which the amount of Notes which may be redeemed
shall be rounded down to the nearest Authorised Integral Amount or the
Minimum Denomination, if applicable);

(B) there being sufficient amounts in cash and/or Eligible Investments that can be
liquidated without penalty by the Business Day prior to the scheduled
Redemption Date standing to the credit of the Collection Account (such
amounts "Available Optional Redemption Proceeds") not less than five
Business Days prior to the scheduled Redemption Date to effect such
redemption and to the extent that there are not sufficient amounts the amount of
Notes requested to be redeemed shall be scaled back on a pro rata basis (taking
into account the Authorised Denominations of the Notes) to an amount the
aggregate Redemption Prices payable in respect of which equal such Available
Optional Redemption Proceeds.

"Optional Redemption Limit" means in respect of any Noteholder and any Payment Date, 25
per cent of the aggregate Principal Amount Outstanding of the Notes held by such Noteholder
or, if lower, an amount of such Notes equal to the Minimum Denomination.

(iii)  Mechanics of Redemption

Any exercise of a right of optional redemption pursuant to this Condition shall be effected by
delivery to the Registrar by any applicable Noteholder of the Notes held thereby that it wishes
to have redeemed together with a duly completed redemption notice not less than 30 days
prior to the Payment Date on which it wishes such Notes to be redeemed. No redemption
notice and Note so delivered may be withdrawn without the prior consent of the Issuer. The
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Registrar shall copy each redemption notice received to each of the Issuer, the Trustee, the
Collateral Administrator and the Investment Managers.

The Issuer shall notify the Collateral Administrator, the Trustee, the Investment Managers,
each Eligible Counterparty with whom any Derivative Instrument or Leverage Instrument has
been entered into, the Principal Paying Agent and the Noteholders not later than five days
prior to the applicable Redemption Date whether the conditions set out in Condition 7(d)(ii)
(Terms and Conditions of Optional Redemption) above have been satisfied and the amount of
Notes (if any) to be redeemed on such date.

Redemption

All Notes in respect of which any notice of redemption is given shall be redeemed on the
Redemption Date at their applicable Redemption Price, to the extent specified in such notice
and in accordance with the requirements of this Condition.

Cancellation
All Notes redeemed in full will be cancelled and may not be reissued or resold.
Notice of Redemption

The Issuer shall procure that notice of any redemption in accordance with this Condition 7
(Redemption and Purchase) is given to the Trustee and the Noteholders in accordance with
Condition 16 (Notices) and, for so long as the Notes are listed on the Irish Stock Exchange, the
Irish Stock Exchange. Notice of the Redemption Price payable in respect of any Note to be
redeemed (as determined on the immediately preceding Determination Date) will be given to
the Noteholders not later than three Business Days prior to the Redemption Date on which
such Notes are to be so redeemed in accordance with Condition 16 (Notices) and, for as long
as the Notes are listed on the Irish Stock Exchange, to the Irish Stock Exchange.

Purchase

The Issuer may at any time at its discretion (acting following advice received from the
Investment Managers) purchase Notes at the request of a Noteholder, in the open market or
otherwise, at an amount equal to the Redemption Price thereof determined 5 Business Days
prior to such purchase.

In such case, all rights attached to the Notes may not be exercised by the Issuer until the Issuer
transfers the Notes to another party.

COLLECTIONS AND PAYMENTS
Collections and Drawings

The Issuer shall procure that all Collections are paid into the Collection Account, together
with all amounts received in respect of any Leverage Instrument, in each case, promptly
following receipt thereof.

Payments out of the Collection Account

Prior to any acceleration of the Notes following an Event of Default pursuant to Condition 10
(Events of Default), the Issuer may from time to time pay any amounts due and payable by it
pursuant to the Transaction Documents and/or any Upfront Costs and/or amounts payable in
connection with the acquisition or entry into, holding, restructuring or disposal of any
Investment or other Portfolio Asset or the exercise of any rights or performance of any
obligations thereunder, including without limitation, the posting of any margin that may be
required by any counterparty or exchange, out of the Collection Account, save for those
amounts which are specified as being payable on any Payment Date pursuant to paragraphs (v)
to (xi) (inclusive) of the Pre-Acceleration Priority of Payments and provided that the aggregate
amount of Trustee Fees and Expense and Administrative Expenses (save for the payment of
any Administrative Expenses in respect of amounts owed to the Investment Managers in
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accordance with paragraph (iv) below) paid out in any Due Period may not exceed the Senior
Expenses Cap applicable to such Due Period. In addition the Investment Managers, (acting on
behalf of the Issuer) may use funds standing to the credit of the Collection Account in
accordance with Priorities of Payment to the extent such amounts may be used in accordance
with and subject to the terms of the Investment Management Agreement.

Pre-Acceleration Priority of Payments

The Collateral Administrator shall (on the basis of the Payment Date Report prepared by the
Collateral Administrator in consultation with the Investment Managers pursuant to the terms
of the Investment Management Agreement on each Determination Date), on each Payment
Date cause the Account Bank to disburse amounts standing to the credit of the Collection
Account (to the extent such amounts (or a portion thereof) are not retained in the Collection
Account or otherwise designated for another purpose by the Investment Managers acting on
behalf of the Issuer in accordance with and subject to the Investment Management
Agreement), in accordance with the following Pre-Acceleration Priority of Payments:

@) to the payment on a pro rata basis of (A) any Upfront Costs (if any) and (B) taxes
provided such taxes are certified by an Authorised Officer of the Issuer to the Trustee
as in each case owing by the Issuer and accrued in respect of the related Due Period, if
any, (save for any value added tax payable in respect of any Investment Management
Fees);

(ii)  to the payment of accrued and unpaid Trustee Fees and Expenses up to an amount
equal to the Senior Expenses Cap in respect of any Due Period, provided that the
Senior Expenses Cap shall not apply following the occurrence of an Event of Default
or the taking of any Enforcement Action;

(i)  to the payment on a pro rata basis of Administrative Expenses up to an amount equal
to the Senior Expenses Cap in respect of the related Due Period less (i) the aggregate
amount of Administrative Expenses paid out of the Collection Account during the
immediately preceding Due Period and (ii) any amounts paid pursuant to paragraph (ii)
above;

(iv) to the payment of any remaining Administrative Expenses but only in respect of
amounts owed to the Investment Managers in accordance with the definition thereof
and then only to the extent not paid in full pursuant to paragraph (iii) above as a result
of the operation of the Senior Expenses Cap;

(v)  to the payment of any Deferred Interest due and payable on the Notes on such Payment
Date;

(vi)  to the payment to the Investment Managers of any Investment Management Fees and
Deferred Investment Management Fees due and payable on such Payment Date,
together with any value added tax payable in respect thereof whether payable to the
Investment Managers or directly to the relevant tax authority;

(vii) on a pro rata basis, to the payment of Scheduled Interest due and payable on the Notes
on such Payment Date;

(viii) to the payment of any Trustee Fees and Expenses or Administrative Expenses not paid
in full pursuant to paragraphs (ii) and (iii) above as a result of the operation of the
Senior Expenses Cap;

(ix)  to the payment of the Redemption Prices of any Notes to be redeemed on such Payment
Date in accordance with Condition 7(b) (Optional Redemption by the Issuer) (save
where such redemption is in whole) or Condition 7(d) (Optional Redemption by the
Noteholders);

(x)  to the payment of any Additional Interest due and payable in respect of the Notes on
such Payment Date at the discretion of the Investment Managers acting on behalf of the
Issuer; and
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(d)

(e)

®

(2

(h)

(xi) to the redemption of the Notes and following redemption of the Notes in full, in
payment to the Noteholders on a pro rata basis (determined upon redemption in full
thereof by reference to the proportion that the principal amount of the Notes held by the
Noteholders bore to the Principal Amount Outstanding of the Notes and immediately
prior to such redemption).

To the extent that any of the amounts payable pursuant to any of paragraphs (i) to (xi)
(inclusive) above on any Payment Date (save in the case of unpaid Scheduled Interest which
shall then become Deferred Interest in accordance with Condition 6(c) (Deferral of Interest)),
such amounts shall remain due and payable and shall be payable by the Issuer on the next
Payment Date pursuant to the same paragraph of the Pre-Acceleration Priority of Payments.

Non-payment of Scheduled Interest Amounts

Failure on the part of the Issuer to pay Scheduled Interest Amounts due and payable on the
Notes pursuant to Condition 6 (Inferest) shall not be an Event of Default (a) unless such
failure continues for the next 18 months and is not cured on or before the Payment Date falling
18 months after the Payment Date on which such interest was initially deferred pursuant to
Condition 6(c) (Deferral of Interest); or (b) if such failure to pay is as a result of any
deduction therefrom or the imposition of any withholding tax thereon.

De minimis Amounts

The Trustee may adjust the amounts required to be applied in payment on the Notes from time
to time so that the amount to be so applied in respect of each Note is a whole amount, not
involving any fraction of a £0.01.

Publication of Amounts

The Collateral Administrator will cause details of the amounts of interest and principal to be
paid, and any amounts of interest payable but not paid, on each Payment Date in respect of the
Notes to be notified at the expense of the Issuer to the Issuer, the Trustee, the Principal Paying
Agent, the Registrar and the Irish Stock Exchange by no later than 11.00 a.m. (London time)
on the second Business Day following the applicable Determination Date and the Registrar
shall procure that details of such amounts are notified at the expense of the Issuer to the
Noteholders in accordance with Condition 16 (Notices) as soon as reasonably practicable after
notification thereof to the Registrar in accordance with the above.

Collections

All amounts received by the Issuer from time to time in respect of the Investments, Eligible
Investments, any Derivative Instrument, or Leverage Instrument shall be paid into the
Collection Account.

Method of Payment

Payments of principal upon final redemption in respect of each Note will be made against
presentation and surrender (or, in the case of part payment only, endorsement) of such Note at
the specified office of the Principal Paying Agent by cheque drawn on a bank in Western
Europe. Payments of interest on each Note and, prior to redemption in full thereof, principal in
respect of each Note, will be made by cheque drawn on a bank in Western Europe and posted
on the Business Day immediately preceding the relevant due date to the holder (or to the first
named of joint holders) of the Note appearing on the Register at the close of business on the
Record Date at his address shown on the register on the Record Date. Upon application of the
holder to the specified office of the Principal Paying Agent not less than five Business Days
before the due date for any payment in respect of a Note, the payment may be made (in the
case of any final payment of principal against presentation and surrender (or, in the case of
part payment only of such final payment, endorsement) of such Note as provided above) by
wire transfer, in immediately available funds, on the due date to a GBP account maintained by
the payee with a bank in Western Europe.
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W)

(k)

(a)

Payments

All payments are subject in all cases to any applicable fiscal or other laws, regulations and
directives, but without prejudice to the provisions of Condition 9 (Taxation). No commission
shall be charged to the Noteholders.

Payments on Presentation Dates

A holder shall be entitled to present a Note for payment only on a Presentation Date and shall
not, except as provided in Condition 6 (Interest), be entitled to any further interest or other
payment if a Presentation Date falls after the due date.

If a Note is presented for payment at a time when, as a result of differences in time zones it is
not practicable to transfer the relevant amount to an account as referred to above for value on
the relevant Presentation Date, the Issuer shall not be obliged so to do but shall be obliged to
transfer the relevant amount to the account for value on the first practicable date after the
Presentation Date.

Principal Paying Agent

The names of the initial Registrar and Principal Paying Agent and their initial specified offices
are set out herein. The Issuer reserves the right at any time, with the approval of the Trustee, to
vary or terminate the appointment of the Registrar and Principal Paying Agent and appoint
additional or other agents, provided that (A) it will maintain (i) a Registrar and (ii) Principal
Paying Agent having specified offices in at least two major European cities approved by the
Trustee and (B) it will appoint an additional paying agent in a Member State of the European
Union that will not be obliged to withhold or deduct tax pursuant to the Directive (as defined
below) and shall procure that it shall at all times maintain a Custodian, Account Bank,
Investment Managers and Collateral Administrator. Notice of any change in any of the
Registrar, the Principal Paying Agent, the Account Bank or the Custodian or of their specified
offices or in Collateral Administrator will promptly be given to the Noteholders by the Issuer
in accordance with Condition 16 (Notices).

TAXATION
Taxation

All payments of principal and interest in respect of the Notes shall be made free and clear of,
and without withholding or deduction for, any taxes, duties, assessments or governmental
charges of whatever nature imposed, levied, collected, withheld or assessed by or within
Ireland, or any political sub-division or any authority therein or thereof having power to tax,
unless such withholding or deduction is required by law. For the avoidance of doubt, the
Issuer is not and shall not be under any obligation to gross up any payments made to
Noteholders and shall withhold or deduct from any such payments any amounts on account of
tax where so required by law or any relevant taxing authority. Any such withholding or
deduction shall not constitute an Event of Default under Condition 10(a) (Events of Default).

Subject as provided below, if the Issuer satisfies the Trustee that it has or will on the occasion
of the next payment due in respect of the Notes become obliged by the laws of Ireland to
withhold or account for tax so that it would be unable to make payment of the full amount that
would otherwise be due but for the imposition of such tax, the Issuer (with the consent of the
Trustee and save as provided below) shall use all reasonable endeavours to arrange for the
substitution of a company incorporated in another jurisdiction approved by the Trustee as the
principal obligor under the Notes, or to change its tax residence to another jurisdiction
approved by the Trustee.

Notwithstanding the above, if any taxes referred to in this Condition 9 (Taxation) arise:

(a) due to the connection of any Noteholder with Ireland otherwise than by reason only
of the holding of any Note or receiving principal or interest in respect thereof; or
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(b)

(b) by reason of the failure by the relevant Noteholder to comply with any applicable
procedures required to establish non-residence or other similar claim for exemption
from such tax; or

(©) in respect of a payment made or secured for the immediate benefit of an individual or
a non-corporate entity pursuant to Council Directive 2003/48/EC on Taxation of
Savings Income (the "Directive") in the Form of Interest Payments or any law
implementing or complying with, or introduced in order to conform to, such
Directive, or any arrangements entered into between the Member States and certain
other third countries and territories in connection with the Directive; or

(d) as a result of presentation for payment by or on behalf of a Noteholder who would
have been able to avoid such withholding or deduction by presenting the relevant
Note to another Transfer Agent in a Member State of the European Union,

the requirement to substitute the Issuer as a principal obligor and/or change its residence for
taxation purposes shall not apply.

U.S. Foreign Account Tax Compliance Act (FATCA)

The Issuer is authorised to withhold or deduct from amounts payable under the Notes to a
holder or beneficial owner of Notes funds for the payment of any tax that it is required to
withhold or deduct pursuant to (a) sections 1471 to 1474 of the U.S. Internal Revenue Code or
any associated regulations or other official guidance (the "U.S. Provisions"); (b) any treaty,
law, regulation or other official guidance enacted in any other jurisdiction, which facilitates
the implementation of the U.S. Provisions (the "Foreign Provisions"); (c) any
intergovernmental agreement between the United States and any other jurisdiction, which
facilitates the implementation of the U.S. Provisions (the "Intergovernmental Agreement");
or (d) any agreement regarding the implementation of the U.S. Provisions, the Foreign
Provisions and any Intergovernmental Agreement entered into by the Issuer with the U.S.
Internal Revenue Service, the U.S. government or any governmental or taxation authority in
any other jurisdiction ("FATCA"). The Issuer will not be required to make any payment of
additional amounts for or on account of any withholding tax deducted by the Issuer or an
intermediary in compliance with FATCA.

The Issuer may force the sale of a Noteholder's Notes in order to comply with FATCA,
including Notes held by a Noteholder that fails to provide the required information or if the
Issuer otherwise reasonably determines that a Noteholder's acquisition or holding of an
interest in such a Note would cause the Issuer to be unable to comply with FATCA (and such
sale could be for less than its then fair market value). For these purposes, the Issuer shall have
the right to sell a Noteholder's interest in its Notes in its entirety notwithstanding that the sale
of a portion of such an interest would permit the Issuer to comply with FATCA. If the Issuer is
required to force such sale, the Trustee, at the direction of the Issuer, shall require the holder to
sell its Notes to a purchaser selected by the Issuer on such terms as the Issuer may choose,
subject to the transfer restrictions set out herein. The Issuer may select the purchaser by
soliciting one or more bids from one or more brokers or other market professionals that
regularly deal in securities and selling such Notes to the highest such bidder. However, the
Issuer may select a purchaser by any other means determined by it in its sole discretion. Each
Noteholder, nominee and beneficial owner of a Note, by its acceptance of an interest in the
Notes, agrees to cooperate with the Issuer and the Trustee to effect such transfers. The
proceeds of such sale, net of any commissions, expenses and taxes due in connection with
such sale shall be remitted to the selling Noteholder. The terms and conditions of any sale
hereunder shall be determined in the sole discretion of the Issuer subject to the transfer
restrictions set out herein, and neither the Issuer nor the Trustee shall be liable to any person
having an interest in the Notes sold as a result of any such sale or the exercise of such
discretion. The Issuer and the Trustee reserve the right to require any holder of Notes to
provide any information required under FATCA.
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10.

(a)

EVENTS OF DEFAULT

Events of Default

The occurrence of any of the following events shall constitute an "Event of Default":

@)

(i)

(iii)

@iv)

)

Non-payment of interest

The Issuer fails to pay any Deferred Interest in respect of any Note on the Payment
Date falling 18 months after the Payment Date on which such interest was initially
deferred pursuant to Condition 6(c) (Deferral of Interest) (save, in each case, as the
result of any deduction therefrom or the imposition of withholding thereon in the
circumstances described in Condition 9 (Taxation) and provided that in the event that
any such failure to pay results from an administrative error, such failure to pay
continues for a period of at least 10 Business Days);

Non-payment of principal

The Issuer fails to pay any principal when the same becomes due and payable on any
Note on any Redemption Date and provided that any such failure to pay continues for a
period of at least 30 Business Days (or, if such failure to pay results from an
administrative error, such failure to pay continues for a period of at least 10 Business
Days);

Breach of Other Obligations

The Issuer does not perform or comply with any other of its covenants, warranties or
other agreements of the Issuer under the Notes, the Trust Deed, the Agency Agreement,
the Investment Management Agreement or any other Transaction Document (other than
a covenant, warranty or other agreement a default in the performance or breach of
which is dealt with elsewhere in this Condition 10(a) and other than the failure to meet
any Investment Restriction), or any representation, warranty or statement of the Issuer
made in the Trust Deed, Investment Management Agreement, or any other Transaction
Document or in any certificate or other writing delivered pursuant thereto or in
connection therewith ceases to be correct in all material respects when the same shall
have been made, and the continuation of such default, breach or failure for a period of
30 days (or 15 days, in the case of any default, breach or failure of representation or
warranty in respect of the Collateral) after notice thereof shall have been given by
registered or certified mail or overnight courier, to the Issuer by the Trustee specifying
such default, breach or failure and requiring it to be remedied and stating that such
notice is (a "Notice of Default") hereunder;

Insolvency Proceedings

Proceedings are initiated against the Issuer under any applicable liquidation,
insolvency, examinership, reorganisation, (together, "Insolvency Law"), or a receiver,
trustee, examiner, administrator, custodian, receiver, liquidator or other similar official
(a "Receiver") is appointed in relation to the Issuer or in relation to the whole or any
substantial part of the undertaking or assets of the Issuer; or the Issuer is, or initiates or
consents to judicial proceedings relating to itself under any applicable Insolvency Law,
or seeks the appointment of a Receiver, or makes a conveyance or assignment for the
benefit of its creditors generally or otherwise becomes subject to any reorganisation or
amalgamation (other than on terms previously approved in writing by the Trustee); or

Illegality

It is or will become unlawful for the Issuer to perform or comply with any one or more
of its obligations under the Notes.
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(b)

(©)

(d)

Acceleration

1) If an Event of Default occurs and is continuing, the Trustee may, at its discretion and
shall, at the direction of the Noteholders acting by Extraordinary Resolution (subject to
being indemnified and/or secured to its satisfaction against all liabilities, proceedings,
claims and demands to which it may thereby become liable and all costs, charges and
expenses which may be incurred by it in connection therewith), give notice to the
Issuer that all the Notes are to be immediately due and payable.

(i1))  Upon any such notice being given to the Issuer in accordance with paragraph (i) of this
Condition 10(b), all of the Notes shall immediately become due and repayable at their
applicable Redemption Prices, provided that no such notice shall be required in the
case of the Event of Default referred to in Condition 10(a)(iv) ([nsolvency
Proceedings), the occurrence of which shall result in automatic acceleration of the
Notes in accordance with this Condition 10(b).

Curing of Default

At any time after a notice of acceleration of maturity of the Notes has been given, or automatic
acceleration has occurred, in each case following the occurrence of an Event of Default and
prior to enforcement of the security pursuant to Condition 11 (Enforcement), the Trustee may
and shall, if so directed by the Noteholders acting by Extraordinary Resolution (subject, in
each case, to the Trustee being indemnified and/or secured to its satisfaction against all
liabilities, proceedings, claims and demands to which it may thereby become liable and all
costs, charges and expenses which may be incurred by it in connection therewith) rescind and
annul such notice of acceleration under paragraph (b)(i) above or automatic acceleration under
paragraph (b)(ii) above and its consequences if:

i the Issuer has paid or deposited with the Trustee a sum sufficient to pay:
y
(A) all overdue payments of interest and principal on the Notes;
(B)  all due and unpaid Investment Management Fees;

(C) all due but unpaid taxes owing by the Issuer, as certified by a Director of the
Issuer to the Trustee;

(D) all unpaid Administrative Expenses of the Issuer and all amounts owing and
unpaid by the Issuer to the Trustee;

(E) all amounts due and payable under any Leverage Instrument or Derivative
Instrument; and

(i1))  the Trustee has determined that all Events of Default have been cured or waived, other
than the non-payment of interest in respect of, or principal of, the Notes that have
become due solely as a result of the acceleration thereof under paragraph (b) above due
to such Events of Default.

Any previous rescission and annulment of a notice of acceleration or automatic acceleration
pursuant to this paragraph (c) shall not prevent the subsequent acceleration of the Notes if the
Trustee, at its discretion or, having been subsequently directed to accelerate the Notes in
accordance with paragraph (b)(i) above, accelerates the Notes or upon subsequent automatic
acceleration in accordance with paragraph (b)(ii) above.

Notification and Confirmation of No Default

The Issuer shall promptly notify the Trustee, the Investment Managers, the Agents, the
Noteholders, each Leverage Provider and each Eligible Counterparty upon becoming aware of
the occurrence of an Event of Default. The Trust Deed contains provision for the Issuer to
provide written confirmation to the Trustee on an annual basis or on request that no Event of
Default has occurred and that no condition, event or act has occurred which, with the lapse of
time and/or the issue, making or giving of any notice, certification, declaration and/or request
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11.

(a)

(b)

(©

and/or the taking of any similar action and/or the fulfilment of any similar condition could
constitute an Event of Default and that no other matter which is required (pursuant thereto) to
be brought to the Trustee's attention has occurred.

ENFORCEMENT
Security Becoming Enforceable

Subject as provided in paragraph (b) below, the security constituted under the Trust Deed over
the Collateral shall become enforceable upon an acceleration of the maturity of any of the
Notes pursuant to Condition 10 (Events of Default).

Enforcement

At any time after the Notes become due and payable and the security under the Trust Deed
over the Collateral becomes enforceable, the Trustee may, at its discretion and shall if so
directed by the Noteholders acting by Extraordinary Resolution institute such proceedings
against the Issuer as it may think fit to enforce the terms of the Trust Deed and the Notes and
pursuant and subject to the terms of the Trust Deed and the Notes, realise and/or otherwise
liquidate or sell the Collateral in whole or in part and/or take such action as may be permitted
under applicable laws against any obligor in respect of the Collateral and/or take any other
action to enforce the security over the Collateral (such actions together, "Enforcement
Actions"), in each case without any liability as to the consequence of any action and without
having regard (save to the extent provided in Condition 14(e) (Entitlement of the Trustee and
Conflicts of Interest)) to the effect of such action on individual Noteholders or any other
Secured Party provided however that:

) no such Enforcement Actions may be taken by the Trustee unless consent to the taking
of Enforcement Action is received from the Noteholders acting by an Extraordinary
Resolution; and

(ii))  the Trustee shall not be bound to institute any such proceedings or take any such other
action, including any Enforcement Actions, unless it is directed by the Noteholders
acting by Extraordinary Resolution at such time and, in each case, the Trustee is
indemnified and/or secured to its satisfaction against all liabilities, proceedings, claims
and demands to which it may thereby become liable and all costs, charges and expenses
which may be incurred by it in connection therewith. Following redemption and
payment in full of the Notes, the Trustee shall (provided it is indemnified and/or
secured to its satisfaction against all liabilities, proceedings, claims and demands to
which it may thereby become liable and all costs, charges and expenses which may be
incurred by it in connection therewith), if so directed, act upon the directions of the
Noteholders acting by Extraordinary Resolution.

The Trustee shall notify the Noteholders, the Issuer, the Agents, the Collateral
Administrator and the Investment Managers in the event that it takes any Enforcement
Action at any time (such notice an "Enforcement Notice"). The net proceeds of
enforcement of the security over the Collateral shall be credited to the Collection
Account or such other account as the Trustee may direct and shall be distributed in
accordance with the Post-Acceleration Priority of Payments.

Post-Acceleration Priority of Payments

The net proceeds of enforcement of the security over the Collateral shall be applied in
accordance with the following Post-Acceleration Priority of Payments:

1) to the payment of any Upfront Costs;
(i)  to the payment of accrued and unpaid Trustee Fees and Expenses;

(i)  to the payment of all amounts due and owing to any Leverage Provider or Eligible
Counterparty, other than payments due and payable to an Eligible Counterparty upon
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(d)

termination of any Derivative Instrument in respect of which the Eligible Counterparty
was the 'Defaulting Party' or sole 'Affected Party";

(iv) to the payment on a pro rata basis of Administrative Expenses other than those
specified in paragraphs (e), (f), (j) and (k) of the definition thereof on a pro rata basis,
up to an amount equal to the Senior Expenses Cap in respect of the related Due Period
less (i) the aggregate amount of Administrative Expenses paid out of the Collection
Account during the immediately preceding Due Period and (ii) any amounts paid
pursuant to paragraph (ii) above;

(v)  to the payment on a pro rata basis of all other Administrative Expenses up to an
amount equal to the Senior Expenses Cap in respect of the relevant Due Period less (i)
the aggregate amount of Administrative Expenses not paid in accordance with
paragraphs (ii) and (iv) above paid out of the Collection Account during the
immediately preceding Due Period and (ii) any amounts paid pursuant to paragraphs
(ii) and (iv) above;

(vi) to the payment of any remaining Administrative Expenses but only in respect of
amounts owed to the Investment Managers in accordance with the definition thereof
and then only to the extent not paid in full pursuant to paragraphs (iv) or (v) above as a
result of the operation of the Senior Expenses Cap;

(vii) to the payment of any Deferred Interest due and payable on the Notes on such Payment
Date;

(viii) to the payment to the Investment Managers of any Investment Management Fees and
any Deferred Investment Management Fees due and payable on such Payment Date,
together with any interest accrued thereon and any value added tax in respect thereof
whether payable by the Investment Managers or directly to the relevant tax authority;

(ix)  to the payment on a pro rata basis of Scheduled Interest due and payable on the Notes
on such Payment Date;

(x)  to the payment of any Administrative Expenses not paid in full pursuant to paragraphs
(iv) and (v) above as a result of the operation of the Senior Expenses Cap;

(xi)  to the payment of any Additional Interest due and payable in respect of the Notes on
such Payment Date;

(xii) to the redemption of the Notes and following redemption of the Notes in full, in
payment to the Noteholders on a pro rata basis (determined upon redemption in full
thereof by reference to the proportion that the principal amount of the Notes held by the
Noteholders bore to the Principal Amount Outstanding of the Notes and immediately
prior to such redemption).

Only Trustee to Act

Only the Trustee may pursue the remedies available under the Trust Deed to enforce the rights
of the Noteholders or of any of the other Secured Parties under the Trust Deed and the Notes
and no Noteholder or other Secured Party may proceed directly against the Issuer or any of its
assets unless the Trustee, having become bound to proceed in accordance with the terms of the
Trust Deed, fails or neglects to do so within a reasonable period of time following the instance
of the obligation to proceed having arisen and such failure or neglect is continuing. After
realisation of the security which has become enforceable and the distribution of the net
proceeds, no Noteholder or other Secured Party may take any further steps against the Issuer
to recover any sum still unpaid in respect of the Notes or the Issuer's obligations to such
Secured Party and all claims against the Issuer to recover any sum still unpaid in respect of the
Notes or the Issuer's obligations to such Secured Party and all claims against the Issuer in
respect of such sums unpaid shall be extinguished. In particular, none of the Trustee, any
Noteholder or any other Secured Party shall be entitled in respect thereof to petition or take
any other step for the winding-up of the Issuer except to the extent permitted under the Trust
Deed.
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(e)

12.

13.

14.

(a)

(b)

Purchase of Collateral by Noteholders

Upon any sale of any part of the Collateral following the occurrence of an Event of Default,
whether made under the power of sale under the Trust Deed or by virtue of judicial
proceedings, any Noteholder may (but shall not be obliged to) bid for and purchase the
Collateral or any part thereof and, upon compliance with the terms of sale, may hold, retain,
possess or dispose of such property in its or their own absolute right without accountability. In
addition, any purchaser in any such sale which is a Noteholder may deliver Notes held by it in
place of payment of the purchase price for such Collateral where the amount payable to such
Noteholder in respect of such Notes out of the net proceeds of such sale is equal to or exceeds
the purchase moneys so payable.

PRESCRIPTION

Claims in respect of principal and interest payable on redemption in full of the relevant Notes
will become void unless presentation for payment is made as required by Condition 7
(Redemption and Purchase) within a period of five years, in the case of interest, and ten years,
in the case of principal, from the appropriate Record Date.

REPLACEMENT OF NOTES

If any Note is lost, stolen, mutilated, defaced or destroyed it may be replaced at the specified
office of any Transfer Agent, subject in each case to all applicable laws and Irish Stock
Exchange requirements, upon payment by the claimant of the expenses incurred in connection
with such replacement and on such terms as to evidence, security, indemnity and otherwise as
the Issuer may require (provided that the requirement is reasonable in the light of prevailing
market practice). Mutilated or defaced Notes must be surrendered before replacements will be
issued.

MEETINGS OF NOTEHOLDERS, MODIFICATION, WAIVER AND
SUBSTITUTION

Provisions in Trust Deed

The Trust Deed contains provisions for convening meetings of the Noteholders (and for
passing Written Resolutions) to consider matters affecting the interests of the Noteholders
including, without limitation, modifying or waiving certain of the provisions of these
Conditions and the substitution of the Issuer in certain circumstances. The provisions in this
Condition 14 are descriptive of the detailed provisions of the Trust Deed.

Decisions and Meetings of Noteholders
) General

Decisions may be taken by Noteholders by way of Ordinary Resolution or, to the extent
required, Extraordinary Resolution. Such Resolutions can be effected either at a duly
convened meeting of the applicable Noteholders or by the applicable Noteholders
resolving in writing, in each case, in at least the minimum percentages specified in the
table "Minimum Percentage Voting Requirements" in paragraph (iii) below. Meetings
of the Noteholders may be convened by the Issuer, the Trustee or by one or more
Noteholders holding not less than ten per cent. in aggregate of the Principal Amount
Outstanding of the Notes, subject to certain conditions including minimum notice
periods.

(il))  Quorum

The quorum required for any meeting convened to consider an Ordinary Resolution or
Extraordinary Resolution of the Noteholders or at any adjourned meeting to consider
such a Resolution, shall be as set out in the relevant column and row corresponding to
the type of Resolution in the table "Quorum Requirements" below.
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Quorum Requirements

Type of Resolution

Any meeting other than a
meeting adjourned for want of
quorum

Meeting previously adjourned
for want of quorum

Extraordinary Resolution of all
Noteholders

One or more persons holding or
representing not less than 50 per
cent. of the aggregate Principal
Amount Outstanding of Notes

One or more persons holding or
representing any Notes
regardless of the aggregate
Principal Amount Outstanding
of Notes so held or represented

Ordinary Resolution of all | One or more persons holding or | One or more persons holding or
Noteholders representing not less than 10 per | representing any Notes
cent. of the aggregate Principal | regardless of the aggregate
Amount Outstanding of Notes Principal Amount Outstanding
of Notes so held or represented
(iii) Minimum Voting Rights

Set out in the table "Minimum Percentage Voting Requirements" below are the minimum
percentages required to pass the Resolutions specified in such table which, (A) in the event
that such Resolution is being considered at a duly convened meeting of Noteholders, shall be
determined by reference to the percentage which the aggregate Principal Amount Outstanding
of the Notes held or represented by any person or persons entitled to vote in favour of such
Resolution represents of the aggregate Principal Amount Outstanding of all applicable Notes
which are represented at such meeting and are entitled to vote or, (B) in the case of any
Written Resolution, shall be determined by reference to the percentage which the aggregate
Principal Amount Outstanding of the Notes entitled to be voted in respect of such Resolution
which are voted in favour thereof represent of the aggregate Principal Amount Outstanding of
all the Notes entitled to vote in respect of such Written Resolution.

Minimum Percentage Voting Requirements

Type of Resolution

Per cent.

Extraordinary Resolution of all Noteholders

At least 66% per cent. of the aggregate of the
Principal Amount Outstanding of the Notes

Ordinary Resolution of Noteholders

More than 50 per cent. of the aggregate Principal
Amount Outstanding of Notes

(iv)

Written Resolutions

Any Written Resolution may be contained in one document or in several documents in like
form each signed by or on behalf of one or more of the relevant Noteholders and the date of
such Written Resolution shall be the date on which the latest such document is signed.

)

All Resolutions Binding

Any Resolution of the Noteholders duly passed (and whether passed in person or by Written
Resolution) shall be binding on all Noteholders, regardless of whether or not a Noteholder was

present at the meeting at which such Resolution was passed.

(vi)

Extraordinary Resolution

Any Resolution to sanction any of the following items will be required to be passed by
an Extraordinary Resolution (in each case, subject to anything else contemplated in the
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Trust Deed (other than paragraph (c) below), the Investment Management Agreement
or the relevant Transaction Document, as applicable) in each case, save to the extent
that any such item relates to a Further Issue Amendment as defined in Condition 14(f)
(Further Issue Amendment):

(A) the exchange or substitution for the Notes, or the conversion of the Notes into,
shares, bonds or other obligations or securities of the Issuer or any other entity;

(B) the modification of any provision relating to the timing and/or circumstances of
redemption of the Notes at maturity or otherwise (including the circumstances in
which the maturity of such Notes may be accelerated);

(C) the modification of any of the provisions of the Trust Deed which would
directly and adversely affect the calculation of the amount of any payment of
interest or principal on any Note;

(D)  the adjustment of the Principal Amount Outstanding of the Notes other than in
connection with a further issue of Notes pursuant to Condition 17 (4Additional
Issuances);

(E)  achange in the currency of payment of the Notes;

(F)  the modification of the provisions concerning the quorum required at any
meeting of Noteholders or the minimum percentage required to pass an
Extraordinary Resolution or any other provision of these Conditions which
requires the written consent of the holders of a requisite Principal Amount
Outstanding of the Notes;

(G) any modification of any Transaction Document having a material adverse effect
on the security over the Collateral constituted by the Trust Deed;

(H) any item requiring approval by Extraordinary Resolution pursuant to these
Conditions or any Transaction Document; and

@ any modification of this Condition 14(b).

The Noteholders shall have the power by Ordinary Resolution to approve any other matters
save to the extent otherwise specified in the Trust Deed, these Conditions or any other
Transaction Document.

Modification and Waiver

The Trust Deed and the Investment Management Agreement both provide that, without the
consent of the Noteholders and without any requirement for the Trustee to consult with the
Noteholders concerning such amendments, modifications, supplements or waivers to the
extent they fall within paragraphs (i) to (xiii) (inclusive) below and subject always to
Condition 14(f) (Further Issue Amendments) below, the Issuer may amend, modify,
supplement and/or waive the relevant provisions of the Trust Deed and/or the Investment
Management Agreement and/or any other Transaction Document (subject to the consent of the
other parties thereto provided that the Trustee shall execute any documents required to give
effect to any such amendments, modifications, supplements or waivers to any Transaction
Document which falls within paragraphs (i) to (xiii) (inclusive) below without any additional
requirement for the consent of or consultation with the Noteholders) (as applicable) for any of
the following purposes:

1) to add to the covenants of the Issuer , the Trustee or the Custodian for the benefit of the
Noteholders or to surrender any right or power in the Trust Deed or the Investment
Management Agreement (as applicable) conferred upon the Issuer;

(ii)  to charge, convey, transfer, assign, mortgage or pledge any property to or with the
Trustee;
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(iii)

(iv)

)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

x)

(xi)

(xii)

(xiii)

to correct or amplify the description of any property at any time subject to the security
of the Trust Deed, or to better assure, convey and confirm unto the Trustee any
property subject or required to be subject to the security of the Trust Deed (including,
without limitation, any and all actions necessary or desirable as a result of changes in
law or regulations) or subject to the security of the Trust Deed any additional property;

to evidence and provide for the acceptance of appointment under the Trust Deed by a
successor Trustee subject to and in accordance with the terms of the Trust Deed and to
add to or change any of the provisions of the Trust Deed as shall be necessary to
facilitate the administration of the trusts under the Trust Deed by more than one
Trustee, pursuant to the requirements of the relevant provisions of the Trust Deed;

to make such changes as shall be necessary or advisable in order for the Notes to be (or
to remain) listed on the Irish Stock Exchange or any other exchange;

save as contemplated in paragraph (d) below, to take any action advisable to prevent
the Issuer from becoming subject to withholding or other taxes, fees or assessments;

to take any action advisable to prevent the Issuer from being treated as resident in the
UK for UK tax purposes, as trading in the UK for UK tax purposes or as subject to UK
value added tax in respect of any Investment Management Fees;

to take any action advisable to prevent the Issuer from being (A) treated as engaged in a
United States trade or business or otherwise be subject to United States federal, state or
local income tax on a net income basis or (B) subject to income or profit tax in any
jurisdiction other than the jurisdiction of incorporation of the Issuer;

to enter into any additional agreements not expressly prohibited by the Trust Deed or
the Investment Management Agreement (as applicable);

to amend any of the Investment Restrictions, subject to the consent of the Noteholders
acting by Ordinary Resolution and 21 days' prior written notice to the Trustee and the
Collateral Administrator;

to modify the restrictions on and procedures for resales and other transfers of Notes to
reflect any changes in applicable law or regulation (or the interpretation thereof) to
enable the Issuer to rely upon any exemption from registration under any applicable
banking or securities laws or to remove restrictions on resale and transfer to the extent
not required thereunder or otherwise to make any such modifications to the restrictions
on and procedures for resales and other transfers of Notes as shall be necessary or
advisable;

to make any other modification of any of the provisions of the Trust Deed, the
Investment Management Agreement or any other Transaction Document which, in the
opinion of the Trustee, is of a formal, minor or technical nature or is made to correct a
manifest error or cure any ambiguity; and

to make any other modification (save as otherwise provided in the Trust Deed, the
Investment Management Agreement or the relevant Transaction Document), and/or
give any waiver or authorisation of any breach or proposed breach, of any of the
provisions of the Trust Deed or any other Transaction Document which is, in the
opinion of the Trustee, not materially prejudicial to the interests of the Noteholders.

Any such modification, authorisation or waiver shall be binding on all Noteholders and shall
be notified to the Noteholders as soon as practicable in accordance with Condition 16
(Notices).

Under no circumstances shall the Trustee be required to agree to such amendment,
modification, supplement or waiver on less than 21 days' prior written notice and the Trustee
shall be entitled to obtain such advice and/or opinions in connection with agreeing to such
amendment, modification, supplement or waiver as it sees fit (and to be indemnified and/or
secured to its satisfaction in respect of all of its costs and expenses in obtaining such advice).
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(d)

(e)

®

For the avoidance of doubt, the foregoing shall not oblige the Trustee to agree to such
proposed amendment, modification, supplement or waiver where such proposed amendment,
modification, supplement or waiver (other than one falling within paragraphs (x) or (xii)
above, where no determination of material prejudice to the interests of the Noteholders shall
be made by the Trustee) would, in the Trustee's sole determination, be materially prejudicial to
the interests of the Noteholders.

Substitution

The Trust Deed contains provisions permitting the Trustee to agree, subject to such
amendment of the Trust Deed and such other conditions as the Trustee may require (without
the consent of the Noteholders) to the substitution of any other company in place of the Issuer,
or of any previous substituted company, as principal debtor under the Trust Deed and the
Notes, if required for taxation purposes. In the case of such a substitution the Trustee may
agree, without the consent of the Noteholders, to a change of the law governing the Notes
and/or the Trust Deed, provided that such change would not in the opinion of the Trustee be
materially prejudicial to the interests of the Noteholders. Any substitution agreed by the
Trustee pursuant to this paragraph (d) shall be binding on the Noteholders, and shall be
notified to the Noteholders as soon as practicable in accordance with Condition 16 (Notices).

The Trustee may, subject to the satisfaction of certain conditions, and such opinions as the
Trustee shall deem appropriate, for taxation purposes without the consent of the Noteholders,
agree to substitute the Issuer for a company incorporated in another jurisdiction as the
principal obligor under the Notes or agree to change its tax residence to another jurisdiction
approved by the Trustee in order to remedy/remove a Note Tax Event which has occurred.

The Issuer shall procure that, so long as the Notes are listed on the Irish Stock Exchange any
material amendments or modifications to the Conditions of the Notes, the Trust Deed or such
other conditions made pursuant to this Condition 14 shall be notified to the Irish Stock
Exchange.

Entitlement of the Trustee and Conflicts of Interest

In connection with the exercise of its trusts, powers, duties and discretions (including but not
limited to those referred to in this Condition 14 the Trustee shall have regard to the interests of
the Noteholders and shall not have regard to the consequences of such exercise for individual
Noteholders and the Trustee shall not be entitled to require, nor shall any Noteholder be
entitled to claim, from the Issuer, the Trustee or any other person any indemnification or
payment in respect of any tax consequence of any such exercise upon individual Noteholders
except to the extent already provided for in Condition 9 (7axation). In addition, the Trust
Deed provides that in the event of any conflict of interest between the Noteholders and any
other Secured Party, the Trustee shall give effect to such interests in reflection of the Priorities
of Payment.

Further Issue Amendments

In the event of any issuance of Additional Notes on any date these Conditions and the
provisions of any other applicable Transaction Documents shall be amended to the extent
required, if any, as determined by the Investment Managers in their absolute discretion, but
subject to the prior consent of the Noteholders acting by an Ordinary Resolution in order to
ensure that all Noteholders are treated equally following the issuance of such Additional
Notes, which may include, without limitation, the issuance of notes which are not Additional
Notes and/or the creation of additional tranches or series of notes and amendments relating to
the Net Asset Value applicable to the existing Notes of any series and/or tranches and any
such Additional Notes or notes and the determination of Investment Management Fees and
amendments to the Conditions and/or such other changes as the Investment Managers in their
absolute discretion determines are advisable (each a "Further Issue Amendment") and the
Issuer and the Trustee and each of the other parties to the Transaction Documents agree that
they will use reasonable efforts to facilitate such amendments including, without limitation by
the execution of any supplements to the Transaction Documents to which they are a party in
order to effect such amendments.
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15.

16.

17.

(a)

INDEMNIFICATION OF THE TRUSTEE

The Trust Deed contains provisions for the indemnification of the Trustee and for its relief
from responsibility in certain circumstances, including provisions relieving it from instituting
proceedings to enforce repayment or to enforce the security constituted by or pursuant to the
Trust Deed, unless indemnified and/or secured to its satisfaction. The Trustee is entitled to
enter into business transactions with the Issuer and any entity related to the Issuer without
accounting for any profit. The Trustee is exempted from any liability in respect of any loss or
theft or reduction in value of the Collateral from any obligation to insure, or to monitor the
provisions of any insurance arrangements in respect of, the Collateral (for the avoidance of
doubt, under the Trust Deed the Trustee is under no such obligation) and from any claim
arising from the fact that the Collateral is held by the Custodian or is otherwise held in safe
custody by a bank or other custodian. The Trustee shall not be responsible for the performance
by the Custodian or any other Agent of any of its duties under the Agency Agreement or for
the performance by the Investment Managers of any of their duties under the Investment
Management Agreement, for the performance by the Collateral Administrator of its duties
under the Investment Management Agreement or for the performance by any other person
appointed by the Issuer in relation to the Notes. The Trustee shall not have any responsibility
for the administration, sufficiency, adequacy, management or operation of the Collateral
including the request by the Investment Managers to release any of the Collateral from time to
time and furthermore the Trustee shall not have any responsibility for the enforceability of the
security constituted by the Trust Deed.

The Trust Deed contains provisions for the retirement of the Trustee and the removal of the
Trustee by Extraordinary Resolution of the Noteholders, but no such retirement or removal
shall become effective until a successor trustee is appointed.

NOTICES

Notices to Noteholders will be valid if posted to the address of such Noteholder appearing in
the Register at the time of publication of such notice by pre-paid, first class mail (or any other
manner approved by the Trustee which may be by electronic transmission) and (for so long as
the Notes are listed on the Irish Stock Exchange and the rules of the Irish Stock Exchange so
require) shall be sent to the Company Announcements Office of the Irish Stock Exchange.
Any such notice shall be deemed to have been given three days (in the case of inland mail) or
seven days (in the case of overseas mail) after the date of dispatch thereof to the Noteholders.

The Trustee shall be at liberty to sanction some other method of giving notice to the
Noteholders or a category of them if, in its opinion, such other method is reasonable having
regard to market practice then prevailing and to the rules of the stock exchange on which the
Notes are then listed and provided that notice of such other method is given to the Noteholders
in such manner as the Trustee shall require. A copy of any such notice shall also be delivered
to the Arranger and Placement Agent regardless of whether it is a Noteholder at such time.

ADDITIONAL ISSUANCES

Subject to Condition 14(f) (Further Issue Amendments), the Issuer may from time to time with
the consent of the Trustee but without the consent of the Noteholders (or any requirement for
the Trustee to obtain their consent) to the extent that the aggregate Principal Amount
Outstanding of the Notes, together with the Additional Notes which are proposed to be issued,
does not exceed £2,000,000,000, create and issue Additional Notes (on any Payment Date or
such other date as may be specified by the Investment Managers in their sole discretion) (i) of
a new series and/or (ii) having the same terms and conditions as the existing Notes of any
series (subject as provided below) (such Additional Notes in paragraph (ii), the "Relevant
Notes"). Subject to Condition 14(f) (Further Issue Amendments), no term or condition set out
in these Conditions may be supplemented or modified in respect of any such Relevant Notes
issued save for the issue price thereof, the date of issuance thereof, the date from which
interest will accrue thereon, the amount of the first payment of interest thereon, the first
Payment Date thereon and/or the Redemption Price thereof. The Issuer or the Investment
Managers on their behalf will invest the proceeds of sale of any such Additional Notes in
additional Portfolio Assets and, if applicable, entry into additional Derivative Instruments in
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(b)

(©)

(d)

(©

18.

19.

(a)

(b)

accordance with the Investment Management Agreement. Subject to receipt of such opinions
and/or confirmations as it deems appropriate and to it being satisfied that the following
conditions are met, the Trustee shall consent to such further issuance;

the issue price or subscription price of any Relevant Notes is not less than the share of the Net
Asset Value of the Portfolio of each existing Note of any relevant series as calculated by the
Collateral Administrator on the Determination Date immediately preceding the proposed Issue
Date thereof, determined, in respect of each Note to be so issued, as a percentage of such Net
Asset Value equal to the percentage which the original face amount of such Note represents of
the original aggregate principal amount of all Notes of the relevant series issued on any Issue
Date minus the original aggregate principal amount of all Notes of the relevant series
previously redeemed or purchased and cancelled pursuant to Condition 7 (Redemption and
Purchase);

subject to Condition 17(a) above the terms (other than the date of issuance, the issue price, the
date from which interest will accrue, the amount of the first payment of interest, the first
Payment Date and/or the Redemption Price thereof) of the Relevant Notes must be identical to
the terms of the previously issued Notes of the relevant series;

(so long as the existing Notes of the relevant series are listed on the Irish Stock Exchange)
such Relevant Notes to be issued are in accordance with the requirements of the Irish Stock
Exchange and will, once issued, be listed on the Irish Stock Exchange (for so long as the rules
of the Irish Stock Exchange so requires); and

such additional issuances are in accordance with all applicable laws including, without
limitation, the securities and banking laws and regulations of Ireland.

Subject to the express prior written consent of the Investment Managers, a purchaser may
purchase any such Additional Notes at the issue price or subscription price by delivering
Investments to the Issuer with an Aggregate Market Value at least equal to the issue price or
subscription price calculated in accordance with and subject to (b) above.

References in these Conditions to the "Notes" include (unless the context requires otherwise)
the Additional Notes, including the Relevant Notes issued pursuant to this Condition. Any
further securities forming a single series with Notes constituted by the Trust Deed or any deed
supplemental to it shall, and any other securities may (with the consent of the Trustee), be
constituted by a deed supplemental to the Trust Deed.

THIRD PARTY RIGHTS

No person shall have any right to enforce any term or condition of the Note under the
Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999.

GOVERNING LAW
Governing Law

The Trust Deed and the Notes are governed by and shall be construed in accordance with
English law.

Jurisdiction

The courts of England are to have exclusive jurisdiction to settle any disputes which may arise
out of or in connection with the Notes, and accordingly any legal action or proceedings arising
out of or in connection with the Notes ("Proceedings") may be brought in such courts. The
Issuer has in the Trust Deed irrevocably submitted to the jurisdiction of such courts and
waives any objection to Proceedings in any such courts whether on the ground of venue or on
the ground that the Proceedings have been brought in an inconvenient forum. This submission
is made for the benefit of each of the Noteholders and the Trustee and shall not limit the right
of any of them to take Proceedings in any other court of competent jurisdiction nor shall the
taking of Proceedings in one or more jurisdictions preclude the taking of Proceedings in any
other jurisdiction (whether concurrently or not).
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Agent for Service of Process

The Issuer appoints Maples and Calder, (having an office, at the date hereof, at 11th floor, 200
Aldersgate Street, London, ECIA 4HD) to receive service of process on its behalf as its
authorised agent for service of process in England. If for any reason the Issuer does not have
such agent in England, it will promptly appoint a substitute process agent and notify the
Trustee and the Noteholders of such appointment. Nothing herein shall affect the right to
service of process in any other manner permitted by law.
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FORM OF FINAL TERMS

The Final Terms in respect of each Tranche of Notes will be substantially in the following form, duly
completed to reflect the particular terms of the relevant Notes and their issue. Text in this section
appearing in italics does not form part of the form of Final Terms but denotes directions for completing
the Final Terms.

Final Terms dated [®]
Castle Hill Enhanced Floating Rate Opportunities Limited

(a private company with limited liability incorporated under the laws of Ireland, under company
number 464395)

Programme for the issuance of up to £2,000,000,000 Senior Secured Deferrable Floating Rate
Notes

[Aggregate Nominal Amount of Tranche] [Title of Notes] [due [®]] [(z0 be consolidated and to

form a single Series with [insert amount and name of the existing Tranche] (the "Tranche [®]

Notes") issued on [insert issue date of the existing Tranche] (ISIN: [ ®]))(in the case of fungible
issues only))

Any person making or intending to make an offer of the Notes may only do so in circumstances in
which no obligation arises for the Issuer or any dealer to publish a prospectus pursuant to Article 3 of
the Prospectus Directive or supplement a prospectus pursuant to Article 16 of the Prospectus Directive,
in each case, in relation to such offer.

Neither the Issuer nor any dealer has authorised, nor do they authorise, the making of any offer of
Notes in any other circumstances.

The expression "Prospectus Directive" means Directive 2003/71/EC (and amendments thereto,
including the 2010 PD Amending Directive, to the extent implemented in a Member State of the
European Economic Area (each a "Relevant Member State")) and includes any relevant implementing
measure in the Relevant Member State and the expression "2010 PD Amending Directive" means
Directive 2010/73/EU.

PART A - CONTRACTUAL TERMS'

Terms used herein shall be deemed to be defined as such for the purposes of the Conditions (the
"Terms and Conditions") set forth in the Base Prospectus dated [®] which [together with the
supplement to the Base Prospectus dated [®]] constitute[s] a base prospectus for the purposes of the
Prospectus Directive. This document constitutes the Final Terms of the Notes described herein for the
purposes of Article 5.4 of the Prospectus Directive and must be read in conjunction with such Base
Prospectus [as so supplemented]. Full information on the Issuer and the offer of the Notes is only
available on the basis of the combination of these Final Terms and the Base Prospectus [as so
supplemented]. The Base Prospectus [and the supplement to the Base Prospectus] [is] [are] available
for viewing [at [www.ise.ie or www.centralbank.ie]] [[and] during normal business hours at [address]
[and copies may be obtained from [address]].]

[The following alternative language applies if the first tranche of an issue which is being increased was
issued under a Base Prospectus with an earlier date.]

Terms used herein shall be deemed to be defined as such for the purposes of the Conditions (the
"Terms and Conditions") set forth in the Base Prospectus dated [1 May 2009/1 July 2013]. This
document constitutes the Final Terms of the Notes described herein for the purposes of Article 5.4 of
the Prospectus Directive and must be read in conjunction with the Base Prospectus dated [@] [and the
supplement to the Base Prospectus dated [®]], which [together] constitute[s] a base prospectus for the
purposes of the Prospectus Directive, save in respect of the Conditions which are extracted from the
Base Prospectus dated [1 May 2009/1 July 2013] and are incorporated by reference into the Base

! When preparing Final Terms which are in relation to an issue of Notes that are not to be listed on a regulated market, references to the Prospectus
Directive are to be removed.
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Prospectus dated [®]. Full information on the Issuer and the offer of the Notes is only available on the
basis of the combination of these Final Terms and the Base Prospectuses dated [1 May 2009/1 July
2013] and [e] [and the supplements to the Base Prospectuses dated [®] and [®]]. The Base Prospectuses
[and the supplements to the Base Prospectuses] are available for viewing [at [www.ise.ie or
www.centralbank.ie] [[and] during normal business hours at [address] [and copies may be obtained
from [address]].]

[Include whichever of the following apply or specify as "Not Applicable" (N/A). Note that the
numbering should remain as set out below, even if "Not Applicable" is indicated for individual
paragraphs (in which case the sub-paragraphs of the paragraphs which are not applicable can be
deleted). Italics denote guidance for completing the Final Terms.] [Include whichever of the following
apply or specify as "Not Applicable" (N/A). Note that the numbering should remain as set out below,
even if "Not Applicable" is indicated for individual paragraphs (in which case the sub-paragraphs of
the paragraphs which are not applicable can be deleted). Italics denote guidance for completing the
Final Terms.]

1. Issue Date: [o]
2. Maturity Date: [®]
3. 1) Series Number: [®]

(i)  Tranche Number: [®]

[The Notes will be consolidated and form a single series
with the [insert amount and name of the existing Tranche]
(the "Tranche [®] Notes"] issued on [insert issue date of
the existing Tranche] (ISIN: [®]) [on the Issue Date] (in
the case of fungible issues only)]

4. Aggregate Nominal Amount:

(1) Series: [®]
(i)  Tranche: [®]
5. Issue Price: [®] per cent. of the Aggregate Nominal Amount[, plus

accrued interest from [insert date] to [insert date] in
respect of the Scheduled Interest Amount payable on
[insert date] (in the case of fungible issues only, if
applicable)].

6. Interest:
(1) Interest Accrual Start Date:  [Issue Date/specify]

(i)  First Payment Date: [e]

PURPOSE OF FINAL TERMS

These Final Terms comprise the final terms required for issue [and admission to trading, on the
regulated market of the Irish Stock Exchange] of the Notes described herein pursuant to the Base
Prospectus for the issuance of up to £2,000,000,000 Senior Secured Deferrable Floating Rate Notes by
Castle Hill Enhanced Floating Rate Opportunities Limited.

Signed on behalf of the Issuer:
By:

Duly authorised
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1.

PART B - OTHER INFORMATION
LISTING AND ADMISSION TO TRADING

[Application has been made by the Issuer (or on
its behalf) for the Notes to be admitted to the
Official List of the Irish Stock Exchange and to
trading on the regulated market of the Irish Stock
Exchange with effect from [specify date].]

[Not Applicable]

(Where documenting a fungible issue, indicate
that original securities are already admitted to
trading.)

INTERESTS OF NATURAL AND LEGAL PERSONS INVOLVED IN THE
ISSUE/OFFER

(Need to include a description of any interest, including conflicting ones, that is material to
the issue/offer, detailing the persons involved and the nature of the interest. May be satisfied

by the inclusion of the following statement:

"Save as discussed in ["Note Purchase and Sale" or "Transfer Restrictions"], so far as the
Issuer is aware, no person involved in the offer of the Notes has an interest material to the
offer." (Amend as appropriate if there are other interests.))

[Not Applicable]
ESTIMATED TOTAL EXPENSES RELATED TO THE ADMISSION TO TRADING
[Not Applicable] [specify]
OPERATIONAL INFORMATION
@) ISIN Code: (o]

(i1) Common Code: [®]

DATE OF RESOLUTION AUTHORISING ISSUE OF NOTES

[The issue of the Notes was authorised by resolution of the Board of Directors of the Issuer
passed on [@].] [Not applicable.]
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USE OF PROCEEDS

The Principal Amount Outstanding of the Notes issued to the holders of the Notes will be reflective of
the market value (determined on the Determination Date prior to the relevant Issue Date) of the
Portfolio. The proceeds of the Notes after payment of fees and expenses on or about the relevant Issue
Date will be used by the Issuer to finance the acquisition of additional Investments on or after the

relevant Issue Date.
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FORM OF THE NOTES
Initial Issue of Global Certificates

The Notes will be represented on issue by a Global Certificate deposited on their relevant Issue Date
with and registered in the name of The Bank of New York Depository (Nominees) Limited as nominee
for The Bank of New York Mellon, as common depositary for Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg
(each, a "Global Certificate"). Beneficial interests in a Global Certificate may be held only through
Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg at any time. See "Book-Entry Clearance Procedures". By
acquisition of a beneficial interest in a Global Certificate, the purchaser thereof will be deemed to
represent, among other things (i) prior to the expiry of the 40-Day Distribution Compliance Period, the
purchaser is (A) located outside the United States, (B) not a U.S. person and (C) not purchasing the
Notes or for the account or benefit of U.S. persons, or (ii) following the expiry of the 40-Day
Distribution Compliance Period, such purchaser is either (A) (1) located outside the United States, (2)
nota U.S. person and (3) not purchasing the Notes for the account or benefit of U.S. persons, or (B) is
purchasing the Notes pursuant to an exemption from or in a transaction not subject to the registration
requirements of the Securities Act, and in each case, if, in the future it determines to transfer such
beneficial interest, it will transfer such beneficial interest only to a person who the seller reasonably
believes complies with restrictions set forth in the Trust Deed and all applicable securities laws. See
"Transfer Restrictions".

"40-Day Distribution Compliance Period" the period commencing on the Issue Date thereof and
ending on the later of (i) the commencement of the offering and (ii) such Issue Date. See "Transfer
Restrictions".

Except in the limited circumstances described below, owners of beneficial interests in Global
Certificates will not be entitled to receive physical delivery of certificated Notes. The Notes will not be
issued in bearer form.

Amendments to Terms and Conditions

Each Global Certificate contains provisions that apply to the Notes that they represent, some of which
modify the effect of the Conditions in definitive form (see "Terms and Conditions of the Notes"). The
following is a summary of those provisions.

. Payments

Payments of principal and interest in respect of Notes represented by a Global Certificate will
be made against presentation and, if no further payment fails to be made in respect of the
relevant Notes, surrender of such Global Certificate to or to the order of the Principal Paying
Agent or such other Agent as shall have been notified to the relevant Noteholders for such
purpose. On each occasion on which a payment of interest (unless the Notes represented
thereby do not bear interest) or principal is made in respect of the relevant Global Certificate,
the Registrar shall note the same in the Register and cause the aggregate principal amount of
the Notes represented by a Global Certificate to be decreased accordingly.

. Notices

So long as any Notes are represented by a Global Certificate and such Global Certificate is
held on behalf of a clearing system, notices to Noteholders may be given by, and shall be
deemed to have been delivered to such Noteholders upon, delivery of the relevant notice to
that clearing system for communication by it to entitled account holders in substitution for
delivery thereof as required by the Terms and Conditions provided that such notice is also
made to the Company Announcement Office of the Irish Stock Exchange for so long as such
Notes are listed on the Irish Stock Exchange and the rules of the Irish Stock Exchange so
require. Any such notice shall be deemed to have been given on the date of delivery to such
clearing system.

o Prescription

Claims against the Issuer in respect of principal and interest on the Notes while the Notes are
represented by a Global Certificate will become void unless presented for payment within a
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period of ten years (in the case of principal and five years (in the case of interest) from the
date on which any payment first becomes due.

. Meetings

The holder of each Global Certificate will be treated as being two persons for the purposes of
any quorum requirements of, or the right to demand a poll at, a meeting of Noteholders and, at
any such meeting, as having one vote in respect of each £1 of original principal amount of
Notes for which the relevant Global Certificate may be exchanged.

° Trustee's Powers

In considering the interests of Noteholders while the Global Certificates are held on behalf of
a clearing system, the Trustee may have regard to any information provided to it by such
clearing system or its operator as to the identity (either individually or by category) of its
account holders with entitlements to each Global Certificate and may consider such interests
as if such account holders were the holders of any Global Certificate.

. Cancellation

Cancellation of any Note required by the Terms and Conditions to be cancelled will be
effected by reduction in the principal amount of the Notes on the Register, with a
corresponding notation made on the applicable Global Certificate.

. Optional Redemption

The Noteholders option in Condition 7(c) (Redemption following Note Tax FEvent) and
Condition 7(d) (Optional Redemption by the Noteholders) may be exercised by the holder of
any Global Certificate representing the Notes of the Noteholders giving notice to the Registrar
of the principal amount of Notes of the Noteholders in respect of which the option is exercised
and presenting such Global Certificate for endorsement of exercise within the time limits
specified in Condition 7(c) (Redemption following Note Tax Event) and Condition 7(d)
(Optional Redemption by the Noteholders).

Exchange of Global Certificates for Definitive Certificates

Each Global Certificate will be exchangeable, free of charge to the holder, on or after its Definitive
Registered Exchange Date (as defined below), in whole but not in part, for Definitive Certificates if the
Global Certificate is held (directly or indirectly) on behalf of Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg or
an alternative clearing system and any such clearing system is closed for business for a continuous
period of 14 days (other than by reason of holiday, statutory or otherwise) or announces its intention to
permanently cease business or does in fact do so.

The Registrar will not register the transfer of, or exchange of interests in, a Global Certificate for
Definitive Certificates for a period of 15 calendar days before the date for any payment of principal or
interest in respect of the Notes.

"Definitive Registered Exchange Date" means a day falling not less than 30 days after that on which
the notice requiring exchange is given and on which banks are open for business in the city in which
the specified office of the Registrar is located and in the cities in which the relevant clearing system is
located.

If only one of the Global Certificates (the "Exchanged Global Certificate") becomes exchangeable for
Definitive Certificates in accordance with the above paragraphs, transfers of Notes may not take place
between, on the one hand, persons holding Definitive Certificates issued in exchange for beneficial
interests in the Exchanged Global Certificate and, on the other hand, persons wishing to purchase
beneficial interests in the Global Certificates.

Delivery

In such circumstances described above, the relevant Global Certificate shall be exchanged in full for
Definitive Certificates and the Issuer will, at the cost of the Issuer (but against such indemnity as the
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Registrar may require in respect of any tax or other duty of whatever nature which may be levied or
imposed in connection with such exchange), cause sufficient Definitive Certificates to be executed and
delivered to the Registrar for completion, authentication and dispatch to the relevant Noteholders. A
person having an interest in a Global Certificate must provide the Registrar with a written order
containing instructions and such other information as the Issuer and the Registrar may require to
complete, execute and deliver such Notes.

Legends

The holder of a Regulation S Definitive Certificate may transfer the Notes represented thereby in whole
or in part in the applicable minimum denomination by surrendering it at the specified office of the
Registrar, together with the completed form of transfer thereon. Upon the transfer, exchange or
replacement of a Regulation S Definitive Certificate bearing the legend referred to under "Transfer
Restrictions" and upon the transfer, exchange or replacement of a Regulation S Definitive Certificate
bearing a Regulation S Definitive Certificate, the Issuer will deliver only Definitive Certificates that
bear such legend or will refuse to remove such legend, as the case may be, unless there is delivered to
the Issuer and the Registrar such satisfactory evidence, which may include an opinion of counsel, as
may reasonably be required by the Issuer that neither the legend nor the restrictions on transfer set out
therein are required to ensure compliance with the provisions of the Securities Act.
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BOOK-ENTRY CLEARANCE PROCEDURES

The information set out below has been obtained from information available on the official websites of
Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg that the Issuer believes to be reliable, but prospective
investors are advised to make their own enquiries as to such procedures. The information has been
accurately reproduced and as far as the Issuer is aware and is able to ascertain from information
published on the official websites of Clearstream and Euroclear, Luxembourg, no facts have been
omitted which would render the reproduced information inaccurate or misleading. In particular, such
information is subject to any change in or interpretation of the rules, regulations and procedures of
Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg (together, the "Clearing Systems") currently in effect and
investors wishing to use the facilities of any of the Clearing Systems are therefore advised to confirm
the continued applicability of the rules, regulations and procedures of the relevant Clearing System.
None of the Issuer, the Trustee and Arranger and Placement Agent or any Agent party to the Agency
Agreement (or any Affiliate of any of the above, or any person by whom any of the above is controlled
for the purposes of the Securities Act), will have any responsibility for the performance by the Clearing
Systems or their respective direct or indirect participants or accountholders of their respective
obligations under the rules and procedures governing their operations or for the sufficiency for any
purpose of the arrangements described below.

1. EUROCLEAR AND CLEARSTREAM, LUXEMBOURG

Custodial and depositary links have been established between Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg
to facilitate the initial issue of the Notes and cross market transfers of the Notes associated with
secondary market trading (See "Settlement and Transfer of Notes" below).

(a) Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg

Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg each hold securities for their customers and facilitate the
clearance and settlement of securities transactions through electronic book entry transfer between their
respective accountholders. Indirect access to Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg is available to
other institutions which clear through or maintain a custodial relationship with an accountholder of
either system.  Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg provide various services including
safekeeping, administration, clearance and settlement of internationally traded securities and securities
lending and borrowing. Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg also deal with domestic securities
markets in several countries through established depositary and custodial relationships. Euroclear and
Clearstream, Luxembourg have established an electronic bridge between their two systems across
which their respective customers may settle trades with each other. Their customers are worldwide
financial institutions including underwriters, securities brokers and banks, trust companies and clearing
corporations. Investors may hold their interests in such Global Certificates directly through Euroclear
or Clearstream, Luxembourg if they are accountholders ("Direct Participants") or indirectly
("Indirect Participants" and together with Direct Participants, "Participants") through organisations
which are accountholders therein.

2. BOOK ENTRY OWNERSHIP

Each Global Certificate will have an ISIN and a Common Code and will be registered in the name of
The Bank of New York Depository (Nominees) Limited as nominee of The Bank of New York as
common depositary on behalf of Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg.

3. RELATIONSHIP OF PARTICIPANTS WITH CLEARING SYSTEMS

Each of the persons shown in the records of Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg as the holder of a
Note represented by a Global Certificate must look solely to Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg (as
the case may be) for his share of each payment made by the Issuer to the holder of such Global
Certificate and in relation to all other rights arising under the Global Certificate, subject to and in
accordance with the respective rules and procedures of Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg (as the
case may be). The Issuer expects that, upon receipt of any payment in respect of Notes represented by
a Global Certificate, the common depositary by whom such note is held, will immediately credit the
relevant participants' or accountholders' accounts in the relevant Clearing System with payments in
amounts proportionate to their respective beneficial interests in the principal amount of the relevant
Global Certificate as shown in the records of the relevant Clearing System or its nominee. The Issuer
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also expects that payments by Direct Participants in any Clearing System to owners of beneficial
interests in any Global Certificate held through such Direct Participants in any Clearing System will be
governed by standing instructions and customary practices. Save as aforesaid, such persons shall have
no claim directly against the Issuer in respect of payments due on the Notes for so long as the Notes are
represented by such Global Certificate and the obligations of the Issuer will be discharged by payment
to the registered holder, as the case may be, of such Global Certificate in respect of each amount so
paid. None of the Issuer, the Trustee or any Agent will have any responsibility or liability for any
aspect of the records relating to or payments made on account of ownership interests in any Global
Certificate or for maintaining, supervising or reviewing any records relating to such ownership
interests.

4. SETTLEMENT AND TRANSFER OF NOTES

Subject to the rules and procedures of each applicable Clearing System, purchases of Notes held within
a Clearing System must be made by or through Direct Participants, which will receive a credit for such
Note on the Clearing System's records. The ownership interest of each actual purchaser of each such
Note (the "Beneficial Owner") will in turn be recorded on the Direct Participant's Indirect Participant's
records. Beneficial Owners will not receive written confirmation from any Clearing System of their
purchase, but Beneficial Owners are expected to receive written confirmations providing details of the
transaction, as well as periodic statements of their holdings, from the Direct Participant or Indirect
Participant through which such Beneficial Owner entered into the transaction. Transfers of ownership
interests in Notes held within the Clearing System will be effected by entries made on the books of
Participants acting on behalf of Beneficial Owners. Beneficial Owners will not receive certificates
representing their ownership interests in such Notes, unless and until, interests in any Global Certificate
held within a Clearing System are exchanged for Definitive Certificates.

No Clearing System has knowledge of the actual Beneficial Owners of the Notes held within such
Clearing Systems and their records will reflect only the identity of the Direct Participants to whose
accounts such Notes are credited, which may or may not be the Beneficial Owners. The Participants
will remain responsible for keeping account of their holdings on behalf of their customers.
Conveyance of notices and other communications by the Clearing Systems to Direct Participants, by
Direct Participants to Indirect Participants, and by Direct Participants and Indirect Participants to
Beneficial Owners will be governed by arrangements among them, subject to any statutory or
regulatory requirements as may be in effect from time to time.

Trading between Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg Participants

Secondary market sales of book-entry interests in the Notes held through Euroclear or Clearstream,
Luxembourg to purchasers of book-entry interests in the Notes held through Euroclear or Clearstream,
Luxembourg will be conducted in accordance with the normal rules and operating procedures of
Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg and will be settled using the procedures applicable to
conventional Eurobonds.
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THE ISSUER
Description of the Issuer

The Issuer was registered and incorporated on 18 November 2008 as a private limited company in
Ireland under the Irish Companies Acts 1963-2006 with registration number 464395. The Issuer has
been incorporated for an indefinite period. The Issuer has been established as a special purpose vehicle
for the purpose of issuing asset backed securities. The registered office of the Issuer is at 2nd Floor,
Beaux Lane House, Mercer Street Lower, Dublin 2, Ireland (tel. number +353 1 6973200). The
authorised share capital of the Issuer is €100,000 divided into 100,000 ordinary shares of €1 each. The
issued share capital of the issuer is one ordinary share of €1 which has been issued and is fully paid up.
The issued share is held to the order of MaplesFS Trustees Ireland Limited (successor of Maples
Fiduciary Services (Ireland) Limited (formerly known as MFD Limited)) as share trustee (the "Share
Trustee") under the terms of a declaration of trust (the "Declaration of Trust") dated 18 March 2009
under which the Share Trustee holds the issued share on trust for general charitable purposes. The
Share Trustee has no beneficial interest in and derives no benefit (other than its fees for acting as Share
Trustee) from its holding of the shares of the Issuer.

Capitalisation

The capitalisation of the Issuer as at the date of this Base Prospectus, adjusted for the issue of the
Tranche 1 Notes, the Tranche 2 Notes, the Tranche 3 Notes and the Tranche 4 Notes, is as follows:

Share Capital
Issued at fully paid one ordinary share of €1 €1

Loan Capital

£111,410,000 Senior Secured Deferred Floating Rate Notes due 2019 £111,410,000

£31,465,504 Senior Secured Deferrable Floating Rate Notes due 2019 £31,465,504

£303,890 Senior Secured Deferrable Floating Rates Notes due 2019 £303,890

£27,369,510 Senior Secured Deferrable Floating Rate Notes due 2019 £27,369,510

Total Capitalisation £170,548,904
Directors

The Directors of the Issuer are as follows:

Name Principal Occupation

Stephen O'Donnell Senior Vice President, Maples Fiduciary Services
(Ireland) Limited

Padraic Doherty Senior Vice President, Maples Fiduciary Services
(Ireland) Limited

The business address of the Directors is the same as the registered office of the Issuer.

Maples Fiduciary Services (Ireland) Limited (formerly known as MFD Limited), a company
incorporated in the Cayman Islands, acting through its Dublin branch and registered in Ireland under
branch registration number 905958, of 2nd floor, Beaux Lane House, Mercer Street Lower, Dublin 2,
Ireland is the corporate services provider (the "Corporate Service Provider") of the Issuer. Its duties
include the provision of certain management, administrative, accounting and related services. The
appointment of the Corporate Service Provider may be terminated and the Corporate Service Provider
may retire upon 14 days’ notice at any time within 12 months of the happening of certain events and
upon 3 months’ notice subject to the appointment of an alternative corporate service provider on
similar terms to the existing corporate service provider.

Financial Statements

Financial statements of the Issuer have been prepared for the accounting periods ending on 31
December 2009, 31 December 2010, 31 December 2011, 31 December 2012 and 31 December 2013.
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THE INVESTMENT MANAGERS

Both Castle Hill Asset Management LLP and Castle Hill Management LLC have replaced Ignis
Investment Services Limited as successor Investment Managers under a novation, amendment and
restatement deed dated 23 October 2012. Pursuant to a novation agreement dated 22 July 2010, Ignis
Investment Services Limited replaced Axial Investment Management Limited, which was initially
appointed by the Issuer as Investment Manager under the Investment Management Agreement.

Castle Hill Asset Management LLP is a limited liability partnership established under the laws of
England and Wales with registered number OC350998 and having its registered office at 42-44
Grosvenor Gardens, London SW1W 0EB.

Castle Hill Asset Management LLC is a Delaware limited liability company having its registered office
at 2711 Centerville Road, Suite 400, Wilmington, DE 19808.

As at February 2013, the principals of Castle Hill, Jaime Vieser and Brian Bassett, together represent a
controlling 60% interest in Castle Hill Asset Management LLC. The Phoenix Group currently holds
the remaining 40% interest in Castle Hill Asset Management LLC through a wholly owned subsidiary.
Castle Hill Asset Management LLP is owned by Castle Hill Asset Management LLC and various
members/partners of the firm. As at December 2014, the Investment Managers had assets under
management in excess of $2bn.

Both Castle Hill Asset Management LLP and Castle Hill Management LLC are part of a specialist
asset management group with 20 professionals across the United Kingdom and United States. The
group have a total of over 100 years of experience with product expertise which include leveraged
loans, investment grade bonds, high yield bonds, ABS, special situations and equities.
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INVESTMENT OBJECTIVE

The investment objective of Castle Hill Enhanced Floating Rate Opportunities Limited is to provide to
investors with attractive risk-adjusted returns. It is anticipated that majority of the Issuer's investments
will be Senior Secured Obligations, though the Issuer, or the Investment Managers on its behalf, may
also invest in certain other Investments, including mezzanine, subordinated and unsecured investments
and various derivative products subject always to the limits specified in the Investment Restrictions (as
described under "The Portfolio" below).

The Investment Managers will manage the Portfolio Assets on behalf of the Issuer and will seek to
generate a total return to investors in the Notes of GBP LIBOR plus 3.50 per cent. per annum. There is
no assurance that such total return will be generated. It is anticipated that returns on the Portfolio will
be generated from both current income and capital appreciation. The Investment Managers acting on
behalf of the Issuer may, from time to time, seek to enhance returns with the employment of strategies
that may include leverage or derivatives. The investment policies adopted by the Issuer have been
formulated by the Directors, acting upon the advice received from the Investment Managers, whose
employees have extensive credit market experience.

The Investment Managers may amend or change the investment objective from time to time with the
agreement of the Issuer, subject to the prior agreement of the holders of the Notes acting by
Extraordinary Resolution and notification of any such change to the Noteholders in accordance with
Condition 16 (Notices) of the Conditions of the Notes.
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DETERMINATION OF NET ASSET VALUE, GROSS ASSET VALUE, AGGREGATE
MARKET VALUE AND AGGREGATE LIABILITIES

The Collateral Administrator shall determine the Aggregate Market Value, Gross Liabilities, Net
Liabilities, Gross Asset Value, Net Asset Value and Adjusted Net Asset Value as at each Measurement
Date, each Determination Date and each other date on which it is requested to do so by the Issuer or the
Investment Managers acting on its behalf in accordance with the following:

(a) the Issuer's assets for the purpose of determining the "Aggregate Market Value" shall
include:

) all Investments and Eligible Investments;

(i)  all interest premia and other amounts accrued on or in respect of such Investments
and/or Eligible Investments but not yet paid to the Issuer unless such amount is
included in the principal amount of any such Investment or Eligible Investment;

(iii)  the Issuer's formation costs and all other costs incurred in connection with the issuance
of the Notes, to the extent that these have not yet been amortised;

(iv)  without double counting any of the amounts referred to in (i) to (iii) above (inclusive),
all other assets of the Issuer of whatever nature including amounts payable to the Issuer
under Derivative Instruments, drawings under any Leverage Instrument and any
increase in value of any unfunded commitment of the Issuer above the original
purchase price paid by the Issuer;

(b) the Issuer's liabilities for the purpose of determining the "Gross Liabilities" shall include the
following but shall exclude the Notes issued by the Issuer:

(1) all borrowings outstanding under Leverage Instruments, bills due and accounts
payable;

(ii))  all interest accrued and unpaid on any borrowings outstanding under Leverage
Instruments;

(iii)  all known liabilities whether due or not, including all matured contractual liabilities
payable either in cash or in the form of assets;

(iv)  all provisions for capital gains tax and income tax up to the Determination Date and
any other provisions authorised or approved by the Directors of the Issuer;

(v)  any decrease in value of any unfunded commitment of the Issuer below the original
purchase price paid by the Issuer;

(vi)  all of the Issuer's other accrued and outstanding liabilities regardless of their nature,
including all Administrative Expenses, Investment Management Fees and Trustee Fees
and Expenses and all other operating expenses. The Collateral Administrator may
calculate any such fees and expenses which are of a regular or recurring nature in
advance on the basis of an estimated figure for one year or other periods and may fix,
in advance, proportional fees or expenses for any such period;

(c) the Issuer's "Net Liabilities" as at any date of determination shall be the Gross Liabilities
excluding all accrued and unpaid Investment Management Fees and Scheduled Interest and all
other amounts payable in priority to Scheduled Interest on the Notes pursuant to the Priorities
of Payment on the next following Payment Date;

(d) the "Gross Asset Value" as at any date of determination shall be the Aggregate Market Value
less the Net Liabilities;

(e) the "Net Asset Value" as at any date of determination shall be the Aggregate Market Value
less the Gross Liabilities;
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(2

the "Aggregate Market Value" of the Issuer's assets will be determined as follows:

@

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

)

(vi)

(vii)

any Eligible Investments (other than money market instruments), receivables, prepaid
expenses, cash dividends and interest or premia or other amounts declared or accrued
and not yet received will be valued taking their full value into account, unless it is
unlikely that such amount will be paid or received in full in the opinion of the
Investment Managers, acting on behalf of the Issuer, in which case the value thereof
will be determined applying a discount that the Investment Managers deem appropriate
in order to reflect the true value of the asset;

money market instruments or derivatives admitted to an official stock exchange or
traded on any other regulated market, will be based on the last available price on the
principal market on which these securities, money market instruments or derivatives
are traded, as provided by a recognised listing service approved by the Investment
Managers, acting on behalf of the Issuer. If such prices are not representative of the
fair value, these securities, money market instruments or derivatives they will be
valued on the basis of their foreseeable sale prices, as determined in good faith by the
Investment Managers, acting on behalf of the Issuer;

money market instruments which are not listed or traded on any regulated market will
be value based on the last available price, unless such prices is not representative of
their true value; in this case, the valuation will be based on the foreseeable sale price of
the security, as determined in good faith by the Investment Managers, acting on behalf
of the Issuer;

loans and securities will be valued as follows:

(A) firstly, using the bid price shown on any internationally recognised independent
price quotation service for such Investment, if available and applicable to such
Investment; or

(B) secondly, using the mean of the bid prices determined by two independent
broker-dealers active in the trading of Investments of the applicable type; or

(C)  thirdly, using the bid price obtained from the institution that originally
underwrote or arranged such Investment; or

(D) fourthly if the determinations of such independent pricing service, broker-
dealers or underwriter/arranger are not available or if, in the opinion of the
Investment Managers, such price does not represent a fair and actionable bid
price for such Investment, then the fair market value thereof determined by the
Investment Managers on a best efforts basis in a manner consistent with
reasonable and customary market practice;

the valuation of swaps is based on their market value, which itself depends on various
factors such as the level and volatility of the underlying indices, market interest rates or
the residual duration of the swap;

the valuation of derivatives traded over-the-counter (OTC), such as futures, forwards or
options not traded on a stock exchange or another regulated market, will be based on
their net liquidation value as determined by the Investment Managers, acting on behalf
of the Issuer, in a manner consistently applied for each type of contract. The net
liquidation value of a derivative position corresponds to the unrealised profit/loss with
respect to the relevant position. This valuation is based on or controlled by the use of a
model recognised and commonly practiced on the market;

the value of other assets will be determined prudently and in good faith by the
Investment Managers, acting on behalf of the Issuer in accordance with generally
accepted valuation principles and procedures;

the "Adjusted Net Asset Value" as at any date of determination shall be the Net Asset Value
plus any accrued unpaid Scheduled Interest including any Deferred Interest outstanding;
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(h)

(1)

the Directors of the Issuer may, at their complete discretion, authorise an alternative valuation
method suggested by the Investment Managers to be used if they consider that such a
valuation better reflects the fair value of any asset of the Issuer; and

the valuation of the Issuer's assets and liabilities expressed in currencies which are not GBP

will be converted into GBP at the applicable spot rate of exchange as determined by the
Collateral Administrator.
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THE PORTFOLIO

Terms used and not otherwise defined herein shall have the meaning given to them in Condition 1
(Definitions) of the Terms and Conditions of the Notes.

1.

ACQUISITION OF INVESTMENTS

The Investment Managers on behalf of the Issuer will, in accordance with the Investment
Management Agreement select, acquire, monitor, manage and dispose of a Portfolio of Senior
Secured Obligations, Unsecured Obligations, Mezzanine Obligation, Second Lien Obligation,
Derivative Instrument, Equity Security or other investment.

The Investment Restrictions will not apply to the Portfolio of Investments prior to the
Effective Date.

ELIGIBILITY CRITERIA

Each Investment must, at the time of entry into a binding commitment to acquire such
obligation by, or on behalf of, the Issuer (and, in the case of all Investments acquired by the
Issuer on the Initial Issue Date, as at the Initial Issue Date), satisfy the following "Eligibility
Criteria":

(a) it is an Investment;

(b) it is denominated in Euro or a Non-Euro Qualifying Currency and is not convertible
into or payable in any other currency;

(©) it is capable of being transferred to or entered into by the Issuer and is capable of
being sold or terminated by the Issuer;

(d) other than in the case of a Non-Cash Paying Obligation, it is an obligation that pays
interest no less frequently than annually;

(e) it is not convertible into equity save at the sole option of the Issuer and is not Margin
Stock as defined under Regulation U issued by The Board of Governors of the
Federal Reserve System.

The subsequent failure of any Investment to satisfy any of the Eligibility Criteria shall not
prevent any obligation which would otherwise be an Investment from being an Investment so
long as such obligation satisfied the Eligibility Criteria when the Issuer or the Investment
Managers on behalf of the Issuer entered into a binding agreement to acquire or enter into such
obligation.

"Cash Asset" means Investments which are not Derivative Instruments.

"Margin Stock" has the meaning given to such term in Regulation U issued by the Board of
Governors of the Federal Reserve System.

"Non-Cash Paying Obligations" means any PIK Securities, Step Up Coupon Securities
and/or Zero Coupon Securities.

"Non-Euro Obligation" means any Investment purchased by or on behalf of the Issuer which
is denominated in a Non-Euro Qualifying Currency and that satisfies each of the Eligibility
Criteria to the extent required to do so.

"Non-Euro Qualifying Currency" means a Qualifying Currency other than Euro.
"Non-GBP Obligation" means any Investment purchased by or on behalf of the Issuer which
is denominated in a Non-GBP Qualifying Currency and that satisfies each of the Eligibility

Criteria to the extent required to do so.

"Non-GBP Qualifying Currency" means Euro or a Qualifying Currency other than GBP.
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"PIK Security" means any debt security (other than any Mezzanine Obligation which by its
terms provides for the deferral of interest) which, by its terms, may pay interest thereon other
than on a current basis.

"Step Up Coupon Security" means a security (i) which does not pay interest over a specified
period of time ending prior to its maturity, but which does provide for the payment of interest
after the expiration of such specified period or (ii) the interest rate of which increases over a
specified period of time other than due to the increase of the floating rate index applicable to
such security.

"Zero Coupon Security" means a security (other than a Step Up Coupon Security) that, at the
time of determination, does not provide for periodic payments of interest.

INVESTMENT RESTRICTIONS
Measurement of Investment Restrictions

The Collateral Administrator will measure the Investment Restrictions on the Effective Date
and as at the date on which each Monthly Report is prepared. The Investment Restrictions
will only apply after the Effective Date.

The Investment Managers will endeavour to dynamically manage compliance with the
Investment Restrictions upon the purchase and sale of each Investment. In the event that the
Investment Restrictions are not in compliance as at any Measurement Date, the Investment
Managers, acting on behalf of the Issuer, will use commercially reasonable efforts to bring the
Investment Restrictions back into compliance. However no assurance can be given that such
compliance will be achieved, or achieved within what timescale. The Investment Managers
will, however, take into account any breach of the Investment Restrictions when considering
changes or additions to the Investments or drawing any amounts under any Leverage
Instruments.

The failure of the Portfolio to meet the requirements of the Investment Restrictions at any time
shall not prevent any obligation which would otherwise be an Investment from being an
Investment.

The Investment Restrictions may be amended from time to time by the Issuer, with the
consent of the Investment Managers and the Trustee, provided that not more than 50 per cent.
of the Noteholders object to such amendment within 60 days following notice thereof having
been given to them in accordance with Condition 16 (Notices).

Investment Restrictions
The Investment Restrictions will consist of each of the following:

(@)  not more than 20 per cent. of the Adjusted Net Asset Value may comprise secured
subordinated Investments (including Mezzanine Obligations and Second Lien

Obligations);

(b) not more than ten per cent. of the Adjusted Net Asset Value may comprise Unsecured
Obligations;

(©) not more than six per cent. of the Adjusted Net Asset Value may comprise the

obligations of any single Obligor thereunder, for the purposes of which determination
any Derivative Instrument which references an index or basket or does not reference
an underlying Cash Asset or Cash Assets or Obligor thereunder shall be excluded;

(d) the aggregate notional amount of Credit Short Obligations shall not exceed 100 per
cent. of the Adjusted Net Asset Value, provided that for the purposes of determining
compliance with this Investment Restriction the notional amount of each Credit Short
Obligation which:
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@) references five or more reference obligations or reference entities shall be 85
per cent. of the notional amount thereof; or

(il))  references one or more indices, shall be 70 per cent. of the notional amount

thereof;

(e) up to 100% of the Portfolio may comprise Eligible Investments;

® the Aggregate Market Value of the five largest Investments may not exceed 25 per
cent. of the Adjusted Net Asset Value;

(2) the Aggregate Market Value of the ten largest Investments may not exceed 42.5 per
cent. of the Adjusted Net Asset Value;

(h) not more than 22.5 per cent. of the Adjusted Net Asset Value may be invested in a
single Industry Category (by Aggregate Market Value);

) not more than 50 per cent. of the Adjusted Net Asset Value may be invested in the
top three Industry Categories (by Aggregate Market Value);

)] the Leverage Ratio is satisfied; and

(k) Derivative Instruments shall only be used for efficient portfolio management or
hedging,

if the Issuer or the Investment Managers on behalf of the Issuer has purchased credit
protection by entering into a Derivative Instrument which is a credit default swap or similar
instrument in respect of an Investment then for the purposes of the calculation of the
Investment Restrictions in paragraphs (a) to (c) and (f) to (i) (inclusive) above the Net Asset
Value of the Investment shall be included only to the extent that the Net Asset Value of such
Investment exceeds the notional amount of the Derivative Instrument for which the Issuer or
the Investment Managers on behalf of the Issuer has purchased credit protection.

There is no requirement that a minimum proportion of Investments held by the Issuer be
listed.

The following provisions shall apply to the determination of the Investment Restrictions:

@) the percentage requirements applicable to different types of Investments specified in
the Investment Restrictions shall be determined by reference to the Aggregate Market
Value of such type of Investments;

(i)  the Adjusted Net Asset Value used for the purposes of measuring compliance with the
Investment Restrictions shall be, for the purposes of each Report, the Adjusted Net
Asset Value determined for inclusion in such Report, and otherwise, the Adjusted Net
Asset Value specified in the last published Monthly Report;

(iii) Derivative Instruments shall be included in the limits specified in the Investment
Restrictions that apply to specific Investments in the event that they reference one or
more assets that would fall within such category of Investments, as determined
appropriate by the Investment Managers, acting on behalf of the Issuer;

(iv)  obligations which are to constitute Investments in respect of which the Issuer has
entered into a binding commitment to purchase but which have not yet settled shall be
included as Investments in the calculation of the Investment Restrictions at any time as
if such purchase had been completed;

(v)  obligations which are to constitute Investments in respect of which the Issuer has
entered into a binding commitment to sell but which have not yet settled shall be
excluded as Investments in the calculation of the Investment Restrictions at any time as
if such sale had been completed; and
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5.1

(vi)  for the purposes of calculating compliance with the Investment Restrictions, the market
value of the relevant category of obligations may be rounded with any amounts equal
to or less than EUR 500 rounded downwards and any amounts greater than EUR 500
rounded upwards.

"Adjusted Net Asset Value" as at any date of determination shall be the Net Asset Value
plus any accrued unpaid Scheduled Interest including any Deferred Interest outstanding.

"Credit Short Obligation" means a Derivative Instrument under which the Issuer buys credit
protection in respect of a specified reference obligation or reference entity(ies).

"Industry Category" means the industry classification as published by Moody's Investors
Services, Inc, or any successor thereto.

"Leverage Amount" means the sum of:

(a) the aggregate amount that may potentially be payable by the Issuer, other than at its
option, under any Derivative Instrument regardless of whether the obligation to pay
such amount at a future date has crystallised but for the avoidance not including any
undrawn committed amounts that the Issuer may be required to advance under any
Investment;

(b) in the case of any Derivative Instrument the exposure under which is leveraged, such
additional amount as the Investment Managers, acting on behalf of the Issuer,
determine fairly represents such leverage,

(©) minus the aggregate principal amount of any collateral provided by the Issuer in
respect of the exposures referred to in (a) and (b) above,

in each case, converted into GBP where applicable at the prevailing spot rate of exchange as
determined by the Collateral Administrator.

The "Leverage Ratio" will be satisfied if the Net Asset Value as at any date of determination
is greater than or equal to the Leverage Amount divided by 3.

"Obligor" means, in respect of a Cash Asset, the borrower thereunder or issuer thereof or, in
either case, the guarantor thereof (as determined by the Investment Managers on behalf of the
Issuer) or, in the case of any Derivative Instrument which references one or more Cash Assets,
such underlying Cash Asset, the borrower under such Cash Asset or issuer thereof or, in
either case, the guarantor thereof (as determined by the Investment Managers on behalf of the
Issuer) or in the case of any other Derivative Instrument the applicable Derivative
Counterparty.

INVESTMENT PRACTICES

It should be noted that the descriptions below are general in nature and do not detail every
variation of the types of Investments in which the Issuer may invest or trade or techniques the
Issuer (or the Investment Managers on its behalf) may adopt. The descriptions below are also
summaries only and do not purport to be complete. Please see also "Risk Factors" and in
particular "Risk Factors — Risk Relating to Specific Investments".

MANAGEMENT OF THE PORTFOLIO
Investment Managers

The Investment Managers acting on behalf of the Issuer are permitted, in certain
circumstances, subject to the requirements specified in the Investment Management
Agreement and subject to the overall policies, direction and control of the Issuer, to buy or sell
Investments, to enter into (or cause the Issuer to enter into) and manage Derivative
Instruments and to enter into (or cause the Issuer to enter into) and manage Leverage
Instruments.
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The maturity of the Investments and the legal jurisdiction by which each Investment is
governed shall be as set out in the terms of the Investment.

The activities referred to below that the Investment Managers may undertake on behalf of the
Issuer are subject to the Issuer monitoring the performance of the Investment Managers under
the Investment Management Agreement.

Investment and Reinvestment

The Investment Managers on behalf of the Issuer, may from time to time invest all or part of
any Collections and drawings under Leverage Instruments standing to the credit of the
Collection Account in Portfolio Assets.

The Collateral Administrator to consult with the Investment Managers

The Collateral Administrator shall consult with the Investment Managers from time to time
prior to each Determination Date in relation to the exercise by the Investment Managers of any
of its discretion on behalf of the Issuer pursuant to the Priorities of Payment including but not
limited to the designation of proceeds for reinvestment and the deferral of interest in respect of
the Notes.

Monitoring of the Portfolio

The Investment Managers, acting on behalf of the Issuer shall monitor the Portfolio to the
extent practicable using sources of information reasonably available to it with a view to
achieving the Investment Objective of the Issuer. In particular, the Investment Managers shall
monitor any contingent payment obligations the Issuer may have under any Leverage
Instrument or Investment with a view to ensuring that the Issuer has sufficient cash available
from Collections and amounts that can be drawn under or otherwise realised through Leverage
Instruments or Derivative Instruments to meet its payment obligations as they fall due.

Extension of the Maturity Date

The Issuer, acting on the recommendation of the Investment Managers, may from time to time
propose the extension of the Maturity Date to a date that would constitute a Payment Date if
the Maturity Date were so extended subject to the consent of the Noteholders acting by
Ordinary Resolution. For so long as the Notes are listed on the Irish Stock Exchange, any
extension of the Maturity Date shall be notified to the Irish Stock Exchange.

Ratings

The Investments which are Cash Assets may have a public rating or a confidential credit
estimate assigned to them by a Rating Agency but there is no requirement for such a rating or
estimate to have been assigned or to be obtained in respect of any Investment held by or
acquired by the Issuer.

Eligible Investments

The Investment Managers, acting on behalf of the Issuer, may from time to time purchase
Eligible Investments out of amounts standing to the credit of the Collection Account. For the
avoidance of doubt, Eligible Investments may be sold by the Investment Managers, acting on
behalf of the Issuer, at any time.

Margin Stock

The Investment Management Agreement requires that the Investment Managers, on behalf of
the Issuer, shall sell any Investment which is or at any time becomes Margin Stock as soon as
practicable following such event.
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Derivative Instruments

The Issuer or the Investment Managers, acting on behalf of the Issuer, may from time to time
acquire Investments which are Derivative Instruments. Derivative Instruments may comprise
any of the following entered into with an Eligible Counterparty:

(a) interest rate swap or hedge transactions;

(b) forward foreign exchange transactions and currency swap or hedge transactions,
including options;

(©) swaptions and options;

(d) funded or unfunded credit default transactions pursuant to which the Issuer sells
credit protection in respect of a specified reference obligation or reference
obligations or reference entity or reference entities;

(e) Credit Short Obligations;

(f) funded and unfunded total return swaps;
(2) derivatives and options linked to the performance of indices;
(h) any other instrument which is broadly similar in economic risk profile to any of those

listed above;

) such other derivative instruments which in the sole discretion of the Investment
Managers do not fall within the definition of paragraphs (a) to (h) (inclusive) but
which are determined by the Investment Managers on behalf of the Issuer as being
appropriate for entry into by the Issuer and which have not been objected to by the
holders of more than 50 per cent of the Principal Amount Outstanding of Notes
within 10 days following notification thereof by the Issuer to the Noteholders in
accordance with Condition 16 (Notices).

Interest Rate Swaps, Caps and Floors

The Issuer may enter into interest rate swaps, caps and floors. An interest rate swap is where
the Issuer may swap payments determined by reference to one interest rate with payments
determined by reference to another, either a fixed for floating rate or one basis for another or a
swap pursuant to which the timing of interest receipts may be varied. A cap is an agreement
under which the seller agrees to compensate the buyer if interest rates rise above a pre-agreed
strike rate on pre-agreed dates during the life of the agreement. In return the buyer pays the
seller a premium up front. A floor is similar to a cap except that the seller compensates the
buyer if interest rates fall below a pre-agreed strike rate on pre-agreed dates during the life of
the agreement. As with a cap, the buyer pays the seller a premium up front.

Foreign Exchange Hedging

The Issuer may enter into a variety of derivative instruments in order to hedge foreign
exchange risk including rolling forward FX contracts, cross currency transactions, currency
options, spot foreign exchange contracts, forward foreign exchange contracts and currency
swaptions (including any option with respect to any of these transactions and any combination
of the foregoing).

Swaptions

The Issuer may enter into swaptions. A swaption is a contract whereby one party receives a
fee in return for agreeing to enter into a forward swap at a predetermined fixed rate if some
contingency event occurs (normally where future rates are set in relation to a fixed
benchmark).
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Options

The Issuer may enter into options. Options may be used for hedging purposes to reduce
unwanted market risk.

Credit Default Swaps

Credit derivatives are transactions which are designed to isolate and transfer the credit risk
associated with a third party (the reference entity) in respect of a specific reference obligation
or a basket/index of reference entities. Such credit default products will typically be divided
into two categories, namely "funded" and "unfunded", depending on whether or not the credit
protection seller makes an initial principal payment to the protection buyer. The parties'
obligations under a credit default related product depend on whether a "credit event" has
occurred in relation to a particular reference obligation or reference entity. The credit events
are specified in the contract and are intended to identify the occurrence of a significant
deterioration in the creditworthiness of the reference asset. The settlement of such credit
derivative transaction may involve either a cash settlement or a physical delivery of an
obligation of the reference entity following a default. In entering into these credit default
products, the Issuer may be a credit protection buyer, as in the case of Credit Short
Obligations, or a credit protection seller.

Total Return Swaps

Total return swaps are transactions whereby the holder of the asset (whether a loan or a debt
security) passes on all the payments it receives in respect of that asset in return for an agreed
payment stream. The asset may also be marked to market periodically with the parties
agreeing to pass on any increase or decrease in its market value over time.

Forward Rate Agreements

The Issuer may enter into forward rate agreements. A forward rate agreement is a contract in
which two parties agree the interest rate to be paid on a notional deposit of specified maturity
on a specific future date. At maturity the seller pays the purchaser for any increase in rates
over the agreed rate and if rates have fallen the purchaser pays the seller for any decrease in
rates over the agreed rate. The amount of the settlement is discounted by the rate set at the
beginning of the deposit period.

Futures Contracts

Whereas there is no intention to enter into futures contracts, the Issuer may enter into futures
contracts of various kinds for the purposes of hedging interest rate risk in the Investments. An
interest rate futures contract is a standardised exchange-traded contract entered into between
two parties (buyer and seller) to take or make delivery of a specified quantity of financial
instruments (such as Treasury bonds) at a specified price at a future date. An interest rate
futures contract may be satisfied or closed out by delivery or purchase, as the case may be, of
the financial instrument. A futures contract on an index is a standardised exchange-traded
contract entered into between two parties (buyer and seller) to take or make delivery of an
amount of cash equal to the difference between the value of the index at the last trading day of
the contract and the price at which the index contract was originally written. Contractual
obligations under futures contracts, depending on whether one is the buyer or seller, may also
be satisfied either by taking or making an offsetting sale or purchase of an equivalent but
opposite futures contract on the same exchange prior to the delivery or settlement date.
Frequently, using futures to effect a particular strategy instead of using the underlying or
related asset or index results in lower transaction costs being incurred.

Leverage Instruments

Leverage Instruments are borrowing facilities (or any other instrument with the economic
effect of borrowing that is not a Derivative Instrument) entered into with Eligible
Counterparties which may be secured or unsecured. The Leverage Instruments entered into by
the Investment Managers on behalf of the Issuer from time to time may be secured in priority
to the Notes. In addition Leverage Providers may require the imposition of additional
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restrictions on the Investment Managers' management of the Portfolio or additional test
requirements in respect of the Portfolio ("Leverage Ratio Investment Restrictions").

The Issuer or the Investment Managers, on its behalf, may from time to time acting in
accordance with the Investment Management Agreement leverage the Portfolio by entering
into Leverage Instruments provided always that the Leverage Ratio Investment Restriction
described above is not exceeded at any time. The Issuer shall not enter into any Leverage
Instrument unless specifically advised to do so by the Investment Managers.

Leverage may also be introduced into the Portfolio by the Issuer entering into Derivative
Instruments that include (without limitation) total return swaps, unfunded credit default swaps
and unfunded Participations, subject always to the Leverage Ratio.

The Investment Managers, in managing the Portfolio on behalf of the Issuer, shall take into
account all contingent payment obligations of the Issuer under any Leverage Instrument or
other Investment with a view to ensuring that the Issuer has sufficient cash proceeds available
to meet such obligations as and when they fall due.

The Issuer or the Investment Managers, acting on behalf of the Issuer, may draw down
amounts under any Leverage Instrument in order to satisfy any payment obligation of the
Issuer from time to time, including without limitation to pay any Administrative Expenses,
Investment Management Fees or amounts payable by the Issuer in respect of any Investment
or pursuant to the Priorities of Payment.

The Investment Managers shall be authorised by the Issuer to make drawings on its behalf
under any Leverage Instrument as and when they determine appropriate or may advise the
Issuer of their recommendation to make any such drawing.

Prime Brokerage

The Issuer or the Investment Managers, on its behalf, may from time to time acting in
accordance with the Investment Management Agreement appoint a prime broker. The
appointment of the prime broker will be pursuant to a prime brokerage agreement pursuant to
which the prime broker will hold assets of the Issuer (over which it shall have a security
interest) and clear and settle transactions, financings, and effect derivative and foreign
exchange transactions on behalf of the Issuer.

Pursuant to the terms of the prime brokerage agreement the prime broker may be authorised to
collect and receive, on behalf of the Issuer, all income and other payments and distributions in
respect of the Investments, and credit the same to the Collection Account.

Equity Securities

The Issuer or the Investment Managers on its behalf may from time to time acquire Equity
Securities provided that such Equity Securities are acquired:

(a) as a package or unit with an Investment;

(b) upon conversion of, or exchange for, or exercise of an option under, an Investment;

(©) by the Issuer in lieu of cash in any restructuring or work-out arrangements;

(d) by the Issuer in connection with a defaulted or restructured Investment; or

(e) for the purposes of hedging any exposure that the Issuer has to the issuer of such
Equity Security.

Non-Euro Obligations or Non-GBP Obligations
On or after the Effective Date the Investment Managers (acting on behalf of the Issuer) may in

their sole discretion enter into such hedging transactions as they may deem appropriate which
have the economic effect of converting non-Euro cash flows into Euro amounts. On or after
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the Amendment Date, the Investment Managers (acting on behalf of the Issuer) may in their
sole discretion enter into such hedging transactions as they may deem appropriate which have
the economic effect of converting non-GBP cash flows into GBP amounts, provided, however,
the Investment Managers shall use reasonable efforts to ensure that no less than 90 per cent.
and no more than 110 per cent. of the market value of Non-GBP Obligations is the subject of
such hedging transactions.

Restructurings and Workouts

The Investment Managers may either advise the Issuer to or on the Issuer's behalf, advance
additional amounts in respect of any Investment in connection with any restructuring thereof if
it considers such advance to be appropriate in the circumstances and may take any other action
on the Issuer's behalf in respect of any restructuring which it considers to be appropriate,
having regard to its obligations under the Investment Management Agreement.

Mandatory Sale of Collateral Prior to Maturity Date

In the event of any redemption of the Notes in whole prior to the Maturity Date pursuant to
Condition 7(c)(Redemption following Note Tax Event) the Issuer will procure liquidation of
the Collateral (and the Investment Managers will advise the Issuer in respect of such
liquidation) in order to procure that the proceeds thereof are in immediately available funds by
the Business Day prior to the applicable Redemption Date.

Custody

The Issuer has appointed The Bank of New York Mellon of One Canada Square, London,
E14 SAL as a custodian to hold assets purchased by the Issuer pursuant to the Agency
Agreement dated 1 May 2009.
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DESCRIPTION OF THE INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT AGREEMENT

The Issuer appoints the Investment Managers and the Collateral Administrator to act on its behalf
pursuant to and in accordance with the terms of the Investment Management Agreement.

Investment Managers

The investment management functions described herein will be performed by the Investment Managers
pursuant to authority granted to the Investment Managers by the Issuer under the Investment
Management Agreement, subject to the Issuer monitoring the performance of the Investment
Managers. Pursuant to the Investment Management Agreement, the Issuer has delegated and may
further delegate authority to the Investment Managers to carry out certain functions in relation to the
Portfolio and the hedging arrangements without the requirement for specific approval by the Issuer, the
Collateral Administrator or the Trustee.

The Investment Managers have agreed to perform the investment management and related functions
described herein.

Fees

In connection with the performance of the Investment Managers under the Investment Management
Agreement, Castle Hill Asset Management LLC (the "LLC") (unless otherwise directed by the LLC to
the Trustee and the Issuer) shall be paid a Management Fee quarterly in arrear on each Payment Date
up to the Maturity Date (or, if earlier, the date upon which the Notes are to be redeemed in full) equal
to 0.65 per cent. per annum (calculated on the basis of the actual number of days elapsed and a year of
365 days) of the Gross Asset Value (determined prior to the deduction of such Management Fee or any
other amounts payable by the Issuer on the same date as the Management Fee) by the Issuer on each
Payment Date, together with, in each case, any value added tax in respect thereof (whether payable to
the Investment Managers or directly to the relevant taxing authority).

In addition, the LLC (unless otherwise directed by written notice of the LLC to the Trustee) shall be
entitled to be paid a Performance Fee in arrear on each Payment Date (together with, in each case, any
value added tax in respect thereof (whether payable to the Investment Managers or directly to the
relevant taxing authority)) which shall be equal to the product of (1) the Excess Return for the
applicable Due Period, multiplied by (2) a performance fee rate of 20 per cent., provided that no
Performance Fee shall be payable if the High Water Mark determined as provided below is not
satisfied for the purposes of such Payment Date.

"Excess Return" shall mean in respect of any Due Period, the amount by which the Performance Level
determined as at the Determination Date for such Due Period exceeds the Hurdle Amount applicable to
such Due Period.

The "Performance Level" for each Due Period shall be the greater of (a) zero; and (b) the Gross Asset
Value at the end of such Due Period minus the sum of (i) the Net Asset Value as at the first day of such
Due Period and (ii) if the Issue Date of any Notes of a new series and/or tranche falls within such Due
Period but other than on the first day of such Due Period, an amount equal to the product of the
Aggregate Nominal Amount of the relevant new series and/or tranche issued and the Issue Price
thereof.

"Hurdle Amount" means an amount determined in respect of any Due Period which is equal to the
sum of:

(a) GBP LIBOR + 4.25 per cent. per annum of the Net Asset Value as at the first day of such Due
Period (on the basis of an Actual/365-day year), for the purposes of which GBP LIBOR (the
"Relevant GBP LIBOR") shall be determined in respect of the Notes for the Accrual Period
ending on the Payment Date applicable to such Due Period; and

(b) if the Issue Date of any Notes of a new series and/or tranche falls within such Due Period but
other than on the first day of such Due Period, the Relevant GBP LIBOR + 4.25 per cent. per
annum of the product of the Aggregate Nominal Amount of the relevant new series and/or
tranche issued and the Issue Price thereof (on the basis of an Actual/365-day year for the
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period from and including the Issue Date thereof to and including the last day of such Due
Period).

The Hurdle Amount will have to be met for such Due Period only, but will not have to take into
account any Hurdle Amount for any prior Due Period. In other words, the Hurdle Amount is not
cumulative from Due Period to Due Period.

The Performance Fee will be subject to a "High Water Mark" being satisfied as at the Determination
Date relating to the Payment Date on which such fee may be payable. The initial High Water Mark
shall be determined on or prior to the Initial Issue Date in respect of each Note Outstanding.
Satisfaction of the High Water Mark shall be determined by the Collateral Administrator (in
consultation with and based on certain information provided by the Investment Managers) on each
Determination Date by calculating each Note's proportionate share of the Net Asset Value determined
as at the Determination Date of the related Due Period (such amount the "PNNAV") which shall be
determined, in respect of each Note, as a percentage of such Net Asset Value equal to the percentage
which the original face amount of such Note represents of the original aggregate principal amount of
all Notes issued on any Issue Date minus the original aggregate principal amount of all Notes
previously redeemed or purchased and cancelled pursuant to Condition 7 (Redemption and Purchase).

If the PNNAYV decreases over any quarterly period and is lower than the applicable High Water Mark,
no such Performance Fee will be payable until such time as the PNNAV is equal to such High Water
Mark. If the PNNAYV on any Determination Date is higher than the existing High Water Mark it will
become the new High Water Mark.

The Investment Managers may at their discretion defer payment of any Investment Management Fees
payable on any Payment Date in whole or in part and determine that such Investment Management
Fees shall be paid instead, in whole or in part, on a later Payment Date, such fees ("Deferred
Investment Management Fees"). Any Investment Management Fees not paid in full on the Payment
Date on which they are originally scheduled to be so paid, whether as a result of deferral thereof by the
Investment Managers or as a result of there being insufficient proceeds available pursuant to the Pre-
Acceleration Priority of Payments, shall not bear interest.

Removal and Resignation
Removal for Cause

An Investment Manager may be removed for Cause upon thirty days' prior written notice by the Issuer
in its own discretion or the Trustee (and in the case of the Trustee, subject to it being indemnified
and/or secured to its satisfaction), at the direction of the holders of the Noteholders, acting by
Extraordinary Resolution, provided that notice of such removal shall have been given to the holders of
the Notes by the Issuer in accordance with Condition 16 (Nofices).

For purposes of the Investment Management Agreement, "Cause" will mean, in respect of an
Investment Manager:

(a) wilful violation or wilful breach by the Investment Manager of a material provision of the
Investment Management Agreement or the Trust Deed applicable to the Investment Manager
(and for the purposes of this paragraph (a) the economic performance of the Investments shall
be disregarded);

(b) breach by the Investment Manager of any provision of the Investment Management
Agreement or the Trust Deed applicable to it which breach (x) has a material adverse effect on
the Noteholders and (y) if capable of being cured, is not cured within 30 days of the
Investment Manager becoming aware of, or receiving notice from, the Issuer or the Trustee of,
such breach;

(c) the failure of any representation, warranty, certification or statement made or delivered by the
Investment Manager in or pursuant to the Investment Management Agreement or the Trust
Deed to be correct in any material respect when made and such failure (x) has a material
adverse effect on the Noteholders and (y) no correction is made for a period of 30 days after
the Investment Manager becoming aware of, or its receipt of notice from the Issuer or the
Trustee of, such failure;
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(d) certain events of bankruptcy or insolvency in respect of the Investment Manager;

(e) the Investment Manager or any employee, officer or director of the Investment Manager which
is involved in the day to day management of the Portfolio on behalf of the Issuer being found
guilty of having committed a criminal offence materially related to the management of
investments similar in nature and character to those which comprise the Collateral or the
Investment Manager ceasing to be permitted to act as such under the laws of United Kingdom
or failing to register under the United States Investment Managers Act of 1940, as amended, if
required by such Act to do so or such Investment Manager otherwise becoming unable, under
applicable law, to perform its obligations under the Investment Management Agreement.

Resignation

An Investment Manager may at any time resign upon 90 days' prior written notice to the Issuer, the
Collateral Administrator and the Trustee. If one of the Investment Managers resigns, the other
Investment Manager will be deemed to have resigned on the same terms as the resigning Investment
Manager unless the Issuer consents to the non-resigning Investment Manager continuing in its role as
an investment manager under the Investment Management Agreement.

No Resignation or Removal without the Appointment of a Successor

Notwithstanding the above, no purported resignation or removal of an Investment Manager shall be
effective until a successor Investment Manager has been appointed in the manner specified in the
Investment Management Agreement.

Successor Investment Managers

In the event of any purported resignation or removal of the Investment Managers as described above
(and as more fully set out in the Investment Management Agreement), the parties specified in the table
below under "Right to Nominate" shall (on a sequential basis from paragraph 1 to 4 in such table) have
the right within the time period specified under "Time Period for Nominations" to nominate a successor
Investment Manager the appointment of which shall be subject to the parties specified in the table
below under "Disapproval Rights" not disapproving of such appointment within the time limit specified
in such table under "Time Period for Disapproval". The appointment of any potential successor
Investment Manager is subject to:

(a) the proposed successor Investment Manager:

(1) in the sole opinion and determination of the Trustee based on such advice as it shall
deem appropriate (which shall not be called into question by subsequent events),
having demonstrated an ability professionally and competently to perform duties
similar to those imposed upon the Investment Managers including offering Portfolio
management services to Irish residents; and

(ii)  being legally qualified and having the regulatory capacity as a matter of Irish law to act
as Investment Manager;

(b) the Issuer not becoming an investment company under the Investment Company Act as a
result of such appointment; and

(c) not causing the Issuer to be, or being deemed to be, resident for tax purposes or be engaged or
deemed to be engaged, in the conduct of a trade or business in any jurisdiction other than
Ireland.
Right to Time Period for Disapproval Time Period for
Nominate Nomination Rights Disapproval
1 Issuer or Trustee | Within 45 days | Noteholders Within 21 days
acting on behalf | after notice to | acting by way of | after notice of
of the | Noteholders  of | Ordinary initial nomination
Noteholders purported Resolution to the Noteholders
acting by way of | resignation or
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Ordinary removal
Resolution
2 Issuer or Trustee | Within 21 days | Noteholders Within 21 days
acting on behalf | after expiry of | acting by way of | after second
of the | disapproval Ordinary notice of
Noteholders period or earlier | Resolution nomination to the
acting by way of | notice of Noteholders
Ordinary disapproval under
Resolution 1 above
3 Any Investment | Within 21 days | Noteholders Within 21 days
Manager after expiry of | acting by way of | after third notice
disapproval Ordinary of nomination to
period or earlier | Resolution the Noteholders
notice of
disapproval under
2 above
4 Any Investment | Within 21 days | None N/A
Manager after expiry of
disapproval
period or -earlier
notice of
disapproval under
3

No compensation payable to a successor Investment Manager from payments on the Collateral shall be
greater than that paid to the Investment Managers without the prior written consent of holders of the
Notes, acting by Ordinary Resolution. The fees payable to any successor Investment Manager may be
adjusted as contemplated in the Investment Management Agreement subject to the prior consent of the
Trustee and the Noteholders acting by Extraordinary Resolution. Upon termination of the appointment
of the Investment Managers as specified in the Investment Management Agreement, all authority and
power of the Investment Managers under the Investment Management Agreement, whether with
respect to the Collateral or otherwise, shall automatically and without action by any person or entity
pass to and be vested in the successor Investment Manager upon the appointment thereof.

No Voting Rights

Any Notes held by (but not on behalf of) the Investment Managers, one or more of its Affiliates and/or
any one or more directors thereof will have no voting rights with respect to any vote (or written
direction or consent) in connection with the removal of the Investment Managers and will be deemed
not to be Outstanding in connection with any such vote; provided, however, that any Notes held by an
Investment Manager, one or more of its Affiliates and/or one or more directors thereof will have voting
rights (including in respect of written directions and consents) with respect to all other matters as to
which Noteholders are entitled to vote, including, without limitation, any vote in connection with the
appointment of a replacement Investment Manager which is not Affiliated with the Investment
Managers in accordance with the Investment Management Agreement.

Standard of Care and Liability

The Investment Managers jointly and severally agree in the Investment Management Agreement to
perform their obligations and discretions under the Investment Management Agreement and the Trust
Deed and, subject to the terms and conditions of the Investment Management Agreement shall exercise
a standard of care which is equal to the standard of care which the Investment Managers exercise with
respect to comparable assets and liabilities that they manage for themselves and others and, in each
case in a manner consistent with practices and procedures followed by reputable institutional
investment managers of international standing managing investments or advising in respect of assets
and liabilities similar in nature and character to those which the Investment Managers are managing
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pursuant the Investment Management Agreement. The Investment Managers are exempted from
liability arising out of or in connection with the performance of their duties under the Investment
Management Agreement except by reason of acts or omissions constituting fraud, wilful misconduct or
negligence of the Investment Managers. The Issuer, the Trustee, the Custodian and Collateral
Administrator are entitled to rely on any advice or instruction of either Investment Manager as if such
advice or instruction had been given by both Investment Managers, provided for the avoidance of
doubt, that any consent of the Investment Managers required under the Investment Management
Agreement is required to be given by both Investment Managers.

The Investment Management Agreement provides that the Investment Managers shall have no
fiduciary duties to the Issuer, the Trustee, any Noteholder or any other person.

Delegation

The Investment Managers, without the prior consent of the Issuer, any Noteholder or the Trustee, may
employ third parties, including their respective Affiliates, to render assistance in connection with their
obligations under the Investment Management Agreement. The Investment Managers shall not be
liable for any loss resulting from any act or omission of any third party appointed by the Investment
Managers provided that such appointment has been made by the Investment Managers in accordance
with the standard of care specified in the Investment Management Agreement and that monitoring (if
any) is also carried out in accordance with such standard of care.

Collateral Administrator

The Collateral Administrator has agreed to perform certain functions with respect to the Portfolio on
behalf of the Issuer.

Fees

As compensation for the performance of its obligations as Collateral Administrator under the
Investment Management Agreement, the Collateral Administrator shall be paid a fee payable in arrears
on each Payment Date in accordance with the Priorities of Payment.

Duties of the Collateral Administrator

The Collateral Administrator will be required pursuant to the terms of the Investment Management
Agreement to, among other things:

(a) to design, programme, implement and maintain a portfolio testing system for running the
Investment Restrictions and for tracking cash flows;

(b) provide daily estimates of Net Asset Value, Gross Asset Value, Aggregate Market Value and
Aggregate Liabilities to the Investment Managers , save that no such estimates shall be
required in respect of those dates on which determinations are made in accordance with
paragraph (g) below;

(©) to determine (in consultation with and based on certain information provided by the
Investment Managers) the satisfaction of the High Water Mark;

(d) to create and maintain a collateral database (the "Collateral Database") in such form as shall
be agreed between the Collateral Administrator and the Investment Managers from time to
time, which shall contain details of the Portfolio from time to time, which shall include:

) in respect of each Investment, the stated maturity, the Obligor, industry, principal
amount, interest rate, the applicable public rating or assigned confidential credit
estimate assigned thereto (if any) and any other relevant information applicable thereto;

(i)  in respect of each Derivative Instrument, type of Derivative Instrument, the principal
amount and expiry date, the Obligor, country and industry classification;

(i)  in respect of each Leverage Instrument, the applicable Leverage Provider, aggregate
amount drawn, aggregate available amount, commitment expiry date and maturity date;
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(e)

®

(@

(h)

(1)

W)

(iv)  the balance of the Collection Account and details of the Eligible Investments standing
to the credit of such account including the principal amount, stated maturity and
interest rate;

(v)  details of all other arrangements entered into in respect of the Portfolio including,
securities trading and repo transactions and any arrangements entered into with a prime
broker;

(vi)  inrespect of each Investment:
(A)  the purchase price of the Investment;
(B)  the current price of the Investment;
(C)  whether such Investment is a cash or a synthetic Investment;
(D)  whether such Investment is a leveraged or unleveraged Investment;
(E)  whether such Investment is par or distressed;
(F)  whether such Investment is a long or a short position;

(G) whether a such Investment is a Senior Secured Obligation, a Mezzanine
Obligation, a Second Lien Obligation, Unsecured Obligation or any other type
of Investment;

(H) the next payment date under such Investment;
@ the estimated amount of net payment under such Investment;
Q) whether the Investment is defaulted,

and to permit access to the Collateral Database information by the Investment
Managers, to monitor public ratings and credit estimates (where publicly available) of
Investments periodically and update the Collateral Database for ratings changes, to take
account of the sale and/or acquisition of Investments and to monitor current rates in
respect of any floating rate instruments and input changes, and track acquisition price,
accrued interest disposition proceeds, gains and losses;

to assist accountants appointed by the Issuer to perform the functions in respect of the
Portfolio;

to assist in the determination on each Measurement Date in respect of each Investment
whether such Investment satisfies each of the Eligibility Criteria as of such Measurement
Date;

to determine the Gross Asset Value, Net Asset Value, Adjusted Net Asset Value, Aggregate
Market Value and Aggregate Liabilities on each Measurement Date and on each other day the
Investment Managers or the Issuer may reasonably request in accordance with the Investment
Management Agreement;

to consult with the Investment Managers from time to time prior to each Determination Date
in relation to the exercise by the Investment Managers of any discretion on behalf of the Issuer
pursuant to the Priorities of Payment including but not limited to the designation of proceeds
for reinvestment and the deferral of interest in respect of the Notes;

to promptly notify the Investment Managers in writing of any Material Error (as defined in the
Investment Management Agreement) in any previous calculations of Net Asset Value, if and
to the extent such Material Error is identified by the Collateral Administrator;

to investigate and assess the cause of any Material Error at the request of an Investment
Manager and to take the necessary course of action required to rectify such Material Error, to
the satisfaction of the Investment Managers;
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(k) to determine compliance or non-compliance with the Investment Restrictions on each
Measurement Date and to notify the Investment Managers and Issuer of the results;

)] to prepare and distribute each of the Reports and the Investment Management Reports (as
defined in the Investment Management Agreement) in accordance with the Investment
Management Agreement;

(m) to maintain all records of transactions undertaken by the Issuer or the Investment Managers on
its behalf in respect of the Portfolio, the Investment Liabilities and the Collection Account;

(n) to calculate all Scheduled Interest Amounts, Deferred Interest and any other interest amounts
payable on the Notes on each Payment Date;

(0) to calculate the amounts to be disbursed on each Payment Date pursuant to the Priorities of
Payment;
(p) to manage the Collection Account and monitor the balances in the Collection Account from

time to time;

) to calculate the issue price or subscription price of any Additional Notes in accordance with
Condition 17 (Additional Issuances);

(r) to calculate the Redemption Price payable upon any redemption or purchase of the Notes and
the Optional Redemption Limit, Available Optional Redemption Proceeds and all other
amounts required to be determined upon any redemption of the Notes in accordance with
Condition 7(d) (Optional Redemption by the Noteholders);

(s) to the extent that such is reasonably within its power, carry out and/or assist the Investment
Managers, the Issuer and the Trustee in carrying out such other calculations and
determinations as may be required in respect of the Collateral or the Notes from time to time
as specified in any of the Transaction Documents to which the Collateral Administrator is a
party, provided that the Collateral Administrator shall not be required to carry out and/or assist
in carrying out such calculations and determinations if to do so would require the Collateral
Administrator to incur any additional expense not covered within the definition of
Administrative Expenses (unless the Collateral Administrator is reimbursed and/or pre-funded
to its satisfaction against such additional expense by the Issuer); and

(t) to carry out all other duties and functions, expressly required of the Collateral Administrator
pursuant to the Conditions or the Trust Deed.

Removal and Resignation
Removal Without Cause

Subject to the appointment of a successor collateral administrator, the appointment of the Collateral
Administrator may be terminated without cause at any time, upon 60 Business Days' prior written
notice by (a) the Issuer or (b) the Trustee at its discretion or acting upon the directions of the holders of
the Notes acting by Ordinary Resolution, to the Collateral Administrator copied to the Issuer or Trustee
(as applicable) and the Investment Managers and upon written notice to the Noteholders in accordance
with Condition 16 (Notices).

Removal of Collateral Administrator With Cause

Subject to the appointment of a successor collateral administrator, the appointment of the Collateral
Administrator may be terminated, for cause by (a) the Issuer or (b) the Trustee at its discretion or acting
upon the directions of the holders of the Notes each acting by Ordinary Resolution forthwith upon prior
written notice to the Collateral Administrator copied to the Issuer or the Trustee (as applicable) and the
Investment Managers and upon written notice to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 16
(Notices). For purposes of the Investment Management Agreement, "cause" shall mean any one of the
following events:
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(a) the Collateral Administrator shall default in the performance of any of its duties under the
applicable Transaction Documents and shall not cure such default within 30 days of the
occurrence of such default;

(b) certain events of bankruptcy or insolvency in respect of the Collateral Administrator.
Resignation of Collateral Administrator

Notwithstanding any other provision of the Investment Management Agreement to the contrary, but
subject to the appointment of successor collateral administrator, the Collateral Administrator may
resign its appointment pursuant to the Investment Management Agreement without cause by the
Collateral Administrator giving 90 days' prior written notice, and with cause by the Collateral
Administrator giving 10 days' prior written notice to the Issuer, the Trustee and the Investment
Managers.

Appointment of Successor Collateral Administrator

No termination of the appointment or resignation of the Collateral Administrator shall be effective until
the date as of which a successor collateral administrator have agreed in writing to assume all of the
Collateral Administrator's duties and obligations pursuant to the Investment Management Agreement
and notice of such appointment shall have been given to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition
16 (Notices). Upon the termination of the appointment of the Collateral Administrator or upon the
resignation of the Collateral Administrator, in either case pursuant to the Investment Management
Agreement, the Investment Managers on behalf of the Issuer shall use their best efforts to appoint a
successor collateral administrator identified by the Investment Managers, provided, however, that if
within 60 days of the resignation of the Collateral Administrator the Investment Managers on behalf of
the Issuer have not appointed a successor to the Collateral Administrator, the Collateral Administrator
may itself appoint a successor collateral administrator reasonably acceptable to the Issuer, the Trustee
and the Investment Managers, upon such appointment becoming effective, the resignation of the
existing Collateral Administrator shall become effective.

Standard of Care of the Collateral Administrator

The Collateral Administrator agrees to provide its services in relation to the Portfolio with reasonable
skill, care and diligence and subject to the terms and conditions of the Investment Management
Agreement and to perform its obligations thereunder in good faith in a manner consistent with practices
and procedures generally following by prudent institutional servicing agents and collateral
administrators relating to assets of the nature of those comprised in the Portfolio. Subject to the
preceding sentence, the Collateral Administrator shall follow its customary standards, policies and
procedures in performing its duties under the Investment Management Agreement.

Liability of the Collateral Administrator

The Collateral Administrator will agree in the Investment Management Agreement to perform its
obligations under the Investment Management Agreement with reasonable care and subject to the terms
and conditions of the Investment Management Agreement. The Collateral Administrator is exempted
from liability arising out of or in connection with the performance of its duties under the Investment
Management Agreement except by reason of acts or omissions constituting fraud, wilful misconduct or
negligence of the Collateral Administrator.

The Investment Management Agreement provides that the Collateral Administrator shall have no
fiduciary duties to the Issuer, the Trustee, any Noteholder or any other person.

Delegation

The Collateral Administrator may not delegate to or employ third parties, including its Affiliates, to
render assistance in connection with its obligations under the Investment Management Agreement.
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FEES AND EXPENSES

Ongoing Costs

Certain fees and expenses will be payable by the Issuer from time to time out of amounts standing to
the credit of the Collection Account which amounts may be paid in priority to amounts due and payable
on the Notes depending on the timing of each such payment, as follows:

(a)

(b)

(©)

(d)

(e)

(
(2

(h)

(1)

W)

(k)

M

(m)

fees, expenses and other amounts payable to the Trustee pursuant to the Trust Deed, the
Agents pursuant to the Agency Agreement and the Collateral Administrator pursuant to the
Investment Management Agreement;

the Investment Management Fees (see "Description of the Investment Management Agreement
- Fees");

other amounts payable to the Investment Managers pursuant to the Investment Management
Agreement (including indemnities provided for therein), but excluding any Investment
Management Fees or any value added tax payable thereon;

amounts payable to the independent certified public accountants, auditors, agents and counsel
of the Issuer;

amounts payable to any Rating Agency which may from time to time be requested to assign a
public rating or confidential credit estimate to any of the Investments, for fees and expenses
(including surveillance fees) in connection with any such rating or confidential credit estimate
including, in each case, the ongoing monitoring thereof;

taxes payable by the Issuer in respect of any taxable profits retained in the Issuer;

amounts payable to any other Person in respect of any governmental fee or charge (for the
avoidance of doubt excluding any taxes) or any statutory indemnity;

amounts payable to any prime broker appointed by or on behalf of the Issuer;

amounts payable in respect of any costs and expenses associated with the entry into,
acquisition, maintenance, disposal of or exercise of rights under any Portfolio Asset,
including, without limitation, brokerage commissions, bank service fees and clearing fees;

amounts payable to any legal adviser retained by the Issuer or any other person in connection
with the Notes, the Portfolio or any Leverage Instrument;

amounts payable to any other Person in respect of any other fees, expenses or indemnities
contemplated in the Conditions of the Notes and in the Transaction Documents or any other
documents delivered pursuant to or in connection with the issue and sale of the Notes;

amounts payable to the Irish Stock Exchange, or such other stock exchange or exchanges upon
which any of the Notes are listed from time to time; and

any applicable value added tax required to be paid by the Issuer in respect of any of the
foregoing.
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DESCRIPTION OF THE COLLATERAL ADMINISTRATOR AND THE CALCULATION
AGENT

THE BANK OF NEW YORK MELLON (formerly The Bank of New York)

The Bank of New York Mellon, a wholly, owned subsidiary of The Bank of New York Mellon
Corporation, is incorporated, with limited liability by Charter, under the Laws of the State of New York
by special act of the New York State Legislature, Chapter 616 of the Laws of 1871, with its Head
Office situate at One Wall Street, New York, NY 10286, USA and having a branch registered in
England & Wales with FC No 005522 and BR No 000818 with its principal office in the United
Kingdom situated at One Canada Square, London E14 5AL.

The Bank of New York Mellon's corporate trust business services $12 trillion in outstanding debt from
55 locations around the world. It services all major debt categories, including corporate and municipal
debt, mortgage-backed and asset-backed securities, collateralized debt obligations, derivative securities
and international debt offerings. The Bank of New York Mellon's corporate trust and agency services
are delivered through The Bank of New York Mellon and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust
Company, N.A.

The Bank of New York Mellon Corporation is a global financial services company focused on helping
clients manage and service their financial assets, operating in 34 countries and serving more than 100
markets. The company is a leading provider of financial services for institutions, corporations and
high-net-worth individuals, providing superior asset management and wealth management, asset
servicing, issuer services, clearing services and treasury services through a worldwide client-focused
team. It has more than $23 trillion in assets under custody and administration and more than $1.1
trillion in assets under management. Additional information is available at bnymellon.com.
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DESCRIPTION OF THE REPORTS

Terms used and not otherwise defined herein shall have the meaning given to them in Condition 1
(Definitions) of the Terms and Conditions of the Notes.

Monthly Reports

The Collateral Administrator, on behalf, and at the expense, of the Issuer and in consultation with and
based on certain information provided by the Investment Managers shall, not later than the 10"
Business Day after the last calendar day of each month, (or if such day is not a Business Day, the
immediately following Business Day) compile in respect of the preceding month a report (a "Monthly
Report"), which shall contain details of:

(a) the Net Asset Value;

(b) the Adjusted Net Asset Value;
(©) the Gross Asset Value;

(d) the Aggregate Market Value;
(e) the Aggregate Liabilities;

) whether the Portfolio satisfies each of the Investment Restrictions, together with the results of
the determination of each Investment Restriction;

(2) the ratings distribution of Investments in the Portfolio;
(h) the balance standing to the credit of the Collection Account;
(1) Aggregate Market Value of Non-GBP Obligations;

)] such other information as may be agreed from time to time between the Collateral
Administrator and the Investment Managers, and

in each case measured as at the last calendar day of such month (or if such day is not a Business Day,
the immediately preceding Business Day) (each a "Monthly Reporting Date"). The Collateral
Administrator shall have no obligation to produce a Monthly Report in the first eight weeks after the
Initial Issue Date. For the avoidance of doubt, there will also be a Monthly Report produced in the
same month in which a Payment Date Report is due.

Nothing in any of the foregoing shall oblige the Issuer or the Investment Managers to disclose, whether
directly or indirectly, any information held under an obligation of confidentiality.

Payment Date Report

The Collateral Administrator, on behalf, and at the expense, of the Issuer and in consultation with and
based upon certain information provided by the Investment Managers, shall, not later than the related
Payment Date, prepare an accounting report prepared and determined as of each Determination Date
and compile in respect of the preceding month a report (the "Payment Date Report"), which shall
contain details of:

(a) the amount payable pursuant to the Priorities of Payments; and

(b) the Trustee Fee and Expenses, the amount of Management Fee and the amount of Performance
Fee, Administrative Expenses, Upfront Costs payable on the related Payment Date, in each
case on an itemised basis.

Delivery of Reports

Each Monthly Report shall be delivered to the Issuer, the Trustee, the Investment Managers and the
Arranger and Placement Agent (regardless of whether it is a Noteholder or Secured Party at such time)
and, upon request therefor in accordance with Condition 4(f) (Information Regarding the Collateral) of
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the Conditions of the Notes, to any Noteholder or any other Secured Party not later than the 10"
Business Day after the related Monthly Reporting Date commencing from June 2009.

Each Payment Date Report shall be delivered to the Issuer, the Trustee, the Investment Managers and
the Arranger and Placement Agent (regardless of whether it is a Noteholder or Secured Party at such
time) and, upon request therefor in accordance with Condition 4(f) (Information Regarding the
Collateral) of the Conditions of the Notes, to any Noteholder or any other Secured Party not later than
the related Payment Date

Miscellaneous

The contents of any Report may be changed as agreed between the Collateral Administrator and the
Investment Managers without any requirement to get consent from the Noteholders.

The Collateral Administrator shall not publish or send any Report to any person unless such Report has
been approved by the Investment Managers.

Each Report shall state that it is for the purposes of information only, that certain information included
in the report is estimated, approximated or projected and that it is provided without any representations
or warranties as to the accuracy or completeness thereof and that none of the Collateral Administrator,
the Trustee, the Issuer or the Investment Managers will have any liability for estimates, approximations
or projections contained therein.

The Issuer authorises each Noteholder to provide copies of any Reports received by it to any person
with an economic exposure to the Notes directly or indirectly through or from such Noteholder
(subject to such Noteholder ensuring that such person signs a confidentiality agreement prior to such
Noteholder providing any Reports) with no additional liability attaching to any of the Issuer, the
Trustee, the Investment Managers or the Collateral Administrator as a result of a Noteholder so
providing such copies.
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TAX CONSIDERATIONS
1. GENERAL

The following is a summary based on present law of certain Irish tax considerations and European
Union income tax considerations for prospective purchasers of the Notes. The discussion is a general
summary, it is not exhaustive and nor does it purport to be legal or taxation advice. The discussion
does not consider the circumstances of particular purchasers, some of whom may be subject to special
taxation regimes in Ireland or elsewhere.

Potential purchasers who are in any doubt about their tax position on purchase, ownership, transfer or
exercise of any Note should consult their own tax Advisers. In particular, no representation is made
as to the manner in which payments under the Notes would be characterised by any relevant
taxing authority. Potential investors should be aware that the relevant fiscal rules or their
interpretation may change, possibly with retrospective effect, and that this summary is not exhaustive.
This summary does not constitute legal or tax advice or a guarantee to any potential investor of the tax
consequences of investing in the Notes.

Purchasers of Notes may be required to pay stamp taxes and other charges in accordance with the laws
and practices of the country of purchase, in addition to the Issue Price of each Note.

2. IRELAND TAXATION

The following is a summary of certain Irish tax consequences of the purchase, ownership and
disposition of the Notes. The summary does not purport to be a comprehensive description of all of the
tax considerations that may be relevant to a decision to purchase, own or dispose of the Notes. The
summary relates only to the position of persons who are the absolute beneficial owners of the Notes
and may not apply to certain other classes of persons such as dealers in securities. The summary does
not apply to alternative investments.

The summary is based upon Irish tax laws and the practice of the Irish Revenue Commissioners as in
effect on the date of this Base Prospectus, which are subject to prospective or retroactive change.
Prospective investors in the Notes should consult their own advisors as to the Irish or other tax
consequences of the purchase, beneficial ownership and disposition of the Notes including, in
particular, the effect of any state or local tax laws.

Income Tax

In general, persons who are resident in Ireland or ordinarily resident in Ireland are liable to Irish
taxation on their world-wide income whereas persons who are not resident in Ireland are only liable to
Irish taxation on their Irish source income. All persons are under a statutory obligation to account for
Irish tax on a self-assessment basis and there is no requirement for the Irish Revenue Commissioners to
issue or raise an assessment.

A Note issued by the Issuer may be regarded as property situate in Ireland (and hence Irish source
income) on the grounds that a debt is deemed to be situate where the debtor resides.

However, interest on the Notes will be exempt from Irish income tax if:

(a) the Notes are quoted Eurobonds and are exempt from withholding tax as set out below and the
recipient of the interest is:

) a company which is resident in a relevant territory; or
(ii)  acompany:

(A)  which is controlled, directly or indirectly, by persons who are resident in a
relevant territory who are not, themselves, controlled by persons who are not so
resident; or

(B) the principal class of shares of which are substantially and regularly traded on a
recognised stock exchange in a relevant territory; or
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(b) the recipient of the interest is resident in a relevant territory and either:

1) the Issuer is a qualifying company within the meaning of Section 110 TCA 1997 and
the interest is paid out of the assets of the Issuer; or

(i1)  if the Issuer has ceased to be a qualifying company, the recipient of the interest is a
company and the relevant territory in which the company is resident imposes a tax that
generally applies to interest receivable in that territory by companies from sources
outside it, or the interest is exempt from income tax under the provisions of a double
taxation agreement that was then in force when the interest was paid or would have
been exempt had a double taxation agreement that was signed at the date the interest
was paid been in force at that date.

For the purposes of the exemptions described at (a) and (b) above, the residence of the recipient in a
relevant territory is determined by reference to:

(1) the relevant treaty between Ireland and the relevant territory, where such treaty has been
entered into and has the force of law;

(i1) under the laws of that territory, where there is no relevant treaty which has the force of law.

A relevant territory for this purpose is a Member State of the European Communities (other than
Ireland) or not being such a Member State a territory with which Ireland has entered into a double tax
treaty. A list of countries with which Ireland has entered into a double tax treaty is available on
www.revenue.ie.

Notwithstanding these exemptions from income tax, a corporate recipient that carries on a trade in
Ireland through a branch or agency in respect of which the Notes are held or attributed may have a
liability to Irish corporation tax on the interest.

If the above exemptions do not apply it is understood that there is a long standing unpublished practice
whereby no action will be taken to pursue any liability to such Irish tax in respect of persons who are
regarded as not being resident in Ireland except where such persons:

(a) are chargeable in the name of a person (including a trustee) or in the name of an agent or
branch in Ireland having the management or control of the interest; or

(b) seek to claim relief and/or repayment of tax deducted at source in respect of taxed income
from Irish sources; or

(c) are chargeable to Irish corporation tax on the income of an Irish branch or agency or to income
tax on the profits of a trade carried on in Ireland to which the interest is attributable.

There can be no assurance that this practice will continue to apply.
Withholding Taxes

In general, tax at the standard rate of income tax (currently 20 per cent), is required to be withheld from
payments of Irish source interest which may include interest payable on the Notes. However, an
exemption from withholding on interest payments exists under Section 64 TCA 1997 for certain
securities ("quoted Eurobonds") issued by a body corporate (such as the Issuer) which are interest
bearing and quoted on a recognised stock exchange.

Any interest paid on such quoted Eurobonds can be paid free of withholding tax provided:
(a) the person by or through who the payment is made is not in Ireland; or
(b) the payment is made by or through a person in Ireland, and either:

(1) the quoted Eurobond is held in a clearing system recognised by the Irish Revenue
Commissioners (Euroclear, Clearstream and Luxembourg, amongst others, are so
recognised), or
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(i)  the person who is the beneficial owner of the quoted Eurobond and who is beneficially
entitled to the interest is not resident in Ireland and has made a declaration to the
relevant person (such as an Irish paying agent, if any) in the prescribed from.

So long as the Notes are quoted on a recognised stock exchange and are held on any of the Euroclear,
Clearstream and Luxembourg, interest on the Notes can be paid by any paying agent acting on behalf
of the Issuer without any withholding or deduction for or on account of Irish income tax.

If, for any reason, the quoted Eurobond exemption referred to above ceases to apply, the Issuer can still
pay interest on the Notes free of withholding tax provided it is a qualifying company (within the
meaning of Section 110 TCA 1997) and provided the interest is paid to a person resident in a relevant
territory (as defined above). For this purpose, residence is determined by reference to the law of the
country in which the recipient claims to be resident. This exemption from withholding tax will not
apply, however, if the interest is paid to a company in connection with a trade or business carried on by
it through a branch or agency located in Ireland.

Encashment Tax

Irish tax will be required to be withheld at the standard rate of income tax (currently 20 per cent) from
interest on any Notes, where such interest is collected or realised by a bank or encashment agent in
Ireland on behalf of any Noteholder. There is an exemption from encashment tax where the beneficial
owner of the interest is not resident in Ireland and has made a declaration to this effect in the prescribed
form to the encashment agent or bank.

Capital Gains Tax

A Noteholder will not be subject to Irish taxes on capital gains provided that such Noteholder is neither
resident nor ordinarily resident in Ireland and such Noteholder does not have an enterprise, or an
interest in an enterprise, which carries on business in Ireland through a branch or agency or a
permanent representative to which or to whom the Notes are attributable.

Capital Acquisitions Tax

If the Notes are comprised in a gift or inheritance taken from an Irish domiciled, resident or ordinarily
resident disponer or if the donee/successor is resident or ordinarily resident in Ireland, or if any of the
Notes are regarded as property situate in Ireland, the donee/successor may be liable to Irish capital
acquisitions tax. As a result, a donee/successor may be liable to Irish capital acquisitions tax, even
though neither the disponer nor the donee/successor may be domiciled, resident or ordinarily resident
in Ireland at the relevant time.

Stamp duty

For as long as the Issuer is a qualifying company within the meaning of Section 110 TCA, no Irish
stamp duty will be payable on either the issue, transfer or redemption of the Notes, provided that the
money raised by the issue of the Notes is used in the course of the Issuer’s business.

European Savings Directive (Council Directive 2003/48/EC)

EU Directive 2003/48/EC on the taxation of savings income obliges a Member State to provide to the
tax authorities of another Member State details of payments of interest or other similar income
payments made by a person within its jurisdiction for the immediate benefit of an individual or to
certain non-corporate entities resident in that other Member State (or for certain payments secured for
their benefit). However, Austria, Belgium and Luxembourg opted out of the reporting requirements and
instead applied a special withholding tax for a transitional period in relation to such payments of
interest, deducting tax at rates rising over time to 35 per cent. This transitional period commenced on 1
July 2005 and will terminate at the end of the first fiscal year following agreement by certain non-EU
countries to the exchange of information relating to such payments. Belgium decided to discontinue
applying the transitional withholding tax as of 1 January 2010.

A number of non-EU countries and certain dependent or associated territories of Member States have
also adopted similar measures (either provision of information or transitional withholding) in relation
to payments of interest or other similar income payments made by a person in that jurisdiction for the
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immediate benefit of an individual or to certain non-corporate entities in any Member State. The
Member States have entered into reciprocal provision of information or transitional special withholding
tax arrangements with certain of those dependent or associated territories. These apply in the same way
to payments by persons in any Member State to individuals or certain non-corporate residents of those
territories.

THE DISCUSSION ABOVE IS A GENERAL SUMMARY. IT DOES NOT COVER ALL TAX
MATTERS THAT MAY BE OF IMPORTANCE TO A PARTICULAR INVESTOR. EACH
PROSPECTIVE INVESTOR IS STRONGLY URGED TO CONSULT ITS OWN TAX
ADVISER ABOUT THE TAX CONSEQUENCES OF AN INVESTMENT IN THE NOTES
UNDER THE INVESTOR’S OWN CIRCUMSTANCES.
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NOTE PURCHASE AND SALE

The Issuer will, on or around the Issue Date of any Notes (other than the Initial Notes), enter into a note
purchase agreement (the "Note Purchase Agreement") pursuant to which, subject to the satisfaction of
certain conditions, the Notes will be subscribed and paid for at the relevant issue price (such subscriber,
the "Initial Purchaser").

The Initial Purchaser will agree to comply with the following selling restrictions:

(a) This Base Prospectus is furnished to the Initial Purchaser solely for information and may not
be reproduced or redistributed to any other person. It is solely destined for persons or
institutions to which it was initially supplied. This document does not constitute an offer or an
invitation to subscribe for or to purchase any securities and neither this document nor anything
contained herein shall form the basis of any contract or commitment whatsoever; and

(b) No action has been or will be taken by the Issuer that would permit a public offering of the
Notes or possession or distribution of this Base Prospectus or any other offering material in
relation to the Notes in any jurisdiction where action for the purpose is required. No offers,
sales or deliveries of any Notes, or distribution of this Base Prospectus or any other offering
material relating to the Notes, may be made in or from any jurisdiction, except in
circumstances which will result in compliance with any applicable laws and regulations and
will not impose any obligations on the Issuer.

United States

The Notes have not been and will not be registered under the Securities Act and may not be offered,
sold or delivered within the United States or to, or for the account or benefit of, U.S. Persons except
pursuant to an exemption from, or in a transaction not subject to, the registration requirements under
the Securities Act and in a manner so as not to require the registration of the Issuer or the pool of
Collateral as an "investment company" pursuant to the Investment Company Act. Each purchaser of a
Note agrees to be bound by the foregoing restriction on transfers. Terms used in this paragraph have
the meanings given to them by Regulation S.

The Issuer proposes to offer and sell the Notes outside the United States to non-U.S. Persons in
offshore transactions in reliance on Regulation S.

In the Note Purchase Agreement, the Initial Purchaser will represent and agree that :

(a) neither the Initial Purchaser, its Affiliates (if any) nor any Persons acting on their behalf have
engaged or will engage in any directed selling efforts with respect to the Note, and they have
complied and will comply with the offering restrictions requirements of Regulation S;

(b) it has not offered or sold the Notes and will not offer or sell the Notes as part of their
distribution except to non-U.S Persons in offshore transactions in accordance with Regulation
S;

(©) prior to the expiration of the 40-Day Distribution Compliance Period, the Notes may not be

offered or sold in the United States or to, or for the account or benefit of, U.S. Persons and any
such sales conducted by a broker/dealer (whether or not it is participating in the offering) may
violate the registration requirements of the Securities Act. Following the expiry of the 40-Day
Distribution Compliance Period, the Notes may not be offered or sold within the United States
or to or for the account or benefit of U.S. Persons except in certain transactions exempt from,
or not subject to, the registration requirements of the Securities Act; and

(d) that neither it nor any of its Affiliates nor anyone acting on its or their behalf will, acting either
as principal or agent, offer, sell, reoffer or resell any Notes to U.S. Persons at any time or
otherwise until after the expiry of the 40-Day Distribution Compliance Period within the
United States or to, or for the account or benefit of, U.S. Persons. Neither it nor any of its
Affiliates nor anyone acting on its or their behalf will, acting either as principal or agent, offer,
sell, reoffer or resell any of such Notes (or approve the resale of any of such Notes) by means
of any form of general solicitation or general advertising, including but not limited to (1) any
advertisement, article, notice or other communication published in any newspaper, magazine
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or similar media or broadcast over television or radio and (2) any seminar or meeting whose
attendees have been advised by any general solicitation or general advertising.

This Prospectus has been prepared by the Issuer for use in connection with the offer and sale of the
Notes outside the United States to non-U.S. Persons in offshore transactions and for the listing of the
Notes on the Irish Stock Exchange. The Issuer and the Initial Purchaser reserve the right to reject any
offer to purchase, in whole or in part, for any reason, or to sell less than the principal amount of Notes
which may be offered. This Prospectus does not constitute an offer to any U.S. Person. Distribution of
this Prospectus to any U.S. Person or to any Person within the United States is unauthorised and any
disclosure of any of its contents, without the prior written consent of the Issuer, is prohibited.

Public Offer Selling Restriction under the Prospectus Directive

In relation to each Member State of the European Economic Area which has implemented the
Prospectus Directive (each, a "Relevant Member State"), each dealer has represented and agreed, and
each further dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to represent and agree, that with
effect from and including the date on which the Prospectus Directive is implemented in that Relevant
Member State (the "Relevant Implementation Date") it has not made and will not make an offer of
Securities which are the subject of the offering contemplated by this Base Prospectus as completed by
the final terms in relation thereto to the public in that Relevant Member State except that it may, with
effect from and including the Relevant Implementation Date, make an offer of such Securities to the
public in that Relevant Member State:

(a) if the final terms in relation to the Securities specify that an offer of those Securities may be
made other than pursuant to Article 3(2) of the Prospectus Directive in that Relevant Member
State (a "Non-exempt Offer"), following the date of publication of a prospectus in relation to
such Securities which has been approved by the competent authority in that Relevant Member
State or, where appropriate, approved in another Relevant Member State and notified to the
competent authority in that Relevant Member State, provided that any such prospectus has
subsequently been completed by the final terms contemplating such Non-exempt Offer, in
accordance with the Prospectus Directive, in the period beginning and ending on the dates
specified in such prospectus or final terms, as applicable and the Issuer has consented in
writing to its use for the purpose of that Non-exempt Offer;

(b) at any time to any legal entity which is a qualified investor as defined in the Prospectus
Directive;
(©) at any time to fewer than 100 or, if the Relevant Member State has implemented the relevant

provision of the 2010 PD Amending Directive, 150 natural or legal persons (other than
qualified investors as defined in the Prospectus Directive), subject to obtaining the prior
consent of the relevant dealer or dealers nominated by the Issuer for any such offer; or

(d) at any time in any other circumstances falling within Article 3(2) of the Prospectus Directive,

provided that no such offer of Securities referred to in (b) to (d) above shall require the Issuer or any
dealer to publish a prospectus pursuant to Article 3 of the Prospectus Directive, or supplement a
prospectus pursuant to Article 16 of the Prospectus Directive.

For the purposes of this provision, the expression "an offer of Securities to the public" in relation to
any Securities in any Relevant Member State means the communication in any form and by any means
of sufficient information on the terms of the offer and the Securities to be offered so as to enable an
investor to decide to purchase or subscribe the Securities, as the same may be varied in that Member
State by any measure implementing the Prospectus Directive in that Member State, the expression
"Prospectus Directive" means Directive 2003/71/EC (and amendments thereto, including the 2010 PD
Amending Directive, to the extent implemented in the Relevant Member State), and includes any
relevant implementing measure in the Relevant Member State and the expression "2010 PD Amending
Directive" means Directive 2010/73/EU.

United Kingdom

The Initial Purchaser will represent, warrant and agree that:
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(a) in relation to any Securities which have a maturity of less than one year (i) it is a person whose
ordinary activities involve it in acquiring, holding, managing or disposing of investments (as
principal or agent) for the purposes of its business and (ii) it has not offered or sold and will
not offer or sell any Securities other than to persons whose ordinary activities involve them in
acquiring, holding, managing or disposing of investments (as principal or as agent) for the
purposes of their businesses or who it is reasonable to expect will acquire, hold, manage or
dispose of investments (as principal or agent) for the purposes of their businesses where the
issue of the Securities would otherwise constitute a contravention of section 19 of the
Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 (the "FSMA") by the Issuer;

(b) it has only communicated or caused to be communicated and will only communicate or cause
to be communicated any invitation or inducement to engage in investment activity (within the
meaning of section 21 of the FSMA) received by it in connection with the issue or sale of the
Notes in circumstances in which section 21(1) of the FSMA does not apply to the Issuer; and

(©) it has complied and will comply with all applicable provisions of the FSMA with respect to
anything done by it in relation to the Notes in, from or otherwise involving the United
Kingdom.

The Initial Purchaser further acknowledges that this Base Prospectus is being issued only to, and/or
directed only at, persons who are professional clients or eligible counterparties for the purposes of the
Financial Conduct Authority's and PRA's Conduct of Business Sourcebook and will represent and
warrant that it falls within either category.

Ireland
Irish Selling Restriction
The Initial Purchaser will represent, warrant and agree that:

(a) it has not and will not underwrite the issue of, or place the Notes, otherwise than in conformity
with the provisions of S.I. No. 60 of 2007, European Communities (Markets in Financial
Instruments) Regulations 2007, including, without limitation, Parts 6, 7 and 12 thereof, any
codes of conduct or rules issued in connection therewith and any conditions, requirements or
other enactments imposed or approved by the Central Bank of Ireland (the "Central Bank")
and the provisions of the Investor Compensation Act 1998;

(b) it has not and will not underwrite the issue of, or placed, and will not underwrite the issue of,
or place, any Notes, otherwise than in conformity with the provisions of the Central Bank Acts
1942 to 2014 (as amended) and any codes of conduct rules made under Section 117(1) of the
Central Bank Act 1989;

(©) it has not and will not underwrite the issue of, or placed, and will not underwrite the issue of,
or place, or do anything in Ireland in respect of any Notes otherwise than in conformity with
the provisions of the Prospectus (Directive 2003/71/EC) Regulations 2005 and any rules
issued under Section 51 of the Investment Funds, Companies and Miscellaneous Provisions
Act 2005, by the Central Bank;

(d) it has not and will not underwrite the issue of, or placed, and will not underwrite the issue of,
place or otherwise act in Ireland in respect of any Notes, otherwise than in conformity with the
provisions of the Market Abuse (Directive 2003/6/EC) Regulations 2005 and any rules issued
under Section 34 of the Investment Funds, Companies and Miscellaneous Provisions Act 2005
by the Central Bank; and

(e) no Notes will be offered or sold with a maturity of less than 12 months except in full
compliance with Notice BSD C 01/02 issued by the Central Bank.

General

The Initial Purchaser will agree that it will comply with all applicable securities laws and regulations in
force known by it, or which reasonably should have been known by it in any jurisdiction in which it
purchases, offers, sells or delivers Securities or possesses or distributes this Base Prospectus or any
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other offering material and will obtain any consent, approval or permission required by it for the
purchase, offer, sale or delivery by it of Securities under the laws and regulations in force in any
jurisdiction to which it is subject or in which it makes such purchases, offers, sales or delivery and the
Issuer shall have no responsibility therefor. It will also ensure that no obligations or liabilities are
imposed on the Issuer in any such jurisdiction as a result of any of the foregoing actions.

The Issuer does not represent that Securities may at any time lawfully be sold in compliance with any
applicable registration or other requirements in any jurisdiction, or pursuant to any exemption available
thereunder, nor assumes any responsibility for facilitating such sale.

Neither this Base Prospectus nor any Final Terms constitute, nor may be used for or in connection with,
an offer or solicitation by anyone in any jurisdiction in which such offer or solicitation is not authorised
or to any person to whom it is unlawful to make such an offer or solicitation. The distribution of this
Base Prospectus and the offering and sale of the Securities may be restricted by law in certain
jurisdictions. Persons into whose possession this Base Prospectus comes are required by the Issuer to
inform themselves about and to observe any such restrictions.

129



TRANSFER RESTRICTIONS

Because of the following restrictions, purchasers are advised to consult legal counsel prior to making
any offer, resale, pledge or transfer of the Notes.

Each purchaser of Notes will be deemed to have represented and agreed as follows:

(a) @) prior to the expiry of the 40-Day Distribution Compliance Period, the purchaser is (A)
located outside the United States, (B) not a U.S. Person and (C) not purchasing the
Notes for the account or benefit of U.S. Persons; or

(i)  following the expiry of the 40-Day Distribution Compliance Period, such purchaser is
either (A) (1) located outside the United States, (2) not a U.S. Person and (3) not
purchasing the Notes or for the account or benefit of U.S. Persons, or (B) is purchasing
the Notes pursuant to an exemption from or in a transaction not subject to the
registration requirements of the Securities Act.

(b) The purchaser understands that the Notes have not been and will not be registered under the
Securities Act and that the Issuer has not been registered and will not register under the
Investment Company Act. It agrees, for the benefit of the Issuer that, if it decides to resell,
pledge or otherwise transfer such Notes (or any beneficial interest or participation therein)
purchased by it, any offer, sale or transfer of such Notes (or any beneficial interest or
participation therein) will be made in compliance with the Securities Act and only to a non-
U.S. Person in an offshore transaction in accordance with Rule 903 or Rule 904 (as applicable)
under Regulation S or pursuant to an exemption from, or in a transaction not subject to, the
registration requirements of the Securities Act.

(©) The purchaser understands that pursuant to the terms of the Trust Deed, the Issuer has agreed
that the Notes offered in reliance on Regulation S will bear the legend set forth below, and, on
issue, will be represented by one or more Notes. Before any interest in the Notes may be
offered, resold, pledged or otherwise transferred to any person, the transferor will be required
to provide the Trustee with a written certification (in the form provided in the Trust Deed) as
to compliance with the transfer restrictions.

THE NOTES HAVE NOT BEEN AND WILL NOT BE REGISTERED UNDER THE UNITED
STATES SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED (THE "SECURITIES ACT"), AND THE
ISSUER HAS NOT BEEN REGISTERED UNDER THE UNITED STATES INVESTMENT
COMPANY ACT OF 1940, AS AMENDED (THE "INVESTMENT COMPANY ACT"). THE
HOLDER HEREOF, BY PURCHASING THE NOTES IN RESPECT OF WHICH THIS
CERTIFICATE HAS BEEN ISSUED OR ANY BENEFICIAL INTEREST HEREIN, AGREES FOR
THE BENEFIT OF THE ISSUER THAT THIS NOTE MAY BE OFFERED, SOLD, PLEDGED OR
OTHERWISE TRANSFERRED, ONLY (A) IN AN OFFSHORE TRANSACTION COMPLYING
WITH RULE 903 OR RULE 904 OF REGULATION S OF THE SECURITIES ACT OR
PURSUANT TO AN EXEMPTION FROM OR IN A TRANSACTION NOT SUBJECT TO THE
REGISTRATION REQUIREMENTS OF THE SECURITIES ACT, AND IN EACH CASE, IN A
PRINCIPAL AMOUNT OF NOT LESS THAN £100,000 FOR THE PURCHASER AND FOR EACH
ACCOUNT FOR WHICH IT IS ACTING, AND (B) IN ACCORDANCE WITH ALL APPLICABLE
SECURITIES LAWS OF THE STATES OF THE UNITED STATES. ANY TRANSFER IN
VIOLATION OF THE FOREGOING WILL BE OF NO FORCE AND EFFECT, WILL BE VOID AB
INITIO AND WILL NOT OPERATE TO TRANSFER ANY RIGHTS TO THE TRANSFEREE,
NOTWITHSTANDING ANY INSTRUCTIONS TO THE CONTRARY TO THE ISSUER, THE
TRUSTEE OR ANY INTERMEDIARY.

EACH PURCHASER OF THE NOTES REPRESENTED BY THIS CERTIFICATE OR ANY
BENEFICIAL INTEREST HEREIN UNDERSTANDS THAT THE ISSUER MAY RECEIVE A LIST
OF PARTICIPANTS HOLDING POSITIONS IN THE NOTES FROM ONE OR MORE BOOK-
ENTRY DEPOSITORIES.

TRANSFERS OF THE NOTES REPRESENTED BY THIS CERTIFICATE OR OF PORTIONS OF
THE NOTES REPRESENTED BY THIS CERTIFICATE SHOULD BE LIMITED TO TRANSFERS
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MADE IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE RESTRICTIONS SET FORTH IN THE TRUST DEED
REFERRED TO HEREIN.

PRINCIPAL OF THE NOTES REPRESENTED BY THIS CERTIFICATE IS PAYABLE AS SET
FORTH HEREIN. ACCORDINGLY, THE PRINCIPAL AMOUNT OUTSTANDING OF THE
NOTES REPRESENTED BY THIS CERTIFICATE AT ANY TIME MAY BE LESS THAN THE
AMOUNT SHOWN ON THE FACE HEREOF. ANY PERSON ACQUIRING THE NOTES
REPRESENTED BY THIS CERTIFICATE MAY ASCERTAIN ITS CURRENT PRINCIPAL
AMOUNT BY INQUIRY OF THE REGISTRAR.

EACH PURCHASER OR TRANSFEREE OF A NOTE OR ANY INTEREST IN SUCH NOTE WILL
BE DEEMED TO HAVE REPRESENTED AND WARRANTED, AT THE TIME OF ITS
PURCHASE AND THROUGHOUT THE PERIOD THAT IT HOLDS SUCH NOTE, THAT (1) IT IS
NOT (A) AN EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLAN (AS DEFINED IN SECTION 3(3) OF THE UNITED
STATES EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT INCOME SECURITY ACT OF 1974, AS AMENDED
("ERISA")) THAT IS SUBJECT TO THE FIDUCIARY RESPONSIBILITY PROVISIONS OF
TITLE I OF ERISA, (B) A PLAN THAT IS SUBJECT TO SECTION 4975 OF THE UNITED
STATES INTERNAL REVENUE CODE OF 1986, AS AMENDED (THE "CODE"), OR (C) ANY
ENTITY WHOSE UNDERLYING ASSETS INCLUDE "PLAN ASSETS" BY REASON OF ANY
SUCH EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLAN'S OR PLAN'S INVESTMENT IN THE ENTITY AND (2) IF
IT IS A GOVERNMENTAL, CHURCH, NON-U.S. OR OTHER PLAN, (A) IT IS NOT, AND FOR
SO LONG AS IT HOLDS A NOTE OR AN INTEREST THEREIN IT WILL NOT BE, SUBJECT TO
ANY FEDERAL, STATE, LOCAL, NON-U.S. OR OTHER LAW OR REGULATION THAT
COULD CAUSE THE UNDERLYING ASSETS OF THE ISSUER TO BE TREATED AS ASSETS
OF THE PURCHASER OR TRANSFEREE IN ANY NOTE (OR INTEREST THEREIN) BY
VIRTUE OF ITS INTEREST AND THEREBY SUBJECT THE ISSUER, THE TRUSTEE OR ANY
INVESTMENT MANAGER (OR OTHER PERSONS RESPONSIBLE FOR THE INVESTMENT
AND OPERATION OF THE ISSUER'S ASSETS) TO LAWS OR REGULATIONS THAT ARE
SUBSTANTIALLY SIMILAR TO THE PROHIBITED TRANSACTION PROVISIONS OF
SECTION 406 OF ERISA OR SECTION 4975 OF THE CODE ("SIMILAR LAW"), AND (B) ITS
ACQUISITION, HOLDING AND DISPOSITION OF A NOTE WILL NOT CONSTITUTE OR
RESULT IN A NON-EXEMPT VIOLATION OF ANY APPLICABLE STATE, LOCAL, OTHER
FEDERAL OR NON-U.S. LAWS OR REGULATIONS THAT ARE SUBSTANTIALLY SIMILAR
TO THE PROHIBITED TRANSACTION PROVISIONS OF SECTION 406 OF ERISA OR
SECTION 4975 OF THE CODE ("OTHER PLAN LAW"). NO TRANSFER OF A NOTE OR ANY
INTEREST THEREIN WILL BE PERMITTED, AND THE ISSUER WILL NOT RECOGNIZE ANY
SUCH TRANSFER, IF IT WOULD CAUSE ANY NOTE TO BE HELD BY BENEFIT PLAN
INVESTORS. ANY PURPORTED TRANSFER OF ANY NOTES, OR ANY INTEREST THEREIN,
TO A PURCHASER OR TRANSFEREE THAT DOES NOT COMPLY WITH THE FOREGOING
REQUIREMENTS WILL BE OF NO FORCE AND EFFECT, SHALL BE NULL AND VOID AB
INITIO AND THE ISSUER WILL HAVE THE RIGHT TO DIRECT THE PURCHASER OR
TRANSFEREE TO TRANSFER THE NOTES, OR ANY INTEREST THEREIN, AS APPLICABLE,
TO A PERSON WHO MEETS THE FOREGOING REQUIREMENTS.

(d) The purchaser is not purchasing such Notes with a view to the resale, distribution or other
disposition thereof in violation of the Securities Act.

(e) The purchaser is aware that the sale of Notes to it is being made in reliance on the exemption
from registration provided by Regulation S.

® The purchaser understands that the Notes may not, at any time, be held by, or on behalf of,
U.S. Persons except pursuant to an exemption from, or in a transaction not subject to, the
registration requirements of the Securities Act.

(2) The purchaser understands that an investment in the Notes involves certain risks, including the
risk of loss of all or a substantial part of its investment under certain circumstances. The
purchaser has had access to such financial and other information concerning the Issuer and the
Notes as it deemed necessary or appropriate in order to make an informed investment decision
with respect to its acquisition of the Notes, including an opportunity to ask questions of and
request information from the Issuer.
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(h)

(1)

@

(k)

In connection with the purchase of the Notes: (i) none of the Issuer or the Investment
Managers is acting as a fiduciary or financial or investment adviser for the purchaser, (ii) the
purchaser is not relying (for purposes of making any investment decision or otherwise) upon
any advice, counsel or representations (whether written or oral) of the Issuer or the Investment
Managers other than this Prospectus for such Notes and any representations expressly set forth
in a written agreement with such party, (iii) none of the Issuer or the Investment Managers has
given to the purchaser (directly or indirectly through any other person) any assurance,
guarantee, or representation whatsoever as to the expected or projected success, profitability,
return, performance, result, effect, consequence, or benefit (including legal, regulatory, tax,
financial, accounting, or otherwise) as to an investment in the Notes, (iv) the purchaser has
consulted with its own legal, regulatory, tax, business, investment, financial, and accounting
advisers to the extent it has deemed necessary, and it has made its own investment decisions
(including decisions regarding the suitability of any transaction pursuant to the Trust Deed)
based upon its own judgement and upon any advice from such advisers as it has deemed
necessary and not upon any view expressed by the Issuer or the Investment Managers, (v) the
purchaser has evaluated that the rates, prices or amounts and other terms of the purchase and
sale of the Notes with a full understanding of all of the risks thereof (economic and otherwise),
and it is capable of assuming and willing to assume (financially and otherwise) those risks,
and (vi) the purchaser is a sophisticated investor.

The purchaser will not, at any time, offer to buy or offer to sell the Notes by any form of
general solicitation or advertising, including, but not limited to, any advertisement, article,
notice or other communication published in any newspaper, magazine or similar medium or
broadcast over television or radio or seminar or meeting whose attendees have been invited by
general solicitations or advertising.

The purchaser will provide notice to each person to whom it proposes to transfer any interest
in the Notes of the transfer restrictions and representations set forth herein.

The purchaser acknowledges that the Issuer, the Registrar and their affiliates and others will

rely upon the truth and accuracy of the foregoing acknowledgements, representations and
agreements.
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GENERAL INFORMATION
Clearing Systems

Unless otherwise specified in the relevant Final Terms, the Notes will be accepted for
clearance through Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg. The Common Code and
International Securities Identification Number ("ISIN") for the Notes will be set out in the
relevant Final Terms.

Listing

Unless otherwise specified in the relevant Final Terms, application will be made to the Irish
Stock Exchange for the Notes to be admitted to the Official List and trading on its regulated
market. There can be no assurance that such listing and admission to trading will be granted or
if granted, will be granted by the relevant Issue Date.

Consents and Authorisations

This Base Prospectus was authorised by resolution of the Board of Directors of the Issuer on
23 December 2014. The date of the resolution of the Board of Directors of the Issuer
authorising the issue of the Notes (other than the Initial Notes) will be as specified in the
relevant Final Terms.

No Material Change

There has been no material adverse change in the financial position or prospects of the Issuer
since 31 December 2013 (other than its entering into certain binding contracts to acquire
Investments).

No Litigation

The Issuer is not involved, and has not been involved, in any governmental, legal or
arbitration proceedings (including any such proceedings which are pending or threatened of
which the Issuer is aware) during the 12 month period ending on the date of this Base
Prospectus which may have or have had a significant effect on the Issuer's financial position or
profitability.

Accounts

The most recently prepared audited financial statements of the Issuer were for the year ended
31 December 2013.

So long as any Note remains outstanding, copies of the most recent annual audited financial
statements of the Issuer can be obtained by physical or electronic means at the specified
offices of the Transfer Agent during normal business hours. The annual accounts of the Issuer
will be audited. The Issuer will not prepare interim financial statements. The independent
auditors of the Issuer are Ernst and Young, Ernst & Young Building, Harcourt Centre,
Harcourt Street, Dublin 2, a firm of chartered accountants, members of the Institute of
Chartered Accountants in Ireland and qualified to act as auditors in Ireland. The financial
statements of the Issuer will be prepared in accordance with IFRS.

The Trust Deed requires the Issuer to provide written confirmation to the Trustee on an annual
basis and otherwise promptly on request that no Event of Default or Potential Event of Default
(as defined in the Trust Deed) or other matter which is required to be brought to the Trustee's
attention has occurred.

Documents Available

For the life of this Base Prospectus, copies of the following documents may be inspected by
physical or electronic means at the registered office of the Issuer during usual business hours
on any weekday (Saturdays, Sundays and public holidays excepted) for the term of the Notes.
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10.

11.

(1)  the Memorandum and Articles of Association of the Issuer;

(2)  the audited financial statements of the Issuer for the last two years;
(3)  the Trust Deed (which includes the form of each Note);

(4)  the Agency Agreement;

(5)  the Investment Management Agreement;

(6)  each Monthly Report; and

(7)  each Payment Date Report.

Enforceability of Judgments

The Issuer is a company incorporated under the laws of Ireland. None of the directors and
executive officers of the Issuer are residents of the United States, and all or a substantial
portion of the assets of the Issuer and such persons are located outside of the United States. As
a result, it may not be possible for investors to effect service of process within the United
States upon the Issuer or such persons or to enforce against any of them in the United States
courts judgments obtained in United States courts, including judgments predicated upon civil
liability provisions of the securities laws of the United States or any State or territory within
the United States.

The Issuer was established as a special purpose vehicle for the purposes of issuing asset
backed securities.

Any website mentioned in this Base Prospectus does not form part of the prospectus prepared
for the purpose of seeking admission to the regulated market of the Irish Stock Exchange.

Maples and Calder, as the Irish Listing Agent, is acting solely in its capacity as listing agent
for the Issuer in connection with the Notes and is not itself seeking admission of the Notes to
the Official List of the Irish Stock Exchange or to trading on the Irish Stock Exchange for the
purposes of the Prospectus Directive.
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AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE ISSUER FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31
DECEMBER 2013
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CASTLE HILL ENHANCED FLOATING RATE OPPORTUNITIES LIMITED

Directors’ report .
The Directors present their annual Report and Financial Statements of Castle Hill Enhanced Floating Rate
Opportunities Limited (“the Company”) for the year ended 31 December 2013.

The financial statements of the Company have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRS").

During the year the functional and presentational currency of the Company was changed from Euro (€) to Sterling (£).
The directors’ believe that this change is appropriate having considered a number of factors such as:

¢ The original notes issued in May 2009 were redenominated on 1 July 2013 to Sterling, the liability is now
reflected in Sterling and the principal and coupon payable are Sterling. Further tranches of notes issued
during the period were also denominated in Sterling.

¢ As at 31 May 2013 the investing activities of the portfolio was mainly UK credits.
* The main expenses (Base management and performance fees) are reflected in Sterling.

Business Review

Principal activities, business review and future developments

The Company has been established to issue Senior Secured Deferrable Floating Rate Notes due 2019 with an
aggregate principal amount of up to £2,000,000,000 (originally €2,000,000,000) (the “Notes”). On 1 May 2009 the
Company issued €130,000,000 Senior Secured Deferred Floating Rate Notes. On 1 July 2013 the original notes issued
were amended and restated as £111,410,000 Senior Secured Deferrable Floating Rate Notes (Tranche 1). On 11 July
2013 there was a further tranche of notes issued £49,521,725 (notional: 31,465,504) (Tranche 2), there were notes
issued in the amount of £478,275 (notional: 303,890) (Tranche 3) on 31 July 2013 and on 10 October 2013 Tranche 4
notes of £43,999,224 (notional: 27,369,510) were issued. All notes issued are direct, secured and limited recourse
obligations of the Company. The Company has used the proceeds from the Notes to purchase loan assets and
custodial assets.

At 31 December 2013, the portfolio details are as follows:

EUR Nominal amounts €123m (2012 €107m),
Carrying value €102m (2012: € 70m)
GBP Nominal amounts £66m (2012: £ 49m)
Carrying value £69m (2012: £ 48m)
uUsD Par amounts $153m (2012: $ 70m)
Carrying value $144m (2012: $ 60m)
NOK  Par amounts NOK-m (2012: NOK10m)
Carrying value NOK -m (2012: NOKSm)
CAD Nominal amounts CAD 4m (2012: CAD 5m)
Carrying value CAD 4m (2012:CAD 5m)
CHF Nominal amounts CHF 4m (2012:CHF -m)
Carrying value CHF 4m (2012:CHF -m)

Cash and cash equivalents balance £74m (2012: £25m).

The Directors expect to maintain the current level of activities going forward.

Key Perfomance Indicators

The results for the year are set out in the Statement of Comprehensive Income on page 11. The profit before tax was
£Nil (2012: £ Nil). No dividends were paid during the year (2012: £ Nil).

As detailed below, the performance of the loan asset portfolio was strong in 2013 and the contributory factors are
discussed further in the Investment Manager's Report.

- Tha Companv's fair yaliie gain gn-finane ial-asseis vas-£8i (2012 Galrr£14m)

- The Company's fair value loss on financial liabilities issued was £16m (2012: Loss £19m)

Principal risks and uncertainties

The Company is exposed to number of financial risks arising from its underlying assets and liabilities. The key risk
factors that affect the Company and the manner in which these risks have been dealt with, are disclosed in note 19 to
the financial statements.




CASTLE HILL ENHANCED FLOATING RATE OPPORTUNITIES LIMITED

Internal Control

The Board of Directors is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control and risk management
systems of the Company in relation to the financial reporting process by way of delegating to third parties, namely
Maples Fiduciary Services (Ireland) Limited (the “Corporate Administrator”) and Castle Hill Asset Management LLC
and Castle Hill Asset Management LLP (the “Investment Manager”). The board understands the controls within the
Corporate Administrator. Such systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of error or fraud in
achieving the Company'’s financial reporting objectives and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance
against material misstatement or loss.

The Board of Directors has procedures in place to ensure all relevant books of account are properly maintained and
are readily available, including production of annual financial statements. The annual financial statements of the
Company are required to be approved by the Board of Directors of the Company and filed with the Irish Stock
Exchange. The statutory financial statements are required to be audited by independent auditors who report annually
to the board on their findings.

Going concern

The Notes are scheduled to mature in May 2019 and are limited recourse obligations of the Company that are payable
solely out of amounts received in respect of the financial assets. As part of the Board's comprehensive assessment of
whether the Company is a going concern, the Board reviews the monthly NAV reports and holds quarterly meetings to
assess the performance of the portfolio.

As a result of these reviews, the Directors have a reasonable expectation that the Company has adequate resources to
continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. Accordingly, they continue to adopt the going concern
basis in preparing the financial statements.

Directors and their interests
The names of those individuals who served as Directors of the Company during the year or who held office as at the

date of signature of this report are as follows:

Padraic Doherty
Stephen O’'Donnell
Paul Morrison (Alternate Director)

None of the Directors or secretary who held office on 31 December 2013 held any shares in the Company or any group
company at that date, or during the year.

Secretary
MFD Secretaries Limited acted as Secretary throughout the year.

Books of account

The Directors believe that they have complied with the requirements of section 202 of the Companies Act, 1990 with
regard to the books of account by employing accounting personnel with the appropriate expertise and by providing
adequate resources to the financial function. The books of account of the Company are maintained at Beaux Lane
House, Mercer Street Lower, Dublin 2, Ireland.

Events after the reporting period
There have been no significant events subsequent to year end that would require adjustments or disclosure in these

financial statements.
Re-appointment of auditors

Ernst & Young, have indicated their willingness to remain in office in accordance with Section 160(2) of the Companies
Act, 1963.

On behalf of the Board

Kosrterl

Padraic Doherty Paumglson as alternate for Stephen O’Donnell
Director Director

28 March 2014
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Directors’ Responsibilities Statements

The Directors are responsible for preparing the financial statements in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) and with those parts of the Companies Acts, 1963 to 2013 applicable to companies
reporting under IFRS.

Irish company law requires the Directors to prepare financial statements for each financial period which give a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the profit or loss of the Company for that period. In preparing
these financial statements, the Directors are required to:

° select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

° make judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

o prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the
Company will continue in business; and

° comply with applicable IFRS, subject to any material departures disclosed and explained' in the financial
statements. :

The Directors confirm that they have complied with the above requirements in preparing the financial statements. The
Directors are responsible for keeping proper books of account that disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the
financial position of the Company and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the provision of .

the Companies Acts, 1963 to 2013.

They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the
prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

On behalf of the Board

Padraic Doherty Paul Morrison as alternate for Stephen O’Donnell
Director Director

28 March 2014




CASTLE HILL ENHANCED FLOATING RATE OPPORTUNITIES LIMITED

Investment Manager’s Report

Portfolio Performance and Market Overview

Globally, the leveraged finance markets turned in another strong set of returns in 2013 as the search for higher income
alternatives remains in full swing. On the back of improving European sentiment, the European markets (both loans
and bonds) outperformed their US counterparts. Returns for both European high yield bonds and loans were around
9% compared to 7.5% for US high yield and 6.2% for US leveraged loans. Issuance statistics were very strong, with
the US loan market seeing over $600bin of primary transactions. This figure represents the highest volume ever for the
US market, even surpassing pre-crisis levels. However, looking behind the headline figure, almost half of this activity
represented opportunistic refinancing. With over $60bln of inflows into US leveraged loan mutual funds and another
$87bln in US CLO issuance it's no wonder that issuers were able to take advantage of the situation. US leveraged loan
funds have seen over 80 straight weeks of cash inflows. US high yield saw only $340bin in issuance, in line with
2012's $346bln. Given the concerns surrounding potentially rising rates in the US, it's perhaps no surprise that US high
yield funds were only able to net an additional $1.8bln in inflows.

European leveraged finance issuance was strong (but still a fraction of its larger, US sibling). Leveraged loan issuance
exceeded €67bln, with more than half going to institutional investors, the first time that's happened in Europe in over 5
years. Echoing a similar theme as across the Atlantic, 58% of the transaction proceeds were dedicated to refinancing
activity. If not for the booming US market, it is possible that Europe issuance might have hit the €100bIn mark, as
European issuers placed €28bin of transaction in the dollar market. One technical bright note for the European
leveraged loan market is the resurrection of the European CLO market which has rebounded from zero issuance in '12
to price over €7bin in transactions in '13. The European high yield market had another strong year with record setting
issuance and again surpassing the loan market, issuing over €70bin worth of bonds.

Outlook

Given the nature of fixed income, we unfortunately expect to see lower levels of absolute returns for both bonds and
loans on both sides of the Atlantic in 2014. We also expect to see slightly less robust issuance calendar as private
equity activity appéars to be more focused on realising exits and many transactions have already taken advantage of
lower spreads and refinanced in 2013. With risk spreads continuing to collapse, we believe that incremental returns no
longer outweigh the incremental risks available in lower quality investments. In today's low spread world, the
opportunity cost of a conservatively positioned portfolio has never been lower. In this environment we would expect to
continue to focus on stronger credits and run slightly elevated cash balances until the market begins to more
appropriately price its underlying credit risk.

Castle Hill Asset Management LLC and Castle Hill Asset Management LLP

28 March 2014




Building a better
working world

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF CASTLE HILL ENHANCED
FLOATING RATE OPPORTUNITIES LIMITED

We have audited the financial statements of Castle Hill Enhanced Floating Rate
Opportunities Limited for the year ended 31 December 2013 which comprise the Statement
of Comprehensive Income, the Statement of Financial Position, the Statement of Cash Flows,
the Statement of Changes in Equity and the related notes 1 to 28. The financial reporting
framework that has been applied in their preparation is lrish law and International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union.

This report is made solely to the company's members, as a body, in accordance with section
193 of the Companies Act, 1990. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state
to the company's members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor's
report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or
assume responsibility to anyone other than the company and the company's members as a
body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors

As explained more fully in the Directors’ Responsibilities Statement set out on page 7, the
directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements giving a true and fair
view. Our responsibility is to audit and express an opinion on the financial statements in
accordance with Irish law and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those
standards require us to comply with the Auditing Practices Board’'s Ethical Standards for
Auditors.

Scope of the audit of the financial statements

An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from
material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. This includes an assessment of:
whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the company’s circumstances and have
been consistently applied and adequately disclosed; the reasonableness of significant
accounting estimates made by the directors; and the overall presentation of the financial
statements. In addition, we read all the financial and non-financial information in the annual
report to identify material inconsistencies with the audited financial statements and to identify
any information that is apparently materially incorrect based on, or materially inconsistent
with, the knowledge acquired by us in the course of performing the audit. If we become aware
of any apparent material misstatements or inconsistencies we consider the implications for
our report.

Continued /...




Building a better
working world

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF CASTLE HILL ENHANCED
FLOATING RATE OPPORTUNITIES LIMITED (Continued)

Opinion on financial statements
In our opinion the financial statements:

e give a true and fair view, in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European
Union, of the state of the company'’s affairs as at 31 December 2013 and of its results
for the year then ended; and

e have been properly prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies
Acts 1963 to 2013.

Matters on which we are required to report by the Companies Acts 1963 to 2013

e We have obtained all the information and explanations which we consider necessary
for the purposes of our audit.

e In our opinion proper books of account have been kept by the company.
e The financial statements are in agreement with the books of account.

e In our opinion, the information given in the directors’ report is consistent with the
financial statements.

e The net assets of the company, as stated in the statement of financial position are
more than half of the amount of its called-up share capital and, in our opinion, on that
basis there did not -exist at 31 December 2013 a financial situation which under
Section 40 (1) of the Companies (Amendment) Act, 1983 would require the
convening of an extraordinary general meeting of the company.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

We have nothing to report in respect of the provisions in the Companies Acts 1963 to 2013
which require us to report to you if, in our gpjnion, the disclosures of directors’ remuneration
and transactions specified by law are not

3

John McCormack
For and on behalf of Ernst & Young

Dublin

31 March 2014
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CASTLE HILL ENHANCED FLOATING RATE OPPORTUNITIES LIMITED

Statement of comprehensive income
for the year ended 31 December 2013

2013 2012
Notes £000 £000

Income/ (expense) from continuing activities v
Net income from investment securities held 4 16,752 23,997
Net income/ (expense) on financial assets held for trading - derivatives 4 9,681 (1,497)
Net expense on debt securities issued 14 (22,627) (19,961)
Operating income 3,806 2,539
Administrative expenses 5 (3,617) (2,489)
Foreign exchange loss 7 (189) (50)
(3,806) (2,539)
Profit for the year before tax - -
9 - -

Tax charge
Profit for the year attributable to owners
Other comprehensive income

Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to owners

All items dealt with in arriving at the result for the year ended 31 December 2013 related to continuing activities.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

The financial statements were approved by the board of directors on 28 March 2014 and signed on its behalf by:

[

Director Director

28 March 2014
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CASTLE HILL ENHANCED FLOATING RATE- OPPORTUNITIES LIMITED

Statement of financial position
as at 31 December 2013

As at 31 As at 31 As at 31
December December December
2013 2012 2011
Notes £000 £000 £000
Equity attributable to owners
Share capital 10 - - -
Retained earnings - - -
Total equity . - - -
Non-current liabilities
Financial liabilities at FVTPL - 17 278,533 162,178 147,212
Tptal non-current liabilities 278,633 162,178 147,212
Current liabilities
Accruals 1 1,224 1,616 857
Derivatives - - 367
Unsettled trades 11 50,503 17,001 -
Total current liabilities 51,727 18,517 1,224
Total equity and liabilities 330,260 180,695 148,436
Non-current assets
Financial assets at FVTPL 16 245,374 146,310 130,982
Total non-current assets 245,374 146,310 130,982
Current assets
Interest receivable 12 1,205 1,363 481
Unsettled trades 12 5,338 ‘ 5,191 -
Cash and cash equivalents 15 73,876 25,432 13,408
Margin balances 12 3,052 882 2,426
Derivatives 13 1,415 1,617 1,139
Total current assets 84,886 34,385 17,454
Total assets 330,260 180,695 148,436

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

The financial stafements were approved by the board of directors on 28 March 2014 and signed on its behalf by:

%Z@&mﬁ bl Liitn

Padraic Doherty Paul Morrison as alternate for Stephen O’Donnell
Director Director

28 March 2014

Company Registration Number: 464395
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CASTLE HILL ENHANCED FLOATING RATE OPPORTUNITIES LIMITED

Statement of cash flows
for the year ended 31 December 2013

2013 2012
Notes £000 £000
Cash flows from operating activities
Cash generated by operations ; 18 46,446 16,999
Net cash flows from operating activities 46,446 16,999
Cash flows from investing activities
Acquisition of investment securities including accrued interest 16 (279,978) (78,541)
Proceeds from closure of derivative positions 1,245 -
Proceeds from sale of investments 16 186,694 74,005
Net cash used in investing activities (92,039) (4,536)
Cash flows from financing activities
Issuance of senior secured notes 17 94,226 -
Net cash flows provided by financing activities 94,226 -
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 48,633 12,463
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 15 25,432 13,019
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 7 (189) (50)
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 15 73,876 25,432
Supplementary disclosures on cash from operating activities
Interest received 9,249 8,796
Interest paid 356 1,104

The accompanyihg notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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CASTLE HILL ENHANCED FLOATING RATE OPPORTUNITIES LIMITED

Statement of changes in equity
for the year ended 31 December 2013

Share capital Retained
(note 10) earnings Total
£000 £000 £000
At 1 January 2013 - - -
Total comprehensive income for the year - - -
Other comprehensive income - - -
At 31 December 2013 - - -
Share capital Retained
(note 10) earnings Total
£000 £000 £000

At 1 January 2012 - - -

Total comprehensive income for the year - - -
Other comprehensive income - - -

At 31 December 2012 - - .

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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CASTLE HILL ENHANCED FLOATING RATE OPPORTUNITIES LIMITED

Notes to the financial statements

1. Company information

The Company was incorporated on 18 November 2008 under the Companies Act 1963 to 2013. Castle Hill Enhanced
Floating Rate Opportunities Limited (‘the Company”) is a company domiciled in Ireland and was established to issue
senior secured deferrable floating rate notes (“the Notes”), to apply the proceeds to purchase loan assets and custodial
assets, and to engage in certain related transactions and agreements. The Notes are direct, secured and limited

recourse obligations of the Company with respect to the assets purchased.

Castle Hill Asset Management LLC, a limited liability company formed under the laws of the State of Delaware, and
Castle Hill Asset Management LLP, a limited liability partnership formed under the laws of England and Wales
(together, the “Investment Managers”) act as the investment managers of the Company. Castle Hill Asset
Management LLC is an investment adviser registered with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission on February

28,2012,

2. Accounting policies

Basis of preparation
The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for the following:

« Financial assets designated at Fair Value through Profit or Loss (‘FVTPL") are measured at fair value;
o Financial liabilities issued designated at FVTPL are measured at fair value;.
e Financial assets held for trading — derivatives, are measured at fair value.

The method used to measure fair values is discussed further below.
Statement of compliance

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”)
as adopted by the European Union (“EU”) and in accordance with Irish Statute comprising the Companies Acts, 1963
to 2013.

The financial statements are presented in Sterling (£) rounded to the nearest £000 except where otherwise stated.

Assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the statement of financial position only when there is a
legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise
the assets and settle the liability simultaneously. Income and expenses are not offset in the income statement unless
required or permitted by an international financial reporting standard or interpretation, as specifically disclosed in the
accounting policies of the Company.

The accounting policies set out in Note 2 have been applied in preparing the financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2013.

Change in Accounting Policy during the year
During the year the functional and presentational currency of the Company was changed from Euro (€) to Sterling (£).
The directors’ believe that this change is appropriate having considered a number of factors such as:

e The original notes issued in May 2009 were redenominated on 1 July 2013 to Sterling, the liability is now
reflected in Sterling and the principal and coupon payable are Sterling. Further tranches of notes issued
during the period were also denominated in Sterling.

o As at 31 May 2013 the investing activities of the portfolio was mainly UK credits.
e The main expenses (Base management and performance fees) are reflected in Sterling.

As a result, the presentation currency was revised and effective from 1 July 2013 the functional currency of the
‘Company was Sterling pounds. The prior year financial statements, whose pre ' s the Euro, have
been translated from Euros to Sterling pounds to provide for relevant comparatives as required under IAS 8 as this is a
change in accounting policy of the Company. Monetary assets and liabilities were translated using the foreign
exchange rate in effect at 31 December 2011, 31 December 2012 and 31 December 2013, and transactions
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CASTLE HILL ENHANCED FLOATING RATE OPPORTUNITIES LIMITED

2. Accounting policies (continued)

throughout the year were translated at the average rate for the years ended 31 December 2012 and 31 December
2013. There were no resuiting foreign exchange gains or losses.

The change in presentation currency, which represents a change in accounting policy, has no effect on the results of
the prior years except for the presentation of the total balances in Sterling pounds instead of Euro. This is due to any
profit incurred by the Company being absorbed by the Senior Secured Deferrable Floating Rate Notes issued.

Critical accounting estimates and judgements

The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptlons
that may affect the application of accountirg policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and
expenses. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and various other factors
that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making the
judgements about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised and in any future periods affected.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

Determining fair values

The determination of fair value for financial assets and liabilities for which there is no observable market price requires
the use of valuation techniques as described below. For financial instruments that trade infrequently and have little
price transparency, fair value is less objective, and requires varying degrees of judgement depending on liquidity,
concentration, uncertainty of market factors, pricing assumptions and other risks affecting the specific instrument.

Critical accounting judgements in applying the Company’s accounting policies

Critical accounting judgements made in applying the Company’s accounting policies in relation to valuation of financial
instruments include:

Valuation of financial instruments
The Company measures fair values using the following hierarchy of methods:

e Level 1 - Quoted market price in an active market for an identical instrument.
e Level 2 - Valuation techniques based on observable inputs. This category includes instruments valued using:
quoted market prices in active markets for similar instruments; quoted prices for similar instruments in markets

that are considered less than active; or other valuation techniques where all significant inputs are directly or
indirectly observable from market data.

¢ Level 3 - Valuation techniques using significant unobservable inputs. This category includes all instruments
where the valuation technique includes inputs not based on observable data and the unobservable inputs could
have a significant effect on the instrument’s valuation. This category includes instruments that are valued based
on quoted prices for similar instruments where significant unobservable adjustments or assumptions are required
to reflect differences between the instruments.

Income tax
Income tax comprises current tax. Income tax is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates and laws enacted or
substantively enacted at the date of the statement of financial position together with adjustments to tax payable in respect
of previous years.

Deferred tax is provided for on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial
reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is not provided in respect of temporary
differences arising from the initial recognition of goodwill and the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction
that is not a business combination and that, at the time of the transaction, affects neither accounting nor taxable profit.
The amount of deferred tax provided is based on the expected manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying amount
of assets and liabilities, using tax rates and [aws enacted or substantively enacted at the year end.

A deferred tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against
which the asset can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related
tax benefit will be realised.

Foreign currency transactions
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the functional currency of the Company at exchange rates at the dates
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2. Accounting policies (continued)

of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting date are retranslated
to the functional currency at the exchange rate at that date. Non monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies that are. measured at fair value are retranslated to the functional currency at the exchange rate at the date that
the fair value was determined. Foreign currency differences arising on retranslation are recognised in profit and loss
together with other fair value changes arising from the asset or liability.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents consists of cash held with banks which are subject to insignificant risk of changes in their fair
value, and are used by the Company in the management of its short term commitments.

Going concern

The Company’s management has made an assessment of the Company'’s ability to continue as a going concern and is
satisfied that the Company has the resources to continue in business for the foreseeable future. Furthermore, the
. management is not aware of any material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern. Therefore, the financial statements continue to be prepared on the going concern basis.

Financial instruments
The financial instruments held by the Company include the following:

e Financial assets designated at FVTPL;
o Financial liabilities designated at FVTPL; and
¢ Financial assets held for trading - derivatives

Classification
A financial asset or financial liability at fair value through statement of comprehensive income is a financial asset or
liability that is classified as held-for-trading or designated at FVTPL.

Recognition ' .

The Company initially recognises all financial assets and liabilities at fair value on the trade date at which the Company
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instruments. From trade date, any gains and losses arising from
changes in fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are recorded in the statement of
comprehensive income. Transaction costs on financial assets and financial liabilities at FVTPL are expensed
immediately. The Company does not have any master netting agreements with its counterparties, all financial assets
and financial liabilities are presented in gross terms.

Derecognition

The Company derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or it
transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows on the financial asset in a transaction in which substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred. Any interest in transferred financial assets
that is created or retained by the Company is recognised as a separate asset or liability. The Company derecognises a
financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged or cancelled or expire.

Financial assets designated at FVTPL

Investment securities are designated at fair value through profit or loss. The investment securities are initially
recognised at fair value and are classified as financial assets at fair value through profit and loss. Upon initial
recognition, attributable transaction costs are recognised in profit or loss when incurred. Financial assets and financial
liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss are stated at fair value at period end, which may be estimated
by management based on prices provided by the Investment Manager and in the absence of readily determinable
market prices. Management estimates are based on a variety of different valuation techniques such as using recent
arm’s length transactions, reference to the current fair values of other instruments that are substantially the same,
discounted cash flow techniques, option pricing models or any other valuation technique that provides an estimate of
prices obtained should the investment be traded.

Financial assets held for trading - derivatives

Derivatives include all derivative assets and liabilities that are categorised as financial assets and liabilities -held for
trading. Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date a derivative contract is entered into and are
subsequently measured at their fair value. Foreign exchange futures and credit default swaps are marked to market
and are recorded in the statement of financial position.

Financial liabilities designated at FVTPL

The debt securities issued are initially measured at fair value and are categorised as financial liabilities at fair value
through ‘profit and loss. The fair value changes of the debt securities issued are recognised immediately in the
statement of comprehensive income. The ultimate amount to be repaid to the noteholder will depend on the proceeds
received from the investment securities and the derivatives. The fair value of the notes equates to the fair value total of
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2. Accounting policies (continued)

investment securities, derivatives and cash and cash equivalents less accrued payables and expenses. The finance
costs of the debt are determined through the priorities of payment schedule based on income receipts and fair value
changes from the investment securities held. All finance costs are charged to the statement of comprehensive income
reported under net expense on debt securities issued. The carrying amount of debt is increased by the finance cost in
respect of the reporting period and reduced by payments in respect of the debt in that period. The notes issued are
initially recorded at the value of the net proceeds received and are carried at fair value through profit or loss.

Financial assets and liabilities that are not at FVTPL

Financial assets that are not at FVTPL include cash and cash equivalents, margin balances, interest receivable and
unsettled trades. Financial liabilities that are not at FVTPL include accrued expenses and unsettied trades. Financial
assets and liabilities that are not at FVTPL are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently measured at
amortised cost.

Investment income on financial assets at FVTPL
Net income from investment securities designated at fair value relates to investments and includes interest income,
realised and unrealised fair value changes and foreign exchange differences.

Income/ (expense) on debt securities issued
Net loss on financial liabilities designated at fair value comprises realised and unrealised fair value changes and
foreign exchange differences, and is determined with reference to the net income from investment securities.

Interest income
Interest income relates to coupon receipts on investment securities. Interest income is recognised in the statement of
comprehensive income on an accruals basis.

Events after the reporting period

The financial statements are adjusted to reflect significant events that have a material effect on the financial results and
that have occurred between the period end and the date when the financial statements are authorised for issue,
provided they give evidence of conditions that existed at the period end. Events that are indicative of conditions that
arise after the period end that do not result in an adjustment to the financial statements are disclosed.

Functional and presentation currency

The financial statements are presented in Sterling (£) which is the Company’s functional currency being the currency of
the primary economic environment in which the entity operates. Previously the financial statements were presented in
Euro (€). :

The opening values have been restated at the exchange rates prevailing 31 December 2012. There were no resulting
notional gains/losses due to the movement of exchange rates between 31 December 2012 and 31 December 2013 and
the average exchange rates used to translate to Statement of Comprehensive income for the year ended 31 December
2013 as the Company does not retain any profit/(loss).

'Other comprehensive income' has been opted to be disclosed on the face of the Statement of Comprehensive Income
in accordance with IAS 1.

3. Financial information

The financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2013 were authorised by the Board of Directors for issue on
28 March 2014.

In preparing the financial statements the Company has adopted the following standards, interpretations and
amendments which have been issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (1ASB') and have been adopted
for use by the EU. None of these have a material effect on the results of the Company.

IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement (2013) defines fair value and sets out in a single IFRS a framework for measuring
fair value.

Presentation of Items of Other Comprehensive Income (Amendments to 1AS 1) (2013). The amendment requires
companies to group together items within other comprehensive income that may be reclassified to the profit or loss
section of the statement of comprehensive income.

New standards and interpretations not yet adopted

The IASB has issued the following standards, interpretations and amendments which, subject to adoption for use by
the EU, apply from the dates shown. The Company has decided not to early adopt any of these standards,
interpretations or amendments where this is permitted. The impact on the Company of adopting them is subject to
evaluation:
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3. Financial information (continued)
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments — Classification and Measurement

IFRS 9, as issued, reflects the 1ASB’s work on the replacement of IAS 39 and applies to the classification and
measurement of financial as-sets and liabilities as defined in IAS 39 and the application of hedge accounting. The
standard was initially effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013 but Amendments to IFRS 9
Mandatory Effective Date of IFRS 9 and Transition Disclosures, issued in December 2011, moved the mandatory
effective date to 1 January 2015. This date has now been removed to provide sufficient time for preparers of financial
statements' to make the transition to the new requirements and a new effective date will be announced upon
completion of the IFRS 9 project.

During 2013 the IASB issued an updated version of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (Hedge Accounting and
amendments to IFRS 9, IFRS 7 and IAS 39) (IFRS 9 (2013)), which includes new hedge accounting requirements and
some related amendments to IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures. The IASB still has to complete the impairment
phase of the project. The Company will assess the impact of IFRS 9 when the final standard including all phases is
issued, subject to EU endorsement. This is the first two parts of a replacement standard for IAS 39 Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement and deals with the classification and measurement of financial assets and
financial liabilities, including some hybrid contracts

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as
adopted by the European Union (“IFRS”).

In preparing the financial statements the Company has adopted all applicable standards, interpretations and
amendments which have been issued by the International Accounting Standards Board and have been adopted for use
by the EU in 2013.

4. Net Income on investment securities ,
2013 2012

£000 £000

Investment income on financial assets at FVTPL
Realised gains/ (losses) 20,167 (6,002)
Unrealised (losses)/gains (12,386) 19,832
Foreign exchange (losses)/gains (1,406) 475
Interest income on investment securities 10,377 9,692
16,752 23,997
Net income/ (expense) on financial assets held for trading - derivatives 2013 2012
£000 £000
Realised gains/(losses) on foreign exchange futures 9,029 (1,876)
Unrealised gains on foreign exchange futures 911 ; 859
Net foreign exchange (losses)/gains on margin balances ‘ (44) 94
Net losses on margin balances (12) (51)
CDS expense (203) (523)
9,681 (1,497)

5. Administrative expenses

2013 2012
£000 £000
Performance fees 1,690 806
Management fees ' 1,467 1,025
Investment Manager expenses 115 170
Audit fees 28 28
Corporate Services fees 22 21
Legal and professional fees 203 39
Trustee, Custodian and Collateral Administrator fees 101 128
Preliminary expenses (200) 130
Other expenses 191 142
3,617 2,489
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5. Administrative expenses (continued)
The Company has no employees.

Investment Manager fees

During the year under review the Investment Manager earned £3,157k in fees from the Company (2012: £1,831k).
Management fees earned were £1,467k (2012: £1,025k) and Performance fees earned were £1,690k (2012: £806k).
Management and Performance fees payable at year end amounted to £921k (2012: £1,079k).

Management fees are calculated and paid on a quarterly basis. Management fees are payable at a rate of 0.65% per
annum of the Gross Asset Value (determined prior to the deduction of such Management Fee or any other amounts
payable by the Issuer on the same date as the Management Fee.

Performance fees are calculated and paid on a quarterly basis. Performance fees are calculated as the product of the
excess return for the period at a rate of 20%, provided that no performance fee shall be payable if the High Water Mark
is not satisfied.

The Investment Manager shall also be entitled to be repaid out of the assets of the Company expenses incurred on
behalf of the Company. During the period under review, the Investment Manager charged expenses of £115k (2012:
£170k) to the Company.

Trustee, Custodian and Administrator fees

The Company paid £101k (2012; £128k) to the Bank of New York Mellon, in respect of its duties as Collateral
Administrator, Principal Paying Agent, Custodian, Calculation Agent and Account Bank. The Collateral Administrator
shall also be entitled to be repaid out of the assets of the Company ali of its reasonable out-of-pocket expenses
incurred on behalf of the Company which shall include legal fees, printing costs and courier fees (plus VAT, if any
thereon).

6. Auditors’ remuneration

The remuneration of the auditors of the Company in respect of services supplied to entities included in the financial
statements was as follows:

2013 2012

£000 £000

Audit of the financial statements 28 28
7. Foreign exchange loss

2013 2012

£000 £000

Foreign exchange loss on cash and cash equivalents (189) (50)

8. Directors’ remuneration

The Company is administered by Maples Fiduciary Services (Ireland) Limited (Corporate Administrator) and has no
employees. The Directors of the Company are employees of Maples Fiduciary Services (Ireland) Limited and the
Director fees are nil (2012: nil).

9. Tax charge
2013 2012

£000 £000

Profit on ordinary activities before tax - -
Current tax at 25% - -
Current tax charge : - -

Current tax is calculated at 25% (2012:25%) in accordance with Section 110 of the Taxes Consolidation Act 1997.
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10. Share capital

The Company's Articles of Association contain a restriction on the number of shares that may be allotted.

2013 2012

€ €

Authorised: 100,000 (2012:100,000) ordinary shares of €1 each 100,000 100,000
Issued and fully paid: 1 (2012:1) ordinary share of €1 1 1

The holders of the ordinary shares are entitled to one vote per share on matters to be voted on by owners and received
such dividends, if any, as may be declared by the Board of Directors in its discretion out of legally available profits.

11. Accruals and unsettled trades

2013 2012

£000 £000

Interest payable 203 65
Operating expenses payable 1,021 1,451
Amount due on unsettled trades 50,503 17,001
51,727 18,517

12. Other receivables

2013 2012

£000 £000

Interest receivable 1,205 1,363
Margin account balance _ 3,052 882
Amounts receivable on unsettled trades 5,338 5,191
9,595 7,436

The margin account balances are held with Deutsche Bank AG and are subject to restrictions and requirements to hold
funds sufficient to meet margin calls.

13. Derivatives

2013 2012
£000 £000
Foreign exchange futures — unrealised gain on foreign exchange futures 1,415 503
Credit default swap _ 1,014
1,415 1,517
The amounts above represent the fair value of the positions held at year end.
The notional value of Foreign exchange futures held is outlined in the table below:
2013 2012
Notional Notional
‘000 ‘000
72,565 149,895

Foreign Exchange futures contracts

The initial margin relating to Foreign exchange futures held with Deutsche Bank as at 31 December 2013 were GBP
£1,852k, USD $3,220k, CAD $66k, and CHF 84k (2012: GBP £1,162k, USD $1,097k, NOK 315k).
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14. Net expense on debt securities issued at FVTPL

Interest on debt securities issued
Fair value losses on debt securities issued
Foreign exchange losses on debt securities

15. Cash and cash equivalents

Bank and cash balances

2013 2012
£000 £000
(498) (744)
(16,345) (19,217)
*(5,784) -
(22,627) (19,961)
2013 2012
£000 £000
73,876 25,432

The Company’s cash balances are held with Bank of New York Mellon and Bank of Ireland. For the purposes of the
statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise the above amounts at 31 December 2013 and 31

December 2012.

16. Financial assets at FVTPL

2013 2012
Loans Bonds Total Loans Bonds Total
£000 £000 £'000 £'000 £°000 £000
Investment securities — designated and held at 179,819 65,555 245,374 82,701 63,609 146,310
FVTPL )
Cost 184,783 61,004 245,787 71,704 57,906 129,610
Movement in investment securities
At beginning of year 82,701 63,609 146,310 93,344 33,435 126,779
Additions 216,978 63,000 279,978 31,366 47,175 78,541
Repayments and disposals (121,935) (64,759) (186,694) (49,862) (24,143) (74,005)
Realised gain on financial assets 16,498 3,669 20,167 (1,749)  (4,253)  (6,002)
Unrealised (losses) / gains on financial assets (12,145) (241)  (12,386) 9,269 10,5663 19,832
Foreign exchange (losses) / gains (2,278) 277 (2,001) 333 832 1,165
At end of year 179,819 65555 245374 82,701 63,609 146,310

The carrying value of the assets of the Company represents the maximum exposure to credit risk. The credit risk is
eventually transferred to the debt securities holder through the terms and conditions of the Notes.

17. Financial liabilities at FVTPL

Debt securities issued - designated and held at FVTPL

Maturity analysis of debt securities in issue

Greater than 5 years
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17. Financial liabilities at FVTPL (continued)

2013 2012

£000 £000
Movement in debt securities issued ‘
At beginning of year (162,178) (142,946)
Net issuance of senior secured notes (94,226) -
Change in fair value (16,345) (19,232)
Foreign exchange losses on debt securities before 1 July 2013 (5,784) -
Atend of year (278,533) (162,178)

Interest is accrued and paid on a quarterly basis on each payment date. The scheduled interest payable in respect of
each period is calculated on the principal amount outstanding of the Loan Notes as at the interest determination date at
the start of the related accrual period. The interest rate applied is GBP LIBOR.

The initial Loan Notes mature on the payment date falling on or nearest to May 2019, with respect to any other Loan
Notes issued the maturity date is that specified in the relevant Final Terms. '

At year end debt securities issued included cumulative net fair value increase of £73,124k. The change in fair value of

debt securities issued is attributable to the change in fair value of the Company’s assets and other liabilities. The initial
note issuance together with the tranches of notes issued during the current year was £205,409k.

18. Cash flows

2013 2012

£000 £000
Profit for the year before tax ' - -
Adjustments
Gains on financial assets (5,780) (13,816)
Gains on derivative assets (954) -
Gains on financial liabilities 22,129 19,217
Increase in other receivables (2,159) (6,087)
Increase in other payables 33,210 17,685
Cash generated by operations 46,446 16,999

19. Risk management

The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Company's risk
management framework.

The risk profile of the Company is such that market, credit, liquidity and other risks of the investment securities are
borne fully by the holders of debt securities issued. The income and principal payments to the debt securities holders
are determined with reference to a priorities of payment schedule as contained in the terms and conditions of the ‘debt
securities issued’ which state that payments of interest and principal on the debt securities will only be made to the
extent that there are collections available for such purposes on any applicable payment date.

The debt securities issued are initially recorded at the value of the net proceeds received in Sterling (£) and are carried
at FVTPL. The ultimate amount to be repaid to the debt securities holder will depend on the proceeds from the related
collaterals.

All substantial risks and rewards associated with the investment securities are ultimately borne by the debt securities
holders. Therefore any change in risk variables would not affect the equity or the total comprehensive income of the
Company.

The Company has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments:
o Market risk

o Credit risk

o Liquidity risk
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19. Risk management (continued)

This note presents information about the Company’s exposure to each of the above risks, the Company’s objectives,
policies and processes for measuring and managing risk and the Company’s management of capital.

Market risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as (i) interest rates, (i) currency risk and (iii) other price risk
will affect the Company’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The objective of market risk
management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimising the return
on risk.

Market risk embodies the potential for both loss and gains and includes interest rate risk, currency risk and market
price risk.

i) Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of
changes in market interest rates. The interest rate risk profile of the Company is as follows:

The interest rate profile of the Company's interest-bearing financial instruments was:

2013 2012
£000 £000
Variable rate instrument
Financial assets 322,302 172,624
Financial liabilities (278,533) (162,178)

Sensitivity analysis
An increase of 1% in interest rates as at the reporting date would have increased the interest income receivable and
payable by £438k (2012: £104k). A decrease of 1% would have had an equal but opposite effect.

ii) Currency risk

Currency risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of
changes in foreign exchange rates. Derivatives in the form of foreign exchange futures have been used to partially
hedge this currency risk. The Company’s exposure to foreign currency risk as at year end was as follows: ’

Currency CAD usb NOK GBP CHF EUR Total
Value £000  £000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Cash and cash equivalent 1,037 15,884 - 39,082 546 17,327 73,876
Margin balances 14 1,386 - 1,622 30 - 3,052
Derivatives . 10 806 . - 564 35 co- 1,415
Interest receivable 2 637 - 111 70 385 1,205
Unsettled trades - 3,175 - - - 2,163 5,338
Financial assets at FVTPL 2,549 86,651 - 68,787 2,828 84,559 245,374
3,612 108,539 - 110,166 3,509 104,434 330,260
Unsettled trades - (19,873) - (11,980) - (18,650) (60,503)
Other payables - - - (1,224) - - (1,224)
Financial liabilities at FVTPL - - - (278,533) - - (278,533)
- (19,873) - (291,737) - (18,650) (330,260)
Net open position 3,612 88,666 - (181,571) 3,509 85,784 -
Year end FX rates 1.7598 1.6562 - 1.0000 1.4730 1.2020
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19. Risk management (continued)

The Company’s exposure to foreign currency risk as at 31 December 2012 was as follows:

Currency CAD usD NOK GBP CHF . EUR Total
Value £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Cash and cash equivalent - 8,122 1,106 7,468 - 8,736 25,432
Margin balances - 446 24 412 - - 882
Derivatives - 273 3) 233 - 1,014 1,517
Interest receivable - 298 16 361 - 688 1,363
Unsettled trades - 1,210 - - - 3,981 5,191
Financial assets at FVTPL 3,047 36,659 1,045 48,221 - 57,338 146,310
3,047 47,008 2,188 56,695 - 71,757 180,695
Unsettled trades (3,027) (6,451) - (331) - (7,192) (17,001)
Other payables - - - - - (1,516) (1,516)
Financial liabilities at FVTPL - - - - - (162,178) (162,178)
(3,027) (6,451) - (331) - (170,886) (180,695)
Net open position 20 40,557 2,188 56,364 - (99,129) -
Year end FX rates 1.3090 1.3193 7.3421 1 - 1.2319

Sensitivity analysis

‘At 31 December 2013, had sterling strengthened by 5% in relation to all currencies, with all other variables held constant,
the decrease in the financial assets and financial liabilities above would have amounted to £9.079 (2012: £5.410M).

iii) Market price risk

Market price risk is the risk that the value of financial instruments will fluctuate as a result of changes in market prices
(other than those arising from interest rate risk and currency risk), whether caused by factors specific to an individual
investment, its issuer or all factors affecting all instruments traded in the market.

As all the Company’s financial instruments are carried at fair value with fair value changes recognised in the statement of
comprehensive income, all changes in market conditions will directly affect the Statement of Comprehensive Income. For

exposure to market price risk, please refer to the tables below:

Geographic distribution
Bulgaria
Canada
France
Germany
Greece

ltaly
Luxembourg
Netherlands
Norway
Poland
Spain
Sweden

UK

USA

2013
£000

1,286
8,749
7,467
814
32,095
20,813

2,396
3,114
87,882
80,758

245,374

2012
£000

6,276
1,319
10,952
2,845
912
5,668
17,858
1,044
2,352
2,159
62,968
31,957

146,310

Geographical distribution is based on counterparties’ place of primary listing or, if not listed place of domicile.
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19. Risk management (continued)

iif) Market price risk (continued)

2013 2012

Industry concentration % MV %MV
Retail 20.57 22.67
Electronics 11.75 0.85
Finance : 9.156 11.45
Buildings & Real Estate 8.87 12.29
Hotels, Motels, Inns and Gaming 7.03 -
Cargo Transport 6.07 2.23
Broadcasting and Entertainment 5.99 9.39
Chemicals, Plastics and Rubber 5.06 1.31
Aerospace and Defense 4.05 -
Oil and Gas 3.40 1.92
Manufacturing 2.76 2.60
Telecommunications 2.65 15.86
Healthcare, Education and Childcare 2.55 1.13
Printing and Publishing 2.09 3.29
Automobile 2.01 -
Machinery 1.87 -
Conglomerate Service 1.44 -
Textiles and Leather ' 1.02 -
Containers, Packaging and Glass 0.69 3.62
Beverage, Food and Tobacco 0.62 . 4,58
Leisure and Amusement 0.36 : -
Household products - 3.14
Home Furnishings - 2.88
Holdings . - 0.79
100.00 100.00

The 2012 percentage industry concentration has been changed from net asset value to market value which is believed
to better reflect the industry concentration of the Company.

Sensitivity analysis

A increase of 5% in the market price of assets would increase both the value of the financial assets and financial
liabilities by £12,269k (2012: £7,315k)

Credit risk

The credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Company if a counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its
contractual obligation, and arises principally from investment securities. The Company only invests with counterparties
which have certain credit ratings. The credit rating of Deutsche Bank is A+.

The Company limits its exposure to credit risk by investing in accordance with portfolio guidelines approved by the
Investment Manager of the Company. The risk of default on these assets is borne by the ‘debt securities holder' and
thus changes in credit ratings have no net impact on the equity or the Statement of Comprehensive Income of the
Company.
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19. Risk management (continued)

The carrying value of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure. The maximum exposure to credit risk
at year-end was as follows:

2013 2012

£000 £000 -
Cash and cash equivalents 73,876 25,432
Margin account balances 3,052 882
Financial assets designated at FVTPL 245,374 146,310
Interest receivable and unsettled trades 6,543 6,554
Derivatives 1,415 1,517
330,260 180,695

At the year end, the credit ratings of the Company’s investment securities were as follows:

Moody's credit rating 2013 2012
£000 £000
A - 3,166
B 14,230 -
B1 64,396 50,548
B2 24,662 6,784
B3 32,546 12,980
Ba1 - 6,945
Ba2 20,248 3,219
Ba3 23,013 9,430
Baa2 3,973 -
Baa3 ‘ 11,467 -
Ca . 2,554
Caa1 24,378 20,079
Caa2 205 2,123
Caa3 ‘ . 5,849
NR 26,256 22,633
245,374 146,310

Financial assets with no credit rating available all comprise of Special Purpose Entities (“SPEs”). The exposure of the
Company's investment securities is continuously monitored and the Directors receive monthly NAV reports and hold
quarterly calls with the Investment Manager.

At the year ;end, the credit ratings of the Company’s cash and cash equivalents, margin account balances and foreign
exchange futures were as follows:

2013 2012

Counterparty Rating £000 £000

Cash and cash equivalents  The Bank of New York Mellon P1 73,876 25,432
Margin accounts Deutsche Bank AG P1 3,052 882
Derivatives Deutsche Bank AG P1 1,415 1,517
78,343 . 27,831

Any reduction in value of investment securities related to credit risk will be borne by the debt securities holder. The
debt securities holder is fully exposed to the credit risk of the underlying collateral. Therefore, there is no residual credit

risk to the Company.
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19. Risk management (continued)

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due.

The Company’s obligations to debt securities holders are direct secured and limited recourse with respect to the assets

and cash flows of the Company and therefore the Company does not bear any liquidity risk in respect of the debt
securities issued.

The table below shows the undiscounted cash flows of the Company'’s financial liabilities as at year end.

Carrying Gross Less thanone Onetofive  More than
amount contractual year years five years

cash flows :
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Accruals and unsettled trades (61,727) (61,727) (51,727) - -
Debt securities issued (278,533) (283,381) (882) (3,626) (278,973)
(330,260) (335,108) (52,609) (8,526) = (278,973)

The table below shows the undiscounted cash flows of the Company’s financial liabilities as at 31 December 2012.

Carrying Gross  Lessthanone  One to five More than
amount contractual year years five years

cash flows '
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Accruals and unsettled trades (18,517) (18,517) (18,517) - -
Debt securities issued (162,178) (171,804) (1,375) (5,501) (164,928)
(180,695) (190,321) (19,892). (5,501) (164,928)

The Company’s approach to managing liquidity on a day to day basis is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always
have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring
unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Company’s reputation.

20. Fair values

The Company’s investment securities and debt securities issued are carried at fair value on the statement of financial
position. Usually the fair value of the financial instruments can be reliably determined within a reasonable range of

estimates. The carrying amounts of all the Company'’s financial assets and financial liabilities at the balance sheet date
approximated their fair values.

IFRS 13 establishes a three-tier hierarchy as a framework for disclosing fair value based on inputs used to value the
Company’s investments. The hierarchy of inputs is summarized below:

¢ quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1).

¢ inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly
(i.e., as prices) or indirectly (i.e., derived from prices) (Level 2); and.

e inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs) (Level 3).

Changes in valuation methods may result in transfers into or out of an investment'’s assigned level.
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20. Fair values (continued)

The following is a summary of the inputs used as of December 31, 2013 in valuing the Company’s investments and
debt securities carried at fair values.

At the reporting date, the carrying amounts of investment securities and debt securities issued by the Company which
fair values were determined directly, in full or in part, by reference to Level 1, Level 2 and Level 3 as mentioned above
are as follows:

2013 ' 2012
Level Level Level3 - Total Level Level Level 3 Total
1 2 ' 1 2

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Financial assets
Other interest bearing
investments
Investment securities 2,145 46,226 197,003 245,374 35,006 94,769 16,535 146,310
Derivative financial instruments
Cross currency futures - 1,415 - 1,415 - 503 - 503
Credit default swaps - - - - - 1,015 - 1,014
Total 2,145 47,641 197,003 246,789 35,006 96,286 16,535 147,827
Financial liabilities
Debt securities - - 278,533 278,533 - - 162,178 162,178
Total - - 278,533 278,533 - - 162,178 162,178

Level 3 valuation process and reconciliation
Valuations are the responsibility of the board of directors of the Company.

The Investment Manager has established valuation processes and procedures to ensure that the valuation
methodologies for investments that are categorized within Level 1, 2 and 3 of the fair value hierarchy, are fair,
consistent, and verifiable. The Investment Manager has established a Valuation Committee (the “Committee”) to
oversee the entire valuation process of the Fund’s Level 1, 2 and 3 investments. The Committee is responsible for
developing the Fund's written valuation processes and procedures, conducting periodic reviews of the valuation
policies, and evaluating the overall fairness and consistent application of the valuation policies. The Committee meets
on a monthly basis, or more frequently as needed, to determine the valuations of the Fund’s Level 1, 2 and 3
investments. Valuations determined by the Committee are required to be supported by market data, third-party pricing
sources, industry accepted pricing models, counterparty prices, or other methods the Committee deems to be
appropriate, including the use of internal proprietary pricing models

The following table shows a reconciliation of all movements in the fair value of financial instruments categorised within
Level 3. Transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy, are deemed to have occurred at the beginning of the
reporting period.

The transfers between levels are based on guidance from IFRS13 as follows; Information provided by third-party
pricing services could potentially be classified in any one of levels 1, 2, or 3, depending on its source and the type of
instrument being measured. For example, pricing services may provide quoted market prices (e.g., closing prices) for
financial instruments traded in active markets; these prices would be deemed level 1. Alternatively, pricing service may
provide an entity with consensus pricing information (e.g., information obtained by polling dealers for indications of mid-
market prices for a particular asset class). The non-binding nature of consensus pricing and the fact that it is
determined based on indications, rather than observable transactions, would generally result in its classification as
level 3 information, assuming no additional corroborating evidence.
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20. Fair values (continued)

Reconciliation of fair value measurement of Level 3 financial assets during the year ended 31 December 2013:

Loans Bonds Total

£000 £000 £000

As at 1 January 2013 16,535 - 16,535
Transfers between levels 25,518 10,788 36,306
Purchases 185,225 6,623 191,848
Sales / Paydowns (46,705) (2,006) (48,711)
Unrealised losses (4,970) 1,762 (3,208)
Realised gains 4,216 17 4,233
As at 31 December 2013 179,819 17,184 197,003

Reconciliation of fair value measurement of Level 3 financial assets during the year ended 31 December 2012:

Loans Bonds Total

£000 £000 £000

As at 1 January 2012 33,137 - 33,137
Transfers between levels (9,591) - (9,591)
Purchases 7,851 - 7,851
Sales / Paydowns (15,810) - (15,810)
Unrealised gains 1,053 - 1,053
Realised losses (105) - (105)
As at 31 December 2012 16,5635 - 16,535

Sensitivity analysis

A increase of 5% in the market price of level 3 assets would increase the value of the financial assets by £9,120k (2012:
£827k) and financial liabilities by £13,917k (2012: £8,115k). The directors consider a 5% fiuctuation to be reasonable in

the current market.

The major methods and assumptions used in estimating the fair values of financial instruments are disclosed in Note 2.

Description 2013 Valuation  Unobservable Range/weighted
£000 technique input average
Term loans 197,003 Independent Indicative Average of 5 broker quotes
third party broker quotes
service
provider

Net asset value
of underlying
assets

Debt securities 278,533

21, Related party transactions

During the year the Company incurred a fee of £22k (2012: £21k) relating to
Maples Fiduciary Services (lreland) Limited. The Directors of the Company,
Services (Ireland) Limited had an interest in this fee.

Level 3 assets

71% of net asset value is
comprised of the value of

held Level 3 assets

administration services provided by
as employees of Maples Fiduciary

Investment management services (Manégement fees, Performance fees and business as usual expenses) have been
provided to the Company by Castle Hill Asset Management LLC and Castle Hill Asset Management LLP. The total
charge for the year, including business as usual expenses, was £3,272k (2012: £2,001k). Details of fees and expenses

paid to each Investment Manager are set out in Note 5.
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21, Related party transactions (continued)

Amounts due fo related parties at the year end

2013 2012
£000 £000
Castle Hill Asset Management LLC 921 1,079

22. Off balance sheet arrangements
The Company was not party to off balance sheet arrangements for the year ended 31 December 2013 (2012: none)

23. Charges
The Notes issued by the Company are secured by way of a floating charge over the collateral of the Company.

24,  Segment reporting

An operating segment is a component of an entity that engages in business activities from which it may earn revenues
and incur expenses. The Company has only one operating segment. This operating segment generates revenues from
purchasing loan assets in Ireland. None of the revenues generated are greater than 10% from one external customer.

25, Events after the reporting period
There have been no significant events subsequent to the year end which impact on the Financial Statements for the
year ended 31 December 2013.

26. Capital Management

On incorporation the Company issued 1 share. There have been no subsequent issues or redemptions of share
capital. The notes issued by the Company are limited recourse debt obligations which are payable solely out of
amounts received by or on behalf of the Company in respect of the financial assets held by the Company.
Consequently, the Directors believe the level of share capital to be sufficient to support the activities of the Company in
the future.

27. Parent and ultimate controlling party

Phoenix Group Holdings can be considered as the ultimate parent as it has indirect control of the Company through its
control of the Listed Noteholders. The Company’s Financial Statements are consolidated into the Financial Statements
of Phoenix Group Holdings only because they retain the majority of the risks and benefits related to the
company. Phoenix Group Holdings is a company incorporated in the Cayman Islands and resident in Jersey. A copy
of the financial statements of Phoenix Group Holdings can be obtained from the Company Secretary, 1% Floor, 32
Commercial Street, St. Helier, Jersey, JE2 3RU.

28. Approval of the financial statements
The financial statements were approved by the Board on 28 March 2014.
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CASTLE HILL ENHANCED FLOATING RATE OPPORTUNITIES LIMITED

Directors’ report

Company registration No: 464395

Country of incorporation: Ireland

Registered Office: Beaux Lane House, Mercer Street Lower, Dublin 2, Ireland

The Directors present their annual Report and Financial Statements of Castle Hill Enhanced Floating Rate
Opportunities Limited (“the Company”) (formerly Axial Enhanced Floating Rate Opportunities Limited) for the year
ended 31 December 2012. On 7 November 2012, the Company changed its name from Axial Enhanced Floating Rate
Opportunities Limited to Castle Hill Enhanced Floating Rate Opportunities Limited.

The financial statements of the Company have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRS”).

Business Review

Principal activities, business review and future developments

The Company has been established to issue Senior Secured Deferrable Floating Rate Notes due 2019 with an
aggregate principal amount of up to €2,000,000,000 (the “Notes”). On 1 May 2009 the Company issued €130,000,000
Senior Secured Deferred Floating Rate Notes which are direct, secured and limited recourse obligations of the
Company. The Company has used the proceeds from the Notes to purchase loan assets and custodial assets.

At 31 December 2012, the portfolio details are as follows:

EUR  Nominal amounts €107m (2011:€92m),
Carrying value €70m  (2011:€65m)
GBP  Nominal amounts £49m  (2011: £47m)
Carrying value £48m  (2011: £43m)
USD  Paramounts $70m  (2011: $58m)
Carrying value $60m  (2011: $50m)
NOK  Par amounts NOK10m (2011: NOK24m)
Carrying value NOK9m (2011: NOK24m)
CAD Nominal amounts CAD5m  (2011:CAD nil)
Carrying value CAD5m (2011:CAD nil)

Cash and cash equivalents balance €31m (2011:€16m).
The Directors expect to maintain the current level of activities going forward.

Key Perfomance Indicators
The results for the year are set out in the Statement of Comprehensive Income on page 11. The profit before tax was
€Nil (2011: €nil). No dividends were paid during the year (2011: €nil).

As detailed below, the performance of the loan asset portfolio was strong in 2012 and the contributory factors are
discussed further in the Investment Manager’s Report.

- The Company'’s fair value gain on financial assets was €11m (2011: loss €15m)

- The Company’s fair value loss on financial liabilities issued was €24m (2011: gain €11m)

Principal risks and uncertainties

The Company is exposed to number of financial risks arising from its underlying assets and liabilities. The key risk
factors that affect the Company and the manner in which these risks have been dealt with, are disclosed in note 20 to
the financial statements.

Internal Control

The Board of Directors is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control and risk management
systems of the Company in relation to the financial reporting process by way of delegating to third parties, namely
Maples Fiduciary Services (Ireland) Limited (the “Corporate Administrator”) and Castle Hill Asset Management LLC
and Castle Hill Asset Management LLP (the “Investment Manager”). The board understands the controls within the
Corporate Administrator. Such systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of error or fraud in
achieving the Company’s financial reporting objectives and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance
against material misstatement or loss.

PXM/ 647811/10903405v1




CASTLE HILL ENHANCED FLOATING RATE OPPORTUNITIES LIMITED

Internal Control (continued)

The Board of Directors has procedures in place to ensure all relevant books of account are properly maintained and
are readily available, including production of annual financial statements. The annual financial statements of the
Company are required to be approved by the Board of Directors of the Company and filed with the Irish Stock
Exchange. The statutory financial statements are required to be audited by independent auditors who report annually
to the board on their findings.

On 23 October 2012, Castle Hill Asset Management LLC and Castle Hill Asset Management LLP, jointly ‘Castle Hill,
replaced Ignis Investment Services Limited as Investment Manager of the Company under a novation agreement.

Going concern

The Notes are scheduled to mature in May 2019 and are limited recourse obligations of the Company that are payable
solely out of amounts received in respect of the financial assets. As part of the Board’s comprehensive assessment of
whether the Company is a going concern, the Board reviews the monthly NAV reports and holds quarterly meetings to
assess the performance of the portfolio.

As a result of these reviews, the Directors have a reasonable expectation that the Company has adequate resources to
continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. Accordingly, they continue to adopt the going concern
basis in preparing the financial statements. :

Directors and their interests
The names of those individuals who served as Directors of the Company during the year or who held office as at the
date of signature of this report are as follows:

Padraic Doherty
Stephen O’Donnell
Paul Morrison (Alternate Director)

None of the Directors or secretary who held office on 31 December 2012 held any shares in the Company at that date,
or during the year.

Secretary
MFD Secretaries Limited acted as Secretary throughout the year.

Books of account

The Directors believe that they have complied with the requirements of section 202 of the Companies Act, 1990 with
regard to the books of account by employing accounting personnel with the appropriate expertise and by providing
adequate resources to the financial function. The books of account of the Company are maintained at Beaux Lane
House, Mercer Street Lower, Dublin 2, Ireland.

Events after the reporting year
There have been no significant events subsequent to year end that would require adjustments or disclosure in these

financial statements.

Re-appointment of auditors
Ernst & Young, have indicated their willingness to remain in office in accordance with Section 160(2) of the Companies

Act, 1963.
On behalf of the Board

e

Padraic Doherty
Director

{ ‘
t Me 1 O’Donnell
Di ejiuy

26 March 2013




CASTLE HILL ENHANCED FLOATING RATE OPPORTUNITIES LIMITED

Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities in respect of the financial statements

The Directors are responsible for preparing the financial statements in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) and with those parts of the Companies Acts, 1963 to 2012 applicable to companies
reporting under IFRS.

Irish company law requires the Directors to prepare financial statements for each financial period which give a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the profit or loss of the Company for that period. In preparing
these financial statements, the Directors are required to:

. select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;
. make judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;
e prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the

Company will continue in business; and

o comply with applicable IFRS, subject to any material departures disclosed and explained in the financial
statements.

The Directors confirm that they have complied with the above requirements in preparing the financial statements. The
Directors are responsible for keeping proper books of account that disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the

financial position of the Company and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the provision of
the Companies Acts, 1963 to 2012.

They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the
prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

On behalf of the Board

Padraic Doherty
Director

26 March 2013




CASTLE HILL ENHANCED FLOATING RATE OPPORTUNITIES LIMITED

Investment Manager’s Report

Portfolio Performance and Market Overview

2012 was a positive year for the global leveraged loan market. In both the US and in Europe the leveraged loan
markets returned 9.7% for the year. The leveraged loan market, like all other markets, benefited from Central Banks
around the globe continuing to pump a significant amount of liquidity into the markets. Funds flow into the loan market
was positive throughout the year and given a significant boost in the US in the second half of the year as the US CLO
market re-opened. Default rates in both the US high yield and leveraged loan markets declined slightly during 2012
and ended the year in line with one another at approximately 1.7%. The ongoing macro related stresses in Europe
took its toll on the European leveraged loan market as default rates rose by 0.79% during the year, ending 2012 at
5.23%. This was something we anticipated and positioned the portfolio accordingly.

Portfolio performance was strong during 2012 up 13.99% on a net basis. The fund outperformed the loan index by
4.25%. There were many different winners during the course of the year. The portfolio remains diverse and balanced
across credits, industries and geographies.

Outlook

The trends we saw in 2012 have continued to start the year in 2013. Central bank liquidity continues to pump up the
markets and drive asset prices higher and spreads tighter. New issue volumes are robust and we are beginning to see
the first jumbo LBO's return to the market. Whilst we understand that one can't fight the technicals, we remain
concerned about the underlying macro fundamentals. Growth in Europe is non-existent and growth in the US is circa
2% but with risks surrounding increased tax rates and reduced government spending. We think credit selection will
become incredibly important in 2013. In the medium term we expect those who are cautious with credit and asset
selection will be rewarded versus those who stretch for a little extra yield.

Castle Hill Asset Management LLC and Castle Hill Asset Management LLP

26 March 2013
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF CASTLE HILL ENHANCED
FLOATING RATE OPPORTUNITES LIMITED

We have audited the financial statements of Castle Hill Enhanced Floating Rate
Opportunities Limited for the year ended 31 December 2012 which comprise the Statement
of Comprehensive Income, the Statement of Financial Position, the Statement of Cash Flows,
the Statement of Changes in Equity and the related notes 1 to 29. The financial reporting
framework that has been applied in their preparation is Irish law and International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union.

This report is made solely to the company's members, as a body, in accordance with section
193 of the Companies Act, 1990. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state
to the company's members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s
report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or
assume responsibility to anyone other than the company and the company's members as a
body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors

As explained more fully in the Directors’ Responsibilities Statement set out on page 7 the
directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements giving a true and fair
view. Our responsibility is to audit and express an opinion on the financial statements in
accordance with Irish law and International Standards on Auditing (UK and lreland). Those
standards require us to comply with the Auditing Practices Board’s Ethical Standards for
Auditors.

Scope of the audit of the financial statements

An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from
material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. This includes an assessment of.
whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the company’s circumstances and have
been consistently applied and adequately disclosed; the reasonableness of significant
accounting estimates made by the directors; and the overall presentation of the financial
statements. In addition, we read all the financial and non-financial information in the Directors
and Investment Manager's report to identify material inconsistencies with the audited financial
statements. If we become aware of any apparent material misstatements or inconsistencies
we consider the implications for our report.

Continued /...
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF CASTLE HILL ENHANCED
FLOATING RATE OPPORTUNITES LIMITED (Continued)

Opinion on financial statements
In our opinion the financial statements:

give a true and fair view, in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European
Union, of the state of the company’s affairs as at 31 December 2012 and of its resuits
for the year then ended; and

have been properly prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies
Acts 1963 to 2012.

Matters on which we are required to report by the Companies Acts 1963 to 2012

We have obtained all the information and explanations which we consider necessary
for the purposes of our audit.

In our opinion proper books of account have been kept by the company.
The financial statements are in agreement with the books of account.

In our opinion, the information given in the directors’ report is consistent with the
financial statements.

The net assets of the company, as stated in the statement of financial position are
more than half of the amount of its called-up share capital and, in our opinion, on that
basis there did not exist at 31 December 2012 a financial situation which under
Section 40 (1) of the Companies (Amendment) Act, 1983 would require the
convening of an extraordinary general meeting of the company.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

We have nothing to report in respect of the provisions in the Companies Acts 1963 to 2012
which require us to report to you if, in our opinion, the disclosures of directors’ remuneration
and transactions specified by law are not made.

uf;u/f‘/;\fé Z’}/ﬂfam}

Aidan Ti

nan

For and’on behalf of Ernst & Young

Dublin

27" May 2013

10




CASTLE HILL ENHANCED FLOATING RATE OPPORTUNITIES LIMITED

Statement of comprehensive income
for the year ended 31 December 2012

2012 2011
Notes €000 €000

Income/ (expense) from continuing activities
Net (expense)/ income from investment securities held 4 29,531 (5,932)
Net income/ (expense) on financial assets held for trading - derivatives 4 (1,783) (1,564)
Net income/ (expense) on debt securities issued 15 (24,617) 8,714
Operating income 3,131 1,218
Other fees 5 - (100)
Administrative expenses 6 (3,069) (2,613)
Foreign exchange (loss)/gain 8 (62) 1,495
(3,131) (1,218)

Profit for the year before tax - -

Tax charge _ - -

Profit for the year attributable to owners - -

Other comprehensive income - -

Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to owners - -

All items dealt with in arriving at the result for the year ended 31 December 2012 related to continuing activities.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

The financial statements were approved by the board of directors on 26 March 2013 and signed on its behalf by:

foae T,

Padraic Doherty
Director

26 March 2013
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CASTLE HILL ENHANCED FLOATING RATE OPPORTUNITIES LIMITED

Statement of financial position
as at 31 December 2012

As at 31 As at 31
December December
2012 2011
Notes €000 €000
Equity attributable to owners
Share capital 11 - -
Retained earnings . - -
Total equity ' R .
Non-current liabilities
Financial liabilities at FVTPL 18 199,954 176,237
199,954 176,237
Current liabilities
Accruals : 12 1,870 1,027
Unsettled trades ) 12 20,961 -
Derivatives 14 - 439
Total liabilities 22,831 177,703
Total equity and liabilities 222,785 177,703
Non-current assets
Financial assets at FVTPL 17 180,390 156,807
Total non-current assets ' 180,390 156,807
Current assets i
Interest receivable 13 1,680 576
Unsettled trades 13 6,401 -
Cash and cash equivalents 16 31,357 . 16,052
Margin balances 13 1,087 2,905
Derivatives 14 1,870 1,363
- Total current assets 42,395 20,896
Total assets 222,785 177,703

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

The financial statements were approved by the board of directors on 26 March 2013 and signed on its behalf by:

///C‘/é:@l’jwd/]‘

Padraic Doherty
Director

26 March 2013

Company Registration Number: 464395
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CASTLE HILL ENHANCED FLOATING RATE OPPORTUNITIES LIMITED

Statement of cash flows
for the year ended 31 December 2012

2012 2011
Notes €000 €000
Cash flows from operating activities
Cash generated/(absorbed) by operations 19 20,959 (8,695)
Reclassification of margin account balances - (2,905)
Net cash flows from operating activities 20,959 (11,600)
Cash flows from investing activities
Acquisition of investment securities including accrued interest 17 (96,835) (152,711)
Acquisition of derivatives - (1,335)
Proceeds from sale of investments 17 91,243 148,566
Net cash flows from investing activities (5,592) (5,480)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 15,367 (17,080)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 16 16,052 31,637
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 8 (62) 1,495
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 16 31,357 16,052
Supplementary disclosures on cash from operating activities
Interest received 15,532 8,489
Interest paid 1,362 1,612

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

13
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CASTLE HILL ENHANCED FLOATING RATE OPPORTUNITIES LIMITED

Statement of changes in equity
for the year ended 31 December 2012

Share capital Retained
(note 11) earnings Total
€000 €000 €000
At 1 January 2012 - - -
Total comprehensive income for the year - - -
At 31 December 2012 - - -
Share capital Retained
(note 11) earnings Total
€000 €000 €000

At 1 January 2011 - - -

Total comprehensive income for the year - - -

At 31 December 2011 - - R

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

14
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CASTLE HILL ENHANCED FLOATING RATE OPPORTUNITIES LIMITED

Notes to the financial statements
1 Company information

The Company was incorporated on 18 November 2008 under the Companies Act 1963 to 2012. Castle Hill Enhanced
Floating Rate Opportunities Limited (“the Company”) (formerly Axial Enhanced Floating Rate Opportunities Limited) is
a company domiciled in lreland and was established to issue senior secured deferrable floating rate notes (“the
Notes”), to apply the proceeds to purchase loan assets and custodial assets, and to engage in certain related
transactions and agreements. The Notes are direct, secured and limited recourse obligations of the Company with
respect to the assets purchased.

2 Accounting policies

(a) Basis of preparation
The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for the following:

e Financial assets designated at Fair Value through Profit or Loss (“FVTPL") are measured at fair value;
¢ Financial liabilities issued designated at FVTPL are measured at fair value;.
¢ Financial assets held for trading — derivatives, are measured at fair value.

The method used to measure fair values is discussed further in note 2 (g).
Statement of compliance

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”)
as adopted by the European Union (“EU”) and in accordance with Irish Statute comprising the Companies Acts, 1963
to 2012.

The financial statements are presented in Euro (€) rounded to the nearest €000 except where otherwise stated.

Assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the statement of financial position only when there is a
legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise
the assets and settle the liability simultaneously. Income and expenses are not offset in the income statement unless
required or permitted by an international financial reporting standard or interpretation, as specifically disclosed in the
accounting policies of the Company.

The accounting policies set out in Note 2 have been applied in preparing the financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2012.

(b) Critical accounting estimates and judgements

The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that may affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and
expenses. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and various other factors
that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making the
judgements about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised and in any future periods affected.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

Determining fair values

The determination of fair value for financial assets and liabilities for which there is no observable market price requires
the use of valuation techniques as described in accounting policy 2(f) “Fair value measurement principles”. For
financial instruments that trade infrequently and have little price transparency, fair value is less objective, and requires
varying degrees of judgement depending on liquidity, concentration, uncertainty of market factors, pricing assumptions
and other risks affecting the specific instrument.

Critical accounting judgements in applying the Company’s accounting policies

Critical accounting judgements made in applying the Company’s accounting policies in relation to valuation of financial
instruments include:

Valuation of financial instruments
The Company measures fair values using the following hierarchy of methods:

15
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CASTLE HILL ENHANCED FLOATING RATE OPPORTUNITIES LIMITED

¢ Quoted market price in an active market for an identical instrument.

»  Valuation techniques based on observable inputs. This category includes instruments valued using: quoted
market prices in active markets for similar instruments; quoted prices for similar instruments in markets that are
considered less than active; or other valuation techniques where all significant inputs are directly or indirectly
observable from market data.

e Valuation techniques using significant unobservable inputs. This category includes all instruments where the
valuation technique includes inputs not based on observable data and the unobservable inputs could have a
significant effect on the instrument’s valuation. This category includes instruments that are valued based on
quoted prices for similar instruments where significant unobservable adjustments or assumptions are required to
reflect differences between the instruments.

(c) Income tax
Income tax comprises current tax. Income tax is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates and laws enacted or
substantively enacted at the date of the statement of financial position together with adjustments to tax payable in respect

of previous years.

Deferred tax is provided for on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial
reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is not provided in respect of temporary
differences arising from the initial recognition of goodwill and the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction
that is not a business combination and that, at the time of the transaction, affects neither accounting nor taxable profit.
The amount of deferred tax provided is based on the expected manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying amount
of assets and liabilities, using tax rates and laws enacted or substantively enacted at the year end.

A deferred tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against
which the asset can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related
tax benefit will be realised.

(d) Foreign currency transactions

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the functional currency of the Company at exchange rates at the dates
of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting date are retranslated
to the functional currency at the exchange rate at that date. Non monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies that are measured at fair value are retranslated to the functional currency at the exchange rate at the date that
the fair value was determined. Foreign currency differences arising on retranslation are recognised in profit and loss
together with other fair value changes arising from the asset or liability.

(e) Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents consists of cash held with banks which are subject to insignificant risk of changes in their fair
value, and are used by the Company in the management of its short term commitments.

) Going concern

The Company’s management has made an assessment of the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern and is
satisfied that the Company has the resources to continue in business for the foreseeable future. Furthermore, the
management is not aware of any material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern. Therefore, the financial statements continue to be prepared on the going concern basis.

(9) Financial instruments
The financial instruments held by the Company include the following:

¢ Financial assets designated at FVTPL,;
« Financial liabilities designated at FVTPL; and
o Financial assets held for trading - derivatives

Classification
A financial asset or financial liability at fair value through statement of comprehensive income is a financial asset or

liability that is classified as held-for-trading or designated at FVTPL.

Recognition

The Company initially recognises all financial assets and liabilities at fair value on the trade date at which the Company
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instruments. From trade date, any gains and losses arising from
changes in fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are recorded in the statement of
comprehensive income. Transaction costs on financial assets and financial liabilities at FVTPL are expensed

immediately.

16
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Derecognition

The Company derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or it
transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows on the financial asset in a transaction in which substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred. Any interest in transferred financial assets
that is created or retained by the Company is recognised as a separate asset or liability. The Company derecognises a
financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged or cancelled or expire.

Financial assets designated at FVTPL

Investment securities are designated at fair value through profit or loss. The investment securities are initially
recognised at fair value and are classified as financial assets at fair value through profit and loss. Upon initial
recognition, attributable transaction costs are recognised in profit or loss when incurred. Financial assets and financial
liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss are stated at fair value at period end, which may be estimated
by management based on prices provided by the Investment Manager and in the absence of readily determinable
market prices. Management estimates are based on a variety of different valuation techniques such as using recent
arm’s length transactions, reference to the current fair values of other instruments that are substantially the same,
discounted cash flow techniques, option pricing models or any other valuation technique that provides an estimate of
prices obtained should the investment be traded.

Financial assets held for trading - derivatives

Derivatives include all derivative assets and liabilities that are categorised as financial assets and liabilities held for
trading. Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date a derivative contract is entered into and are
subsequently measured at their fair value. Foreign exchange futures and credit default swaps are marked to market
and are recorded in the statement of financial position.

- Financial liabilities designated at FVTPL

The debt securities issued are initially measured at fair value and are categorised as financial liabilities at fair value
through profit and loss. The fair value changes of the debt securities issued are recognised immediately in the
statement of comprehensive income. The ultimate amount to be repaid to the noteholder will depend on the proceeds
received from the investment securities and the derivatives. The fair value of the notes equates to the fair value total of
investment securities, derivatives and cash and cash equivalents less accrued payables and expenses. The finance
costs of the debt are determined through the priorities of payment schedule based on income receipts and fair value
changes from the investment securities held. All finance costs are charged to the statement of comprehensive income
reported under net expense on debt securities issued. The carrying amount of debt is increased by the finance cost in
respect of the reporting period and reduced by payments in respect of the debt in that period. The notes issued are
initially recorded at the value of the net proceeds received and are carried at fair value through profit or loss.

- Financial assets and liabilities that are not at FVTPL

Financial assets that are not at FVTPL include cash and cash equivalents, margin balances, interest receivable and
unsettled trades. Financial liabilities that are not at FVTPL include accrued expenses and unsettled trades. Financial
assets and liabilities that are not at FVTPL are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently measured at
amortised cost.

(h) Investment income on financial assets at FVTPL
Net income from investment securities designated at fair value relates to investments and includes interest income,
realised and unrealised fair value changes and foreign exchange differences.

(i) Income/ (expense) on debt securities issued
Net loss on financial liabilities designated at fair value comprises realised and unreallsed fair value changes and
foreign exchange differences, and is determined with reference to the net income from investment securities.

1)} Interest income
Interest income relates to coupon receipts on investment securities. Interest income is recognised in the statement of

comprehensive income on an accruals basis.

(k) Events after the reporting period

The financial statements are adjusted to reflect significant events that have a material effect on the financial results and
that have occurred between the period end and the date when the financial statements are authorised for issue,
provided they give evidence of conditions that existed at the period end. Events that are indicative of conditions that
arise after the period end that do not result in an adjustment to the financial statements are disclosed.

()] Functional and presentation currency

The financial statements are presented in Euro(€) which is the Company’s functional currency being the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity operates. The issued share capital of the Company is denominated in
Euro and the debt securities issued are denominated in Euro(€). The Directors of the Company believe that Euro(€)
most faithfully represents the economic effects of the underlying transactions, events and conditions.
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3. Financial information

The financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2012 were authorised by the Board of Directors for issue on
25 March 2013.

In preparing the financial statements the Company has adopted the following standards, interpretations and
amendments which have been issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB’) and have been adopted
for use by the EU. None of these have a material effect on the resulis of the Company.

Deferred tax — Recovery of Underlying Assets (Amendments to IAS 12) (2012). This provides a practical approach to the
measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets when investment property is measured at fair value, according to
whether the entity expects to recover an asset by using or selling it.

Disclosure — Transfer of Financial Assets (Amendments to IFRS 7) (2012). This revises the required disclosures to help
users of financial statements evaluate the risk exposures relating to transfers of financial assets and the effect of those

risks on an entity’s financial position.

New standards and interpretations not yet adopted

A number of new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations in issue are not yet effective for the year
ended 31 December 2012, and have not been applied in preparing these financial statements. None of these are
expected to have a significant effect on the measurement of the amounts recognised in the financial statements of the
Company. However, IFRS 9 Financial Instruments issued in November 2009 (IFRS 9 (2009)) will change the
classification of financial assets and liabilities.

The standard is not expected to have an impact on the measurement basis of the financial assets and liabilities since
the majority of the Company's financial assets and liabilities are measured at fair value through profit or loss.

IFRS 9 deals with classification and measurement of financial assets and its requirements represent a significant
change from the existing requirement in IAS 39 in respect of financial assets. The standard contains two primary
measurement categories for financial assets: at amortised cost and fair value. A financial asset would be measured at
amortised cost if it is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets in order to collect contractual cash
flows, and the asset's contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal outstanding. All other financial assets would be measured at fair value. The standard
eliminates the existing IAS categories of held to maturity, available for sale and loans and receivables.

For an investment in an equity instrument that is not held for trading, the standard permits an irrecoverable election, on
initial recognition, on an individual share-by-share basis, to present all fair value changes from the investment in other
comprehensive income. No amount recognised in other comprehensive income would ever be reclassified to
Statement of Comprehensive Income. However, dividends on such investments are recognised in Statement of
Comprehensive Income, rather than other comprehensive income unless they clearly represent a partial recovery of
the cost of the investment. Investments in equity instruments in respect of which an entity does not elect to present fair
value changes in other comprehensive income would be measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognised
in Statement of Comprehensive Income.

The standard requires that derivatives embedded in contracts with a host that is a financial asset or liabilities within the
scope of the standard are not separated; instead the hybrid financial instrument is assessed in its entirety as to
whether it should be measured at amortised cost or fair value.

IFRS 9 requires that the effects of changes in credit risk of liabilities designated as at fair value through profit or loss
are presented in other comprehensive income unless such treatment would create or enlarge an accounting mismatch
in Statement of Comprehensive income, in which case all gains or losses on that liability are presented in Statement of
Comprehensive Income. Other requirements of IFRS 9 relating to classification and measurement of financial liabilities
are unchanged from IAS 39.

The standard is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2015. Early application is permitted. The
Company does not plan to adopt this standard early.

On 12 May 2011 the IASB issued IFRS 13: Fair Value Measurement. The standard establishes a single framework for
measuring fair value where that is required by other standards. The standard applies to both financial and non-financial
items measured at fair value. Fair value is defined as “the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to
transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date”(i.e. exit price).
Valuation techniques should maximize the use of relevant observable inputs. The standard is effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013, with early adoption permitted, subject to endorsement by the EU and
applies prospectively from the beginning of the annual period. The Company does not plan to adopt this standard

early.
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4, Net Income/ (expense) on investment securities
2012 2011
€000 €000
Investment income on financial assets at FVTPL
Realised (losses)/gains (7,465) 10,479
Unrealised (losses)/gains 24,458 (25,508)
Foreign exchange gains 586 751
Interest income on investment securities 11,952 8,346
29,531 (5,932)
Investment income on financial assets held for trading — derivatives
Realised (losses)/gains on foreign exchange futures (2,314) 1,214
Unrealised (losses)/gains on foreign exchange futures 1,059 (2,533)
Net foreign exchange (losses)/gains on margin balances 116 (245)
CDS expense (644) -
(1,783) (1,564)
5. Other fees
2012 2011
€000 €000
Other fees - (100)
- (100)
6. Administrative expenses
2012 2011
€000 €000
Performance fees 994 926
Management fees 1,264 1,223
Investment Manager expenses 209 195
Audit fees 35 35
Corporate Services fees 26 26
Legal and professional fees 48 3
Trustee, Custodian and Collateral Administrator fees 158 89
Preliminary expenses 160 -
Other expenses 175 116
3,069 2,613

The Company has no employees.

Investment Manager fees
During the year under review the Investment Manager eamed €2,258k in fees from the Company (2011: 2,149k).
Management fees earned were €1,264k (2011: €1,223k) and Performance fees earned were €994k (2011: €926k), of
which the former Investment Manager received Management fees of €614k .

The Investment Manager shall also be entitled to be repaid out of the assets of the Company expenses incurred on
behalf of the Company. During the period under review, the Investment Manager charged expenses of €209k (2011:
€195k) to the Company, of which the former Investment Manager received €170k.

Trustee, Custodian and Administrator fees

The Company paid €158k (2011: €89k) to the Bank of New York Mellon, in respect of its duties as Collateral
Administrator, Principal Paying Agent, Custodian, Calculation Agent and Account Bank. The Coliateral Administrator
shall also be entitled to be repaid out of the assets of the Company all of its reasonable out-of-pocket expenses
incurred on behalf of the Company which shall include legal fees, printing costs and courier fees (plus VAT, if any

thereon)
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7. Auditors’ remuneration

The remuneration of the auditors of the Company in respect of services supplied to entities included in the financial
statements was as follows:

2012 2011
€000 €000
Audit of the financial statements 35 35
35 35
8. Foreign exchange (loss)/ gain
2012 2011
€000 €000
Foreign exchange (loss)/gain on cash and cash equivalents (62) 1,495
9. Directors’ remuneration

The Company is administered by Maples Fiduciary Services (Ireland) Limited (Corporate Administrator) and has no
employees. The Directors of the Company are employees of Maples Fiduciary Services (Ireland) Limited and the
Director fees are nil (2011: nil).

10. Tax charge

Profit on ordinary activities before tax - -
Current tax at 25% - -
Current tax charge - -

Current tax is calculated at 25% (2011:25%) in accordance with Section 110 of the Taxes Consolidation Act 1997.

1. Share capital

The Company'’s Articles of Association contain a restriction on the number of shares that may be allotted.

2012 2011

€ €

Authorised: 100,000 (2011:100,000) ordinary shares of €1 each 100,000 100,000
Issued and fully paid: 1 (2011:1) ordinary share of €1 1 1

The holders of the ordinary shares are entitled to one vote per share on matters to be voted on by owners and received
such dividends, if any, as may be declared by the Board of Directors in its discretion out of legally available profits.

12. Accruals and unsettied trades

2012 2011

€000 €000

Interest payable 80 515
Operating expenses payable 1,790 512
Amount due on unsettled trades 20,961 -
22,830 1,027

13. Other receivables

2012 2011

€000 €000

Interest receivable 1,680 576
Margin account balance 1,087 2,905
Amounts receivable on unsettied trades 6,401 -
9,168 3,481

The margin account balances are held with Deutsche Bank AG and are subject to restrictions and requirements to hold
funds sufficient to meet margin calls. In the prior year these balances were incorrectly included as cash and cash
equivalents, as they do not meet the definition of cash and cash equivalents under IFRS 7 they have been separated in
the current year and the prior year balances have been restated.
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14. Derivatives

2012 2011
€000 €000
Foreign exchange futures — unrealised (loss)/gain on foreign exchange futures 620 (439)
Credit default swap 1,250 1,363
1,870 924

The amounts above represent the fair value of the positions held at year end. The company has purchased a Credit
Default Swap (notional €5,000,000) to cover its exposure to ITraxx Series 17 (expiration date June 2017). The initial
margins of the Foreign exchange futures were GBP £1,161k, USD $1,097k, and NOK 315k.

15. Net income/ (expense) on debt securities issued at FVTPL

2012 2011
€000 €000
Interest on debt securities issued (918) (1,804)
Fair value (losses)/ gains on debt securities issued (23,699) 10,518
(24,617) 8,714
16. Cash and cash equivalents
2012 2011
€000 €000
Bank and cash balances 31,357 16,052
31,357 16,052

The Company’s cash balances are held with Bank of New York Mellon and Bank of Ireland. For the purposes of the
statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise the above amounts at 31 December 2012.

17. Financial assets at FVTPL

2012 2011
€000 €000

Investment securities - designated and held at FVTPL
180,390 156,807
Cost €159,801 €161,373
Movement in investment securities 2012 2011
€000 €000
At beginning of year 156,310 166,046
Additions 96,835 152,711
Repayments or disposals (91,243) (148,566)
Realised gain on financial assets (6,948) 10,479
Unrealised (loss)/gain on financial assets 24,874 (25,536)
Foreign exchange gain 562 1,673
180,390 156,807
Accrued interest (included in prior year FV calculation) - (497)
At end of year 180,390 156,310

The investment securities are classified as one class of financial instrument. The carrying value of the assets of the
Company represents the maximum exposure to credit risk. The credit risk is eventually transferred to the debt
securities holder through the terms and conditions of the Notes.

18. Financial liabilities at FVTPL

2012 2011

€000 €000

Debt securities issued - designated and held at FVTPL (199,954) (176,237)
Maturity analysis of debt securities in issue 2012 2011
€000 €000

Greater than 5 years (199,954) (176,237)
(199,954) (176,237)
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Movement in debt securities issued 2012 2011

€000 €000
At beginning of year (176,237) (186,755)
Issued during the period - -
Change in fair value (23,717) 10,518
At end of year (199,954) (176,237)

At year end debt securities issued included cumulative net fair value increase of €69,954k. The change in fair value of
debt securities issued is attributable to the change in fair value of the Company’s assets and other liabilities. The initial
note issuance was for €130,000,000

19. Cash flows

2012 2011
€000 €000
Profit for the year before tax - -
Non-cash movements in profit for the year before tax
(Gains)/Losses on financial assets (17,038) 11,861
(Losses)/Gains on financial liabilities 23,699 (10,518)
Changes in operating assets and liabilities
(Increase)/ decrease in other receivables (7,505) 143
Increase/ (decrease) in other payables 21,803 (10,181)
Cash generated/(absorbed) by operations 20,959 (8,695)

20. Risk management

The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Company’s risk
management framework.

The risk profile of the Company is such that market, credit, liquidity and other risks of the investment securities are
borne fully by the holders of debt securities issued. The income and principal payments to the debt securities holders
are determined with reference to a priorities of payment schedule as contained in the terms and conditions of the ‘debt
securities issued’ which state that payments of interest and principal on the debt securities will only be made to the
extent that there are coliections available for such purposes on any applicable payment date.

The debt securities issued are initially recorded at the value of the net proceeds received in Euro(€) and are carried at
FVTPL . The ultimate amount to be repaid to the debt securities holder will depend on the proceeds from the related
collaterals.

All substantial risks and rewards associated with the investment securities are ultimately borne by the debt securities
holders. Therefore any change in risk variables would not affect the equity or the total comprehensive income of the
Company.

The Company has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments:
o Market risk

o Credit risk

o Liquidity risk

This note presents information about the Company’s exposure to each of the above risks, the Company’s objectives,
policies and processes for measuring and managing risk and the Company’s management of capital.

Market risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as (i) interest rates, (ii) currency risk and (iii) other price risk
will affect the Company’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The objective of market risk
management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimising the return
on risk.

Market risk embodies the potential for both loss and gains and includes interest rate risk, currency risk and market
price risk.

i Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of
changes in market interest rates. The interest rate risk profile of the Company is as follows:
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The interest rate profile of the Company’s interest-bearing financial instruments was:

2012 2011
€000 €000
Variable rate instrument
Financial assets 214,704 177,127
Financial liabilities (199,954) (176,237)

Sensitivity analysis
An increase of 1% in interest rates as at the reporting date would have increased the interest income receivable and
payable by €120k (2011: €83k). A decrease of 1% would have had an equal but opposite effect.

if) Currency risk

Currency risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of
changes in foreign exchange rates. Derivatives in the form of foreign exchange futures have been used to partially
hedge this currency risk. The Company’s exposure to foreign currency risk as at year end was as follows:

CAD$000 USD$000 £000 NOK’'000 €000 Total €000
Cash and cash equivalent - 13,297 7,571 9,997 10,786 31,357
Margin balances - 725 412 217 - 1,087
Derivatives - 444 232 (23) 1,250 1,870
Interest receivable - - - - 1,680 1,680
Unsettled trades - 1,966 4,910 6,401
Financial assets at FVTPL 4,931 60,220 48,119 9,446 70,762 180,390
4,931 76,652 56,334 19,637 89,388 222,785
Accruals and unsettled trades (4,900) (10,487) (330) - (8,861) (20,961)
Other payables - - - - (1,870) (1,870)
Financial liabilities at FVTPL - - - - (199,954) (199,954)
(4,900) (10,487) (330) - (210,685) (222,785)
Net open position 31 66,165 56,004 19,637  (121,297) -
The exchange rate used at year end was:
GBP:EUR 1.2319 USD:EUR 1.3192
The Company’s exposure to foreign currency risk as at 31 December 2011 was as follows:
$000 £000 NOK €000 Total €000
Cash and cash equivalent 6,845 7,761 744 1,391 16,052
Margin balances 1,805 1,211 495 - 2,905
Derivatives - - - 1,363 1,363
Interest receivable 60 243 - 239 576
Financial assets at fair value
through Statement of 50,092 42,537 23,580 64,249 156,807
Comprehensive Income
58,815 51,752 24,819 67,242 177,703
Accruals and unsettled trades (1,027) (1,027)
Derivatives 13 - (362) (125) (439)
Other payables - - - - -
Financial liabilities at fair
value through Statement of - - - (176,237) (176,237)
Comprehensive Income
- (362) (125) (177,264) (177,703)
Net open position 58,815 51,390 24,694 (110,022) -

Sensitivity analysis

At 31 December 2012, had the Euro strengthened by 5% in relation to all currencies, with all other variables held
constant, the decrease in the financial assets figure above would have amounted to €6,670,000 (2011: €5,523,050) and it
would be matched by a corresponding increase in the derivatives valuation.

iif) Market price risk

Market price risk is the risk that the value of financial instruments will fluctuate as a result of changes in market prices
(other than those arising from interest rate risk and currency risk), whether caused by factors specific to an individual
investment, its issuer or all factors affecting all instruments traded in the market.

As all the Company'’s financial instruments are carried at fair value with fair value changes recognised in the statement of
comprehensive income, all changes in market conditions will directly affect the Statement of Comprehensive Income. For
exposure to market price risk, please refer to the table below:
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Geographic distribution
Bulgaria

Canada

Cayman

France

Germany
Greece

Ireland

ltaly
Luxembourg
Netherlands
Norway
Poland
Spain
Sweden

UK

USA

Total

Industry concentration
Telecommunications
Commercial Services
Real Estate
Entertainment

Diversified Financial Services
Retail

Investment Companies
Packaging and Containers
Beverages

Household Products/Wares
Home Furnishings

Home Builders
Transportation

Oil and Gas

Media

Advertising

Manufacturing

Metal Fabricate/ Hardware
Healthcare

Food

Electric

Holding

Pharmaceuticals
Chemicals

Cash
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2012
€000

7,738
1,626
13,503

3,508
1,124

6,988
22,018
1,287
2,900
2,662
77,635
39,401
180,390

2012
% NAV

14.31
14.24
8.78
8.47

7.00
6.21

3.33
3.27
3.22
2.83
2.60
2.31
2.01
1.73
1.62
1.35
1.23
1.12
1.02
0.91
0.77
0.66
0.61
0.57
9.83
100.00

2011
€000

10,259
1,575
1,680

13,972

2,379
2,732

6,690
521
18,855
3,044
2,628
5,019
55,225
32,229

156,808

2011
%NAV
13.08

7.30
1.81
10.24

13.80

2.74
0.58
2.67
1.98
1.91
2.93
3.58
4.51
6.47
2.87
1.44

5.43
16.66

100.00
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20. Risk management (continued)

Credit risk

The credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Company if a counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its
contractual obligation, and arises principally from investment securities. The Company only invests with counterparties
which have certain credit ratings. The credit rating of Deutsche Bank is A+.

The Company limits its exposure to credit risk by investing in accordance with portfolio guidelines approved by the
Investment Manager of the Company. The risk of default on these assets is borne by the ‘debt securities holder' and
thus changes in credit ratings have no net impact on the equity or the Statement of Comprehensive Income of the

Company.

The carrying amounts of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure. The maximum exposure to credit
risk at year-end was as follows:

2012 2011
€000 €000
Cash and cash equivalents 31,357 16,052
Margin account balances 1,087 2,905
Financial assets designated at FVTPL 180,390 156,807
Interest receivable and unsettied trades 8,081 576
Derivatives 1,870 1,363
222,785 177,703

At the year end, the credit ratings of the Company’s investment securities were as follows:
2012 2011
€000 €000

Moody's credit rating

A 3,903 -
B1 62,322 19,363
B2 8,364 14,794
B3 16,004 34,122
Bai 8,563 -
Ba2 3,969 -
Ba3 11,627 1,410
Ca 3,149 -
Caal 24,756 2,447
Caa2 2,617 3,983
Caa3 7,211 10,561
NR 27,905 70,127
180,390 156,807

Financial assets with no credit rating available all comprise of Special Purpose Entities (“SPEs”). The exposure of the
Company's investment securities is continuously monitored and the Directors receive monthly NAV reports and hold
quarterly calls with the Investment Manager.

At the year end, the credit ratings of the Company’s cash and cash equivalents, margin account balances, interest
receivables and other receivables were as follows:

2012 2011

Counterparty Rating €000 €000

Cash and cash equivalents  The Bank of New York Mellon, P1,P2 31,357 16,052
Bank of Ireland - -

Margin accounts Deutsche Bank AG 1,087 2,905
Interest receivables The Bank of New York Mellon P1 1,680 576
Unsettled trades 6,401 -
Derivatives Deutsche Bank AG P1 1,870 1,363
45,395 20,896

Any reduction in value of investment securities related to credit risk will be borne by the debt securities holder. The
debt securities holder is fully exposed to the credit risk of the underlying collateral. Therefore, there is no residual credit

risk to the Company.
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20. Risk management (continued)
Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due.

The Company’s obligations to debt securities holders are direct secured and limited recourse with respect to the assets
and cash flows of the Company and therefore the Company does not bear any liquidity risk in respect of the debt
securities issued.

The table below shows the undiscounted cash flows of the Company’s financial liabilities as at year end.

Carrying Gross  Less than one Onetofive  More than
amount contractual year years five years

cash flows
€000 €000 €000 €000 €000
Accruals and unsettled trade (22,831) (22,831) (22,831) - -
Debt securities issued (199,954) (211,823) (1,695) (6,782) (2083,346)
Derivatives - - - - -
(222,785) (234,654) (24,526) (6,782)  (203,346)

The table below shows the undiscounted cash flows of the Company’s financial liabilities as at 31 December 2011

Carrying Gross Lessthanone  One to five More than
amount contractual year years five years

cash flows
€000 €000 €000 €000 €000
Accruals and unsettled trades (1,027) (1,027) (1,027) - -
Debt securities issued (176,237) (191,077) (1,746) (6,988) (182,343)
Derivatives (439) (439) (439) - -
(177,703) (192,543) (3,212) (6,988) (182,343)

The Company's approach to managing liquidity on a day to day basis is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always
have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring
unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Company'’s reputation.

21. Fair values

The Company's investment securities and debt securities issued are carried at fair value on the statement of financial
position. Usually the fair value of the financial instruments can be reliably determined within a reasonable range of
estimates. The carrying amounts of all the Company’s financial assets and financial liabilities at the balance sheet date
approximated their fair values.

IFRS 7 establishes a three-tier hierarchy as a framework for disclosing fair value based on inputs used to value the
Company'’s investments. The hierarchy of inputs is summarized below:

e quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1).

e inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly
(i.e., as prices) or indirectly (i.e., derived from prices) (Level 2); and.

e inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs) (Level 3).

Changes in valuation methods may result in transfers into or out of an investment'’s assigned level.

The following is a summary of the inputs used as of December 31, 2012 in valuing the Company’s investments and
debt securities carried at fair values.

At the reporting date, the carrying amounts of investment securities and debt securities issued by the Company which
fair values were determined directly, in full or in part, by reference to Level 1, Level 2 and Level 3 as mentioned above

are as follows:
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Fair value hierarchy of financial instruments measured at fair value

Total fair
At 31 December 2012 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 value
€000 €000 €000 €000
Financial assets at fair value

Investment securities 43,160 116,843 20,387 180,390
Futures - 620 - 620
Credit default swap - 1,250 - 1,250
Total financial assets at fair value 43,160 118,713 20,387 182,260
Total fair
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 value
€000 €000 €000 €000

Financial liabilities at fair value
Debt securities - - 199,954 199,954
Total financial liabilities at fair value - - 199,954 199,954

The major methods and assumptions used in estimating the fair values of financial instruments are disclosed in Note 2 (g).
Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurement of financial assets during the year ended 31 December 2012:

€000
At 1 January 2012 40,486
Transfers into Level 2 (12,577)
Additions in year 1,777
Unrealised (loss)/ gain (9,017)
Realised (loss)/ gain (282)
At 31 December 2012 20,387

Due to increased trading volumes and an increase in the availability of quotes, certain securities that were previously
categorised as level 3 have been transferred to level 2.
Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurement of financial assets during the year ended 31 December 2011

€000
At 1 January 2011 29,710
Transfers from Level 2 15,432
Additions in year 3,933
Unrealised gain/ (loss) (8,715)
Realised gain/ (loss) 126
At 31 December 2011 40,486

Sensitivity analysis
A increase of 5% in the market price of level 3 assets would increase both the value of the financial assets and financial
liabilities by €1,019k (2011:€2,024k). The directors consider a 5% fluctuation to be reasonable in the current market.

Total fair
At 31 December 2011 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 value
€000 €000 €000 €000
Financial assets at fair value

Investment securities 15,304 100,647 40,856 156,807
Credit default swap - 1,363 - 1,363
Total financial assets at fair value 15,304 102,010 40,856 158,170
Total fair
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 value
€000 €000 €000 €000

Financial liabilities at fair value
Futures - 439 - 439
Debt securities - - 176,237 176,237
Total financial liabilities at fair value - 439 176,237 176,676

The major methods and assumptions used in estimating the fair values of financial instruments are disclosed in Note 2

(9).
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22, Related party transactions

The Company enters into transactions with related parties in its normal course of business. These are at arm’s length
on normal commercial terms.

During the year the Company incurred a fee of €26k (2011: €26k) relating to administration services provided by
Maples Fiduciary Services (Ireland) Limited. The Directors of the Company, as employees of Maples Fiduciary
Services (lreland) Limited had an interest in this fee.

Since 23 October 2012, Investment management services (Management fees, Performance fees and business as
usual expenses) have been provided to the Company by Castle Hill Asset Management LLC and Castle Hill Asset
Management LLP, prior to that date they were provided by Ignis Investment Services Limited. The total charge for the
year, including business as usual expenses, was €2,467k (2011: €2,344k). Details of fees and expenses paid to each
Investment Manager are set out in Note 6.

All related party transactions have been entered into and concluded under normal market conditions.

Amounts due to related parties

2012 2011
€000 €000
Castle Hill Asset Management LLC 1,344 -
Ignis Investment Services Limited . 981
1,344 981

23. Off balance sheet arrangements
The Company was not party to off balance sheet arrangements for the year ended 31 December 2012 (2011: none)

24, Charges
The Notes issued by the Company are secured by way of a floating charge over the collateral of the Company.

25. Segment reporting

An operating segment is a component of an entity that engages in business activities from which it may earn revenues
and incur expenses. The Company has only one operating segment. This operating segment generates revenues from
purchasing loan assets in Ireland. None of the revenues generated are greater than 10% from one external customer.

26. Events after the reporting period
There have been no significant events subsequent to the year end which impact on the Financial Statements for the
year ended 31 December 2012,

27. Capital Management

On incorporation the Company issued 1 share. There have been no subsequent issues or redemptions of share
capital. The notes issued by the Company are limited recourse debt obligations which are payable solely out of
amounts received by or on behalf of the Company in respect of the financial assets held by the Company.
Consequently, the Directors believe the level of share capital to be sufficient to support the activities of the Company
in the future.

28. Parent and ultimate controlling party

Phoenix Group Holdings can be considered as the ultimate parent as it has indirect control of the Company through its
control of the Listed Noteholders. The Company's Financial Statements are consolidated into the Financial Statements
of Phoenix Group Holdings only because they retain the majority of the risks and benefits related to the company.
Phoenix Group Holdings is a company incorporated in the Cayman Islands and resident in Jersey. A copy of the
financial statements of Phoenix Group Holdings can be obtained from the Company Secretary, 1% Floor, 32
Commercial Street, St. Helier, Jersey, JE2 3RU

29, Approval of the financial statements
The financial statements were approved by the Board on 26 March 2013.
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